

108 AUGUST 1973

## Internal information on AGRICULTURE



I United Kingdom

#### COMMISSION OF THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES

DIRECTORATE GENERAL FOR AGRICULTURE DIRECTORATE FOR "AGRICULTURAL ECONOMICS AND STRUCTURE" - DIVISION FOR "BALANCESSHEETS, STUDIES - INFORMATION"

The contents of this report may be reproduced, in whole or part, only with acknowledgement of source

.

.

## PERÇU DES PRINCIPAUX ÉLÉMENTS DE L'ÉTUDE

# PROJECTIONS DE LA PRODUCTION ET DE LA CONSOMMATION DE PRODUITS AGRICOLES - "1977"

I. ROYAUME-UNI II. DANEMARK, IRLANDE

#### Série : "Informations Internes sur l'Agriculture"

Nºs 108 et 109

Cette étude vient de paraître en langue allemande. Les versions française et anglaise sont en préparation.

Dans le cadre de son programme d'études, la Direction Générale de l'Agriculture a confié à des experts indépendants l'élaboration de projections des différents éléments constitutifs de la production et de la consommation des principaux produits agricoles dans chacun des Etats membres et cela suivant différentes hypothèses de base et compte tenu, dans la mesure du possible, des évolutions structurelles.

Le volume n° 108 contient les résultats des travaux pour le Royaume-Uni et le n° 109 ceux pour le Danemark et l'Irlande.

Les travaux, pour lesquels l'horizon 1977/78 a été retenu, portent sur les principaux produits agricoles, y compris les consommations intermédiaires, les bilans globaux de consommation alimentaire humaine et animale et sur les éléments des comptes globaux de l'agriculture.

### COMMISSION DES COMMUNAUTÉS EUROPÉENNES

DIRECTION GÉNÉRALE DE L'AGRICULTURE DIRECTION : ÉCONOMIE ET STRUCTURE AGRICOLES - DIVISION : BILANS, ÉTUDES, INFORMATION •/•

VI/3801/73-F

- 2 -

Pour les nouveaux Etats membres, vu que leur adhésion entraînait, notamment pour leur agriculture, des changements très importants dont toutes les incidences ne sont pas toujours faciles à évaluer, certaines hypothèses de travail particulières ont dû être retenues.

Les volumes contiennent l'analyse de la <u>demande</u> intérieure ainsi que de l'<u>of-</u><u>fre</u> des principaux produits agricoles tels que céréales, betteraves sucrières et sucre, pommes de terre, graines oléagineuses, lait et produits laitiers, oeufs, viandes ainsi que pommes, pêches et tomates.

Les différentes méthodes utilisées dans l'analyse de la demande et de l'offre, les prévisions en matières de consommation alimentaire globale et par tête, de production, de revenus et de prix, sont également exposées dans ces volumes.



108 AUGUST 1973

## Internal information on AGRICULTURE

Projection of production and consumption of agricultural products - 1977

I. United Kingdom

COMMISSION OF THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES

DIRECTORATE-GENERAL FOR AGRICULTURE DIRECTORATE FOR "AGRICULTURAL ECONOMICS AND STRUCTURE" – DIVISION FOR "BALANCE-SHEETS, STUDIES, INFORMATION"

#### Foreword

This study, the purpose of which is to make possible a forecast of the production and consumption of agricultural products in the United Kingdom, Ireland and Denmark, was produced as part of the programme of studies of the Directorate-General for Agriculture of the European Communities by the

## Kiel Institute of World Economics

Coordination of all the contributions was carried out by Dr Martin Hoffmeyer.

The work was carried out:

- for the United Kingdom and Ireland, by Dr. Rainer Schmidt;
- for Denmark, by Dr Torsten Tewes.

Two divisions of the Directorate-General for Agriculture also took part; these were: "Statistics, Balance sheets; General Studies" and "Agricultural Prices and Incomes Policy and General Economic Questions affecting Agriculture". This volume contains the report relating to the United Kingdom. The reports for Denmark and Ireland constitute Number 109 in this same series.

This work does not necessarily reflect the opinion of the Commission of the European Communities and does not anticipate its future attitude in this field.

The contents of this report may be reproduced, in whole or part, only with acknowledgement of source.

#### Introduction

The aim of these studies is a projection of the production and consumption of agricultural products in the three new Member States, the United Kingdom, Denmark and Ireland, in the 1977/78 farm year, assuming that these States adopt the present Community agricultural system and prices immediately upon accession or during a 5-year transitional period. This implies drastic changes. in some cases, in the former national market support systems, in the position of the producers' organizations and, above all, in agricultural prices, which will rise extremely sharply in these countries. There will also probably be considerable changes in some parts of the agricultural price structures of the new Member States. The main problem involved in making a forecast is therefore to predict what will happen if there is a structural revolution in the most important frameworks of the agricultural system (market support arrangements, etc.) and in the time series for prices. Under these circumstances there is a danger that prediction of demand, and more especially of supply, using simple trend extrapolations would produce no meaningful results. Attempts have therefore been made to obtain as much information as possible, in particular regarding the sensitivity of production and consumption to price changes, by using detailed econometric models. These estimated equations applicable to the framework conditions prevailing in the past were then adapted to the new conditions in the light of considerations pertinent to the subject. In addition, appropriate modifications were made to price elasticities in cases of abnormally large price jumps.

In order to be able to predict production and consumption, hypotheses must be made concerning agricultural prices in the enlarged Community in the 1977/78 farm year (see Table 1). In view of the continued high rates of inflation to be expected in the Member States, these price hypotheses imply only a fairly small increase in producer prices. These hypotheses are based on the fact that, even in the enlarged Community, there is still a danger that structural surpluses will continue to increase on the markets for some key agricultural products, above all those for milk and wheat, unless a relatively restrictive prices policy is introduced. Quite a large increase in producer prices in comparison with other products was forecast only for beef and veal, and mutton and lamb, as even the enlarged European Community is likely to continue to be a deficit area for these products.

A special explanation is necessary concerning the hypothesis on the prices of mutton and lamb. We have assumed that, after the accession of the United Kingdom, Ireland and Denmark, a start will have been made on the common organization of the market in mutton and lamb, whereby account should be taken in particular of the great importance of sheepfarming to the agriculture of United Kingdom and Ireland compared to the other States of the European Community. If it is further assumed that a common market in mutton and lamb would be set up on the same basis as that in beef and veal, the only question still to be answered is how high the price could be in relation to the prices of beef and veal. In our opinion, the most important price for mutton and lamb within the Community of the Six is the one at which the French Government permits imports. This price, which corresponds to the wholesale price for mutton and lamb on the Paris market, stood at approximately **b** 353 per 1 000 kg live weight in mid-1972. The average prices for top quality mutton on the Paris market in 1968/70 were approximately 120 % of the beef and veal prices (hind quarters, top quality)<sup> $\perp$ </sup>. However, even compared to world market prices for mutton and for beef, this ratio seems to us to be rather an exception than the rule. The average producer price ratio in France in 1968/70 was (lamb : veal) 0.91

- II -

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See "Agricultural Statistics", Brussels 1970, No 4, p. 100, issued by the Statistical Office of the European Communities.

Table 1 - Expothetical prices of important serioultural products in the enlarged Buropean Communities in the 1971/78 farm year

Product	Type of price	Unit	1972/73	1977/78	Change in 1977/78 compared with 1972/73 in %	Average annual change from 1972/73 to 1977/78 in %
Common Wheat	- Basic intervention price (Feders! Republic of Germany)	u.a./metric ton	104.75 <sup>b</sup>	116.00	+ 10.7	+ 2.1
Barley	- Basic intervention price (Federal Republic of Germany)	u.a./metric ton	95.70 <sup>b</sup>	107.00	+ 11.8	+ 2.3
Maise	- Intervention price (France)	u.a./metric ton	(83.25) <sup>b</sup>	107.00		•
Oats	- Market price	u.a./metric ton	(80.60)	100100		•
Sugar beet	- Minimum price <sup>8</sup>	u.a./metric ton	17.68	19.00	+ 7.5	+ 1.5
White sugar	- Intervention price	u.a./metric ton	233.40	247.00	+ 5.8	+ 1.1
Ware potatoes	- Market price <sup>d</sup>	u.a./metric ton	•	45.00		•
Rape, rape seed	- Basic intervention price	u.a./metric ton	202.50	223.00	+ 10.1	+ 1.9
Nilk	- Target price er-dairy (3.7 % fat)	u.a./metric ton	117.70	135.00	+ 14.7	+ 2.8
Butter	- Intervention price - Threshold price	u.a./metric ton u.a./metric ton	1860.0 <sup>8</sup> 2011.5	2000.0	+ 7.5 + 9.4	+ 1.5 + 1.8
Skimmed milk powder	- Intervention price - Threshold price	u.a./metric ton u.a./metric ton	540.0 670.0	700.0 840.0	+ 29.6 + 25.4	+ 5.3 + 4.6
Whole milk powder	- Threshold price (26 % fat)	u.a./metric ton	0.7311	1308.0	+ 12.1	+ 2.3
Condensed whole milk, unsweetened	- Threshold price	u.a./metric ton	494.5	555.0	+ 12.2	+ 2.3
Condensed whole milk, sweetened	- Threshold price	u.a./metric ton	661.0	744.0	+ 12.6	+ 2.4
Cheddar cheese	- Threshold price	u.a./metric ton	1560.5	1783.0	+ 14.3	+ 2.7
Beef and veal	- Guids price	u.a./metric ton live weight	780.0 9	945.0	+ 21.2	+ 3.9
Wuttam and lamb	- Guide price	u.a./metric ton live wight	710.0 f	860.0 <sup>f</sup>	+ 21.2	+ 3.9
Pigmeat	- Basic price	u.e./metric ton	825.0	908.0	+ 10.1	+ 1.9
Poul trymeat	- Sluice-gate price <sup>g</sup>	undram amorton	0.6913	0.7960	+ 15.1	+ 2.9
Eggs	- Sluice-gate price <sup>1</sup>	u.a./10 units h	0.2706	0.3150	+ 16.4	+ 3.1
Beet within the b d Average producer the guide price for 31 october 1972.	<pre>sais quota (region: Aisne, Somme, Oise - F price for ware potatoes from the main harv beef). 6 "Fowle 70 %" (plucked and drawn, Eggs (in shells) of poultry, fresh and mad</pre>	rence). <sup>b</sup> August 197 rest in the Federal F without heads end f le conservable (Class	<pre>12. <sup>C</sup> Market price 1 18 Public of Germany. 18 Put with hearts 1 Ad = 55 - 60 g per</pre>	in the Federal Repu • Applicable from •, livers and gizza • egg).	iblic of Germany (Hancver) in Au 1 15 September 1972. f Fictition urds). <sup>B</sup> Applicable from 1 Augus	gust 1972. m price (= 91 % of t 1972 to

Source: Directorate-General for Agriculture, Agricultural Economics and Structure Directorate, EEC Information: Agricultural Markets - Prises (livestock and vegetable products), Brussels, 1973 - Own calculations and estimates.

("agneaux gris"/fattened calves<sup>1</sup>). In the enlarged Community the United Kingdom will be by far the largest producer of mutton and lamb. The average guaranteed price for fat sheep in the United Kingdom in 1968/69 -1970/71 was fixed at 0.91 of the guaranteed prices for clean fat cattle. This coincides exactly with the price ratio at the producer level in France, which is why we fixed the fictitious guide price in a hypothetical common market in mutton and lamb at 91 % of the guide price for beef and veal.

A relatively large increase in the price of skimmed milk powder was also suggested, in response to the desire to give greater value to milk protein than to milk fat. However, in view of the Decision of the European Council of Ministers on prices for 1973/74 (reduction of the butter intervention price by 5.4 % and increase in the intervention price for dried skimmed milk y 18.5 % compared with 1972/73), our milk fat / milk protein ratio for 1977/78 seems rather "conservative".

The floating of the UK and Irish pound which began at the end of June 1972 leads to some difficulties in converting the hypothetical prices, expressed in European Communities' units of account, into pounds as the fluctuations which have since occurred in the rate of exchange of the pound will mean a considerable devaluation of the pound in relation to the European Communities' unit of account if the parity of the pound should be fixed again. The related problems are discussed in detail in the individual studies on the "United Kingdom" and "Ireland".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Statistical Office of the European Communities, loc. cit., p. 98.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> J. Schüler Landwirtschaft und Agrarpolitik in einigen westeuropäischen Ländern. II. Dänemark, Commission of the European Communities, Internal Information on Agriculture, No 57, Brussels, April 1970.

<sup>&</sup>lt;u>R. Schmidt</u> Landwirtschaft und Agrarpolitik in einigen westeuropäischen Ländern. V. Vereinigtes Königreich, loc. cit., No 66, Brussels, December 1970.

<sup>&</sup>lt;u>R. Schmidt</u> Landwirtschaft und Agrarpolitik in einigen westeuropäischen Ländern. VIII. Irland, loc. cit., No 73, Brussels, May 1971.

## Contents

## Page

,

Introduction	I
List of tables	IX
List of diagrams	XIII
I. Analysis of demand for foodstuffs	1
1. General remarks	1
2. Development of the model; forecasting methods	1
3. The results of the estimate of the demand function	9
a. Wheat flour	10
b. Rolles cats and corn flakes	10
c. Potatoes	12
d. Sugar	14
e. Beef	15
f. Mutton and lamb	17
g. Pork	18
h. Bacon	19
i. Poultryment	21
j. Edible offals	22
k. Liquid whole milk	23
1. Fresh cream	24
m. Tinned sterilised cream	25
n. Condensed milk	26
o. Whole and skimmed milk powder	27
p. Butter	28
q. Cheese	32
r. Eggs and egg products	32
s. Fruit and vegetables	34
4. Problems of compiling forecasts by means of demand	
equations incorporating a time variable	37
II. Forecasting the demand for foodstuffs	<b>4</b> 6
1. Hypotheses relating to the development of income, population and level of consumer prices up to 1977	<b>4</b> 6
2. Hypotheses relating to retail prices	50
a. Hypotheses relating to producer prices	50
b. Rypotheses relating to nominal and real retail prices	53

## Page

•

e

	3.	Results of forecasting per capita consumption of	
	-	foodstuffs in the 1977/78 farm year or in 1977	62
		a. Cereal products	64
		b. Sugar	67
		c. Potatoes	<b>6</b> 8
		d. Meat and meat products	68
		e. Milk products	74
		f. Eggs and egg products	78
		g. Fruit and vegetables	79
		h. Oils and fats	82
	4.	Summary of the results of the demand forecast	87
	5.	Nutritional test	90
			_
III.	An	alysis of the supply of agricultural products	96
	1.	General introduction	96
	2.	Construction of the models and general formulation of the equations of behaviour entering into models	96
		a. Cereals	97
		b. Sugar beet	102
		c. Potatoes	103
		d. Cattle	104
			120
		f. Pigs	126
		c. Paultwy	1 31
	2	Statistical avaniantion of the equations of behaviour	~.~
	3.	incorporated in the models for determining supply	132
		a. Cereals	132
		b. Potatoes	134
		c. Cattle	135
		d. Sheep	139
		e. Pigs	140
IV.	Fo	recast of the supply of agricultural products	142
	1.	Remarks on the hypotheses relating to producer prices and	
		feed grain prices in the 1977/78 farm year	142
	2.	Forecast of the areas under cultivation and of livestock	
		numbers in 1977	145

			Page
		a. Cereals	147
		b. Sugar beet	148
		c. Potatoes	149
		d. Rape	150
		e. Cattle	151
		f. Sheep	156
		g. Pigs	157
		h. Poultry	158
	3.	Test of the areas under cultivation	159
	4.	Forecasts of the yields per unit area and per livestook unit	164
	5.	Forecast of the domestic production of agricultural products and comparison of the results of the projections of production and consumption	166
		a. General preliminary remarks	166
		b. Cereals	167
		b <sub>1</sub> Remarks on some important balance items in so far as they concern human consumption and industrial use	167
		b <sub>2</sub> Hetimate of the domestic supply of feed grain and its utilisation	169
		c. Sugar	170
		d. Potatoes	172
		e. Rape and sunflower oil	172
		f. Beef	173
		g. Nutton and lamb	176
		h. Pork and Bacon	177
		i. Edible offals	1 <b>7</b> 7
		j. Nilk and milk products	178
		k. Hggs and poultrymeat	185
		1. Apples, pears and tomatces	185
۷.	For	recasts of the sale value of some important cutput items in the tional agricultural accounts	188
	Lis	st of the symbols used in the analysis of supply	
	Sta	atistical Annex	1*

.

.

e

## List of tables

Page

•

.

Table	1 -	Estimated income and price elasticities of demand for foodstuffs in the United Kingdom	38
Table	2 -	Consistency test relating to the decomposition of the regression coefficient of the time variable in the United Kingdom	40
Table	3 -	Compilation of hypotheses on income and population growth and on price levels in the United Kingdom	47
Table	4 -	Hypotheses on prices of important agricultural pro- ducts in the enlarged EEC in the 1977/78 farm year	51
<b>Ta</b> ble	5 -	Hypotheses on the nominal retail prices, and their most important components, for vegetable products in the United Kingdom	54
Table	6 -	Hypotheses on the nominal retail prices, and their most important components, for livestock products in the United Kingdom in 1977	<b>56</b> '
Table	7 -	Summary of hypotheses on the real retail prices of important foodstuffs in the United Kingdom after alignment on EEC agricultural prices in 1977	63
Table	8 -	Summary of results of forecasting per capita con- sumption of important foodstuffs in the United Kingdom in 1977 by means of the demand functions (kg)	65
Table	9 -	Results of forecasting per capita consumption of cereal products in the United Kingdom in 1977/78	66
Table	10 -	Results of forecasts of per capita consumption of meat in the United Kingdom in 1977/78	<del>69</del>
Table	11 -	Results of forecasting per capita consumption of oils and fats in the United Kingdom in 1977	83
Table	12 -	Forecast of total consumption of important foodstuffs in the United Kingdom in 1977	88
Table	13 -	Per capita calorie consumption of selected agricultural products and foodstuffs in the United Kingdom (1958/68 and 1977)	91
			-

-

## Page

.

e

Table	14	-	Per capita protein consumption of selected agricultural products and foodstuffs in the United Kingdom (1958-68 and 1977)
Table	15	-	Per capita fat consumption of selected agricultural products and foodstuffs in the United Kingdom (1958-68 and 1977)
Table	16		Cattle numbers ('000 000) and slaughterings of cattle and calves ('000) in the United Kingdom (1958-71) 111
Table	17		Analysis of the structure of the cattle stock in the United Kingdom (1958-71) 112/113
Table	18	-	Sheep numbers ('000 000) and sheep and lambs slaughtered ('000) in the United Kingdom (1958-71) 122
Table	19	-	Analysis of the structure of the stock of sheep in the United Kingdom (1958-71)123/124
Table	20	-	Stock, slaughterings, slaughter and rearing rates of pigs in the United Kingdom ('000) (1958-71) 127
Table	21	-	Hypotheses on the producer prices of important agricultural products in the United Kingdom in the 1977/78 farm year
Table	22	-	Hypotheses on feed grain prices in UK agriculture in the 1977/78 farm year 144
Table	23	-	Results of the estimate of the areas under culti- vation and of livestock numbers in the United Kingdom in 1977 by means of the model equations and revised projections
Table	24	-	"Test of the areas under cultivation": United Kingdom 160
Table	25	-	Trend in stocking rates of pasture land and in use of compound feeding stuffs in UK cattle and sheep farming (1958-72, and forecasts for 1977)
Table	<b>2</b> 6		Projections of the yields per unit area in crop pro- duction, and of the average milk yield per cow and of the average yield of eggs per laying hen in the United Kingdom for 1977 165
Table	27	-	The supply of cereals for human consumption and for industrial use in the United Kingdom $\neq$ 1966/67 - 1968/69 and forecasts for 1977/78 ('000 t grain weight). 168
Table	28	-	The supply of sugar and potatoes in the United Kingdom $\emptyset$ 1966/67 - 1968/69 and forecasts for 1977/78 171
Table	29	-	The supply of beef, sheepmeat and pigmeat in the United Kingdom $\emptyset$ 1969/71 and forecasts for 1977 175

## Page

Table	30 -	The production and utilisation of whole milk in the United Kingdom 1969/71 $\phi$ and forecasts for 1977	179
Table	31 -	The supply of butter and cheese in the United Kingdom Ø 1969/71 and forecasts for 1977	183
Table	32 -	The supply of apples, pears and fresh tomatoes in the United Kingdom $\emptyset$ 1966/67 - 1968/69 and forecasts for 1977/78	186
Table	33 -	The receipts of UK agriculture from the sale of important products $\emptyset$ 1967/69 and forecasts for 1977	189

## Tables in the Annex

Table	1* -	Supply of cereals for human consumption in the United Kingdom $1958/59 - 1970/71$ and forecasts for $1977/78$
Table	2* -	Supply of cereals for animal feed in the United Kingdom 1958/59 - 1970/71 and forecasts for 1977/78
Table	3*	Supply of cereals for industrial use in the United Kingdom 1958/59 - 1970/71 and forecasts for 1977/78
Table	4* -	Supply of wheat in the United Kingdom 1958/59 - 1971/72 and forecasts for 1977/78
Table	5* -	Supply of barley in the United Kingdom 1958/59 - 1971/72 and forecasts for 1977/78
Table	6 <b>* -</b>	Supply of cats in the United Kingdom 1958/59 - 1971/72 and forecasts for 1977/78
Table	7* -	Supply of maize in the United Kingdom 1958/59 - 1970/71 and forecasts for 1977/78
Table	8*	Supply of "other cereals" in the United Kingdom 1958/59 - 1971/72 and forecasts for 1977/78
Table	9* -	Supply of sugar in the United Kingdom 1958/59 - 1971/72 and forecasts for 1977/78
Table	10* -	Supply of potatoes in the United Kingdom - 1958/59 - 1971/72 and forecasts for 1977/78

- Table 11\* Supply of beef in the United Kingdom 1958-71 and forecasts for 1977
- Table 12\* Supply of mutton and lamb in the United Kingdom 1958-71 and forecasts for 1977
- Table 13\* Supply of pork and bacon in the United Kingdom 1958-71 and forecasts for 1977
- Table 14\* Supply of edible offals in the United Kingdom 1958-71 and forecasts for 1977
- Table 15\* Production and utilization of whole milk in the United Kingdom 1958-71 and forecasts for 1977
- Table 16\* Supply of butter and cheese in the United Kingdom 1958-71 and forecasts for 1977
- Table 17\* Supply of preserved whole milk products in the United Kingdom 1958-71 and forecasts for 1977
- Table 18\* Supply of cream and chocolate crumbin the United Kingdom 1958-71 and forecasts for 1977
- Table 19\* Production and utilisation of skimmed milk in the United Kingdom 1958-71 and forecasts for 1977
- Table 20\* Supply of skimmed milk powder and buttermilk powder in the United Kingdom 1958-71 and forecasts for 1977
- Table 21\* Supply of eggs in the United Kingdom 1958-71 and forecasts for 1977
- Table 22\* Supply of poultrymeat and poultry numbers in the United Kingdom 1958-71 and 1958/59 1968/69, and forecasts for 1977
- Table 23\* Supply of apples in the United Kingdom 1958/59 - 1970/71 and forecasts for 1977/78
- Table 24\* Supply of pears in the United Kingdom 1958/59 - 1970/71 and forecasts for 1977/78
- Table 25\* Supply of peaches in the United Kingdom 1958-70 and forecasts for 1977
- Table 26\* Supply of tomatoes in the United Kingdom 1958-71 and forecasts for 1977
- Table 27\* Supply of fats and oils (excluding butter) in the United Kingdom 1958-71 and forecasts of some items for 1977

## - XIII -

## List of diagrams

## Page

,

Diagram	1 -	Per capita consumption of beef and real retail prices for beef and pork in the United Kingdom 1958/69(71) and results of forecasts for 1977	69 <b>a</b>
Diagram	2 -	Per capita consumption of mutton and lamb and real retail prices for lamb, pork and poultrymeat in the United Kingdom 1958/69(71) and results of forecasts for 1977	70 <b>a</b>
Diagram	3 -	Per capita consumption of pork and real retail prices for pork and lamb in the United Kingdom 1958/69(71) and results of forecasts for 1977	70Ъ
Di <b>agra</b> m	4 -	Per capita consumption of poultrymeat and real retail prices for poultrymeat, pork and lamb in the United Kingdom 1958/69 and results for forecasts for 1977	71 <b>a</b>
Di <b>agra</b> m	5 -	Per capita consumption and real retail price of butter in the United Kingdom 1958/69(71) and results of forecasts for 1977	76 <b>a</b>
Diagram	6 -	Per capita consumption and real retail price of cheese in the United Kingdom 1958/69(71) and results of forecasts for 1977	77=
Di <b>agram</b>	7 -	Per capita consumption and real retail price of apples (dessert + cooking) in the United Kingdom 1958/59 - 1968/69 and results of forecasts for 1977/78	79 <b>a</b>
Diagram	8 -	Nodel for determining the gross domestic production of beef and milk production in the United Kingdom	113 <b>a</b>
Di <b>agram</b>	9 -	Nodel used for determining the gross domestic production of mutton and lamb in the United Kingdom	12 <b>4a</b>
Diagram	10 -	Areas under wheat and barley and the price ratio between both cereals in the United Kingdom (1955-72, 1977)	147 <b>a</b>
Diagram	11 -	Cow numbers in the United Kingdom and the most important determining factors involved (1955-71, 1977)	1558
Diagram	12 -	Ewe numbers in the United Kingdom and the most important determining factors involved (1955-71, 1977)	156a
Diagram	13 -	"Test of the areas under cultivation": United Kingdom ('000 000 ha) (1955-71, 1977)	161 <b>a</b>

### I. Analysis of demand for foodstuffs

### 1. General remarks

In the following report we are going to try, by way of econometric methods, to identify the most important factors determining the demand for foodstuffs in the United Kingdom. The principal aim of this analysis is to estimate income and price elasticities, which will serve as a basis for a forecast of the demand for foodstuffs. This forecast is to be prepared in view of the fact that after entry into the EEC at the beginning of 1973 the United Kingdom is to adopt the common agricultural policy of the Community, and British agricultural prices will be raised in stages over a period of five years (up to 1977) to the level of agricultural prices in the Community. In the course of this adaptation process some serious changes in prices and relationships between prices of foodstuffs in the United Kingdom will take place which will in all probability cause considerable shifts in the structure of British food consumption. On the one hand it would probably be asking rather too much of the demand functions and/or elasticities calculated by us for the period under review to try to forecast the effect of British entry into the EEC on food consumption (referred to hereafter as EEC effect for short) using these functions alone. On the other hand, the fact that only the sum of experiences collected in the past can be expressed in any forecast, is also valid for this one. In order not to be dependent at the outset upon subjective speculations alone in preparing the forecast, initially we will calculate the EEC effect exclusively on the basis of the demand functions estimated by us for the reference period - i.e. on the limiting assumption that there is no significant change in consumer behaviour. At a later stage, we will try to correct the results obtained on the first forecast with the help of special economic considerations.

### 2. Development of the model; forecasting methods

In accordance with the microeconomic theory of demand, we would like to start from the basic assumption that demand in an individual household for a given foodstuff is primarily determined by the income of that household, the number and age of the members of the household, the preference system of the household, the price of the foodstuff concerned, the price of competing foodstuffs, and the prices of all other goods purchased by the household. If the individual demand functions are aggregated to produce the macroeconomic demand function. total domestic consumption of the product concerned provides the independent variable. Total domestic consumption of a product could be explained by a variable reflecting consumer incomes in national accounts (e.g. the private disposable income), by the population and its age structure, by food consumption habits, by the national average price of the product concerned and of close substitutes and/or complementary goods and by the general level of prices. In order to save degrees of freedom and at the same time to reduce multicollinearity, which often proves to be troublesome in demand analysis, it is usually advantageous to use per capita data (food consumption) and deflated income and prices (the latter implies that the majority of households is free from money illusion). Under these hypotheses we first obtain the following model:

(1) 
$$Q = f(Y_{nm}; P_1; P_2; P_3; \dots; t);$$

#### where:

Q : per capita consumption of the product concerned
Yprv : private disposable income per head of population, divided by the
weighted index of all retail prices
P1; P2; P3; .... : average national retail price of the products concerned
and of competing products, divided by the weighted
index of all retail prices
t : time variable (t = 1 - T, in which T is equal to the number of years

t : time variable (t = 1 - T, in which T is equal to the number of years included in the investigation).

The main function of the t-variables in the equation is to take account of slowly and steadily developing influences on per capita consumption are independent of income and prices (for example, changes in the age structure of the population or certain gradual shifts in the preference system).

In addition to the private disposable income, personal disposable income or total private consumption expenditure may be considered as appropriate income variables. We have chosen private consumption expenditure because today usually long term contract saving methods are preferred, with contributions being fixed mainly in advance, so that there is much to be said for the theory that consumer decisions are largely made on the basis of the available income minus savings (this should moreover be considerably truer of foodstuffs than of certain consumer durables which account for a relatively high proportion of the total disposable income of those earning average incomes).

In choosing the type of function to be used in (1) it should be remembered that as a rule the income elasticity of demand decreases as income increases<sup>1</sup> - except in the case of a few notable luxury foodstuffs with "snob appeal". There are many types of functions which express this phenomenon; of these only the two relatively simplest are mentioned here:

> 1. The semi-logarithmic function  $Q = a + b \log C_{pr}$ with the elasticity  $\mathcal{P} Q/C_{pr} = 0.4343 \cdot \frac{b}{Q}$  $= 0.4343 \cdot \frac{b}{a + b \log C_{pr}}$

- 3 -

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See inter alia L.M. Goreux, Income and food consumption. FAO, "Monthly Bulleting of Agricultural Economics and Statistics", Vol. 9 (1960), No. 10, p.let seq.

2. The inverse function

 $Q = a - b \left(\frac{1}{C_{pr}}\right)$ 

with the elasticity

$$\gamma \ Q/C_{pr} = \frac{b}{Q \cdot C_{pr}}$$
$$= \frac{b}{a \ C_{pr} - b}$$

where:

C : Real private consumption expenditure per head of population.

As can be seen quite clearly from the above formulae, both types of function always show income elasticity falling as income increases, if the correlation between Q and C is positive - i.e. in the case of products reacting normally to changes in income. In the case of inferior goods, for which demand falls as C<sub>pr</sub> rises (e.g. bread and potatoes), the semi-logarithmic type of function would show an increasing income elasticity in absolute terms as income rises. This seems feasible from an economic point of view in so far as one can accept that readiness to substitute high-grade products for simple basic foodstuffs increases as income rises, at least within a certain income range. When the inverse function is used, the absolute value of the income elasticity for inferior goods falls (rises) as income rises, if the constant a is positive is zero, the absolute value of (negative). If the value of the constant a income rises<sup>1</sup>. The difference the income elasticity remains unchanged as between the two types of function lies mainly in the fact that the inverse function approaches asymptotically a "saturation point" as income increases, whilst Q moves towards infinity as C increases when the semi-logarithmic

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Cf.: Commission of the European Communities, Directorate-General for Agriculture, Landwirtschaftliche Vorausschätzungen - II. Möglichkeiten der Anwendung bestimmter Nodelle, Methoden und Techniken in der Gemeinschaft. Hausmitteilungen über Landwirtschaft, Brussels, October 1970, No 63, p. 100.

function is used. This difference is, however, only of theoretical importance for the range of income covered by this analysis. The fact that, all other things being equal, the inverse function shows a somewhat smaller increase in per capita consumption as income increases than the semi-logarithmic function is of practical importance - especially for forecasting. In the cas of inferior goods, the exact reverse is true: here the inverse function implies a sharper decline in the level of consumption as income increases than the semi-logarithmic function.

We would in any case like to represent the relationship between demand for a product and the price of the product by the semi-logarithmic type of function. Normally there is a negative correlation between the demand for and the price of the product, so that all other things being equal, the absolute value of direct price elasticity increases as the price rises. This means that in the case of extreme price increases the reaction of the consumer is relatively greater than with smaller price increases. This could be of particular use in forecasting, as the EEC effect will bring about a very sharp increase in the prices of many British foodstuffs.

Very little knowledge of the form of the relationship between demand and cross price can be obtained from the theory of demand. We are also going to use the semilogarithmic type of function here because of its simplicity. When, as is normal, there is a positive correlation between demand and cross price, the adoption of this method would imply, all other things being equal, an increasing (decreasing) cross price elasticity as the cross price falls (rises).

In accordance with these considerations we obtain the following two equations for the determination of demand:

(2) 
$$Q = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 \log c_{pr} + \alpha_2 \log P_1 + \alpha_3 \log P_2 + \dots + \alpha_k t + u_1$$
  
(3)  $Q = \beta_0 + \beta_1(\frac{1}{c_{pr}}) + \beta_2 \log P_1 + \beta_3 \log P_2 + \dots + (+\beta_k t) + u_2$ 

where:

C<sub>pr</sub> : private consumption expenditure at 1963 prices per head of population (L)

P1, P2: real retail prices (nominal retail prices divided by the weighted index of all retail prices; 16th January 1962 = 1.00)
u1, u2: unexplained residuals in the equations concerned.

The parameters of equations (2) and (3) shall to be estimated with the help of the ordinary least squares method (OLS method). If the OLS method is to provide unbiased and efficient parameter estimates, the following conditions, among others, must be fulfilled:

- 1. The residuals (u<sub>i</sub>) follow a random distribution with zero mean and constant variance.
- 2. The distribution of the residuals must be independent of the distribution of the explanatory variables.
- 3. The residuals must not be autocorrelated.

We have no a priori knowledge of the distribution which may underly the variables used by us in demand analysis. Condition (2) is mainly broken in our experience when endogenous variables are used as explanatory variables. In our case this danger can, in reality, only exist in respect of prices - i.e. not only do prices influence demand, but demand too has a clearly noticeable influence on prices. Where simultaneous relationships of this kind occur. the OLS method may produce parameter estimates which are subject to a bias. Apart from seasonal variations, which play no role when annual averages are used, the assumption that demand for most agricultural products develops relatively steadily should be justified. The big changes in prices, the effect of which is mainly measured in demand analysis, are as a rule the result of factors relating to the supply side of the market (for example, the cyclical movements in the case of livestock products or the influences of weather conditions in the case of arable products). Under these circumstances there is much to be said for the opinion that the OLS method yields satisfactory parameter estimates.

If there is autocorrelation in the residuals, the estimates are unbiased but not efficient<sup>1</sup>. However, there are only asymptotic properties which cannot help us very much in our very small samples (covering only a short period). To that extent we must always remember that, in the case of a significant degree of positive or negative autocorrelation, the estimated regression coefficients are also subject to a considerable bias. This is particularly true when the autocorrelation is due to specification errors in the model<sup>2</sup>. For this reason it is necessary in such a case to improve the equation by the inclusion of additional variables and by suitable transformations of variables already included until the autocorrelation of the residuals is reduced to an acceptable level. We are going to use the Durbin Watson statistic (D.W.) as a test value for the autocorrelation of the residuals.

In equations (2) and (3) the time variable is only included in brackets. The reason for this is as follows: demand equations are estimated at first in any case both with and without a time variable. Later on in the presentation of results a time variable is included only in those equations in which time actually has a significant influence.

If systematic shifts and other trend influences are taken into account by the introduction of linear time variables, it should be noted that this is just the same as correlating deviations from a linear trend in the case of the other variables in the equation (consumption, income and prices)<sup>3</sup>; i.e., only the short-term reactions are expressed in the regression coefficients for income and prices, while the differences between long and short term effects are added together or - in the case of divergent trend developments in the explanatory variables - balanced against each other in the regression coefficients of the t-variables. This should be pointed out in view of the following example<sup>4</sup>:

- 7 -

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See <u>J. Johnston</u>, Econometric Methods, New York 1963, p. 179.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See <u>E. Malinvaud</u>, Statistical Methods of Econometrics, Amsterdam 1966, p. 420.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Consumption (Q) - arithmetical: absolute deviations from the trend; income (C ) and prices (P): logarithmic (percentage) deviations from the trend:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See H. Gollnick, Einführung in die Ökonometrie, Stuttgart 1968, p. 123 et seq.

The following simple regression equation may have been estimated.

(4) 
$$Q = \hat{\alpha}_0 + \hat{\alpha}_1 \log C_{pr} + \hat{\alpha}_2 \log P + \hat{\alpha}_3 t$$

For the trends in income and price the equations

(5) 
$$\log C_{pr} = \hat{a}_0 + \hat{a}_1 t$$
 and  
(6)  $\log P = \hat{b}_0 + \hat{b}_1 t$ 

are assumed to be valid. Then the composition of the regression coefficient of the time variable - in the case of an sufficiently well specified equation would be as follows:

(7)  $\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{3} = (\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{1}^{\ell} - \hat{\mathcal{A}}_{1}) \cdot \mathbf{a}_{1} + (\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{2}^{\ell} - \hat{\mathcal{A}}_{2}) \cdot \mathbf{b}_{1}$ 

#### where:

 $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_1^{\ell}$  and  $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_2^{\ell}$ : regression coefficient, which represents the long term relationship between demand and income and/or price.

If the regression equation is incomplete, the coefficient of the t-variable can additionally include the influence of all not explicitly included, systematically changing factors. If there is more than one explanatory variable, the long term reactions of consumers  $(\hat{\alpha} \stackrel{\ell}{i})$  cannot unfortunately be estimated separately, with the result that we have to resort to guess work in the interpretation of the regression coefficient of the time variable. This is of particular hindrance when preparing forecasts based on the assumption of an important change in the trend in explanatory variables (a problem which is posed in particular in the assessment of consumer reaction to major changes in prices resulting from the EEC effect). If, for example, in equation (7) there would be a  $b_1$  of -0.2 for the assessment period and a  $b_1$  of +0.3 for the forecasting period, equation (4) would yield a marked overestimate or underestimate of Q - according to which value  $\hat{\alpha}_3$  and

the other parameters in equation (7) would assume. This shows that the explanatory power of regression equations when using time variables is very closely linked to the assessment period. Their use for the purpose of forecasting in the case of changes in price trends is therefore only possible after appropriate corrections to the regression coefficients of the t-variables have been made. As has still to be shown after discussion of the results obtained in the parameter estimates of the demand equations, an estimation of the regression equations without t-variables can be decidedly helpful in many cases for such corrections. This is connected with the fact that in the regression coefficients of an equation estimated without t-variable the long and short-term influences combine. whereby however in the majority of cases the longterm influence seem to make themselves more felt than the short-term influences. In other words: The actual regression coefficients in the equation without time variable are very close to the long-term coefficients  $(\hat{a}_{1}^{\ell})$ .

#### 3. The results of the estimate of the demand functions

Generally the assessment period covers the years 1958 to 1969 for data relating to calendar years, and 1958/59 - 1968/69 for seasons. Only variations from these periods will be noted for the individual equations. The retail prices are, without exception, those quoted in the annual reports of the "National Food Survey Committee"<sup>1</sup> and are based on extensive household surveys carried out in all regions of the United Kingdom. In the analysis of demand we were able to evaluate only the National Food Survey Committee's annual reports up to 1970 inclusive, in which the prices were still given in old pennies (d); to cut down our work we did not convert them in new pennies (p). In order to facilitate understanding of the following it should be pointed out that in the case of the inverse type of function a negative (positive) regression coefficient for the income variable implies that demand rises (falls) as income increases.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food, Household Food Consumption and Expenditure, Annual Report of the National Food Survey Committee. London, H.M.S.O., various issues.

## a. Wheat flour

According to the results of our estimate wheat flour consumption is, in practical terms, determined exclusively by the development of income:

(8) 
$$Q = + 30.178 + 16064.0 \left(\frac{1}{C_p}\right)$$
  
(10.1) pr  
 $r^2 = 0.919$  D.W. = 1.76  $\hat{O} = 1.4 \%$ 

where:

Q : total per capita consumption of wheat flour (kg product weight) in the farm year July - Jume.

The figure in brackets underneath the regression coefficient  $(\frac{1}{C})$  is the t-test value, which gives the ratio of the regression coefficient to its standard deviation. D.W. is the Durbin-Watson statistic and  $\hat{\diamond}$  the standard error of the estimate

 $(\hat{\phi} = \sqrt{\frac{\hat{\epsilon}}{N-m-1}})$ , where N is the number of observations and m the number of explanatory variables. Hence  $\hat{\phi}/\bar{Q}$  is the standard error of the estimate in relation to the arithmetic mean of the dependent variable. The dominant factor influencing UK wheat flour consumption is the consumption of white bread. White bread is an inferior product which is replaced mainly by higher grade products of animal origin. The extent of this "substitution" is largely determined by the growth of income. With the help of function (8) an income elasticity of the demand for wheat flour of  $-0.6^1$  can be calculated.

b. <u>Rolled oats and corn flakes</u> (9)  $Q = 4.9403 + 587.25 \left(\frac{1}{C_p}\right) + 2.7024 \log P_1$ (5.3) Pr (2.0)  $R^2 = 0.934$ D.W. = 1.59  $\frac{\delta}{\overline{D}} = 3.3 \%$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Measured in the arithmetical mean - this is also true of all following price and income elasticities.

where: Q : per capita consumption of rolled oats (kg product weight; farm year July - June)

 $P_1$  : real retail price for corn flakes (d/kg)

(10) 
$$Q = + 3.1629 - 2359.8 \left(\frac{1}{C_{pr}}\right) + 4.5284 \log P_1 - 0.65612 \log P_2$$
  
(3.8)  $pr$  (1.3)  $(0.1)$   
 $R^2 = 0.867$  D.W. = 3.13  $\frac{c}{Q} = 6.9\%$ 

where:

Q : per capita consumption of corn flakes (kg product weight; farm year July - Jume)

P<sub>1</sub> and P<sub>2</sub>: real retail price for rolled oats and corn flakes respectively (d/kg).

Demand for rolled oats must be looked at in the light of the consumption of corn flakes. There is a very close substitution relationship between these two products in the United Kingdom, in which rolled oats are clearly the inferior product (estimated income elasticity of rolled oats consumption: -1.1; income elasticity of corn flakes consumption: +0.3). The degree to which rolled oats are substituted for corn flakes is, however, determined only by income but also by price. Thus, the regression equations for both rolled oats and corn flakes show the price of the competing product to be the most important factor influencing substitution after income. It can hardly be a coincidence that equation (9) gives the same cross price elasticity for demand (rolled oats compared with corn flakes) as equation (10) (corn flakes compared with rolled oats) - namely +0.8. On the other hand, at -0.1<sup>1</sup> the direct price elasticity of demand for corn flakes is very small; the price of rolled oats was seen to have no impact whatsoever on demand for this product.

<sup>1</sup>The very low t-value of the regression coefficient of  $P_2$  in equation (10) is partly the result of the high intercorrelation between  $C_{pr}$ ,  $P_1$  and  $P_2$ , which probably had a negative effect on the t-value of the coefficient of  $P_2$ , above all.

#### c. Potatoes

Income can be considered as the main factor determining the demand for maincrop ware potatoes:

(11) 
$$Q = + 106.71 - 11271.0 \left(\frac{1}{C_{pr}}\right)$$
  
(4.0) pr  
 $R^2 = 0.639$  D.W. = 1.72  $\frac{\delta}{\overline{Q}} = 2.5\%$ 

#### where:

## Q : per capita consumption of maincrop ware potatoes (kg; farm year July - June)

In contrast with most other countries in north-west Europe there is a significant positive correlation between ware potato consumption and income in the United Kingdom; the income elasticity is surprisingly high at +0.4 (equation (11)). The reason for this is that a long-term downward trend in direct consumption of ware potatoes by private households is greatly overcompensated for by a rapidly expanding consumption of ware potatoes in processed form (chips, crisps, etc.) (negative income elasticity in demand for ware potatoes for household consumption; strongly positive income elasticity in demand for potatoes to be processed into chips, crisps, etc.). The inclusion of the price of potato chips in the regression equation brings only slight improvement, as the consumption of chips, crisps, etc. is probably primarily determined by income:

(12) 
$$Q = + 131.52 - 9680.7 \left(\frac{1}{C_{pr}}\right) - 18.267 \log P_1$$
  
(2.1) (0.5)  
 $R^2 = 0.648$  D.W. = 1.79  $\frac{\delta}{\overline{Q}} = 2.6\%$ 

where:

 $P_1$  : real retai price of potato chips (d/kg)

The small t-value of the price variable is also due in part to a high intercorrelation between income and price. Equation (12) gives an income elasticity for ware potato demand of +0.3; the absolute value of the elasticity of total ware potato consumption in relation to the price of chips only is in any case expected to be rather low (estimate from equation (12): -0.1).

Income and price of the product permit only an inadequate explanation of the demand for early potatoes.

(13) 
$$Q = + 4.4040 + 7457.3 \left(\frac{1}{C}\right) - 6.2718 \log P_1$$
  
(2.4)  $pr$  (0.8)  
 $R^2 = 0.382$  D.W. = 1.44  $\frac{\hat{6}}{\bar{Q}} = 11.0 \%$ 

where:

Q : per capita consumption of early potatoes (kg; calendar years) P<sub>1</sub> : real retail price of early potatoes (d/kg)

The income elasticity of early potato consumption according to equation (13) is -1.1 and the direct price elasticity -0.2. This result does not entirely correspond to our a priori expectations. We had supposed that early potatoes as well as maincrop ware potatoes - are an inferior product, but that consumers nevertheless react considerably more sharply to changes in the price of earlies, which are available for only a short period period, than the calculated price elasticity of -0.2 per cent suggests. (due to the fact that when supplies of nwe potatoes are at their peak<sup>1</sup> ware potatoes from the previous year's main crop are also still available, generally at considerably lower prices, so that consumers can revert to a cheaper substitute if the price of early potatoes increases sharply.) It must, nonetheless, be admitted that in contrast to the almost complete price inelasticity of demand for maincrop ware potatoes for household consumption the elasticity of demand for earlies (which are also used almost exclusively for household consumption) can be regarded as being fairly high (absolute value: 0.2). The large relative standard error in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> If both domestic and imported new potatoes are included, this period stretches from April to July.

equation (13) points to the fact that some care must be taken in using equation (13) for forecasting despite the possible theoretical justification of the assumed relationship. ł

## d. <u>Sugar</u> (14) $Q = + 46.725 + 4209.5 \left(\frac{1}{C_p}\right) - 2.9165 \log P_1$ (1.4) (0.2) $R^2 = 0.295$ D.W. = 2.05 $\frac{\delta}{\overline{Q}} = 2.5 \%$

where:

Q : per capita consumption of refined sugar (including products containing sugar) (kg of white sugar; farm year July - June)
 P<sub>1</sub> : real retail price of white sugar for direct consumption in

private households (d/kg).

In principle equation (14) shows that the demand for sugar in the United Kingdom is essentially determined by traditional food consumption habits and only marginally by economic factors (income. prices) (income elasticity: -0.2; direct price elasticity: -0.02 i.e. practically zero). The marginal influence of the price of sugar should also be looked at in the light of the fact that direct consumption of sugar in households accounts for only about 50 per cent of total sugar consumption. For all industries using sugar as a raw material, sugar prices are likely to affect stockbuilding only in the short term, whereas sales prospects for the main output items (sugar and chocolate confectionery) are believed to be the decisive factor for sugar consumption in this sector in the long term. Consumption of sugar products in the United Kingdom was already relatively high at the end of the 1950's and increased only marginally thereafter. The direct consumption of sugar fell slightly after 1958; accordingly. total per capita consumption of sugar changed little during the period 1958/59 - 1968/69. The low coefficient of determination in equation (14) should also be looked at against this background. As may be concluded from the D.W. statistic, we have introduced in equation (14) at least all the important economic factors influencing the demand for sugar.

- 14 -

e. Beef

(15) 
$$Q = +105.84 - 163.18 \left(\frac{1}{C}\right) - 48.360 \log P_1 + 9.7249 \log P_2$$
  
(0.1)  $pr$  (1.9) (0.4)  
 $R^2 = 0.656$  D.W. = 1.53  $\frac{\delta}{\overline{O}} = 4.2\%$ 

(16)  $Q = + 88.002 + 16425.0 \left(\frac{1}{C_{pr}}\right) - 91.154 \log P_1 + 36.371 \log P_2 + 1.2042 t$ (2.4) (3.6) (1.6) (2.6)  $R^2 = 0.824$   $D.W. = 2.81 \frac{\hat{\sigma}}{\bar{Q}} = 3.2\%$ 

where:

Q : per capita consumption of beef and veal (kg slaughter weight)
P<sub>1</sub> : real retail price of beef (d/kg)
P<sub>2</sub> : real retail price of pork (d/kg)
t : time trend (T = 1, 2, 3 ...., T)

According to equation (15), the main factor influencing beef consumption would be the price of beef (direct price elasticity calculated from (15): -0.8). Pork would be of some importance as a substitute (cross price elasticity: +0.2). However, income does not appear to have any significant influence (income elasticity: +0.02 - i.e. practically zero). The introduction of a linear time variable, however, brings substantial improvements; the coefficient of determination, adjusted for degrees of freedom, increases by 19.7 per cent<sup>1</sup>, and the partial regression coefficients are all now well established (see equation (16)). This could mean that in the case of the demand for beef there are considerable differences between long and shortterm reactions for which adequate allowance can be made only by the introduction of a time variable. As has already been outlined in (I, 2), the regression coefficients for prices and income show only the short-term reactions when a time variable is used, whilst the regression coefficients

<sup>1</sup> The coefficient of determination  $(R^{2}(a))$  adjusted by the number of degrees of freedom is calculated as follows:  $R^{2}(a) = R^{2} - \frac{m}{N-m-1} \cdot (1-R^{2});$  where

N is the number of observations and m the number of explanatory variables (see also H. Gollmick, op. cit., p. 99). In (15) and (16)  $R^2(a)$  equals 0.527 and 0.724 respectively.

mainly reflect the long-term reactions in estimates without time variables (strictly speaking, a mixture with an a priori unknown weighting of long and short-term reactions). Equation (16) gives the following elasticities relating to the demand for beef: income: -1.8; own price: -1.6; cross price (pork): +0.6. This would suggest that the demand for beef always reacts more sharply in the short term than in the long term. However, the very high, short-term negative income elasticity seems to raise problems. It is difficult to find reasons why of all products beef should be an inferior product in the United Kingdom, which is not the case with the other types of meat, as will be shown later. One possible explanation is that the regression coefficients in equations (15) and (16) are influenced not only by the behaviour of consumers but also in part by supply restrictions. Total supplies of beef on the British market were heavily dependent on imports during the period 1958 - 1969 and still are. In the years after 1958, and in particular 1959/60 and 1964/65, there were repeated, relatively lengthy supply shortages on the world beef market when British importers often seem to have been unable to obtain the desired quantities on the world market. Importers in the EEC and the USA in particular. where the prices of beef and of other types of meat were substantially higher than those in the United Kingdom, were prepared to pay correspondingly higher prices than the British import trade. Traditionally important suppliers of beef to the British market such as Australia and Argentina reacted to this price difference by preferring after 1958 and 1963 to supply chiefly the US and EEC markets respectively, whilst exports to the United Kingdom were forced increasingly into the role of a stop-gap measure. British importers could, of course, have obtained greater quantities from the world market by raising their offer prices to the level of those paid by US. Italian and Federal German importers. This, however, was clearly not possible in view of the marketing situation and profit margins (rather pessimistic assessment of the chances of passing on the higher cost prices to the retail trade and consumers). This would then have had the

result that - <u>at the given price</u> - supplies on the UK beef market could not for a time meet demand, os that consumers would have been forced indirectly to change to other types of meat (not price-conditioned, but supply-conditioned substitution). It might be possible that during the period 1958 - 1969 there was to a certain extent a purely random negative correlation between the cyclical fluctuations of  $C_{pr}$  and the supplyconditioned substitution. If, for this reason,  $C_{pr}$  is eliminated from equation (16), the following is obtained:

(17) 
$$Q = + 118.20 - 70.126 \log P_1 + 24.983 \log P_2 + 0.18835 t$$
  
(2.4) (0.9) (0.9)  
 $R^2 = 0.684$  D.W. = 1.61  $\frac{\delta}{\overline{0}} = 4.0 \%$ .

Equation (17) yields a direct price elasticity of -1.2 and a cross price elasticity (pork) of +0.4. As in equation (15), the own price is dominant factor influencing the demand for beef in (17). Equation (17) hardly represents a considerable step forward compared with equation (15). If the hypothesis of a random correlation between  $C_{pr}$  and the supply-conditioned substitution were accepted, equation (16) should be discarded and the original equation (15) used for forecasting purposes.

#### f. Mutton and Lamb

Income, the own price and the prices of pork and poultrymeat provide a good explanation of mutton and lamb consumption:

(18) 
$$Q = + 12.970 - 2739.1 \left(\frac{1}{C_{pr}}\right) - 30.795 \log P_1 + 23.640 \log P_2 + 9.2180 \log P_3$$
  
(1.2)  $pr$  (3.9) (3.6) (1.8)  
 $R^2 = 0.858$  D.W. = 2.01  $\frac{\hat{\delta}}{\bar{Q}} = 2.7 \%$ 

#### where:

Q : per capita consumption of mutton and lamb (kg slaughter weight; calendar years)
P<sub>1</sub>, P<sub>2</sub>, P<sub>3</sub>: real retail prices for mutton and lamb, pork and poultrymeat (d/kg)

The elasticities calculated from equation (18) all lie in a range covered by the a priori expectations. The income elasticity is +0.7, the own price elasticity -1.2, the cross price elasticities +0.9 (pork) and +0.4 (poultrymeat). The price of beef was not seen to have significant influence on the demand for mutton and lamb, which is surprising in view of the great similarity in taste properties of both types of meat. As the price of lamb likewise plays no part in the equations determining beef consumption, we must assume that in the consumer's view beef and lamb are both close substitutes for pork, whereby - easures in terms of the ratio of the cross price elasticities in equations (15) and (18) - the degree of substitution between lamb and pork is considerably greater than that between beef and pork.

## g. Pork

From the above results we can assume that demand for pork is influenced not only by income and the own price but also by the price of lamb and possibly that of beef:

(19) 
$$Q = -34.278 + 30.041 \log C_{pr} - 29.508 \log P_1 + 14.471 \log P_2$$
  
(7.7) (3.6) (1.6)  
 $R^2 = 0.928$  D.W. = 1.63  $\frac{2}{\overline{0}} = 3.4\%$ 

#### where:

Q : per capita consumption of pork (kg slaughter weight; calendar years)

 $P_1$  and  $P_2$ : real retail prices of pork, and of mutton and lamb (d/kg).

The additional inclusion of the price of beef in the analysis brings hardly any improvement<sup>1</sup>:

(20) 
$$Q = -52.477 + 35.482 \log C_{pr} - 25.293 \log P_1 + 19.858 \log P_2 - 7.2375 \log P_3$$
  
(2.9) (2.0) (1.3) (0.5)  
 $R^2 = 0.931$  D.W. = 1.76  $\frac{\hat{c}}{Q} = 3.6\%$ 

#### where:

$$P_3$$
 : real retail price of beef (d/kg).

The negative sign of the regression coefficient of  $P_3$  is not what was theoretically expected (beef as a substitute for pork). The sharp drop in the t-test value for the regression coefficient of  $C_{pr}$  in equation (20) compared with equation (19) and the low t-value for the regression coefficient of  $P_3$  should be considered in relation to the high intercorrelation between log  $C_{pr}$  and log  $P_3$  (correlation coefficient: +0.83). For this reason equation (20) does not provide satisfactory proof that demand for pork is not influenced by the price of beef. The elasticities estimated using equation (19) show not only that demand for pork is highly sensitive to price (which has already been established for the consumption of beef and lamb), but that growth in income also is a significant factor in promoting the consumption of pork: income elasticity: +1.2; own price elasticity: -1.1; cross price elasticity (lamb): +0.6.

## h. Bacon

The consumption of bacon in the United Kingdom seems to be strongly influenced by traditional habits. This could primarily be seen from the fact that the per capita consumption of bacon in the years 1958 - 1969 only fluctuated between around 14.3 and 15.6 kg. This is a relatively small range of fluctuations when compared with that of other types of meat. In view of this small range of variation in the demand for bacon

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>  $R^{2}(a)$  in (19): 0.901;  $R^{2}(a)$  in (20): 0.892.

during the assessment period, we are not expect satisfactory results from the regression analysis:

(21) 
$$Q = + 65.469 - 3.6450 \log C_{pr} - 20.280 \log P_1$$
  
(0.9) (2.4)  
 $R^2 = 0.433$  D.W. = 1.45  $\frac{\delta}{\overline{Q}} = 2.2\%$ 

Measured in terms of the coefficient of determination adjusted for degreees of freedom and of the other statistical test values, the introduction of a time variable is a considerable improvement:

(22) 
$$Q = -22.798 + 31.735 \log C_{pr} - 20.652 \log P_1 - 0.31191 t$$
  
(2.0) (3.0) (2.3)  
 $R^2 = 0.660$  D.W. = 1.99  $\frac{6}{2} = 1.8 \%$ 

Eggs are an important complementary good for bacon; therefore the egg price should also be included in the regression equation for the demand for bacon:

(23) 
$$Q = + 71.011 + 4742.3 \left(\frac{1}{C_{pr}}\right) - 19.848 \log P_1 - 1.8199 \log P_2 - 0.31547 t$$
  
(2.1)  $pr$  (2.8) (0.5) (2.4)  
 $R^2 = 0.688$  D.W. = 1.77  $\frac{2}{G} = 1.9 \%$ 

where:

Q : per capita consumption of bacon (in kg fresh meat equivalent; calendar years)

P<sub>1</sub> and P<sub>2</sub>: real retail price for bacon and shell eggs respectively (d/kg product weight and d/egg).

All three equations yield an own price elasticity of the demand for bacon of -0.6. There are significant differences between short and long-term reactions as regards income. The short-term income elasticity according to equations (22) and (23) ranges from +0.8 to +0.9. This is in contrast with a very low, but negative income elasticity of -0.1 in equation (21), which probably represents in the main the long-term reaction. Accordingly, in the long-term demand for bacon would, in fact, be determined primarily by traditional food consumption habits which are moving away from bacon, albeit very slowly. The egg price exerts only a small influence on bacon consumption - equation (23) gives the elasticity in relation to the egg price as -0.1. (As eggs are a complementary product, the negative elasticity and regression coefficient of  $P_2$  correspond to the theory). The low t-test value for the regression coefficient of  $P_2$  is due mainly to the high intercorrelation between the egg price  $C_{pr}$  and the time variable (correlation coefficient < -0.9 in each case).

## i. Poultrymeat

The explanation of the extraordinarily rapid expansion in demand for poultrymeat is hampered considerably by problems of multicollinearity. Thus the influence of income on the consumption of poultrymeat, which is no doubt present, and the effect of the sharply falling deflated retail price of poultrymeat ( $P_1$ ) cannot be satisfactorily distinguished from one another (correlation coefficient log  $C_{pr}/\log P_1$ : -0.98). However, given the poultry price and the price of two important substitutes (pork and lamb) the consumption of poultrymeat can be very clearly determined:

(24) 
$$Q = 12.017 - 20.516 \log P_1 + 15.889 \log P_2 + 13.820 \log P_3$$
  
(25.3) (3.0) (3.0)  
 $R^2 = 0.988$  D.W. = 2.14  $\frac{6}{5} = 3.0\%$ 

#### where:

Q : per capita consumption of poultrymeat (kg; calendar years) P<sub>2</sub> and P<sub>3</sub> : real retail price of lamb and pork respectively (d/kg).

Equation (24) clearly shows that the sharp increase in demand for poultrymeat in the period 1958 - 1969 could be ascribed on the whole

- 21 -

to the drop in the (real) price of the product (direct price elasticity according to (24): -1.2). However, the cross price elasticities for the demand for poultrymeat are also surprisingly high: +1.0 (lamb) and +0.8 (pork).

## j. Edible offals (liver, heart, kidneys etc.)

Liver consumption has by far the greatest importance in the consumption of offals. We have therefore tried to explain the demand for offals in terms of income and the price of liver:

(25) 
$$Q = -3.2395 + 6.3348 \log C_{pr} - 4.2068 \log P_1$$
  
(2.1) (0.9)  
 $R^2 = 0.860$  D.W. = 0.76  $\frac{\delta}{\overline{\Omega}} = 2.8 \%$ 

where:

Q : per capita consumption of offals (kg product weight; calendar years)

P<sub>1</sub> : real retail price for liver of all kinds (d/kg).

The high coefficient of determination of equation (25) reflects primarily the trend relationship between Q and  $C_{pr}$ . As can be seen from the very low Durbin-Watson statistic, this does not, however, provide a satisfactory explanation of annual fluctuations in demand for edible offals. The additional use of a time variable produces considerably better results:

(26) 
$$Q = -28.098 + 21.595 \log C_{pr} - 10.710 \log P_1 - 0.16934 t$$
  
(4.4) (3.0 (3.4)  
 $R^2 = 0.943$  D.W. = 1.26  $\frac{\hat{\delta}}{\bar{\delta}} = 1.9 \%$ 

Equation (26) gives a (short-term) income elasticity of +2.1 and a shortterm own price elasticity of -0.1. If these values are compared with the elasticity coefficients calculated from equation (25) (+0.6 and -0.4), this shows that in the case of the demand for edible offals, as in the case of the demand for beef and bacon, consumer reaction in the short term is much sharper than in the long term.

1

## k. Liquid whole milk

Demand for liquid milk ought to be mainly determined by the own price and by income. Condensed milk can be considered as a possible substitute but it should be remembered that the total consumption of condensed milk compared with that of liquid milk is only marginal:

(27) 
$$Q = + 223.93 - 885.50 \left(\frac{1}{C_{pr}}\right) - 91.224 \log P_1$$
  
(0.3) (1.2)  
 $R^2 = 0.410$  D.W. = 0.83  $\frac{\delta}{\overline{Q}} = 0.9 \%$ 

where:

- Q : per capita consumption for liquid whole milk in kg, natural fat content (only deliveries to dairies<sup>1</sup>, excluding consumption by producers; calendar years)
- P<sub>1</sub>: real retail price of liquid whole milk (weighted average for sales at the normal price and at Government subsidised prices (welfare and school milk); d/pint).

The additional introduction of the condensed milk price brings no improvement in the still unsatisfactory results of equation (27); only the inclusion of a time variable achieves this:

(28) 
$$Q = + 282.48 - 27689.0 \left(\frac{1}{C_{pr}}\right) - 66.094 \log P_1 - 1.4238 t$$
  
(5.0)  $pr$  (1.6) (5.1)  
 $R^2 = 0.859$  D.W. = 2.05  $\frac{\delta}{\overline{Q}} = 0.5\%$ 

The coefficient of determination adjusted for degrees of freedom is almost trebled<sup>2</sup> by this procedure and the D.W. test no longer shows any significant autocorrelation between the residuals as in equation (27).

<sup>2</sup>  $R^{2}(a)$  in (27): 0.279;  $R^{2}(a)$  in (28): 0.806.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Including direct sales of liquid whole milk by the producer to the consumer

Consequently, the representation of the year-to-year variations in liquid milk consumption by (28) is rather good. As with a number of other products, the short-term income elasticity (+0.5) calculated from equation (28) is considerably higher than the mixed and thus the long-term income elasticity also (+0.02 from equation (27)). Both equations yield a similar estimate for the own price elasticity of demand: -0.3 (27) and -0.2 (28). The very inealstic reaction of liquid milk demand to price changes should primarily be seen in the light of the fact that there is no perfect substitute for liquid milk (unlike margarine for butter or pork for beef, for example) and that liquid milk is one of the important daily necessities in most households.

## 1. Fresh cream

In constructing the equation for the determination of fresh cream consumption it should be remembered that nearly 50 per cent of total fresh cream sales go to bakeries (for the production of pastries and cream cakes). The demand of the bakeries for fresh cream is almost exclusively derived from the sales prospects for the end products, pastries and cream cakes, which in turn can best be explained in our analysis by reference to income. The direct demand from private households for fresh cream (mainly for use as whipped cream) may similarly be dependent on income and - in contrast to the sales to bakeries - also partly on the price of cream. After the end of food rationing in 1954, which had already affected cream production to a certain extent, there was a manifold increase in cream consumption as a result of the considerable pent-up demand. In order to take this special circumstance into consideration in the type of function, we are going to give the equation for fresh cream consumption a double logarithmic form (here it is supposed that rising income elasticity remains constant):

(29)  $\log Q = -7.8319 + 4.7292 \log C_{pr} - 0.87787 \log P_1$ (13.8) (3.6)  $R^2 = 0.997$  D.W. = 1.82  $\frac{3}{5} = 0.4 \%$ 

- 24 -

where:

Q : per capita consumption of fresh cream in product weight (g; calendar years)

P<sub>1</sub> : real retail price for cream (d/pint whole milk equivalent).

A further improvement in equation (29) is hardly possible and, what is more, unnecessary. The elasticity coefficients are given directly by the regression coefficients in the double logarithmic type of function. The income elasticity of +4.7, which seems extremely high at first sight, is, as explained earlier, mainly due to the fact that at the time of food rationing the production and sale of fresh cream came almost entirely to a halt as emphasis was laid on securing adequate supplies of liquid milk and other essential dairy products.

## m. Tinned sterilised cream

To a certain extent the situation of tinned sterilised cream is similar to that of fresh cream (suspension of production and imports until 1954, followed by a rapid increase in consumption, which levelled off after 1963 - this in contrast to fresh cream for which the boom in consumption is still continuing). In some sectors condensed milk is an important substitute for tinned cream:

(30) 
$$Q = -2.9341 + 1.7575 \log C_{pr} - 0.91507 \log P_1 + 0.46067 \log P_2$$
  
(1.5) (1.2) (0.5)  
 $R^2 = 0.885$  D.W. = 0.85  $\frac{\delta}{\overline{Q}} = 7.9 \%$ 

#### where:

Q : per capita consumption of sterilised tinned cream in product weight (kg; calendar years)

P<sub>2</sub> : real retail price for condensed milk (d/pint whole milk equivalent - average price for sweetened and unsweetened products). The low D.W. statistic and the large relative standard error already suggest that in spite of the rather high coefficient of determination of equation (30) an unsatisfactory explanation of the yearly fluctuations in the demand for tinned cream is still given. The reason for this may inter alia be the merging of widely differing short and longterm influences in the regression coefficients of equation (30). This hypothesis is confirmed by the inclusion of a time variable:

(31) 
$$Q = -10.658 + 5.3608 \log C_{pr} - 1.6623 \log P_1 + 0.52279 \log P_2 - 0.03943 t$$
  
(5.7) (3.9) (1.2) (4.9)  
 $R^2 = 0.974$  D. W. = 2.32  $\frac{\hat{c}}{\overline{Q}} = 4.0 \%$ 

The influences of income and prices on the demand for tinned cream are now well established and the significant positive autocorrelation of the disturbance term in (30) has become an insignificant negative autocorrelation in (31). The representation of the yearly fluctuations in demand for tinned cream in (31) can be described as rather good. A comparison of the elasticity coefficients in (30) and (31) gives the usual picture. The short-term elasticities in equation (31) (income: +6.5; own price: -2.0) are much higher than the mixed elasticities in equation (30) (income: +2.1; own price: -1.1). Only the cross price elasticity (condensed milk) is about the same in both functions (+0.6). The almost "exotic", short-term income elasticity of +6.5 and also the very high mixed income elasticity are, as with fresh cream, related to the "rationing effect" (see above).

## n. Condensed milk

Problems of multicollinearity among explanatory variables and the small range of variation of condensed milk consumption offer little hope of an acceptable explanation of the demand for condensed milk of all kinds being given. In addition to income and own price, demand for condensed milk is mainly influenced by the price of liquid milk, but here it should be remembered that on the consumer preference scale liquid milk rates above condensed milk (condensed milk as a cheap substitute for liquid milk):

(32) 
$$Q = + 0.88494 + 170.86 \left(\frac{1}{C_{pr}}\right) - 3.2729 \log P_1 + 5.3584 \log P_2$$
  
(0.2)  $Q = + 0.88494 + 170.86 \left(\frac{1}{C_{pr}}\right) - 3.2729 \log P_1 + 5.3584 \log P_2$   
(0.2)  $Q = + 0.3584 \log P_2$   
(0.7)  $Q = -0.3584 \log P_2$   
(0.7)  $Q = -0.344 \log P_2$   
(0.7)  $Q = -0.344 \log P_2$ 

## where:

- Q : per capita consumption of condensed milk of all kinds in product weight (kg; calendar years)
- P<sub>1</sub> : real retail price for sweetened and unsweetened condensed milk (d/pint whole milk equivalent)
- P<sub>2</sub>: real retail price for liquid milk (weighted average for sales at the normal price and Government subsidised prices (welfare and school milk); d/pint).

The coefficient of determination in equation (32) and the t-value of the partial regression coefficients are all very low. It should, however, be remembered that the intercorrelation between the explanatory variables is very high (the correlation coefficients between the explanatory variables vary from +0.83 to +0.97). The D.W. statistic shows that at least we have not ommitted any important factors influencing the demand for condensed milk from equation (32). The elasticity coefficients obtained from (32) are also plausible (income elasticity: -0.2; own price elasticity: -0.5; cross price elasticity: +0.8) - this is especially so because the high estimate for the cross price elasticity demonstrates the outstanding importance of liquid milk as a substitute for condensed milk. In spite of the poor results of the statistical tests ( $\mathbb{R}^2$ , t-value) equation (32) seems, therefore, not unsuitable for forecasting purposes.

## o. Whole and skimmed milk powder

By far the greatest customers for milk powder are the chocolate and confectionery industries, bakeries (dried skimmed milk used in the production of white bread) and some branches of the canning industry (particularly the producers of preserved meat and fish). For these buyers the marketing prospects for their end products, but hardly ever the milk powder price, have bearing on their buying arrangements. The marketing prospects for the end products can be reflected here only by reference to income. Direct consumption of whole milk powder is concentrated in the baby food sector (branded whole milk powder at market prices and dried whole milk at reduced prices under the Government welfare milk programme), that of skimmed milk powder taking the form of the production of instant dried milk as a drink. We have no adequate information about retail prices of instant skimmed milk powder. The retail prices of branded whole milk powder and "welfare" dried milk are known; however, their inclusion in the regression analysis in addition to income brought no significant improvement:

(33) 
$$Q = + 4.7836 - 1305.3 \left(\frac{1}{C_{pr}}\right) - 0.08314 t$$
  
(2.7)  $pr$  (3.2)  
 $R^2 = 0.630$  D.W. = 1.79  $\frac{\hat{c}}{\bar{Q}} = 7.9 \%$ 

#### where:

Q : per capita consumption of whole milk powder (kg; calendar years). (34) Q = -15.563 + 6.5891 log C<sub>pr</sub> - 0.04045 t (1.1) (0.8) R<sup>2</sup> = 0.316 D.W. = 2.12  $\frac{\delta}{Q} = 9.6 \%$ 

#### where:

Q : per capita consumption of skimmed milk powder (kg; calendar years).

#### p. Butter

With reference to a study by J.A.C. Brown<sup>1</sup> we are going to explain the demand for butter in terms of income and the price of butter, but not in terms of the price of margarine. This decision is based on the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> J.A.C. Brown, Seasonality and Elasticity of the Demand for Food in Great Britain since Derationing. (University of Cambridge, Department of Applied Economics, Reprint Series, No. 148) London 1959, p. 8 et seq.

assumption that the effect of the considerably cheaper substitute for butter (margarine) is only a substantial increase in the absolute value of the own price elasticity of the demand for butter. This is because butter ranks higher than margarine on the preference scale of the British consumer. With a given income a household's demand for butter is as high as its subjective judgement of the butter price allows. The proportion of total demand for spreading fats (excluding lard) not covered by purchases of butter is made up by margarine, the price of which is here irrelevant. (One condition must however be fulfilled, namely that the price of margarine remains substantially below that of butter). It follows from this that in principle the sale of and demand for butter and margarine are conditional on the butter price alone and not on the price of margarine.

(35) 
$$Q = + 14.701 + 351.81 \left(\frac{1}{C_{pr}}\right) - 3.5887 \log P_1$$
  
(1.3)  $pr$  (3.9)  
 $R^2 = 0.632$  D.W. = 1.39  $\frac{2}{Q} = 1.8 \%$ 

where:

Q : per capita consumption of butter in product weight (kg; calendar years)

 $P_1$  : real retail price of butter (d/lb).

At first sight the <u>negative</u> income elasticity for butter demand (-0.1) obtained from equation (35) seems rather surprising. It should, however, be remembered that, as in the United States in the fifties, there is now a growing trend in the United Kingdom towards limiting consumption of fats on health grounds, the so-called visible fats, predominantly butter, being affected first. The estimated value of the own price elasticity of the demand for butter is also unexpectedly low: -0.2 (equation (35)).

During 1971 there were extraordinarily sharp increases in the prices of dairy products on the world market as a result of the (random) interaction of a number of factors on the supply side (to name only the most important: drought in New Zealand; slaughter premiums for dairy cows and drought too in the EEC). During the short period from December 1970 to January 1972 alone these events caused the prices of New Zealand butter on the London commodity exchange to rise by nearly 70 per cent and those of Danish butter (ex quay) by nearly 50 per cent to a level closely approaching butter prices inside the Six. This period offers an excellent opportunity to investigate the effects on demand of extreme increases in the price of butter (which were also to be expected in a slightly more acute manner after the adoption of EEC agricultural prices by the United Kingdom). In order to make this possible, we have correlated the average weekly consumption of butter per quarter with the changes in the real wholesale price of New Zealand butter in the United Kingdom and with real private consumption expenditure during the period from the 1st quarter of 1970 to the 1st quarter of  $1972^1$ . An adjustment for population growth was omitted because of the short assessment period. For the same reason a double logarithmic function was chosen in contrast to (35):

(36) 
$$\log Q^{I} = + 0.94362 + 0.27268 \log C_{pr}^{I} - 0.39348 \log P_{1}^{I}$$
  
(2.3) (11.7)  
 $R^{2} = 0.960$  D.W. = 3.45  $\frac{\delta}{Q} = 0.7 \%$ 

where:

Q<sup>1</sup>: average domestic weekly consumption of butter per quarter (1 000 t; moving two-quarter averages)

C' : private consumption expenditure per quarter at 1963 prices (L 100 million; not seasonally adjusted)

P<sup>i</sup> : unweighted, average wholesale price per quarter of New Zealand butter ("in bulk; finest") on the London commodity exchange, divided by the index of all retail prices (16.1.1962 = 1.00) (L/112 lb; moving two-quarter averages).

With a value of -0.4 a direct price elasticity of butter demand twice as high as that resulting from equation (35) (in absolute terms) results

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Assuming relatively constant retail margins (retail price  $(RP) \approx 1.33$ wholesale price (WP), the reaction of demand at the retail stage can be measured by this process (4 WP : WP =  $\triangle RP$  : RP).

from equation (36). This shows very clearly that with unusually sharp price rises consumers can react considerably more acutely than with price rises within a range which is still felt to be "normal". It is remarkable that for the quarterly estimate a significantly positive income elasticity (+0.3) is obtained from (36), compared with a small negative income elasticity resulting from the application of annual data, not comprising a time variable (-0.1 from (36)). A short-term positive income elasticity is also produced by equation (35) after the introduction of a time variable:

(37) 
$$Q = + 24.602 - 2046.1 \left(\frac{1}{C_{pr}}\right) - 4.9307 \log P_1 - 0.13977 t$$
  
(1.3)  $(4.0)$  (1.5)  
 $R^2 = 0.714$  D.W. = 1.76  $\frac{\hat{\delta}}{\bar{Q}} = 1.7 \%$ 

The own price elasticity (-0.2) resulting from (37) is consistent with that obtained from (35); according to (37) the income elasticity is +0.6.

The results of the analysis of the demand for butter can be summarised as follows:

- 1. Using the own price elasticities derived from equations (35) and (37), we would probably seriously underestimate the price effect on the demand for butter under EEC conditions; the price elasticity obtained from equation (36) should, however, provide fairly realistic estimates of the price effect.
- 2. Equations (35) (37) give no clear information about the sort of income elasticity which should be used for forecasting. In the short term, i.e. when income is rising, the demand for butter obviously reacts positively (negatively when income falls). In the long term, however, the influence of income is expected to become obscured by the trend independent of income - towards the contraction of overall fat consumption, which has a negative effect on the demand for butter. Equation (37) yields a reliable differentiation between long and short-term effects. A correction of the regression coefficient of P<sub>1</sub> in equation (37) in line with the information gained from equation (36), combined with a correction to be explained later of the regression coefficient of (t) in (37), would make equation (37), in our opinion, the most suitable equation on which to base a forecast.

## q. Cheese

The demand for cheese in the United Kingdom can be adequately explained by reference to income and the price for "natural cheese" - this includes, above all, Cheddar, Cheshire and related cheeses which have not been processed any further (processed cheese is, therefore, not included in the calculations):

(38) 
$$Q = 4.9754 + 6.1162 \log C_{pr} - 3.1452 \log P_1$$
  
(6.8) (4.0)  
 $R^2 = 0.891$  D.W. = 1.41  $\frac{3}{\overline{Q}} = 1.9 \%$ 

## where:

Q : per capita consumption of all cheeses in product weight (kg; calendar years)

 $P_1$  : real retail price for "natural cheese" (d/kg).

The additional inclusion of the processed cheese price did not bring about any significant improvement in equation  $(3^3)$ ; this may be primarily connected with the fact that cheese still accounts for only a very small proportion of total cheese consumption. An income elasticity of +0.6 can be calculated from (38), together with an own price elasticity of -0.3. The low own price elasticity is probably due to the fact that there is no perfect substitute for cheese.

## r. Eggs and egg products

According to the results of our analysis, the demand for fresh eggs is dependent on income, own price and the price of bacon, which is an important complementary product:

(39) 
$$Q = + 397.50 - 21133.0 \left(\frac{1}{C_{pr}}\right) - 35.261 \log P_1 - 38.445 \log P_2$$
  
(1.7) (0.9) (0.5)  
 $R^2 = 0.846$  D.W. = 2.23  $\frac{\delta}{\overline{Q}} = 1.3 \%$ 

where: Q : per capita consumption of fresh shell eggs (eggs; calendar years) P<sub>1</sub> : real retail price for fresh eggs (d/egg) P<sub>2</sub> : real retail price for bacon in product weight (d/kg).

From (39) an estimate of +0.2 for the income elasticity is obtained (own price elasticity: -0.07). This shows that price will influence on demand for fresh eggs only within very narrow limits. The situation as regards eggs seems to be similar to that of bacon: the decisive factor for the long-term trends in egg consumption is ultimately traditional consumption habit. The low t-test values in equation (39) are predominantly a result of the close intercorrelation between  $(\frac{1}{C_{\rm Pr}})$  on the one hand, and log P<sub>1</sub> and log P<sub>2</sub> on the other (correlation coefficients: +0.9 and +0.7 respectively).

If we attempt to explain the demand for egg products, we are confronted with the same problems as when we determine the demand for milk powder. The demand for egg products comes almost exclusively from a variety of enterprises in the food industry which need egg products for the manufacture of quite different products. It would be hopeless to attempt to incorporate the prices of all end products in the regression equation for the consumption of egg products. The only solution is to explain the demand for egg products by reference to income alone:

(40) 
$$Q = + 40.066 - 6780.0 \left(\frac{1}{C_{pr}}\right)$$
  
(2.1)  $pr$   
 $R^2 = 0.305$  D.W. = 2.27  $\frac{\hat{\zeta}}{\bar{Q}} = 9.5\%$ 

#### where:

Q : per capita consumption of egg products in shell egg equivalent (eggs; calendar years).

Equation (40) gives an income elasticity of +0.8 - four times the income elasticity for fresh eggs. It is clear from this that egg products are used in the United Kingdom mainly for the manufacture of foodstuffs which are also characterised by a high, positive income elasticity of demand and that for many end products the share (by weight) of egg products in the total product weight has increased substantially (there is much to be said for the fact that the greatest importance is attached to the last factor).

#### s. Fruit and vegetables

The demand for apples (cooking and dessert) reflects above all the sharp fluctuations in apple prices raised by supply conditions. The changes in the total supply of apples on the British market follow fairly closely the changes in domestic supply, i.e. the extent of the British apple harvest, which is extremely dependent on climatic conditions. Compensation of these fluctuations in domestic supply by imports was substantially hindered by a fairly inflexible handling of existing import quotas and by seasonal tariffs for apples from North America and the continental Europe. Imports of apples from New Zealand, Australia and South Africa were completely liberalised. As their arrival do not, however, coincide with the availability of British supplies, supplies from these countries could perform only a very limited "buffer function" for the British apple harvest. The apple price alone, therefore, provides a very good explanation of apple consumption:

(41) 
$$Q = + 40.458 - 19.617 \log P_1$$
  
(4.3)  
 $R^2 = 0.674$  D.W. = 2.05  $\frac{\hat{\zeta}}{\bar{Q}} = 7.3\%$ 

#### where:

Q : per capita consumption of apples (kg; farm years)
P<sub>1</sub> : real retail price for apples (cooking and dessert) (d/kg).

The direct price elasticity of the demand for apples is -0.8, according to equation (41). In the long term income seems to have practically no influence on the consumption of apples, but in the short term the influence may be considerable: (42)  $Q = + 41.564 - 0.51023 \log C_{pr} - 19.479 \log P_{1}$ (0.1) (3.6)  $R^{2} = 0.675$  D.W. = 2.02  $\frac{2}{Q} = 7.7\%$ (43)  $Q = -127.39 + 64.266 \log C_{pr} - 14.971 \log P_{1} - 0.70281 t$ (1.5) (1.5)  $R^{2} = 0.754$  D.W. = 2.24  $\frac{2}{Q} = 7.2\%$ 

Equation (42) gives an income elasticity of -0.02 ("mixed elasticity" of long and short-term reactions) and equation (43) a short-term income elasticity of +2.5 (own price elasticity from (42): -0.8; from (43): -0.6). Equation (43) would indicate an extraordinarily strong and positive cyclical influence of income on the demand for apples which could be theoretically proven only with difficulty (in contrast to the long-term, almost completely inelastic reaction especially). The limitations on the supply side mentioned initially (import restrictions) possibly played an important part in the formation of the regression coefficient of C<sub>pr</sub> in equation (43), so that in reality it does not measure consumer behaviour at all. If one also considers that the quotas for imports of apples were be lifted after entry into the EEC, there is a great deal of support for the notion that equation (41), which gives, above all, the reaction of demand to supply-induced price changes, are better suited for forecasting than equations (42) and (43).

Consumption of pears (dessert and cooking) contracted sharply in the 1958/59 - 1968/69 period. According to the results of the regression analysis, income - in contrast to the situation as regards to apples - was primarily responsible:

(44) 
$$Q = 25.276 - 6.4852 \log C_{pr} - 4.2097 \log P_1$$
  
(3.8) (2.7)  
 $R^2 = 0.690$  D.W. = 1.99  $\frac{\hat{c}}{\bar{Q}} = 7.9 \%$ 

where:

Q : per capita consumption of pears (dessert and cooking) (kg; seasons)

 $P_1$  : real retail price for pears of all types (d/kg).

Equation (44) gives an income elasticity of -1.3 and an own price elasticity of -0.8. The market for pears in the United Kingdom is regulated in principle in the same way as that for apples (see above); in this respect, the regression coefficient of  $C_{pr}$  could in equation (44) at least partly reflect the influence of supply restrictions. However, unlike with apples, an explanation of the demand for pears in terms of their price only does not lead to useful results and so we must first limit ourselves entirely to equation (44) with regard to the forecast.

The consumption of fresh tomatoes can be adequately explained in terms of income and the price:

(45) 
$$Q = +50.204 - 7.0939 \log C_{pr} - 14.744 \log P_1$$
  
(3.0) (2.4)  
 $R^2 = 0.732$  D.W. = 2.79  $\frac{6}{\overline{a}} = 3.5\%$ 

where:

- Q : per capita consumption of fresh and chilled tomatoes (kg; calendar years)
- $P_1$  : real retail price for fresh tomatoes (d/kg).

According to equation (45), the demand for fresh tomatoes reacts sharply to price changes (own price elasticity: -1.0) and negatively to income growth (-0.5). The negative income elasticity of the demand for fresh tomatoes is to be seen in the light of the consumption of the most important substitute for fresh tomatoes, namely whole peeled tomatoes, whether tinned or bottled. Unfortunately, it is not possible for statistical reasons to analyse the demand for tinned tomatoes separately from the demand for other tomato preserves and concentrates and to compare the results with equation (45).

(46) 
$$Q = -44.183 + 23.898 \log C_{pr} - 6.4848 \log P_1$$
  
(3.5) (0.9)  
 $R^2 = 0.725$  D.W. = 1.72  $\frac{6}{\overline{Q}} = 8.0\%$ 

where:

Q : per capita consumption of tomato preserves and concentrates of all types (including whole peeled tomatoes whether tinned or bottled) (kg fresh weight; calendar years)

 $P_1$ : real retail price for bottled, whole peeled tomatoes (d/kg).

Unlike the demand for fresh tomatoes, the consumption of tomato preserves and concentrates is characterised by a high positive income elasticity (+1.4) and a low (in absolute terms) own price elasticity (-0.4) (both elasticity coefficients are calculated according to equation (46)). These results may have been induced by the fact that relatively low-price tinned tomatoes increasingly displacing fresh tomatoes in many fields (for instance, in the preparation of bacon, eggs and tomatoes for breakfast), and that more and more households are adding tomato ketchup to certain special meat dishes (a process probably connected primarily with the rise in the standard of living and the resulting growth in income.

# 4. Problems of compiling forecasts by means of demand equations incorporating a time variable

As already explained in (2)  $\int equations (4)$  to (7)  $\int the differences between the long and short-term influences of income and prices on demand are summed up in the regression coefficient of the time variable, whereby the trend in the respective explanatory variable acts as a sort of weighting in respect of these differences. The short-term reactions are represented in the demand equations with a time variable by the regression coefficients of the price and income variables. A direct calculation of the long-term reactions using equation (7) is not possible in cases of more than one explanatory variable, since with only one equation two, three or more variables would have to be determined (for example <math>\hat{x_1}$  and  $\hat{x_2}$  are given in equation (7),  $a_1$  and  $b_1$  can be calculated;  $\hat{x_1}^{\ell}$  and  $\hat{x_2}^{\ell}$  both remain unknown). When the results of the statistical analysis of the demand for food are, however, examined, will be noticed that the short-term reactions, which have been estimated with the

Product	Income elasti- city	Direct price elasti- city	Cross price elasticity (elasticities)	With respect to:	Calculated in equation No:	Mixed elasticity - Equation without time variable: (g); short term elasticity - Equation with time variable:(k)	Regression coefficient of time variable
Wheat flour Rolled cats Corn flakes	- 0.59 - 1.09 + 0.26	- 0.12	+ 0.81 + 0.81	Corn flakes Rolled oats	(8) (9) (10)	(g) (g)	
Maincrop ware potatoes Early potatoes Refined sugar Beef I Beef II Nutton and lamb	+ 0.34 - 1.14 - 0.21 + 0.02 - 1.75 + 0.65	$\begin{array}{c} - 0.10^{\circ} \\ - 0.16 \\ - 0.02 \\ - 0.84 \\ - 1.58 \\ - 1.19 \end{array}$	+ 0.17 + 0.63 + 0.91 + 0.36	Pork Pork Pork poultrymeat rutton and lamb	(12)  (13)  (14)  (15)  (16)  (18)  (19)	(g) (g) (g) (k) (g) (k) (g)	+ 1.2042
Pork Bacon I Bacon II Bacon III Poultrymeat	+ 1.15 - 0.11 + 0.92 + 0.84	- 1.15 - 0.59 - 0.60 - 0.58 - 1.23	- 0.05 + 0.95 + 0.83	EES mutton and lamb mutton and lamb	(21) (22) (23) (24)	(g) (k) (k) (g)	- 0.31191 - 1.8199
Edible offals I Edible offals II Total meat Liquid whole milk I Liquid whole milk II Fresh cream Tinned cream I Tinned cream II Condensed milk Whole wilk powder	$\begin{array}{r} + 0.62 \\ + 2.11 \\ + 0.20 \\ + 0.53 \\ + 0.53 \\ + 2.52 \\ + 6.47 \\ - 0.15 \\ + 4.64 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} - 0.41^{d} \\ - 1.04^{d} \\ - 0.51^{e} \\ - 0.28 \\ - 0.20 \\ - 0.88 \\ - 1.10 \\ - 2.01 \\ - 0.46 \end{array}$	+ 0.12 + 0.56 + 0.63 + 0.75	fish condensed milk condensed milk liquid whole mil	(25) (26) (64) (27) (28) (30) (30) (31) (32) (33)	(g) (k) (g) (g) (k) (g) (k) (g) (k) (g) (k) (g) (k)	- 0.16934 - 1.4238 - 0.03943 - 0.08314
Skimed mik powder Butter I Butter II	+ 2.53 - 0.11 + 0.27	- 0.18 - 0.39			(34) (35) (36)	(k) (g) predominately short-term reaction - without time variable - lst quarter 1970 to 1st quarter 1970	- 0.04045
Butter III Cheese Shell eggs Egg products Apples I ( ° + " Apples III " + " Pears ( " + ") Fresh tomatoes	+ $0.62$ + $0.56$ + $0.23$ + $0.82$ - $0.02$ + $2.48$ - $1.28$ - $0.48$	- 0.24 - 0.29 - 0.06 - 0.76 - 0.75 - 0.58 - 0.83 - 1.01	- 0.07	bacon	(37) (38) (39) (40) (41) (42) (43) (44) (45)	(k) (g) (g) (g) (g) (k) (g) (g)	- 0.13977 - 0.70281
Tinned tomatoes and tomato concentrates	+ 1.41	- 0.38 <sup>f</sup>			(46)	(g)	
A Measured in the arithm C Potato crisps. d Liver	notical mos r. <sup>6</sup> Averag	n. <sup>b</sup> Nixed se weighted	elasticity retail pric	coefficient of log e for all meat. f	ng and short Tinned toma	 -term influences (for details see t toes.	ext).

# Table 1 - Estimate income and price elasticities of demand for foddstuffs in the United Kingdom

Source: Own calculations and estimates.

,

equations incorporating a time variable, are, with a few minor exceptions, appreciably stronger (in absolute terms) than the mixed reactions derived from demand equations without time variables. From this we have hypothetically deduced that:

(47) 
$$| \mathbf{r}(\ell) | < | \mathbf{r}(\mathbf{m}) | \leq | \mathbf{r}(\mathbf{k}) |$$

would have to be valid, where  $r(\ell)$  denotes the long-term, r(m) the mixed and r(k) the short term reaction. The relation (47) means that (in absolute terms) the long-term reaction is only slightly below the mixed reaction, while the short-term reaction sonsiderably exceeds the long-term and the mixed reactions. If the relation (47) were correct, it would then have to be possible to replace the unknown  $r(\ell)$  by the known r(m) in the decomposition of the regression coefficient of the time variable based upon the generalised form of equation (7), i.e. instead of  $\hat{\alpha}_{i}^{\ell}$ , to use the regression coefficients  $\hat{\alpha}_{i}^{m}$ , which were obtained from the relationship:

(48) 
$$Q = \hat{\alpha}_0^m + \hat{\alpha}_1^m \log C_{pr} + \hat{\alpha}_2^m \log P_1 + \hat{\alpha}_3^m \log P_2 + \dots$$

Equation (7) would then change into:

(49)  $\hat{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}_{t}^{l} = (\hat{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}_{1}^{m} - \hat{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}_{1}) \cdot \hat{\mathbf{a}}_{1} + (\hat{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}_{2}^{m} - \hat{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}_{2}) \cdot \hat{\mathbf{b}}_{1} + (\hat{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}_{3}^{m} - \hat{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}_{3}) \cdot \hat{\mathbf{c}}_{1} + \dots$ 

If our hypothesis (47) were correct, we would have to obtain an estimated value for  $\hat{\alpha}_t^{\,\prime}$  from (49), which as a rule is only marginally below  $\hat{\alpha}$ , i.e. the actual regression coefficient of the time variable. Using (49) we would indeed have no exact, but at least an approximate description of the structure of the regression coefficients of the t-variables, the knowledge of which is indispensable if corrections are to be made for the purposes of forecasting.

In order to test hypothesis (47), we have compared in Table 2 the actual regression coefficients of the time variables and the coefficients estimated by means of equation (49). We have included all demand equations where

Product	Estimated regression coefficient of the time variable (equation (49))	Actual regression coefficient of the time variable	Estimated regression coef- ficient as a percentage of the actual regression coef- ficient
Beef	+ 1.101	+ 1.204	91.4
Pork	- 0.203	- 0.215	94.4
Bacon	- 0.294	- 0.312	94.2
Edible offals	- 0.162	- 0.169	95.9
Liquid whole milk	- 1.415	- 1.424	99.4
Sterilised tinned cream	- 0.016	- 0.039	41.0
Whole milk powder	- 0.077	- 0.083	92.8
Skimmed milk powder	- 0.038	- 0.040	95.0
Butter	- 0.134	- 0.140	95.7
Fresh eggs - It.	- 1.014	- 1.080	93.9
Fresh aggs - II	- 1.021	- 1.087	93.9
Apples (dessert and cooking)	- 0.599	- 0.703	85.2
Pears (dessert and cooking)	- 0.227	- 0.264	86.0

Source: Own calculations and estimates.

b Including the bacon price.

Excluding the bacon price . -

ൽ

of the time variable in the analysis of the demand for foodstuffs in the United Kingdom Table 2 - Consistency test relating to the decomposition of the regression coefficient

the version with a t-variable has yielded sufficiently acceptable results. This contrasts with the comment on the results in (3), in which the version with an explicit t-variable was used only with those equations in which this version, judging by the statistical tests, was clearly a substantial improvement on the equation without a time variable). The clarity of the results summarised in Table 2 leaves hardly anything to be desired. With only one exception, the regression coefficient of the time variable estimated with (49) comes to 85 - 99 per cent (in 10 out of 13 cases more than 90 per cent) of the actual regression coefficient of the t-variable. As this could hardly be ascribed to chance, we should like to regard this result as confirmation of our hypothesis (47).

By using an empirical example, it will be shown how the approximate knowledge of the structure of the regression coefficient of the time variable can be used for the compilation of forecasts. In the demand analysis we had estimated inter alia the two regression equations

(25)  $Q = -3.2395 + 6.3348 \log C_{pr} - 4.2068 \log P_1$  and

(26)  $Q = -28.098 + 21.595 \log C_{pr} - 10.710 \log P_1 - 0.16934 t$ 

(the statistical parameters were not given as they are unimportant for the following explanations), where Q denotes the level of consumption of edible offals and  $P_1$  the real retail price of liver. In order to apply (49) to (25) and (26), we also need the two trend equations (calculation period: 1958 - 1969)

 $(50) \log C_{pr} = + 2.519120 + 0.0082791 t and$ 

(51)  $\log P_1 = + 2.082479 - 0.0054728 t$ 

According to (25) (26), (49), (50) and (51), we obtain the following as an estimate of the regression coefficient of the time variable:

- 41 -

$$(52) \hat{\mathcal{L}}_{t}^{1} = \left[ (6.335 - 21.595) \cdot 0.0082791 \right] + \left[ (-4.207 - (-10.710) \cdot (-0.0054728) \right] \\ \hat{\mathcal{L}}_{t}^{1} = -0.16189$$

As  $\hat{\lambda}_{t}$  approaches very closely the actual regression coefficient of the time variable  $\hat{\lambda}_{t}$  (-0.16934; see equation (26)), the long-term reaction can be only marginally below the mixed reaction (equation (25)), so that (52) gives a sufficient insight into the structure of the regression coefficient of the t-variable.

The problem is now to estimate the demand for edible offals using equation (26) on the condition that the real retail price for liver does not fall as it did in the estimation period 1958 - 1969, but that, as UK agricultural prices are aligned on prices level in the Community, the liver price will in real terms rise so sharply that the following new trend equation could, for example, result for the estimation and forecasting period as a whole (1958 - 1977) (the values here are purely notional):

(53)  $\log P_1 = + 2.00 + 0.005 t$ 

If the demand for edible offals were forecast under these conditions with equation (26) without changing the regression coefficient of t, a systematic error would be made in estimating the demand for edible offals - however "correct" equation (26) may otherwise be. If one's reasoning is at first based on the estimated regression coefficient of the time variable  $(\hat{x}_t^l)$ , which differs only slightly from the actual coefficient, by using (26) unchanged

the trend coefficient of the price variable would appear in the regression coefficient of the time variable with a value of about - 0.0055 (see equation (52)), although a value of + 0.005 (equation (53)) would be actually required for forecasting purposes. If the value -0.0054728 is replaced in equation (52) by +0.005, a corrected  $\hat{A}'_t$  of only -0.09378 is obtained for the period 1958-77 in place of a value of -0.16189 for the period 1958-69. It is easy to imagine using the resulting relationship between the two estimated regression coefficients of the t-variable, which we shall denote with z, to correct the actual regression coefficient of the time variable in equation (26):

(54) 
$$z = \frac{\hat{\omega}_{t}^{1} (corrected; 1958 - 1977)}{\hat{\omega}_{t}^{1} (1958 - 1969)}$$
  
 $z = \frac{(-0.09378)}{(-0.16189)}$   
 $z = 0.579$ 

After introducing z into equation (26) the following corrected forecasting equation is obtained:

(55) 
$$Q = -28.098 + 21.595 \log C_{pr} - 10.710 \log P_1 - (0.579)$$
. (0.16934) t  
 $Q = -28.098 + 21.595 \log C_{pr} - 10.710 \log P_1 - 0.09805$  t

A comparison of (55) and (26) shows immediately that, other things being equal, (55) gives higher estimates for per capita consumption of edible offals than (26). At first glance, this result is somewhat surprising since one would be inclined to assume simply by intuition that in view of equation (26). which in fact implies a downward trend in real prices, the level of consumption of edible offals at rising prices was overestimated in comparison with equation (55), in which rising real prices are expressly assumed. One should, however, bear in mind that it is possible to take the different price trends (1958 to 1969) and (1958 to 1977) into consideration only as far as their special influence on the regression coefficients of the t-variables is concerned and that in this the short-term and long-term elasticities must be assumed to be unchanged. From equation (52) it can be easily deduced that in the case of the own price elasticities resulting from (25) and (26) the partial influence of the price components on the regression coefficients is negative in the case of a downward trend in prices. Accordingly, in the case of an upward trend in prices this partial influence is positive so that the absolute value of the regression

coefficient of the t-variable in (55) must be lower than in (26). (In theory, it is also conceivable that with very sharply rising prices the positive price components would outweigh the negative income components, thereby resulting in a positive corrected regression coefficient of the t-variable). It is another matter whether consumers would perhaps have reacted to a rise in prices in a manner other that suggested by the regression coefficients of log  $C_{pr}$  and log  $P_2$  in (25) and (26). If one had good reasons for assuming this, not only the trend coefficients but also possibly the differentials between short-term and long-term (or mixed) reactions would have to be changed in (52) and this could also require further corrections to the regression coefficient of the t-variable. We can however make only subjective speculations about the direction or indeed the extent of such changes in consumer behaviour vis-à-vis different price tendencies. Consequently, we cannot expect any further results from econometric analysis in this field and we therefore have to limit ourselves. whether we like it or not, to correcting the trend influences in (52), i.e. purely formal correction which must not be expected simply to overcome the difficulties facing demand forecasting in the event of large price increases.

A generalisation of this example is readily possible. Assume the following two demand equations:

(56)	<b>Q(</b> 58 <b>–</b> 69)	$=\hat{\chi}_{0}^{m}$	$+\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_{1}^{m}$	log	$^{\rm C}{}_{\rm pr}$	+	√ <sup>m</sup> <sub>2</sub>	log	P <sub>1</sub>	+	2 m 3	log	P2	+	• • • • •	and	
(57)	<b>Q(</b> 58 <b>–69)</b>	= <del>2</del> 0	+ √₁	log	C <sub>pr</sub>	+	ź2	log	P <sub>1</sub>	+	$\hat{\mathscr{L}}_3$	log	P <sub>2</sub>	+	••••	+ 🗟 ,	t t

Both equations are supposed to refer to the assessment period 1958 - 1969;  $\widehat{\alpha}_{i}^{m}$  denotes the mixed and  $\widehat{\alpha}_{i}$  the short-term reactions. For the estimated regression coefficient of the t-variable in the assessment period

$$(58) \hat{\mathscr{L}}_{t}'(58-69) = (\hat{\mathscr{L}}_{1}^{m} - \hat{\mathscr{L}}_{1}) \cdot \hat{a}_{1}(58-69) + (\hat{\mathscr{L}}_{2}^{m} - \hat{\mathscr{L}}_{2}) \cdot \hat{b}_{1}(58-69) + (\hat{\mathscr{L}}_{3}^{m} - \hat{\mathscr{L}}_{3}) \cdot \hat{c}_{1}(58-69) + \dots$$

period would then be valid, as would the following equation for the estimated regression coefficient of t during the entire period (assessment and fore-casting period):

$$(59) \hat{\mathscr{L}}_{t}^{i} (58-77) = (\hat{\mathscr{L}}_{1}^{m} - \hat{\mathscr{L}}_{1}) \cdot \hat{\mathbf{a}}_{1} (58-77) + (\hat{\mathscr{L}}_{2}^{m} - \mathscr{L}_{2}) \cdot \mathbf{b}_{1} (58-77) + (\hat{\mathscr{L}}_{3}^{m} - \hat{\mathscr{L}}_{3}) \cdot \mathbf{c}_{1} (58-77) + \dots$$

The correction factor z is given by the relationship between the estimated regression coefficient of the time variable:

(60) 
$$z = \frac{\hat{\alpha}_{t}^{i}(58-77)}{\hat{\alpha}_{t}^{i}(58-69)}$$

By introducing z into (57) we obtain as a forecasting equation for 1977:

(61) Q (58-77) = 
$$\hat{\mathscr{A}}_0 + \hat{\mathscr{A}}_1 \log C_{pr} + \hat{\mathscr{A}}_2 \log P_1 + \hat{\mathscr{A}}_3 \log P_2 + \dots + (z) (\hat{\mathscr{A}}_t) t$$

The calculation of z makes sens only when  $\hat{\prec}_t^{\prime}$  (58-69) and  $\hat{\prec}_t^{\prime}$  (58-77) have the same sign. If this is not so, the simple difference between the two values may be chosen as a substitute:

(62) 
$$Q'(58-77) = \widehat{\alpha}_0 + \widehat{\alpha}_1 \log C_{pr} + \widehat{\alpha}_2 \log P_1 + \widehat{\alpha}_3 \log P_2 + \dots + \left[ (\widehat{\alpha}_t) - (\widehat{\alpha}_t'(58-69) - \widehat{\alpha}_t'(58-77) \right] t$$

#### II. Forecasting the demand for foodstuffs

1. <u>Hypotheses relating to the development of income, population and the</u> level of consumer prices up to 1977

As can be seen from Table 3, we have assumed that the growth of real private consumption expenditure in the period 1971 - 1977 (average annual growth rate assumed: 2.4 per cent) will continue only marginally weaker than in the period 1958 - 1971 (2.7 per cent). However, compared with the growth rates achieved during recent years (1965 - 1971: 2.1 per cent), pour hypothesis for 1971 - 1977 means a considerable acceleration in the growth of real private consumption expenditure. The basis of this mildly optimistic assumption is the belief that during the first years of United Kingdom membership of the EEC the British economy will to a certain extent receive additional stimuli to growth. Special mention must be made of the phased dismantling of tariffs for industrial products between the Six and the United Kingdom as of 1973, since this will considerably facilitate the access of British industry to the market of the Six. This could lead to a strong boost in British exports which, via the export multiplier and the consumption function, would, in turn, be reflected in an again somewhat faster growth in real private consumption expenditure in the United Kingdom.

From 1955 to 1962 the growth rate of the UK population moved in a clearly upward direction (average 1955/57: 0.44 per cent; average 1960/62: 0.83 per cent). The reasons for this were an almost continuous increase in the birth rate (from 15.4 per 1 000 inhabitants in 1955 to 18.3 per 1 000 inhabitants in 1962) and considerable net immigration from a number of Commonwealth countries and Ireland. Since 1963 the growth rate of the population slowed down appreciably (average annual growth rate from 1962 to 1972: 0.46 per cent). Apart from a fall in the birth rate (1970: 16.2 per 1 000 inhabitants), a sharp decline in net immigration due to economic reasons (rising domestic unemployment, which also means reduced employment opportunities for foreign workers) was also thought to have been a contributory factor. In forecasting the size of the resident population we have assumed that the birth rate will Table 3 - Compilation of hypotheses on income and population growth and on price levels in the United Kingdom in 1977 and the 1977/78 farm year

Calendar year	Total private cons ture at 1963 price	Numption expendi- 15 (i million)	Animal growth rate of private consumption erpenditure at 1963			Population (mid-y mate: millions) figures used for	aar esti- figures un-	Private consumption 1963 prices per head (1)	expenditure at of population
	figures used in	up-dated and/or	prices (%) (values in brackets: growth ra- tes calculated on the	Index of retail prices	Annual rate of increase in the retail price	the calculation of per capita communition and	dated on the basis of the local	figures used in	up-dated and/
	the demand ana- lysis <sup>a</sup>	forecast figu- res	basis of revised fi- gures	(10 January, 1962	level (%)	private consump-d tion expenditure	census <sup>1</sup> 2/17	une uemaana ana- lysis	or forecast figures
1958	17019		2.5 ( . )	0.928	0.3	51.652		329.5	
1959	17747		4.3 ( . )	0.933	0.5	51.956	•	341.6	•
1960	18445		3.9 ( . )	0.942	1.0	52.372	•	352.2	
1961	16871		2.3(.)	0.974	3.4	52.807	•	357.4	
1962	19269		2.1(.)	1.016	4.3	53.314	53.266	361.4	361.8
1963	20087		4.2 ( . )	1.036	2.0	53-637	53.535	374-5	375-2
1964	20783		3.5 ( . )	1.070	3.3	54.008	53.849	384.8	385.9
1965	21183	21243	(.) 9.1	1.121	4.8	54.361	54.175	389.7	392.1
1966	21619	21628	2.1 (1.8)	1.165	3.9	54.654	54.450	395.6	397.2
1967	22074	22118	2.0 (2.3)	1.194	2.5	54.578	54.746	401.5	404.0
1968	22570	22667	2.3 (2.6)	1.250	4.7	55.283	55.045	408.3	412.2
1969	22629	22800	0.3 (0.5)	1.318	5.4	55.534	55+272	407.5	412-5
1970		23413	. (2.7)	1.402	6.4	55.711	55.411		422 - 5
1971		24032	. (2.6)	1.534	9.4	55.950	55.566		4325
1972		24609	2.4	1.643	1-1		55.788		441.1
1973		25200	2.4	1.728	5.2		56.067		449.5
1974		25805	2.4	1.818	5.2		56.347		458.0
1975		26424	2.4	1.913	5.2		56.629		466.6
1976		27058	2.4	2.012	5.2		56.912		475.4
1977	27768		2.4	2.115	5.2	57260		484.9	
-		-	-	-		-	-		-

- 41 -

Farm year	Total private consumption expenditure at 1963 prices; (only figures actually used; a million) <sup>6</sup> , e	Inder of retail prices (only figures actually used; 16 January 1962 = 1.00) <sup>6</sup> , <sup>1</sup>	Population at the turn of the year (only figures actually used; millions) <sup>d</sup> , fi	Private communition expenditure at 1963 prices per beed of pepulatien (only figures actually used; b)
1958/59	16947	0.931	51.804	327.1
1959/60	17791	0.934	52.164	541.1
1960/61	. 18126	0.954	52.590	344.7
1961/62	14557	. 666.0	53.061	350.5
1962/63	19365	1.027	53.476	362.1
1963/64	20423	1.047	53.823	379.4
1964/65	20993	1.096	54.185	387.4
1965/66	21562	1.144	54.508	395.6
1966/67	21551	1.185	54.816	393.2
1967/68	22476	1,216	55.131	407.7
1968/69	* 22552	1,286	55.409	407.0
1969/70				
1970/71	-			
1971/72				
1972/73				
1973/74				
1974/75		ĸ		
1975/76				
1976/77				
1977/78	28115	2.173	57.365	490,1
<sup>a</sup> Central Statist London, January 1 Statistion, no 30 quarter in the ca	<pre>ical Office, Annual Abstract of Statistics 973 Ccentral Statistical Office "Wonthly 4, H.M.S.O., London, April 1971 &amp; Addit 1endar year t + 1) Estimated on the b (t + 1) divided by 2.</pre>	, No. 107, H.M.S.O., London 1970 <sup>b</sup> Digest of Statistics", H.M.S.O., Lond ion of quarterly figure not seasonally asis of monthly figuresfor the period	<pre>Sentral Statistical Office, "Monthly D m, various issues Central Stati adjusted (3rd and 4th quarter in the fuly-June <sup>E</sup> Own estimate.: populati fuly-June <sup>E</sup></pre>	gest of Statistics", No 317, H.M.S.O., tical Office "Monthly Digest of alendar year t and 1st and 2nd m in the middle of year (t) plus mid-

Source: See notes.

•

- 48 -

.

Table 3 (continued )

not fall below its current level but that net immigration will drop slightly for the next few years. (The employment of British labour in some EEC countries, Germany mainly, a development which had already been observed for some time and which will presumably have made itself more sharply felt since, is one of the points for consideration here.) The estimated growth rate in the UK population for 1972 - 1977 will be about 0.5 per cent according to these considerations.

The average annual increase in consumer prices in the United Kingdom was 4.2 per cent in the period 1958 - 1972, which can be broken down into two clearly distinguishable phases:

1958 - 1968, when retail prices rose by less than 5 per cent each year;
 after 1969, when the rate of retail price increases rose abruptly (1969: 5.4 per cent; 1970: 6.4 per cent; 1971: 9.4 per cent). The highest "in-flation rate" for consumer prices was recorded in August 1971: 10.3 per cent (compared with August 1970). Rates of price increases have slowed down considerably since then, but compared with 1968 they are still very high. The lowest rate recorded since August 1971 was 5.8 per cent in July 1972 (compared with July 1971). After this the upward movement in prices accelerated again to between 7.0 and 7.9 per cent from September 1972 to January 1973 (compared with the corresponding period the previous year) in spite of the wage and price freeze introduced at the beginning of No-vember.

The reasons for this development (since 1969) are firstly to be found in a change in attitude on the part of British trade unions which are for appearances' sake pushing strongly for the highest possible increases in nominal earnings, partly by fairly extensive use of the right to strike, whereby job preservation seems in many cases to be of only secondary importance (wage - price spiral). Trade unions' growing preoccupation with a fair distribution of income can be observed in varying degrees in other Western industrial countries also and is likely to be of a long-term than a short-term nature. The annual rate of increase in retail prices of 5.2 per cent assumed for the period between 1972 and 1977, would, under these circumstances, still appear to be a fairly

- 49 -

"optimistic" hypothesis ("optimistic" in the sense that this supposes that the UK Government conducts a considerably mor successful anti-inflation policy in the future). Nevertheless, we maintain this "optimistic" hypothesis for a very specific reason. As can be seen from Table 4, when converting the EEC agricultural prices imputed for 1977/78 from units of account into pounds sterling, we based our calculations on the exchange rate of the L before it was floated on 23 June 1972. As the fluctuations in the exchange rate of the pound have since shown, a considerable devaluation of the pound seems to be fairly certain when a new parity for the pound is fixed at some future date. Accordingly, the producer prices for 1977/78 in Table 4, which are expressed in old pounds, would prove to be too low by an amount corresponding to the anticipated rate of devaluation of the pound against the old US dollar (= 1 unit of account); this would also have a considerable effect on the level of the hypotheses relating to real retail prices. In order to balance to some extent this "negative effect" on real retail prices, a rate of price increase may be assumed which is too low compared with the recent increases ("positive effect") so low, in fact, that from the purely theoretical point of view, given this rate of inflation the old exchange rate of the pound could have been maintained. By doing so no definite relation between the rate of inflation and the exchange rate is to be postulated - along the lines, for instance, of the "naive purchasing power parity theory"; it is merely to be made clear which direction the argument is taking.

# 2. Hypotheses relating to retail prices

## a. Hypotheses relating to producer prices

In order to be able to construct hypotheses relating to retail prices, assumptions must first of all be made about producer prices as these represent the raw material costs or the cost prices to the processors or the wholesale trade respectively. The hypotheses relating to the possible level of the producer prices of important agricultural products in the enlarged EEC in the 1977/78 farm year are summarised in Table 4, which is largely based on the table in the Introduction, so that nor further explanation is required here. In addition to the hypotheses relating to the threshold prices of milk and milk products formulated in Table 4, further

Product	Type of price	Unit	1972/73	1977/78	Percentage change 1977/78 compared with 1972/73	Average annual rate of increase between 1972/73 and 1977/78 (%)
Common wheat	- Basic intervention price	⊾/1000 kg	43.6	48.3	+ 10.8	+ 2.1
Barley	- Basic intervention price	⊾/1000 kg	39.9	44.6	+ 11.8	+ 2.3
Maize	- Intervention price (France)	L/1000 kg	(34.7)°	44.6	•	•
Oats	- Market price	L/1000 kg	$(33.6)^1$	41.7	•	•
Sugar beet	- Minimum price <sup>b</sup>	<b>L</b> /1000 kg	7.4	7.9	+ 6.8	+ 1.3
White sugar	- Intervention price	L/1000 kg	97.3	103.0	+ 5.9	+ 1.2
Ware potatoes	- Market price <sup>d</sup>	<b>L</b> /1000 kg		18.8		•
Rape, rape seed	- Basic intervention price	<b>b</b> /1000 kg	84.4	92.9	+ 10.1	+ 1.9
Milk	- Target price ex-dairy (3.7 % fat)	L/1000 kg	49.04	56.3	+ 14.8	+ 2.8
Butter	- Intervention price	L/1000 kg	775.0 <sup>°</sup>	833.0	+ 7.5	+ 1.5
	- Threshold price	<b>b/1000</b> kg	838.1 <sup>f</sup>	917.0	+ 9.4	+ 1.8
Skimmed milk	- Intervention price	1000 kg	225.0	292.0	+ 29.8	+ 5.4
powder	- Threshold price	<b>b</b> /1000 kg	279.2 <sup>f</sup>	350.0	+ 25.4	+ 4.6
Whole milk powder	- Threshold price (26 per cent fat)	<b>b</b> /1000 kg	486.3 <sup>f</sup>	545.0	+ 12.1	+ 2.3
Condensed milk, unsweetened	- Threshold price	<b>L</b> /1000 kg	206.0 <sup>f</sup>	231.0	+ 12.1	+ 2.3
Condensed milk, sweetened	- Threshold price	L/1000 kg	275.4 <sup>°</sup>	310.0	+ 12.6	+ 2.4
Cheddar cheese	- Threshold price	<b>b</b> /1000 kg	650.2 <sup>f</sup>	743.0	+ 14.3	+ 2.7
Beef and veal	- Guide price	L/1000 kg live weight	325.0 <sup>6</sup>	394.0	+ 21.2	+ 3.9
Mutton and lamb	- Guide price	L/1000 kg live weight	295.8 <sup>g</sup>	358.0	+ 21.0	+ 3.9
Pigmeat	- Basic price	L/1000 kg slaughter weight	343.8	378.0	+ 9.9	+ 1.9
Poultrymeat	- Sluice-gate price <sup>h</sup>	b/kg slaughter weight	0.2880 <sup>k</sup>	0.3320	+ 15.3	+ 2.9
Eggs	- Sluice-gate price <sup>j</sup>	L/10 eggs	0.11276 <sup>k</sup>	0.1310	+ 16.2	+ 3.0

## Table 4 - Hypotheses on prices of important agricultural products in the enlarged EEC in the 1977/78 farm year

<sup>a</sup> Prices given in 5 on the basis of 1 unit of account = 5/0.416667 (valid until 23.6.1972 - i.e. until the floating of sterling). For best within the basic quota; area: Aisne, Somme, Oise (France). August 1972. Average producer price for ware potatoes from the West German main crop. Valid from 15.9,1972. Threshold price fixed for milk products on 1.4.1972. <sup>6</sup> 91 per cent of the guide price for beef (explanation see text). <sup>1</sup>Fowls 70 per cent" (plucked, drawn, without head and legs, with heart, liver and gizzard). <sup>1</sup> Valid from 17.5.1972 - 31.7.1972. <sup>1</sup> Poultry eggs in abell, fresh or preserved (class A4 = 55-60 grammes per egg). <sup>4</sup> Valid from 1.8.1972 - 31.10.1972. <sup>1</sup> Market price in the Federal Republic of Germany in August 1972 (Hanover).

Source: Directorate-General for Agriculture, Directorate for Economy and Agricultural Stameoture, EEC Information: Agricultural markets prices (livestock and vegetable products), Brussels, various issues. Own calculations and estimates.

hypothetical threshold prices had to be deduced for projecting the demand for fresh and tinned cream respectively:

- 1. Sterilised tinned cream is produced in principle according to the same methods as unsweetened condensed whole milk. This has led us to the simplified assumption that the price difference between unsweetened condensed whole milk and tinned cream can mainly be traced back to the differences in milk fat and milk protein content. In the United Kingdom tinned cream generally has a fat content of 23 per cent and unsweetened condensed whole milk an estimate average (comprising all marketed types) content of 8 per cent, giving a ratio of 2.88 : 1 (tinned cream : condensed milk in terms of fat content). If this ratio alone were applied to prices, this would result in a considerable over-valuation of tinned cream as the milk protein content of tinned cream comes to only a fraction of the milk protein content of condensed milk. As we do not possess any reliable information on the milk protein content of tinned cream, however, we are also unable to estimate a corresponding price reduction to account for the low milk protein content of tinned cream (quite apart from the fact that an evaluation of milk protein could be only fairly arbitrary). In order to obtain some idea of the price relationship between tinned cream and condensed milk, we compared the average import prices in the British overseas trade accounts for "tinned cream" from Denmark (most important foreign supplier of tinned cream to the United Kingdom market) with the import prices of unsweetened condensed whole milk from the Netherlands. The comparison gave a price relationship between tinned cream and condensed milk of about 2.0 : 1 for the years 1967/69. If this figure is applied to the EEC threshold price, it gives a hypothetical threshold price for tinned cream of L 462/1 000 kg for 1977/78.
- 2. <u>Fresh cream</u> has a fat content of 48 per cent (double cream) in the United Kingdom. The price of fresh cream can be derived directly from that of tinned cream since, in termes of production methods and packaging, both products differ in respect of milk fat content only (48 : 23 ≈ 2). Ac-cordingly, a hypothetical threshold price for fresh cream of ± 924/ 1000 kg was arrived at for 1977/78.

b. <u>Hypotheses relating to nominal and real retail prices</u> The hypotheses relating to the nominal retail prices for food in the United Kingdom in 1977 and their decomposition in particular, can be taken directly from Tables 5 and 6 so that a detailed discussion of the separate price hypotheses is hardly necessary at this point. The method we applied in forecasting the cost of raw materials and/or cost prices and the processing and sales margins per product unit shall be demonstrated by using only two examples:

1. Rolled oats: The producer price for 1.7 lb of oats in the form of grain, i.e. the producer price of the average quantity of oats estimated to be necessary for the production of 1 lb of rolled oats was subtracted from the retail price per 1b product weight of rolled oats. In so doing, the deficiency payments had to be eliminated from the producer price beforehand since they enter neither into the market price nor into the cost price for the milling industry. The difference between these two amounts, retail price per 1b product weight and producer market price obtained from 1.7 lb of oats, corresponds in substance to the processing margin and also to the wholesale and retail margin including VAT (henceforth referred to as total margin for short). The producer market price obtained from 1.7 lb of oats assumed for the 1977/78 farm year can be equated with the market price of the same quantity of oats assumed for the 1977/78 farm year in the enlarged Community (see Table 4). The total margin for 1977/78 was forecast with reference to the hypothesis relating to the trend in the general price level until 1977/78. From 1958/59 to 1968/69 the level of retail prices in the United Kingdom registered an average annual growth rate of 3.3 per cent. The average annual growth rate of the total margin came, however, to only 1.8 per cent for the same period.
Table 5 - <u>Hyrotheses on the nominal retail prices and their most important components. for vegetable products in the United Kingdom</u> in the 1977/76 farm year or

1977/778 7.72 8.5 6 4.86 41.60 46.46 2**.**9 3.8 5.85 93 1.70 o.6 ਾ ਲ 27.5 19.8 8° 8 26.6 5.5 6.0 15.0 č.63 č.‡ 1968/69 3.72 13.13 16.85 29.22 32.10 2.88 1.66 2.04 3.70 5.80 1.57 13.0 20.9 0.57 17.5 7.9 17.1 18.2 12.8 31.0 5.4 11.7 1967/68 12.96 16.53 28.93 3.65 7.<del>1</del>5 2.03 3.57 2.67 31.60 1.57 2.08 0.62 8.9 10.9 19.8 19.6 13.2 17.9 10.7 15,5 28.7 8.9 1965/66 1966/67 3.90 11.20 15.10 2.66 28.89 31.55 2.08 4.15 0<del>1</del> ° 2 1.78 2.07 0.61 10.4 16.8 10.7 18.5 15.5 14.0 29.5 18.0 6.4 7.8 11-03 14.90 28.13 3.40 3.87 2.75 30.88 1.52 1.88 5.70 1.68 0.68 28.3 10.3 5.6 9.8 15.4 15.8 12.5 19.1 5.0 15.3 1964/65 15.38 30.60 11.66 27.95 3.72 2.65 1.51 1.79 3.30 4.80 1.5 0.64 14.0 16.9 15.2 27.0 17.2 ę.4 9.7 6.3 11,8 10.6 1960/61 1961/62 1962/63 1963/64 3.62 11.56 15.18 3.40 2.53 26.82 29**.**35 1.79 5.80 0.56 1.61 1.71 4°8 9.2 14.0 10.2 16.9 26.6 15.0 15.3 5.1 9.7 10.93 14.63 25.86 28.23 3.70 1.93 1.97 3.90 8.80 2.37 2.26 <u>8</u>.0 5.3 14.0 6.5 9-5 16.0 13.5 11.1 24.6 14.7 8.7 11.18 14.75 21.25 1.96 3.95 5.70 3-57 2.24 8<sup>-1</sup> 1.4 25-01 9.0 17.8 14.2 10.0 24.2 15.5 17.3 9.7 8.1 و.ع 8.0 3.48 11-25 14.73 2.29 24.24 26.53 1.35 1.55 2.80 5.30 1.89 0.72 16.0 11.8 14.0 13.2 9.0 22.22 Э.**4 8.**4 4.8 9.2 1958/59 1959/60 15.53 3.88 11.65 2.29 24-36 26.65 1.38 3.05 5.8 1.67 1.77 0.68 14.9 4.5 12.2 6.6 10.3 22.0 15.7 11.7 7.7 9.1 10.93 14.98 4.05 2.45 1.70 2.27 24.20 26.47 5.90 1.42 0.68 10.8 8.6 **B.**8 22.9 15.6 3.5 7.3 4.5 13.1 14.1 Price relationship (early potatoes : maincrop ware potatoes) obtained for oats Price relationship (tinned tomatoes : fresh tomatoes) Average import price of Argentinian maize Price and price components Retail price (d/lb product weight) Retail price (d/lb product weight) Processing and trading margins (d/lb product weight) Processing and trading margins Processing and trading margins (d/lb) price **Processing and trading margins** (d/lb) Processing and trading margins (d/lb) Processing and trading margins Apples (dessert + Producer market price (d/lb) cooking) Producer market price (d/lb) Producer market price (d/lb) Producer market price (d/lb) Average producer market (d/l.7 lb grain value) (d/lb product weight) Retail price (d/lb) (d/lb grain value) Retail price (d/lb) Pears (dessert + cooking) Tinned tomatoes<sup>a</sup> Fresh tomatoes<sup>a</sup> Early potatoes Maincrop ware potatoes Corn flakes Product Rolled onts

- 54 -

Table 5 (continued)

.

Product	Price and price components	1958/59	09/6561	19/0961	1961/62	1962/63	1963/64	964/65	965/66	1966/67	82//1961	1968/69	1969	1970	161	π/ <del>1</del> 8
White sugar <sup>b</sup>	Retail price in the United Kingdom (d/lb)	7.65	7.80	8.05	7.85	8,00	10.75	9.65	8.45	8°-34	8.55	8.50	8 8 8	9.00	17.	କ
	Intervention price for refined sugar in the ECC $(d/lb)$	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	9-63	9.63	9.63	H	8
	Retail price in West Germany (d/lb)	13.38	13.38	13.38	13.83	13.97	13.97	13.97	13.97	14.20	14.20	13.83	14.06	14.52	17	20
	Difference between the retail price in West Germany and the $\mbox{BEC}$ intervention price (d/lb)	•	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	•	4.20	4.43	4,89	<u>ه</u>	8
	<sup>a</sup> Calendar years 1958-1968 and 1977.	calenda:	r years 1	- 1976–1970	ا 1977، ا	/78 farm	year.	-	_	-	-	-	-	-	-	

•

Source: Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food, Household Food Consumption and Expenditure (Annual Report of the National Food Survey Committee), H.M.S.O., London, current edition. Secretary of State for the Home Department, Secretary of State for Scotland, Secretary of State for Wales and the Minister of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food, Annual Review and Determination of Guarantees, London, H.M.S.O., various issues. F.A.O., Production Tearbook, Rome, various issues. - Own calculations and estimates.

Table 6 - Expotheses on the nominal retail prices, and their most important components. for livestock products in the United Kingdom in 1977

Product	Price and price components	1958	1959	1960	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969		11/18
Beef	Producer market price obtained (d/lb slaughter weight)	29,1	30.5	28.4	25.0	27.2	27.4	7.66	6° <del>1</del> 2' -	32.1	32.1	31.7	38.6		83.5
	Processing and trading margins (d/lb) Retail price (d/lb)	16.8 45.9	18.2 48.7	21.6 50.0	25.3 50.3	24.4 51.6	24.5 51.9	23.9 57.6	25.1 60.0	¥.1 86.2	34.3 66.4	35.7 73.4	7 <b>.</b> 95.7 78.3		99.7 83.2
Mutton	Producer market price obtained (d/lb slaughter weight)	32.3	26,3	30.8	24.8	28.8	31.5	36.0	36.0	1.4	¥.1	4.65	42.5		86.8
	Processing and trading margins (d/lb) Retail price (d/lb)	8.3 40.6	12.7 39.0	9.9 10.7	15.1 39.9	12.2 41.0	10-3 41.8	9.5 45.5	12.4 48.4	15.8 49.9	15.3 49.4	14.0 53.4	15.0 57.5		30.3 17.1
Pork	Producer market price obtained (d/lb slaughter weight)	24.0	23.4	23.4	21.0	19.8	22•2	22.2	21.6	27.0	26.9	26.6	28.0		41.1
	Processing and trading margins (d/lb) Retail price (d/lb)	21.2 45.2	24.4 47.8	26.4 49.8	29.5 50.5	29.8 49.6	27.1 49.3	30.2 52.4	31.5 53.1	29.2 56.2	33-5 60.4	<del>35</del> .8 62.4	9.95 64.9		74.6 15.7
Bacon	Wholesale price for British bacon (d/lb product weight)	30.4	29.9	29.6	27.1	26.3	28.7	¥.0Ę	59-0	4.2	33.0	32.6	<u></u> д.5	<del></del>	51.4
-	Simple price difference (bacon - pigmest) (d/lb)	6.4	6.5	6.2	6.1	6.5	6.5	8.2	4- <i>T</i>	7.2	6.1	6.0	6.5		10.3
	Average wholesale price for British and Danish bacon (d/lb product weight)	31.0	30.3	30.0	28.1	27.0	29.3	31.2	7.65	+.¥	33.8	33.4	35.9	· · · · · · · ·	52.4
	Price difference (British becom - $\beta$ British and Danish bacon) (d/lb product weight)	0.6	4.0	4.0	1.0	0-7	0.6	0.8	0.7	0.2	0.8	0.8	1.4		1.0
	Processing and trading margins (d/lb product weight) Retail price (d/lb product weight)	16.8 45.9	18.2 48.7	21.6 50.0	25.3 50.3	24.4 51.6	24.5 51.9	23.9 57.6	25.1 60.0	}¥.1 66.2	34.3 66.4	35.7 73.4	7.95 7.8.3		99.7 83.2
Poultry- meet	Wholesale price (d/lb slaughter weight) <sup>b</sup>	•	•	28.8	25.0	26.5	5.0	51.0	24.0	26.0	23.0	23.0	24.0	<b>.</b>	30.1
	Processing and trading margins (d/lb slaughter weight) Retail price (d/lb slaughter weight)	54.6	19.2	18.9 47.7	19.0 איז	17.4 43.9	16.9 <b>41.9</b>	17.8 44.8	18.5 12.5	17.0 43.0	18.0 <b>41.0</b>	17.9 40.9	17.2 41.2		22.0 52.1
Liver	Retail price (d/lb) <sup>C</sup>	49.1	51.0	51.2	50.6	51.6	52.1	53.0	55.2	57.8	58.6	59.2	62.2		24.4
Butter	Wholessle price for New Zealand butter in London (Aih)	25.4	37.0	33.1	27.4	31.9	34.5	36.2	75.7	32.4	32.1	<b>7</b> 2.1	32.1		2:5
	Processing and trading margins (d/lb) Retail price (d/lb)	7.0 32.4	7.3	7.7 40.8	7.8 75.2	7.0 9.8	8.2 43.1	8.5 14.7	8.8 ##.5	9.6 42.0	9.5 41.6	8.5 10.6	8.7 10.8		12.8 107.5

- 56 -

Table 6 (continued)

Product	Frice and price components	1958	1959	1960	1961	1962	1963	1961	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1 <i>977/</i> 78	
Cheese	Wholessie price - average for British and New Zealand produce (d/lb)	20.7	31.4	25.8	25.4	25.5	26.1	28.0	28.7	29.5	29.7	28.6	<b>38</b> .2	81.0	
	Processing and trading margins (d/lb) Retail price (d/lb)	9.4 30.1	10.8 42.2	13.4 39.2	12.8 38.2	13.2 38.7	13.8 39.9	13.8 41.8	15.0 43.7	15.4 44.9	15.9 45.6	17.2 45.8	17.7 45.9	40.5	
Gream	Retail price (d/pint product weight) <sup>d</sup>	4.69	68.7	69-0	6.9	63.8	64.1	66.2	68.1	70.1	6-12	72.7	72.0	167.0	
Condensed whole milk	Retail price (d/pint whole milk equivalent) <sup>6</sup>	9.5	9.4	5.6	8.7	8.6	8.5	8.5	8.8	8.4	8.9	8.9	9.3	17.6	
Liquid milk	Retail price (d/pint) <sup>f</sup>	7.5	7-5	7.5	7.7	6-1	8.0	4.8	8.6	8°5	9.2	9-7	10.2	16.5	
Fresh eggs	Average producer price of the Egg Marketing Board (d.egg)	3.8	3.4	3.6	3,2	3.2	3.1	2.8	3.1	2.8	2.6	2.9	2.9	3.1	
	Processing and trading margins (d/egg) Retail price (d/egg)	0.4 4.2	0.5 <b>3.9</b>	4.2 4.2	0,1 4	0.6 3.8	1.3 4.4	0.9 7.7	6°0 1	1,2	1.3 3-9	1.2	1.5	3.5	
8. Thi 60.							م م		•						

<sup>2</sup> Difference between the retail price for bacon and the average wholessie price for British and Danish produce. <sup>2</sup> Broilers from domestic production, plucked, with giblets, not drawn (corresponds approximately to "fouls 83 per cent" in the calculation of the EEC sluice-gate price, <sup>3</sup> Assuming that the price of liver of all types will rise to about the stame advected approximately to "fouls 83 per cent" in the calculation of the EEC sluice-gate price, <sup>3</sup> Assuming that the price of liver of all types will rise to about the stame advected approximately to "fouls 83 per cent" in the calculation of the EEC sluice-gate price, <sup>3</sup> Assuming that the price of liver of all types will rise to about the advected rest at the average retail price for beef, mutton and pork - each separate type of meat having a weight of 0.333 (equal distribution). <sup>4</sup> Assuming that the average retail price for beef, mutton and pork - each separate type of meat having a weight of 0.333 (equal distribution). <sup>4</sup> Assuming that the average retail price for beef, mutton and pork - each separate type of models a price in 1977 will be shout 70 per cent timed orem in 1977 are represented by the fictitions EEC threshold prices for these products). <sup>4</sup> Assuming that the average retail price for condensed milk referes to 25 per cent and 75 per cent timed orem in 1977 are represented by the stimated EEC threshold prices for these two types of condensed milk in 1977 are represented by the stimated EEC threshold prices for these two types of condensed milk). <sup>4</sup> Direct estimate on the basis of a price comparison at the retail area countries.

Source: See Table 4 - Vegetable products.

- 57 -

If one considers that the cost factors influencing the total margin are to be found primarily in labour costs and only secondarily in capital costs (this is particularly true of the wholesale and retail trade, but not so or only conditionally so of the milling industry) and that wages have risen considerably faster than prices, the fairly low growth rate of the total margin in relation to the general inflation rate indicates that both for the production and for the marketing of rolled oats appreciable productivity gains must have been achieved and that, moreover, following a relatively sharp increase in competition accompanied by a rapidly growing degreee of concentration in marketing and, above all, in the milling industry - profit margins have fallen considerably (there are, of course, close links between the concentration in processing and marketing, on the one hand, and in productivity gains, on the other). If it is now assumed that this development will also continue in the future in a similar form, one can also assume that the relationship of 0.55 to be observed in the reference period between the growth rate of the total margin and that of the price level will also persist until 1977/78. From 1968/69 to 1977/78 we had estimated an average annual increase in prices of 6 per cent (see Table 3); if this figure is multiplied by the factor 0.55, we obtain an average annual growth rate of the total margin of 3.3 per cent for 1968/69 - 1977/78. (In this estimate it is implicitly assumed inter alia that the relationship between nominal wage increase and the rise in prices - or, in other words, the growth rate of real wages - will not change substantially during the forecasting period compared with the reference period.)

2. <u>Beef</u>: The total margin (see above) for beef in the reference period was estimated by subtracting, on a slaughter weight basis, the average domestic producer market price obtained for 1 lb of meat from clean fat cattle (excluding deficiency payments) from the retail price of 1 lb of beef. The total margin for beef consequently represents in the main the processing and trading margins (including the VAT) of the butchers operating at wholesale and at retail. The producer price of beef assumed for 1977/78

in Great Britain cannot be automatically equated with the EEC guide price for cattle assumed for 1977/78, since both prices are defined in a different way. While the EEC guide price includes cattle of all classes and categories (for instance, cows and bulls for slaughter), the average producer market price calculated from the deficiency payments systems in the United Kingdom applies only to meat from clean fat cattle<sup>1</sup> of good quality (hence, fat cows in particular are not included). In order to account for this, we have, for the special purpose of this price comparison, raised the estimated EEC guide price for 1977/78 by 5 per cent. This is a purely arbitrarily determined percentage, since no adequate information was available to us as to how differences in quality between separate types of beef are valued from on country to another and how, above all, the differences in valuation which would very probably result would compare. In addition, the question arises whether the actual market price in the EEC in the 1977/78 farm year will correspond to the guide price or whether, depending on the market situation, it will settle considerably above or below it. As it is difficult for us to say at the present time what the market situation of beef will be in the enlarged Community in  $1977/7^{\circ}$ , we must satisfy ourselves with the assumption that there will be a fairly "normal" market situation in 1977/78 and that prices on the reference markets of the Member States will at least approach the guide price. From 1958 to 1969 the total margin increased at an average annual rate of 8.1 per cent. i.e. almost two and a half times the increase in the general price level (3.3 per cent). The total margin for beef has, therefore, increased at a slower pace than the average weekly earnings of a male employee in the food, drink and tobacco industry as a whole (average annual growth rate of weekly earnings from October 1958 to October 1969: 9.2 per cent). This shows very clearly that the productivity gains achieved in the processing and marketing of beef were only marginal during the reference period. The likely reason for this was primarily that until now most beef is sold through retail abattoirs, which have only a relatively low turnover and which, accordingly, have little opportunity to undertake effective

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Fat steers, fat heifers, young fat bulls.

rationalisation measures. The traditional retail abattoir is, therefore, usually forced to pass on wage increases almost in their entirety to the consumer. For some years supermarkets have been accounting for a fast growing, if still small proportion (in terms of volume) of total beef sales. This process is likely to become still more marked in the future and this could bring about a certain decelartion of the rate of increase of the total beef margin (increased competition on butcher's shops as a result of supermarkets' more rationalised marketing methods). For this reason we have assumed that the ratio (rate of increase of total margin : rate of price increase) of 2.45 in the reference period will fall to 2.00 in the forecasting period. Under these conditions, the average annual increase in the total margin for beef will be about 12 per cent (2.0 - 6.1) during the period from 1969 to 1977.

We cannot proceed in the same way described in (1) and (2) for all products. For example, no representative time series of wholesale and dairy selling prices were available for condensed milk and cream respectively. In both cases we resorted to assuming that the threshold prices of condensed milk and cream estimated for 1977 in the enlarged Community were the wholesale and dairy selling price respectively in the United Kingdom. In order to arrive at the hypothesis on the retail price in 1977 in the United Kingdom, we further assumed that the wholesale price and dairy selling price as a proportion of the retail price for condensed milk and cream in 1977 will be of approximately the same order of magnitude as the average for butter and cheese. The retail price of liver had to be forecast similarly. We simply assumed that the increase in the retail price of liver from 1969 to 1977 will roughly correspond to the average price rise for beef, nutton and pork (cattle, sheep and pigs are by far the largest source of liver intended for human consumption). The wholesale price for bacon in 1977 was calculated taking into consideration the average producer market price obtained for pigmeat as compared with the wholesale price for British bacon (simple price difference) and also the average wholesale price of British and Danish bacon and the retail margin on bacon.

- 60 -

The price hypotheses on fruit and vegetables need special explanation. The producer price for apples and pears in the United Kingdom is a calculated average price (total of prices obtained divided by the quantity sold) which refers to all marketable varieties and qualities of both apples and pears. We could not find a corresponding representative producer price for apples and pears for the Six. Price comparisons are possible, however, for the individual EEC countries<sup>1</sup>. For example, the average producer price of class A apples and pears in the EEC "high price country" for fruit - i.e. Germany - for the 1967/68 to 1969/70 farm years was 5.2 and 4.8 d/lb respectively compared with 7.7 and 7.4 d/lb in the United Kingdom (average of 1966/67 to 1968/69 farm years). In the other EEC countries, particularly France and Italy, which have the best climates for apple and pear production, producer prices for apples and pears were in part far below those in the United Kingdom A similar situation obtains if we compare retail prices. In 1968/69 retail prices of apples and pears in Paris were only 63 per cent and 83 per cent respectively of those in the United Kingdom (national average for 200 towns)<sup>2</sup>. In Germany in 1967/68 the retail prices of top quality apples (dessert and cooking) stood at 78 per cent of the average retail price in the United Kingdom<sup>3</sup>. The UK "Economic Development Committee for Agriculture" estimated in a study published only recently that after the complete dismantling of tariffs and quotas for fruit from EEC countries British producer prices for apples will probably drop by about 20 per cent while producer prices for pears are likely to fall only slightly<sup>4</sup>. This has led us to assume that British producer prices for apples (dessert and cooking) in the 1977/78 farm year will be about 15 per cent lower than the average price obtained in the 1964/65 - 1968/69 farm years (pears: 12 per cent lower).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Statistical Office of the European Communities, "Agricultural Statistics", Luxembourg, various issues.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See Federal Statistical Office, Prices, Wages, Economic calculations, Series 9: Prices abroad - II. Retail prices, 3rd quarter 1970, Wiesbaden, page 45 et seq.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See Federal Statistical Office, Statistical Yearbook for the Federal Republic of Germany 1968, Wiesbaden, p. 446.

 $<sup>^4</sup>$  Quoted in the Financial Times, London, of 8th March 1972.

The producer prices for tomatoes in the various EEC countries differ in part to an extraordinary degree. In 1968/69 the price of tomatoes for fresh consumption in Belgium, for example, was 5.2 d/lb compared with 11.5 d/lb in the Netherlands. The lowest producer market price for fresh tomatoes was recorded in Italy, namely 4.5 d/lb (1968/69). This compared with an average producer price of hothouse tomatoes for fresh consumption of 16.9 d/lb in the United Kingdom (average for the 1967/68 - 1968/69 farm years). In view of these price relationships we have assumed that the average producer price for hothouse tomatoes in the United Kingdom in 1977 will reach 15.0 d/lb at least.

The hypotheses on the real retail prices for foodstuffs in the year 1977 or the 1977/78 farm year were obtained quite simply by dividing the nominal retail prices by the index of all retail prices in 1977 or 1977/78 (cf. Table 3). The resulting real retail prices are summarised in Table 7. These forecasts indicated that there would be significant increases in real retail prices by 1977, especially for beef, mutton and edible offals as well as for cream, butter and cheese. Appreciable price reductions are to be expected primarily for potatoes, fruit and vegetables (tomatoes). The downward trend in the prices of poultrymeat and eggs recorded during the base period (1968 - 1969) could persist until 1977, although at a decidedly slower rate. According to our estimates, there would be little change in the real prices of pork and bacon, along with a modest fall in real retail prices during period.

# 3. <u>Results of forecasting per capita consumption of foodstuffs in</u> the 1977/78 farm year or in 1977

Results of forecasting per capita consumption by means of the demand functions developed under (I, 3), which are summarised in Table 8, will now be briefly discussed. This has already involved a certain preselection

## Table 7 - <u>Summary of hypotheses on the real retail prices of important foodstuffs in the United Kingdom</u> after alignment on EEC agricultural prices in 1977

Product	ø 1958/60	ø 1967/69	1977	Increase (+) or decrease (-) from \$1958/60- \$1967/68	Increase (+) or decrease (-) from \$1967/69- 1977 (%)	Average annual rates of change \$ 1967/69 to 1977 (%)
Rolled cats	16.05	13.15	11.65	- 18.1	- 11.4	- 1.3
Corn flakes	28 <b>.26</b>	25.87	2 <b>1.38</b>	- 8.5	- 17-4	- 2.1
Refined sugar <sup>8</sup>	8.72	7.11	7.92	- 18.5	+ 11.4	+ 1.2
Maincrop ware potatoes	3.56	3,13	3.42	- 12.1	- 22.7	- 2.8
Early potatoes	5.89	5.38	4.22	- 3.7	- 21.6	- 2.7
Appàss (dessert + cooking) <sup>2</sup>	12,34	15-58	12.70	+ 26.3	- 18.5	- 2.3
Pears (dessert + cooking) <sup>&amp;</sup>	15-19	15.02	11.90	- 1.1	- 20-8	- 2.6
Fresh tomatoes	24.0	24.5	20.9	+ 2.1	- 14.7	- 1.8
Bottled and tinned tomatoes	16.6	14.5	12.6	- 12.7	- 13.1	- 1.5
Beef	51.6	57.9	86.6	+ 12.2	+ 49.6	+ 4.6
Mutton and lamb	42.9	42.6	55-4	- 0.7	+ 30.0	+ 3.0
Pork	50.9	49.9	54-7	- 2.0	+ 9.6	- 1.0
Bacon	50.9	47.6	49.4	- 5.5	+ 3.8	- 0.4
Poultrymeat	54.0	32.8	24.6	- 39.3	- 25.0	- 3.1
Edible offals (liver)	54.0	47.9	58.8	- 11.3	+ 22.8	+ 2.3
Liquid whole milk <sup>b</sup>	8.0	7.7	7.8	- 3.7	+ 1.3	+ 0.1
Cream (fresh and tinned) <sup>C</sup>	73.9	57.7	79.0	- 21.9	+ 36.9	+ 3.5
Condensed milk (sweetened and unsweetened) <sup>d</sup>	10.1	7-2	8.3	- 28.7	+ 15.3	+ 1.6
Butter	41.9	32.8	50.8	- 21.7	+ 55.0	+ 5.0
Cheese (Cheddar)	39.7	36.5	57.4	- 8.1	+ 57.3	+ 5.2
Fresh eggs	4-4	3.3	3.1	- 25.0	- 6.1	- 0.7
All types of meat	50.5	49.1	61.3	- 2.8	+ 24.8	+ 2.5
Fish (white)	36.0	38.9	41.0	+ 8.1	+ 5.4	+ 0.6

Source: Own calculations and estimates.

of results but does not take into account the possible consequences of a later nutritional test. In this first appraisal of results of forecasting it also seems opportune to discuss those products for which no demand functions could be formulated.

#### a. Cereal products

As can be seen from Table 9, the fall in the per capita consumption of cereal products should, according to our estimates, continue during the forecasting period. It is likely that decisive factor in this development will be a further contraction in the consumption of wheat flour due to a marked income-dependent fall in demand for white bread, while demand for wheat flour in the form of cakes, biscuits, grits, wheat germs and similar products will stagnate. However, the consumption of so-called breakfast cereals - rolled oats and corn flakes - could still expand somewhat by 1977/78. At the same time, rolled oats could be increasingly replaced by corn flakes - according to our estimates, the proportion of rolled oats in the total consumption of breakfast cereals would decline from 32 % (average 1966/67 - 1968/69) to only 18 % in the 1977/78 farm year. The main reason for this would be the income-dependent substitution of rolled oats by corn flakes for taste reasons. The fact that, according to our price hypotheses, the retail price relationship (corn flakes : rolled oats) would shift somewhat during the forecasting period in favour of corn falkes will also play a part. (Here is should be remembered that in the demand functions for rolled oats and corn flakes the prices of competing products seem in each case to be the most important explanatory variables after income). During the reference period the per capita consumption of rice was subject to marked fluctuations in which no definite long-term trend is recognizable. These fluctuations in rice consumption could not be explained either by the real retail price of rice or by income. which leaves two main possible explanations:

## Table 8 - Summary of results of forecasting per capita consumption of important foodstuffs in the United Kingdom

in 1977 by means of the demand functions (kg)

Product	ø 1958/60	ø 1967/69	1977	By applying equation No.	Regression co time va	oefficient of ariables
					unadjusted	adjusted to
Wheat flour (product weight) <sup>a</sup>	77.9	69.1	63.0	(8)		
Rolled cats (product weight) <sup>a</sup>	1.65	1.26	0.78	(9)		
Corn flakes (product weight) <sup>a</sup>	2.03	a.80	3.63	(10)		
Refined sugar (white value) <sup>a</sup>	55.1	53-3	51.7	(14)		
Maincrop ware potatoes	73.2	79.7	83.7	(11)		
Early potatoes	19.0	15.0	-3.7	(13)		
Apples (dessert + cooking) <sup>2</sup>	12.1	9.7	12.1	(41)		
			12.0	(42)		
Pears (dessert + coeking) <sup>2</sup>	2.5	2.9	1.9	44)		
Fresh tomatoes	6.8	<b>5.1</b>	5.6	(45)	i	
Tinned tomatoes and 'tomato	<i>C</i> 11		10.6	(1)6)		
concentrates (fresh weight)	5.4	0.2	10.0	(40)		
Beer	25.8	24.0	15.9	(15)	. 1 2042	
			14.0	(16)	+ 1.2042	1 5104
Nutter and lamb		10.7	20,0	(10)		+ 1.5104
autton and lamb	11.0	10.7	0.5	(10)		
Ork	9.9	12.2	15.2	(19)		1
Dacon (Iresn weight)	<b>14.</b> 0	14.0	14.0	(22)	- 0.)1191	0 30876
			14.2	(22)	0 31547	- 0.90070
			13.7	(2))	- 0.51947	0 31008
P-11+	= 1	0.5	10.1	(2))		- 0.91220
Poultrymeat	9•1 	9.5	14.9	(24)	0 16934	
	4.7		1 46	(26)	- 0.10994	- 0 13305
	178 0	130 8	178.0	(28)	- 1,4238	- 0.19909
Lidiid Auole mirk	1,0.2	1,9.0	178.5	(28)	- 1.4290	- 1.3973
Fresh cream (product weight)	0.32	0,91	1,60	(29)		1.000
Sterilised tinned cream	0.,2		1.00	(-57		
product weight)	0,26	0.41	0,28	(31)	- 0.03943	
			C,88	(31)		- 0.00990
Condensed milk (product weight)	3.02	3.37	3.00	(32)		
Whole milk powder (product weight)	0.77	<b>0.6</b> 4	0.43	(33)	- 0.08314	
			0,44	(33)		- 0.08260
Skimmed milk powder (product weight)	1.06	1.16	1.38	(34)	- 0.04045	
			1.33	(34)		- 0.04024
All types of cheese	4,41	5.02	4.80	(38)		
Butter (fresh weight)	8.60	8.80	8,10	(35)		
			7.50	(37)	- 0.13977	
			8.50	(37)		- 0.0889
			6.90	(36) <sup>b</sup>		
shell eggs (No.)	233	249	258	(39)		
	01	24	06	(40)		

Source: Cf. Supply situation statements - Own calculations and estimates.

.

roducts
cereal p
of
consumption
capita
per
forecasting
f
Results
I
6
Table

in the United Kingdom in 1977/78

No. of equation used or freehand estimate $(\vec{r})$	(8)	۲Ľ,		(6)	(10)		ξų	۲.	μ	
1977/78	é3.0	0.5	4.4	0.8	3.6	2.0	1.7	0.3	0.2	70.1
ø 1966/67–1968/69	69.1	0.5	4.1	1.3	2.8	1.9	1.6	0.3	0.2	75.8
ø 1958/59 <b>-</b> 1960/61	6.77	ය • 0	3.7	1.7	2.0	1.7	1.4	0.3	0.2	84.3
Per capita consumption in	kg flour	kg flour	kg product weight	kg product weight	kg product weight	kg flour	kg flour	kg flour	kg flour	kg flour and/or product weight
Product	Wheat flour	Pearl and roasted barley	Rolled oats and corn	Rolled oats Ilakes	Corn flakes	Rice - total	Direct consumption	Processed	Rye flour	Cereal products - total

Source: Cf. annexed supply situation statements - Own calculations and estimates.

,

ł

- 1. The supply situation statement for rice contains gross statistical errors.
- 2. Rice is regularly consumed in large quantities by only a relatively small proportion of private households. The quantities of rice required by these families would tend to remain constant over a period of time, i.e. they depend neither on the income of the families in question nor on the price of rice. The remaining households eat rice only occasionally and then in varying quantities. A sizeable proportion of rice consumption is accounted for by Chinese restaurants and the like. Although the number of these restaurants has risen in the reference period, this does not necessarily mean that there has been corresponding increase in demand for rice in this sector.

In view of the special structure of demand for rice it is clear that any determination of demand by means of the customary factors (income, prices) will prove unrewarding. Consequently, there is no need to try to prove that the rice balance sheet contains serious errors. In forecasting per capita consumption of rice we therefore had to confine ourselves to the assumption that no appreciable changes were likely in rice consumption before 1977/78. For <u>pearl and roasted barley</u> and for <u>rye flour</u>, in respect of which information is also lacking, we have assumed that consumption will stagnate. The estimate of total per capita consumption of cereal products is hardly affected by this asumption as pearl and roasted barley as well as rye flour are of only secondary importance in the total consumption of cereal products.

## b. Sugar

During the period under review the real retail price of refined sugar fell by almost 20 %, although a price rise of around 11 % is indicated for the forecasting period. However, this will not mean any appreciable acceleration in the fall already noted in per capita consumption of sugar since the overall demand for sugar is almost completely inelastic to price changes. The fall of 3 % in sugar consumption forecast for the period (average 1966/67 -

- 67 -

1968/69) up to 1977/78 is even to be attributed primarily to the effect of income (negative income elasticity) and only secondarily to the effect of price.

## c. Potatoes

For per capita consumption of all kinds of potatoes in the 1977/78 farm year we obtained an estimate of 97.4 kg - compared with the 1966/67 -1968/69 average this represents a slight increase of 3 per cent. This presupposes that future demand for potato chips, crisps and similar products will increase so sharply that the decline in demand for maincrop ware potatoes and for new potatoes will not only be offset but even overcompensated - a process, which as in the past, would be determined mainly by the growth in incomes. The same will also be true of the per capita consumption of early potatoes, for which a decline of almost 9 % is forecast by 1977/78 (basis: average 1966/67 - 1968/69), although in real terms it is expected that early potatoes will be much cheaper at the retail stage (fall in the real price in the period under review: -9 %; figure assumed for the forecasting period: -22 %). The decisive factor in this forecast of demand for early potatoes is, however, the high negative income elasticity, the absolute value of which is many times the absolute value of the own price elasticity.

## d. Meat and meat products

If per capita consumption of <u>beef</u> is to be forecast by equation (16), i.e. the equation in which, along with income and the price of both beef and pork, time also appears as an explanatory variable, the question arises whether the regression coefficient of the time variable should be used for forecasting with or without adjustment (cf. explanation under I,4). As the trend in beef and pork prices during the period under review will not persist in the forecasting period for neither (in both cases we are faced with a structural break in the price time series), an adjustment of the regression coefficient of the t-variable appears necessary. With

meat	
Ъ,	
consumption	
capita	e
per	
of	
of forecast	
. Results	
Ă	
Table	

in the United Kingdom in 1977/78

Product	Per capita consumption in	¢ 1958/61	ø 1968/71	1977	No. of equation used for estimate
Beef and mutton	kg slaughter weight	37.56	34.17	26.30	
Beef	kg slaughter weight	25.79	23.82	18.00	
Eutton	kg slaughter weight	11.77	10.35	ė.30	(1 <sup>0</sup> )
Pork and bacon	kg slaughter weight	24.69	27.82	20°-90	
Pork	kg slaughter weight	9.92	12.73	15.20	(19)
Bacon	kg slaughter weight	14.77	15.09	13.70	(23)
Poul trymeat	kg slaughter weight	5.55	10.21	14.30	(54)
Pork and poultrymeat	kg slaughter weight	15.47	22.94	29.50	
Edible offals	kg slaughter weight	4.09	4.58	4.60	(26)
All types of meat	kg slaughter	71.39	76.78	74.60	

Source: Cf. annexed supply situation statements - Own calculations and estimates.

•

Diagram 1 - Per capita consumption of beef and real retail prices for beef and pork in the United Kingdom

1950/69(71) and results of forecasts for 1977



such equation (16) gives an estimated per capita consumption of beef of 20.8 kg slaughter weight. Compared with the average for the years 1968/71 this represents a decline of 13 %. In view of the hypothesis of a 50 % rise in the real retail price of beef by 1977 and a marked shift in the retail price ratio (beef : pork) in favour of pork<sup>1</sup> a decline in consumption of only 13 % by 1977 seems to us rather unrealistic. Equation (15), in which no time variable is included and whose coefficients primarily reflect long-term consumer reactions, gives an estimated per capita consumption of beef in 1977 of 15.9 kg, which would represent a decrease of 33 % compared with 1968/71. However, this estimate appears too pessimistic in the light of recent developments; as a subjective compromise solution we shall, therefore, assume a per capita consumption of beef in 1977 of 18.0 kg (-24 % compared with 1968/71).

According to equation (18), consumption of <u>mutton and lamb</u> would decline from by 20 % to 8.3 kg slaughter weight in the period 1968/71 - 77. This would be due wholly to the own price effect (rise of 30 % in the real retail price of mutton and lamb by 1977) and the cross price effect in respect of poultrymeat (the price ratio mutton and lamb : poultrymeat would increase from 1.30 in the years 1967/69 to 2.25 in 1977!).

As a result of a highly positive income and cross price effect (mutton and lamb), which are counterbalanced only fractionally by a relatively weak, contractive own price effect, we obtain an increase of 19 % in the per capita consumption of <u>pork</u> from 1968/71 to 1977 (equation (19)). For forecasting the demand for bacon equation (23) seems to us to be the most suitable equation, as apart from income and its own price, the price of its principal complementary food (eggs) and the factor time have been introduced as explanatory variables. Divergent trends in the price of bacon and eggs in the reference and forecasting periods necessitated an adjustment to the regression coefficient of the time variable. Given these conditions, we obtain a per capita consumption of bacon in 1977 of 13.7 kg slaughter weight, which is equal to 91 % of the consumption level

<sup>1</sup> Favourable: from the consumer's point of view.



and results of forecasts for 1977 pork and poultrymeat in the United Kingdom 1958/69(71)



Diagram 3 - Per capita consumption of pork and real retail prices for pork and lamb and results of forecasts for 1977 in the United Kingdom 1958/69(71)



in 1968/71. The reasons for this forecast decrease in demand for bacon are the own price effect and especially the influence of the time factor (it should be remembered that the differences between long-term and short-term reactions are expressed in the regression coefficients of the t-variables and that in the long term the demand for bacon obviously reacts negatively to the growth in income, but positively in the short term) (see equations (21) and (22)).

Demand for poultrymeat could rise very sharply. Both the influence of its own price and the influence of both the cross price contained in equation (24) (lamb and pork) would have a decidedly expansive effect on the consumption of poultrymeat. Under these circumstances the forecast increase of 40 % in the per capita consumption of poultrymeat from 1968/71 to 1977 seems thoroughly realistic.

According to our price hypotheses, the adoption of the EEC agricultural prices by the United Kingdom would cause a very sharp rise in real retail prices for beef, and mutton and lamb in particular (50 % from 1967/69 to 1977 for beef and 30 % for mutton and lamb). During the same period, pork and bacon would, however, be only 10 and 4 % dearer respectively in real terms at the retail stage. The real retail price of poultrymeat could fall even further during the forecasting period (1967/69 to 1977: -25 %). As the demand analysis has shown, British consumers react quite decisively to changes in meat prices when purchasing meat and meat products, i.e. the demand for individual types of meat is characterised by a relatively high own price elasticity (in absolute terms) and by a high cross price elasticity. So it seems probable that by 1977 those types of meat whose prices increase at a relatively faster rate than other meats will account for a smaller proportion of total per capita meat consumption, while the proportion accounted for by types of meat which become relatively cheaper will show a corresponding increase. As can be seen from Table 10, this is exactly the result obtained. The proportion of beef, mutton and lamb in total per capita consumption of meat would fall from 44.5 % (1968/71) to 35.3 % in 1977 and this would be accompanied by an increase in the proportion of pork and poultrymeat during the same period from 29.9 % to 40 %.

- 71 -





The proportion of bacon in the per capita consumption of meat would remain almost unchanged (1968/71 : 19.7 %; 1977 : 19 %), although bacon will become considerably cheaper compared with beef, mutton and lamb. However, as the demand analysis has clearly shown, consumer habits as regards bacon are rather rigid. In contrast with pork and poultrymeat, bacon has only limited possibilities as a substitute for beef, mutton and lamb. It is probable that carcase meat will be primarily affected by the expected substitution process resulting from the marked shift in retail price ratios.

According to our estimates total per capita consumption of meat would decline by 3 % from 76.8 kg in 1968/71 to 74.6 kg in 1977. Consumption would thus return to its 1960/62 level. The level of meat consumption is expected to correlate positively with the growth in income.Assuming this, the forecast decrease in the per capita consumption of meat by 1977 is only plausible if overall demand for meat is clearly sensitive to price changes<sup>1</sup> (it is easy to deduce from Table 7 that in whatever way it is construed the average real retail price of meat would rise sharply by 1977).

In order to test the price sensitivity of the demand for meat we have, in addition, estimated a demand function for all types of meat:

(63) Q = 122.10 + 43.124 log C<sub>pr</sub> - 94.006 log P<sub>1</sub>  
(4.5) (3.5)  
$$R^2 = 0.840$$
 D.W. = 1.27  $\frac{\delta}{Q} = 1.3$  % Assessment period  
1958-69

where:

Q : total per capita consumption of meat (kg slaughter weight) P<sub>1</sub> : average weighted real retail price of all types of meat  $(d/lb)^2$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A high degree of price sensitivity for individual kinds of meat does not necessarily imply a price sensitivity for the overall demand for meat since calculation of overall demand is a weighted average of own price elasticities and cross price elasticities of the demand for individual meats.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The weighting system used in calculating the average retail price for all types of meat on the basis of nominal retail prices was as follows: beef (0.324); mutton and lamb (0.149); pork (0.162); bacon (0.203); poultrymeat (0.101); edible offals (0.061).

Equation (63) provides a rather good explanation of the overall per capita consumption of meat. The income elasticity of demand for meat would, according to equation (63), be +0.3 and the own price elasticity -0.6 (the elasticity coefficients were measures in the arithmetical mean). In addition to the price of meat itself the price of fish (fish being a possible substitute for meat) could also influence demand for meat:

(64) 
$$Q = + 102.23 + 34.293 \log C_{pr} - 87.902 \log P_1 + 20.409 \log P_2$$
  
(2.2) (3.4) (0.6)  
 $R^2 = 0.850$  D.W. = 1.23  $\frac{\hat{c}}{\bar{Q}} = 1.3\%$  Assessment period  
1958-69

where:

P<sub>2</sub> : real retail price of fish - white, filleted and unfilleted, fresh (d/lb).

Compared with equation (63), the low t-test value for the regression coefficients of income and the equally low t-test value for the regression coefficient of the fish price in equation (64) result mainly from the close (random) correlation between  $\log C_{pr}$  and  $\log P_2$  (r = +0.80). Consequently, it cannot be concluded from equation (64) that the price of fish exerts no significant influence on the demand for meat. Equation (64) yields an income elasticity of +0.2 for meat demand, an own price elasticity of -0.5 and a cross price elasticity (fish) of +0.1. One reason for this relatively low cross price elasticity is that during the reference period per capita consumption of fish amounted to only a fraction of per capita consumption of meat. The most important result for us is, however, the surprisingly high sensitivity of the overall demand for meat to price, which is clearly shown in equations (63) and (64). It is particulary interesting to note that, in absolute terms, the own price elasticity of the demand for meat is about twice as high as income elasticity.

For control purposes it is, therefore, advisable to forecast the per capita consumption of meat directly by means of equations (63) and (64). The hypothesis on the real retail price of all types of meat can be derived directly from the hypotheses on the nominal retail prices for the individual types of meat. from the weighting scheme for the average meat price and from the hypothesis on the general price level. This would give an increase of around 25 % (cf. Table 7) in the real retail price of meat from 1967/69 to 1977. In the absence of any other information it was assumed that the upward trend in the real retail price of fish noted during the reference period will continue until 1977 (see Table 7). Assuming this, equation (63) would give an estimate of 70.0 kg (equation (64) = 70.1 kg) for total per capita consumption of meat in 1977. Aggregating the estimates of per capita consumption for the individual types of meat in 1977 we had obtained a figure of 74.6 kg. Both estimates are so close to one another that a revision of our first estimate (aggregate method) on the basis of the results of the second estimate (using the demand function for all types of meat) hardly seems necessary.

#### e. Milk products

For <u>liquid whole milk</u> we expect only marginal changes in the real retail price by 1977. Along with the low own price elasticity of demand for liquid milk this means that consumption will not be appreciably influenced by its own price between now and 1977. The short-term income elasticity of demand for liquid milk of +0.5 is certainly high; meanwhile, in the long term the demand for liquid milk is almost completely inelastic to changes in income. Not only the short-term but also, via the regression coefficient of the t-variable, the long-term reactions are taken into consideration when forecasting the per capita consumption of liquid milk by means of equation (28), with the result that the net effect of income is kept within relatively narrow limits. This would explain why the per capita consumption of liquid milk of 138.5 kg in 1977 obtained by using equation (28) the regression coefficient is only slightly different from the level of consumption in the years 1967/69 (139.8 kg). For cream, according to our calculations, an increase of around 37 per cent in the average real retail price is to be expected from 1967/69 to 1977. If the rather high own price elasticity of the demand for fresh cream is also taken into consideration, consumption of fresh cream should. other things being equal, fall considerably. However, incontrast to this there is an extraordinarily marked expansive income effect such that on balance the per capita consumption of fresh cream is expected to expand appreciably in the forecasting period too (by 76 % from 1967/69 to 1977). As can be seen from Table 8, in no event does equation (31) give an acceptable forecast of the demand for tinned sterilised cream. If no adjustment is made to the regression coefficient of the t-variable in equation (31). a step, which is in fact not acceptable (in view of the serious structural break both in the price series for cream as well as in that for condensed milk due to the EEC effect) that equation produces a 32 % fall in the consumption of tinned cream for the period 1967/69 to 1977. However, in view of the very high income elasticity of tinned cream consumption this is not plausible. (It is rather to be expected that, as in the case of fresh cream, the expansive influence of income will outweigh the contractive influence of its own price). If the regression coefficient of the t-variable in equation (31) were adjusted, the equation would show that the per capita consumption of tinned cream would more than double by 1977. However, a much sharper increase in tinned cream consumption than in that for fresh cream would, however, be completely inconsistent with past experience, which points to a marked preference for the fresh as opposed to the tinned product. The reason for this poor forecasting performance of equation (31) could be the fact that the method proposed under (I, 4) for segregating regression coefficients of the time variables on which the adjustment of the coefficients for forecasting purposes is based is only conditionally applicable to tinned cream (cf. Table 2, column 3). For this reason, the per capita consumption of tinned cream should be forecast by means of equation (30), in which the price of condensed milk appears along with income and the price of cream but not with time as explanatory variables. Equation (30) gives an estimate of 0.47 kg product weight for the per capita consumption of tinned cream in 1977, which would represent an increase of 15 % over 1967/69. This result seems at least more realistic than that obtained with equation (31). Total per capita consumption of cream would therefore rise from 1.32 kg product weight in the years 1967/69 to 2.07 kg product weight in 1977, representing an increase of 57 per cent.

The principal factor determining demand for <u>condensed milk</u> is the price of liquid milk. Since, according to our hypotheses, the real retail price of liquid milk will scarcely alter by 1977, only the increase in its own price (15 % in real terms by 1977) and the negative income elasticity will have any effect on the forecast of condensed milk consumption by means of equation (32). Their joint effect will result in a decline of 11 % in the per capita consumption of condensed milk from 1967/69 to 1977, with condensed milk consumption falling back to its approximate level at the beginning of the reference period.

The slight downward trend in total per capita consumption of <u>milk powder</u>, which was already perceptible in the reference period, is expected according to our estimates, persist (1958/60: 1.83 kg; 1967/69: 1.80 kg; forecast for 1977: 1.77 kg). The proportion of whole milk powder will probably fall even more sharply (1958/60: 42.1; 1967/69: 35.6; estimate for 1977: 25%). The substitution process between skimmed milk powder and whole milk powder would still be determined by income (cf. equations (33) and (34)) and be limited primarily to the use of milk powder in the food industry.

With the adoption of EEC agricultural prices by the United Kingdom the retail price for <u>butter</u> will also increase very sharply in real terms (+ 55 % between 1967/69 and 1977). Bearing in mind also that the price of butter is the most important factor in determining demand, the estimates derived from equations (35) and (37), which show a decline in butter consumption of only about 5-15 %

- 76 -

Diagram 5 - Per capita consumption and real retail price of butter in the United Kingdom 1958/69(71) and results of forecasts for 1977



- 769 -

from 1967/69 to 1977 are not very plausible. According to our expectations, demand for butter ought to react much more sharply to such price rises. Therefore, it seems advisable to use directly for forecasting equation (36), which measures, in particular, the effect of extreme increases in the price of butter on the demand for butter. Average weekly consumption on a quarterly basis estimated by means of equation (36) results in a per capita consumption of 6.9 kg in 1977 (fall of 21.4 per cent compared with 1967/69). In view of the recent developments on butter market in the United Kingdom and since equation (36) too considerably overestimates the average weekly consumption of butter in the first, second and third quarters of 1972, we consider that even the forecast obtained by using equation (36) is too optimistic; after making the corresponding correction we still obtain an estimate of 6.2 kg for the per capita consumption of butter in 1977, representing a fall of 29.4 % compared with 1967/69.

According to our price hypotheses, the price of <u>cheese</u> will rise even more strongly in real terms than that of butter (57 % between 1967/69 and 1977). However, because of the very low own price elasticity (in absolute terms) and the high positive income elasticity of the demand for cheese, this would not lead to any significant reduction in the per capita consumption of cheese (estimated decrease from 1967/69 to 1977: 4 %).

Owing to the lack of suitable statistical data we were unable to estimate demand functions for <u>ice cream</u>, <u>yoghourt</u> and <u>milk drinks</u> (milk shakes etc.). We possess only a time series of the quantity of whole milk used by the dairies for the manufacture of these products, which is, however, believed to be rather unreliable as it has been estimated as a residual value. Calculated on a per capita basis the quantity of whole milk used for the manufacture of ice cream, yoghourt and milk drinks increased during the reference period from 0.87 kg (1958/60) to 2.05 kg in 1969/71. A high positive income elasticity of demand for the end products was thought to be primarily responsible for this development. The adoption of EEC agricultural prices could mean considerable increases in the real retail prices of these products and as a result demand

- 77 -

Diagram 6 - Per capita consumption and real retail price of cheese in the United Kingdom





could increase at a somewhat slower rate than in the reference period (figure assumed for 1977: 2.50 kg whole milk equivalent).

Demand for chocolate crumb is entirely dependent on the volume and especially the composition of the domestic production of chocolate confectionery (chocolate crumb is an important raw material in the chocolate confectionery industry). Therefore one could not justify explaining the whole milk equivalent of the volume of per capita chocolate crumb consumption in terms of income and in terms of an average retail price for chocolate confectionery. During the period 1958-71 the whole milk equivalent of the per capita consumption of chocolate crumb fluctuated between 4.4 and 6.5 kg, with no clear longterm trend appearing. This could inter alia be due to the fact that the per capita consumption of chocolate confectionery remained practically unchanged during the same period. The per capita consumption of sweets and confectionery of all kinds in the United Kingdom was already at an internationally very high level towards the end of the fifties and has not risen since. The per capita consumption of sweets and confectionery is more likely to decline slightly in the future; this is also indicated in the forecast of a fall in total sugar consumption between now and 1977. In line with this, we assume that the whole milk equivalent of the per capita consumption of chocolate crumb in 1977 will at best amount to 5.0 kg, which almost corresponds to the average figure for the years 1968/71 (5.13 kg).

#### f. Eggs and egg products

Demand for <u>eggs</u> reacts only weakly to changes in income and prices (own price and that of bacon). According to our estimates, the real retail price of eggs will fall by 6 % between 1967/69 and 1977, while that of bacon could rise by around 4 %. In view of the small degree of both price and income elasticity and the assumed changes in the real price, the per capita consumption of eggs in 1977 is expected to differ little from its level in the base period (estimated increase from 1967/69 to 1977: 4 %). The consumption of <u>egg products</u> is expected to expand somewhat more sharply since it is assumed that the positive correlation between income and the demand for egg products discernible in the reference period will continue in the future. Forecasting the consumption of egg products contains an element of uncertainty in so far as it is conceivable that, as a result of appreciable changes in the amount of egg products used in the manufacture of various foodstuffs, the overall demand for egg products can change considerably within a relatively short time. Apart from such considerations, the per capita consumption of egg products could increase by 8 per cent between 1967/69 and 1977.

#### g. Fruit and vegetables

The real retail price for apples (dessert and cooking) rose sharply in the reference period (by 26 % from its average of 1958/69 - 1960/61 to its average of 1966/67 - 1968/69). With demand almost wholly inelastic changes in income but highly dependent on price this led to a decline of 20 % in the per capita consumption of apples (dessert and cooking). Following the gradual abolition of duties and (seasonal) quotas for imports of apples (dessert and cooking) from the EEC countries the supply of relatively cheaper apples, especially from France and Italy, to the UK market could result in an appreciable reduction in the real retail price of apples in the United Kingdom by 1977/78 (according to our expectations. -19 % from its average for 1966/67 - 1968/69 to its average for 1977/78). According to equation (41), in which demand for apples is explained solely by their price, this would mean that the per capita consumption of apples (dessert and cooking) would return by 1977/78 to its level at the beginning of the reference period. A decline is also forecast in the retail price of pears (dessert and cooking) by 1977/78 (-21 %) for the same reasons as given above for apples. Things being equal, this will give a considerable boost to the demand for pears. However, there will also be a marked contractive income effect (high negative income elasticity of the demand for pears) with the net result that the per capita consumption of pears (dessert and cooking) will remain unchanged until 1977/78 (equation (44)).

It was not possible to estimate the income and price elasticities of the demand for <u>preserved apples and pears</u> by means of the multiple regression analysis as no representative retail prices were available for these products. An explanation of the per capita consumption of preserved apples and pears by income alone led to no meaningful results, as the consumption





- 79a -

of both products changed only slightly in the reference period and showed no recognisable trend. Average per capita consumption for the 1966/67 -1968/69 farm years was 1.20 kg for pear preserves and to 1.23 kg for apple preserves. For 1977/78 we must, therefore, content ourselves with the simple assumption that the level of consumption will remain constant for both products (1.20 kg).

Because of the lack of adequate information on their retail price we were unable to estimate the demand functions for fresh peaches and preserved peaches. This is particularly unfortunate as it means that the probable substitution between preserved peaches and other preserved fruit (for example, tinned pears and pineapples) cannot be studies. By far the greater proportion of the consumption of peaches in the United Kingdom consists of tinned peaches, of which good quality imports are supplied at very low prices by certain Commonwealth countries (led by Australia) and by South Africa. Consumption of fresh peaches is still, however, quite uncommon in many regions of the United Kingdom. During the years 1967/69 total per capita consumption of peaches averaged 2.23 kg, of which preserved peaches accounted for 79 % (or 1.77 kg) and fresh peaches for only 21 % (or 0.46 kg). Nevertheless, a strong upward movement was noted in the per capita consumption of fresh peaches in the reference period (in 1958/60 only 0.17 kg was sold per capita each year). From this we would like to draw the conclusion that the sale of fresh peaches on the British market is capable of being developed much further. With free entry to this market France and Italy especially should be able, by means of intensive sales promotion campaigns and the maintenance of high quality standards, to increase their exports  $\downarrow$  of fresh peaches to the United Kingdom quite considerably. Under these circumstances, the per capita consumption of fresh peaches will reach 1.0 kg by 1977. In the first half of the reference period the level of consumption of preserved peaches first showed a marked upward trend (1958/60: 1.70 kg; 1962/64: 2.00 kg) which later settled between 1.7 and 1.9 kg. After the accession of the United

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> During the reference period the Six were already supplying nearly 90 % of all fresh peaches coming on to the British market.

Kingdom to the EEC the low-prices imports of preserved peaches from Australia and South Africa are expected to be partially displaces by higher-prices products from France and Italy, as the previous customs preferences for imports from South Africa and Australia would have to be abolished (treatment as imports from non-member countries). This could have a negative effect on the overall demand for preserved peaches. Moreover it should be remembered that the assumption of a very rapid expansion in demand for fresh peaches can possibly be justified only if at the same time one assumes certain cuts in the estimate for preserved peaches in 1977 will correspond to the average for the years 1966/69 (1.8 kg). On this basis the total per capita consumption of <u>peaches</u> (<u>fresh and preserved</u>) would rise from 2.23 kg (1966/69) to 2.80 kg in 1977.

In spite of an expected decline of 15 % in the real retail prices for fresh and chilled tomatoes between 1967/69 and 1977, the demand for this product is expected to increase only slightly in future as income exerts a contractive influence on the consumption of fresh tomatoes (negative income elasticity). By applying equation (45) we arrive at a per capita consumption of fresh tomatoes of 6.6 kg for 1977 (increase compared with 1967/69: 8%). In contrast with fresh tomatoes, the demand for preserved tomatoes and tomato concentrates could rise sharply in the fugure as both price (hypothesis on the real retail price of preserved tomatoes: -13 % by 1977) and especially income will exert a positive effect on consumption (forecast of the per capita consumption of tomatoes and tomato concentrates in 1977 according to equation (46): 10.6 kg fresh tomato equivalent: increase compared with 1967/69: 25 %). Consumption of tomato juice also showed an upward movement during the reference period (1958/60: 0.14 kg fresh tomato equivalent; 1967/69: 0.20 kg), which, it is supposed, was activated by the growth in income. We were unable to verfy this supposition by means of the regression analysis because of the lack of data

- 81 -

on the retail prices of tomato juice. A graphical trend extrapolation of the per capita consumption of tomato juice during the period 1958-1970 gave an estimate of 0.25 kg for 1977. Aggregating these individual forecasts, the consumption of tomatoes and processed tomato products in 1977 - converted to fresh tomato equivalent - would amount to 17.45 kg, which represents an increase of 18 % over 1967/68 (14.80 kg).

## h. Oils and fats

The multiple regression analysis showed no significant influence of income of of the retail prices of the principal fats (butter, margarine, manufactured edible fat and lard) on the total per capita consumption of <u>oils and fats</u> during the reference period. From this we draw the conclusion with a high individual level of income, the consumption of fats and oils is determined only by consumer habits (<u>inter alia</u> the type of meals eaten and their preparation) and to an increasing degree by health considerations. In the first half of the reference period total consumption of oils and fats in the United Kingdom was still growing (21.87 kg in 1958; 23.12 kg in 1964)<sup>1</sup> to be followed by a temporary fall to 22.4 kg in the years 1965/67 and then a slight recovery which did not exceed the 1964 level. A further continuing decline in the per capita consumption of fats and oils is considered more likely. Under these circumstances our assumption that there will be a reduction of only 4.7 % from 1968/70 to 1977 seems rather optimistic (see Table 11).

Understandably the tendency to reduce fat consumption for health reasons affects primarily the consumption of the so called "visible fats", of which <u>butter and margarine</u> are by far the most important. Total per capita

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> These and all following data are given in pure fat or raw oil equivalent.
Table 11 - Results of forecasting per capita consumption of oils and fats in the United Kingdom

in 1977 (kg pure fat or raw oil equivalent)

Product	ø 1958/60	ø 1968/70	1977	Change Ø 1958/60-1968/70 (%)	Change Ø 1968/70-1977 (名)
S <b>pre</b> adable fats - Total	12.29	11.35	10.50	- 7.6	- 7.5
- Butter	7.06	7.13	5.10	+ 1.0	- 28.5
- Margarine	5.23	4.22	5.40	- 19.3	+ 28.0
Lard (direct consumption)	2.80	3.16	3.30	+ 12.9	+ 4.4
Manufactured edible fat	2.60	2.38	2.00	- 8.5	- 16.0
Other edible oils and fats	4.38	6.21	6.70	+ 41.8	6.7 +
Fats and oils - Total -	22.07	23.10	22.50	T.4 +	- 2.6

Source: Central Statistical Office, Annual Abstract of Statistics, various issues. Own calculations and estimates (cf. also sources given in the oil and fat balances).

consumption of butter and margarine accordingly fell almost continously during the reference period from 12.43 kg (1958) to 11.21 kg in 1971. Very probably this trend will continue during the forecasting period so that it should be possible to forecast the per capita consumption of spreadable fats in 1977 by means of a graphical trend extrapolation. This would still mean a per capita consumption of butter and margarine of 10.5 kg in 1977.

As has already been shown in the demand analysis for butter, demand for margarine can also be determined on the basis of given income and a given price of butter as well as a given level of consumption of spreadable fats. For the per capita consumption of butter in 1977 we obtained an estimate of 6.20 kg fresh weight; in terms of pure fat content this is around 5.10 kg. The resulting difference of 5.40 kg in pure fat content between the per capita consumption of spreadable fats and that of butter in 1977 would, under the above conditions, be entirely accounted for by margarine. This means that as a result of the expected sharp rise in the price of butter the level of consumption of margarine would increase by 28 % between 1968/70 and 1977.

In the period 1958-65 the per capita consumption of <u>lard</u> (only direct consumption and not the quantities used in the manufacture of margarine and edible fats) showed a clear negative correlation with the per capita consumption of butter and a positive correlation with the per capita consumption of margarine. This indicates that in the United Kingdom initially lard was still to a certain extent a cheap substitute for butter as regards spreading on bread. After 1966 the situation changed with lard no longer playing this substitution role except in a very few cases and this has led us to assume that only margarine and not lard will profit from the sharp decline forecast in the demand for butter by 1977. This explains why only a marginal increase (4 %) is forecast in the per capita consumption of lard between 1968/70 and 1977. Demand for <u>manufactured edible fats</u> showed a downward trend during the reference period which was primarily due to the increasing use of specific <u>edible vegetable oils</u> for

- 84 -

baking and frying. Demand for vegetable oils ought also to have receive a boost from their growing use in the preparation of salad dressings and mayonnaise. The substitution of vegetable oils for manufactured edible fats should continue so that a further decline in the consumption of manufactured edible fats is to be expected. Accordingly, the per capita consumption of vegetable oils during the reference period will probably not be repeated since, according to our expectations, the trend towards a lower fat content diet will also affect somewhat the consumption of vegetable oils.

Below we will briefly discuss the importance of those types of oil which are of special interest for the EEC agricultural policy - e.g. rape-seed. sunflower-seed and olive oil - in terms of the total consumption of fats and oils in the United Kingdom (cf. Table 27\*). Until 1964 imports of rape-seed oil (direct imports of oil plus the oil equivalent of rape-seed imports) played only a very minor role in total UK imports of vegetable oils (less than 10 000 t per annum). After 1964 a sharp rise in rape-seed oil imports took place (average annual imports for the years 1967/69: 31 000 t). The principal suppliers during this period were Pland, the German Democratic Republic. Sweden and the Six (chiefly the Federal Republic of Germany, the Netherlands and France). By far the greatest proportion of total imports of rape-seed oil took the form of seeds which were processed in oilmills in the United Kingdom. Rape was not grown on any appreciably scale in the United Kingdom before 1970. One reason for this could be that rapeseed was not covered by the deficiency payments systems so that UK producers of rape seed had to compete directly at world market prices. Consequently, the commercial cultivation of rape for oil seed was at a marked disadvantage compared with the cultivation of sugar beet, wheat and barley in particular. In recent years the total area devoted to the cultivation of rape in the United Kingdom has stood at about 45 000 ha, which represented only 1 % of the total area given over to the cultivation of grain. Statistical data relating to rape-seed crops and their utilization are not available to us. However, as far as can be deduced from the statistics on land utilization, rape is cultivated predominantly for feed purposes (as an intermediate crop); in the years 1968/71 only

- 85 -

5 000 ha were used for the cultivation of oil seed. Assuming a yield of 2.5 metric tons per hectare then the annual crop would amount to 18 500 t or, with an average oil extraction rate of 42 %, 5 300 t of raw oil. Consequently, the domestic production of rape-seed oil would be of quite minor importance compared with the volume of rape-seed oil and other vegetable oil imports. Of the total available domestic supplies of rape-seed oil, which we estimate at about 35 000 t for the period 1967/69, 43 % (15 000 t) was used for the manufacture of margarine and edible fats (margarine: 10 000 t; edible fats: 5000 t). In 1967/69 rape-seed oil represented 9 % of the total quantity of vegetable oils (animal oils are not taken into account) used for the production of margarine and 11 % of the total quantity of vegetable oils used for the manufacture of edible fats). We possess no reliable information on the use to which the remaining quantity of rape-seed oil was put.

As in the case of rape-seed oil, UK imports of <u>sunflower-seed oil</u> were for a long time practically non-existent (until 1966 5 000 t or less annually). Subsequently there was a dramatic rise to 68 000 t in the years 1967/69. Imports were restricted entirely to raw oil; the principal suppliers were the USSR, Romania, Bulgaria, Yugoslavia and the Netherlands. Imports from the Netherlands were limited exclusively to transit trade (for example, from Argentina). In 1967/69 38 % (26 000 t) of the oil imported was used in the manufacture of margarine and edible fats; during the same period sunflower-seed oil accounted for 20 % of the total quantity of raw vegetable oil used in the manufacture of margarine (22 000 t); as regards the manufacture of edible fats during the same period the corresponding figure was 9 % (4 000 t). The remaining 42 000 metric tons are believed to have been used mainly as edible oil for frying, salad dressings etc. (direct consumption).

Annual imports of <u>olive oil</u> during the reference period amounted to between only 2 000 and 3 000 metric tons and came mainly from Spain. The use of olive oil as edible oil in the United Kingdom is still limited; at present the main customers of olive oil for use as edible oil are presumably certain restaurants run by non-UK nationals.

If the United Kingdom's liberal import policy for oils and fats were continued, the consumption of sunflower-seed and rape-seed oil in 1977 would

depend primarily on the relationship between the world price for both these types of oil and those for the other vegetable and animal oils. Adoption of the EEC agricultural policy by the United Kingdom could. however, bring about considerable changes. Above all, it is expected that, compared with grain, rape seed as an oil seed will be substantially better placed (from the producer's point of view) in the agricultural price system than at present. This could be a strong incentive for farmers to expand the cultivated area devoted to rape grown for the production of oil seed, particularly since, from an economic point of view, it could offer a better solution to the problem of crop rotation. particularly for holdings concentrating on the cultivation of grain. If there is a sharp rise in the UK production of rape-seed oil, this may result, for supply reasons, in the substitution of rape-seed oil for other imported vegetable oils given the existing EEC rape-seed marketing regulations. No pronouncement as to what extent this would be the case is possible until an estimate of the domestic production of rape-seed oil has been made. For this reason we will not estimate the consumption of rape-seed and sunflower-seed oil (the estimated demand for sunflower-seed oil should again be viewed in terms of that for rape-seed oil) until the forecast of supply is available.

As stated earlier, UK imports of olive oil are used mainly to meet special requirements. Since no spectacular change can be expected in consumer habits as regards the use of edible oils for cooking, frying and as salad oil in the next few years we will assume that not more than 3 000 metric tons of olive oil will be consumed in the United Kingdom in 1977.

### 4. Summary of the results of the forecast

The results of the forecast of total consumption of important foodstuffs in the United Kingdom in 1977 are given in Table 12. In interpreting these results we will differentiate principally between the "EEC effect" and the "normal effect". The "EEC effect" should be understood essentially as a price effect which might affect all those

- 87 -

## Table 12 - Forecast of total consumption of important foodstuffs in the United Kingdom in 1977 ('000 metric tons)

Produ	. c t	ø1968/60	<b>ø19</b> 67/69	1977	Increase (+) or decrease (-) Ø 1967/69-1977 (%)	Average annual rate of change Ø 1967/69- 1977 (%)
Products containing grai (in Wheat flour (in Rye flour (in Corn flakes (in Rolled cats (in	n - total flour weight or product weight) <sup>a</sup> flour weight) <sup>a</sup> flour weight) <sup>a</sup> product weight) <sup>a</sup> product weight) <sup>a</sup>	4 381 4 064 12 106 86	4 159 3 811 9 154 69	4 022 3 614 11 208 45	- 3.3 - 5.2 + 22.2 + 35.1 - 34.8	- 0.4 - 0.6 + 2.3 + 3.4 - 4.6
Rice indluding processe Pearl and pot barley (p	d products (in flour weight) <sup>®</sup> product weight) <sup>®</sup>	73 40	87 29	115 29	+ 32.2 ± 0	+ 3.4 ± 0
Sugar - total (whi	ite value) <sup>a</sup>	2 875	2 <b>937</b>	2 966	+ 1.0	+ 0.1
Potatoss - total (fre	amh weight) <sup>®</sup>	4 814	5 292	5 587	+ 5.6	+ 0.6
Maincrop ware potatoes Early potatoes	(fresh weight) <sup>a</sup> , <sup>b</sup> (fresh weight) <sup>a</sup>	3 823 991	4 394 898	4 801 786	+ 9.3 - 12.5	+ 1.0 - 1.5
Neat - total	(slaughter weight)	3 692	4 196	4 272	+ 1,8	+ 0.2
Beef Mutton and lamb Pork Bacon Poultrymeat Edible offals	(slaughter weight) (slaughter weight) (slaughter weight) (slaughter weight) (slaughter weight) (slaughter weight)	1 340 605 512 760 267 208	1 329 592 672 819 524 260	1 031 475 870 784 819 263	- 22.4 - 19.8 + 29.5 - 4.3 + 56.3 + 1.2	- 2.8 - 2.4 + 2.9 - 0.5 + 5.1 - 0.1
Dairy products - total Liquid whole milk <sup>6</sup> Fresh cream	(fresh weight) (product weight) (nroduct weight)	7 187 17	7 728 51 23	7 931 92 27	+ 2.6 + 80.4 + 17.4	+ 0.3 + 9.3 + 1.8
Condensed milk Whole milk powder Skinned milk powder Butter Cheese Chocolate orumb	(product weight) (product weight) (product weight) (fresh weight) (product weight) (whole milk_equivalent)	157 40 55 448 229 284	186 35 64 485 278 321	172 25 76 355 <b>275</b> 286	- 7.5 - 28.6 + 18.8 - 26.8 - 1.0 - 10.9	- 0.9 - 3.7 + 1.9 - 3.4 - 0.1 - 1.3
loe cream, yoghurt,mil)	t drinks (milk shakes etc.) (whole milk equivalent)	45	109	143	+ 31.2	+ 3.1
Eggs and egg products - Fresh eggs	total (million dosen) (million dosen)	1 101 1 011	1 259 1 148	1 <i>3</i> 55 1 2 <b>31</b>	+ 7.6 + 7.2	+ 0.8 + 0.8
Egg products	(million domen)	90	111	124	+ 11.7	+ 1.2
Fats and oils - total (I Butter (I Margarine (I Lard (I Mamifactured edible fats	pure fat content or raw oil equivalent) pure fat content) pure fat content) pure fat content) ts (raw oil equivalent) (raw oil equivalent)	1 148 367 272 146 135 228	1 263 398 335 176 134 322	1 288 292 304 189 115 384	+ 2.0 - 26.6 + 12.2 + 7.4 - 14.2 + 19.3	+ 0.2 - 3.4 - 3.2 + 0.8 - 1.7 + 2.0
Fruit and vegetables		(7)	576			0.0
Apples (cooking + desse Pears (cooking + desse Preserved apples Preserved pears Peaches Preserved peaches Tomatces	<pre>irtsin   (irtsin   (product weight)    (product weight)    (fresh)    (product weight)    (fresh) </pre>	651 128 84 57 30 355	520 103 67 25 98 339	69 69 69 57 103 379	+ 29.5 + 5.8 + 3.0 + 6.2 +128.0 + 5.1 + 11.8	- 2.9 + 0.6 + 0.3 + 0.7 + 9.6 + 0.6 + 1.2
Preserved tomatoes and Tomato juice	tomato concentrate (fresh tomato equiva- (fresh tomato equivalent) lent)	335 7	471 11	608 14	+ 29.1 + 27.3	+ 2.9 + 2.7

<sup>a</sup> Farm year July-June (average 1958/59-1960/61; average 1966/67-1968/69; 1977/78). <sup>b</sup> Including processed products for human consumption (chips, orisps, etc.). <sup>o</sup> Excluding farm consumption. <sup>d</sup> Sweetened and unsweetened condensed whole milk as well as sweetened condensed skimmed milk.

Source: Cf. annexed supply situation statements. Own calculations and estimates.

products which will either increase sharply in price (high price effect) or decrease sharply in price (low price effect) as a result of the repercussions of the EEC market regulations on UK agricultural prices. By "normal effect" we mean the situation whereby for a number of products the results of the forecast were influenced either primarily by factors which would have come to beat even without UK entry (income growth; longterm shifts in consumer habits) or by factors which even under EEC conditions would probably affect prices to only a relatively small extent. The "normal effect" applies principally to the projections for the most important basic foodstuffs - e.g. wheat flour (although considerable increases in wheat prices are to be expected under EEC conditions; as equation (8)shows, however, the price of wheat or wheat flour and/or bread does not affect the demand for wheat flour), sugar, potatoes, liquid milk and eggs. It is above all the forecasts for beef, mutton, lamb, butter and cheese which reflect a "high-price EEC effect". For the period 1967/69 to 1977 a 25 % fall in the consumption of beef was forecast (mutton and lamb: 20 %; butter: 27 %). As regards cheese, domestic demand is expected to fall by only 1 % in the same period (as the result of a comparatively high positive income elasticity and a low own price elasticity, expressed in absolute terms, of the demand for cheese); in comparison with the sharp increase in the consumption of cheese during the reference period, however, the forecast implies a complete break with past trends. The estimates for pork and poultrymeat as well as for margarine are strongly influenced by the high price effect via the cross-price elasticities. Mainly as a result of the large increases in beef and lamb prices compared with pork and poultrymeat a 30 % increase in the consumption of pork was forecast for the period 1967/69 to 1977 (poultrymeat: +56 %). The expected priceinduced contraction in the consumption of butter by 1977 should favour the sale of margarine considerably (+32 % from 1967/69 to 1977).

Important low price effects resulting from the United Kingdom's adoption of the EEC agricultural policy are to be found only in the forecast of the demand for fruit and vegetables. For the period 1967/69 to 1977 a largely price-conditioned increase of 30 % in the consumption of apples and pears (dessert and cooking), and fresh peaches and of 22 % in the consumption of tomatoes of all kinds (including processed tomato products in fresh tomato equivalent) was forecast.

### 5. Nutritional test

The results of the nutritional test are given in Tables 13. 14 and 15. In particular, it should be pointed out that in view of the forecast this test had, of course, to be limited to only those products for which a forecast of demand had already been made under II. 3 (underlined headings). For all other products (with the one exception of fish) we assumed that the level of consumption attained in 1968 would remain unchanged until 1977. Due to this much simplified assumption the per capita calorie, protein and fat consumption in 1977 has been systematically underestimated (this is particularly true of a number of different kinds of fruit and vegetables and of glucose). The forecast of the per capita consumption of fish was based on the following considerations: as equation (64) suggests. the demand for fish is considerably influenced by the price ratio (meat : fish); furthermore, the demand for fish will probably show a significantly positive income elasticity. Between 1958/60 and 1967/69 the price ratio (meat : fish) fell from 1.40 : 1 to 1.26 : 1. The resu lting negative effect on the demand for fish was clearly offset by the positive effect of income growth with the result that the long-term trend in the consumption of fish remained approximately constant. We expect a rise in the price ratio (meat : fish) from 1.26 : 1 to 1.50 : 1 or of around 20 % (see Table 7) between 1967/69 and 1977. Moreover, during the forecast period both the relative prices and the assumed income growth would have a positive effect on the demand for fish. Accordingly, we have estimated that the per capita consumption of fish in 1977 (fresh fish, smoked fish, preserved fish etc.) will be 11.00 kg; this is 26.6 % higher than in 1967/69 (8.69 kg). As regards the headings "tinned vegetables", "other fresh fruit", "tinned and bottled fruit" it

- 90 -

Table 13 - Per capits calorie communition of selected agricultural products and foodstuffs in the United Kingdom (1978-1968 and 1977)

Matrix			1010		6700		5,00			10,01	1201	5,01	0,01		
Mutuality         Table	Mark for and fo		1958	1959	1960	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	196	8	
			363026	021126	00,726	070776	020796	96031E	JEEDEE	258440	248865	010100	1240	75	
Mathem         Gold         <	Matrix         Matrix<	Part and roated barler	2976	2976	2376	2604	2604	2976	2604	2232	1860	1860	18	28	
	Matrix         Matrix<	Pobled ate	9699	6224	5580	558.0	5580	5580	5208	5208	AB36	4836	48	36	
Matrix         Matrix <thmatrix< th=""> <thmatrix< th=""> <thmatrix< th="" th<=""><th>Matrix         Matrix         Matrix&lt;</th><th></th><td>6696</td><td>1 H H</td><td>7812</td><td>1440</td><td>A184</td><td>10116</td><td>8028</td><td>06790</td><td>1001</td><td>10116</td><td>107</td><td>8</td></thmatrix<></thmatrix<></thmatrix<>	Matrix         Matrix<		6696	1 H H	7812	1440	A184	10116	8028	06790	1001	10116	107	8	
Matrix         Matrix<	No.         No. <th></th> <td></td> <td>2</td>													2	
Matrix         Matrix <th matrix<="" th=""><th>Matrix         Matrix         Matrix&lt;</th><th></th><th>4017</th><th>4010</th><th>1000</th><th>3</th><th>0140</th><th>5164</th><th>(())</th><th></th><th>47.04</th><th>(2()</th><th></th><th>2.</th></th>	<th>Matrix         Matrix         Matrix&lt;</th> <th></th> <th>4017</th> <th>4010</th> <th>1000</th> <th>3</th> <th>0140</th> <th>5164</th> <th>(())</th> <th></th> <th>47.04</th> <th>(2()</th> <th></th> <th>2.</th>	Matrix         Matrix<		4017	4010	1000	3	0140	5164	(())		47.04	(2()		2.
Matrix	Line         Line <thline< th="">         Line         Line         <th< th=""><th>MAILES FICE</th><th>Coni</th><th>C001</th><th>(001</th><th>N7F1</th><th>(001</th><th>Con</th><th>2</th><th>Con 1</th><th>Cont</th><th></th><th>2</th><th>2</th></th<></thline<>	MAILES FICE	Coni	C001	(001	N7F1	(001	Con	2	Con 1	Cont		2	2	
Event         1000 </th <th>Heret         405<!--</th--><th>In flor</th><th>1116</th><th>744</th><th>144</th><th>144</th><th>144</th><th>1116</th><th>1116</th><th>1116</th><th>744</th><th>744</th><th>2</th><th>₫</th></th>	Heret         405 </th <th>In flor</th> <th>1116</th> <th>744</th> <th>144</th> <th>144</th> <th>144</th> <th>1116</th> <th>1116</th> <th>1116</th> <th>744</th> <th>744</th> <th>2</th> <th>₫</th>	In flor	1116	744	144	144	144	1116	1116	1116	744	744	2	₫	
Metal         119/6         219/6 <th< th=""><th>Net         12001         21001         21001         21001         21001         2001</th><th>Starch</th><th>4836</th><th>4836</th><th>4464</th><th>4836</th><th>5208</th><th>5580</th><th>5580</th><th>5580</th><th>5208</th><th>5580</th><th>706</th><th>8</th></th<>	Net         12001         21001         21001         21001         21001         2001	Starch	4836	4836	4464	4836	5208	5580	5580	5580	5208	5580	706	8	
Othom         Units         Units <th< th=""><th>Other         Tity         <t< th=""><th>Same</th><th>212076</th><th>207432</th><th>219816</th><th>216720</th><th>217881</th><th>202401</th><th>210915</th><th>211302</th><th>208593</th><th>205884</th><th>20433</th><th>9</th></t<></th></th<>	Other         Tity         Tity <t< th=""><th>Same</th><th>212076</th><th>207432</th><th>219816</th><th>216720</th><th>217881</th><th>202401</th><th>210915</th><th>211302</th><th>208593</th><th>205884</th><th>20433</th><th>9</th></t<>	Same	212076	207432	219816	216720	217881	202401	210915	211302	208593	205884	20433	9	
Mit matrix         North Matrix <th>Mit and the first         Second frag         Second frag</th> <th>Glucose</th> <th>11 396</th> <th>11068</th> <th>11704</th> <th>11704</th> <th>12320</th> <th>1 3244</th> <th>1 3860</th> <th>15092</th> <th>15092</th> <th>15708</th> <th>1694</th> <th>Q</th>	Mit and the first         Second frag	Glucose	11 396	11068	11704	11704	12320	1 3244	1 3860	15092	15092	15708	1694	Q	
Mit Article	Mit Artisti, Mit Arti												00-1		
Mittant and Mittant and Mittan	Mix matrix         Mix mat	Boof and real	76972	68936	70588	72380	74480	75852	69020	63868	65184	69524	0969		
Matrix         Matrix<	Math         Math <th< th=""><th>Nutton and lamb</th><th>32337</th><th>36603</th><th>36572</th><th>36845</th><th>35907</th><th>33729</th><th>33941</th><th>32731</th><th><b>33154</b></th><th>11688</th><th>1625</th><th>2</th></th<>	Nutton and lamb	32337	36603	36572	36845	35907	33729	33941	32731	<b>33154</b>	11688	1625	2	
Matrix         Matrix<	Matrix         Matrix<	Port	30163	30194	51310	31372	34503	34813	36549	41199	39432	36487	3751	0	
Million         Gene         File	Millionedity         Millionedity<	Bacon and has	54150	55252	57266	57836	59242	56924	57722	59128	56202	55632	5703	ø	
Mill with         Sint	Intraction         Sint	Penltrymat	Udz	ESED	E TEO	2003	6710	6690	1000	7580	P110	<b>RROO</b>	540	c	
Mark         Mark <thmark< th="">         Mark         Mark         <thm< th=""><th>Matrix         Matrix         Matrix&lt;</th><th>Mible of all</th><th>4742</th><th></th><th>5706</th><th>5115</th><th>6229</th><th>0000</th><th>A52R</th><th>645A</th><th>6482</th><th>6594</th><th>ELY ELY</th><th>•</th></thm<></thmark<>	Matrix         Matrix<	Mible of all	4742		5706	5115	6229	0000	A52R	645A	6482	6594	ELY ELY	•	
	Light Line         Tight L			2	~~~~		2-1/2								
Tenth Tenth         (10)         1200         1425         1500         1510         1510         1510         1515         1510         1515         1510         1515         1510         1515         1510         1515         1510         1515         1510         1515         1510         1515         1510         1515         1510         1515         1510         1515         1510         1515         1510         1515         1510         1515         1510         1515         1510         1515         1510         1510         1515         1510         1515         1510         1515         1510	Trand         Trand         Total         Total <t< th=""><th>Liquid whele milt</th><th>89245</th><th>89895</th><th>90415</th><th>91065</th><th>91520</th><th>91845</th><th>92300</th><th>91780</th><th>91715</th><th>91715</th><th>1906</th><th>ċ</th></t<>	Liquid whele milt	89245	89895	90415	91065	91520	91845	92300	91780	91715	91715	1906	ċ	
Statistication         R33         173         173         173         173         145         144	Interfact         <	Fresh crease	1013	1200	1425	1650	1875	2138	2400	2700	2925	3225		m	
Contained will (main, unward)         Mi         State         Mi	Contraction         M13         S204         S095         S101         S101         S203         S101	Starlined timed cream	825	938	1125	1275	1275	1500	1575	1613	1463	1463	151	ŝ	
	Contained         Title	Condanaed wilk (whole, unsweetened)	5115	1005	2059	3188	5115	3172	5175	3623	3381	3703	376	r	
	Contract	(heretane alot) 411- faretand						1111	10074	5757	2000	1040		•	
	Contract Lit Formula         Circle for circl	THEFTER BARA BITTER VITE THE MANDER	19/1	1014	141	(101	040	(10)	1000		(022		21	ŧ,	
Model with power         Model with with with with with with with with	Mode with remain         550         3756         3768         550         570	CODDENDER BITE (BELIMES, BREETERDE)	676	662	676	676	635	621	580	580	552	593	5		
Matrix	Mail will be set in the first state for the state will be set in the first state first state will be set in the state state state will be set in the state state state will be set in the state s		0072	7202	2700	0202		0072	ZGZG	ZORE	ZORS	X788	205	0	
Contract if the state (all and a condition of the	Matrix ConstraintNote<	NUDLE NILL DONDET											25	. a	
Tool of the matrix drive (will work) $441$ $516$ $714$ $655$ $957$ $1771$ $1665$ $957$ $1771$ $1276$ $1771$ $1276$ $1771$ $1276$ $1771$ $1266$ $1771$ $1266$ $1771$ $12864$ $1771$ $12864$ $1771$ $12864$ $1946$ $1771$ $12864$ $1947$ $21024$ $21024$ $21024$ $21024$ $21024$ $21024$ $21024$ $21034$ $21024$ $21034$ <t< th=""><th>Identify and the farther of the farther of</th><th>Skimmed milk ponder</th><th>0176</th><th>7764</th><th>440</th><th>noc.</th><th>4000</th><th>4776</th><th>4176</th><th></th><th>444</th><th>1</th><th></th><th>2 \</th></t<>	Identify and the farther of	Skimmed milk ponder	0176	7764	440	noc.	4000	4776	4176		444	1		2 \	
Secondition         S447         3471         3575         3419         3439         3429         3429         3429         3471         3570         3757         3757         3757         3757         3757         3757         3573         3171         3000	Generative $3441$ $3543$ $5575$ $3410$ $1730$ $4251$ $3972$ $2192$	Ice cream, yoghcurt, milk drinks (milk shakes etc.)	481	598	618	114	865	<del>7</del> 95	7411	1086	9121	9121		o	
Gene         1741         16247         17287         1657         1940         17710         1828         1940         17710         1828         1940         1940         1940         1940         1940         1940         1940         1940         1940         1940         1940         1940         1940         1940         1940         1940         1946         1947         1940         1947         1940         1946         1947         1940         1946         1946         1946         1946         1946         1941         1940         1946         1940         1940         1940         1940         1940         1940         1940         1940         1940         1940         1940         1940         1940         1940         1940         1940         1940	Question $17441$ $16247$ $17261$ $1753$ $19172$ $19057$ $19400$ $17710$ $18286$ $19476$ $1940$ Matrix $13440$ $20932$ $20737$ $20932$ $20737$ $20936$ $20734$ $20936$ $21024$ $210344$ $210344$ $210$	Checelste ormb	3647	3471	3543	3575	3419	3439	3608	3439	4251	3972	378	m	
Mail end         10,440         20592         20736         20680         20344         1024         21024         1036         1122         1137         1136         1124         1036         1123         1036         1123         1036         1037         1036         1037         1036         1037         1036         1037         1036         1036         1036         1036         1036         1036         1036         1036         1036         1036         1036         1036         1036         1036         1036         1036	Mit image intermediation19440205922073620940204402004020044200402102419351133Mitter intermediation112441035611244103561124410356112441035611245103561133Mitter intermediation659466090665293651936519365936519365935371720080210355409521035Mitter intermediation53936535007234055350723405234372103421036214372103Mitter intermediation192201471141207440974409744097440974409744096511392103Mitter intermediation192201457119262113712102621036210362103621036Mitter intermediation19220145711932212537193392537127090256604570925703Mitter inter inter112251047311275117971292611397113971139611475Mitter inter1225614701225514710122551471014751129601147511396Mitter inter12255142071235712357123571337112950114751139611750Mitter inter12255122551225512255122551225512350123571235712357 <th>Cheese</th> <th>17441</th> <th>16247</th> <th>17287</th> <th>17633</th> <th>18172</th> <th>18057</th> <th>18480</th> <th>17710</th> <th>18288</th> <th>18788</th> <th>1940</th> <th>+</th>	Cheese	17441	16247	17287	17633	18172	18057	18480	17710	18288	18788	1940	+	
Mitter         1724         1037         1224         1036         1224         1036         1224         1036         1224         1036         1224         1036         1036         1224         1036	Mitter172411936172419361034103611371136 <t< th=""><th></th><th></th><th>00100</th><th>74600</th><th>00000</th><th>10200</th><th></th><th>10010</th><th>01100</th><th>Coace</th><th>10010</th><th>- 24 Z4</th><th>¢</th></t<>			00100	74600	00000	10200		10010	01100	Coace	10010	- 24 Z4	¢	
Mitter         Izza         Ioo         Izza         <	Nitter $1224$ $1020$ $1224$ $1020$ $1224$ $1020$ $10120$ $11200$ $112$			7201			+0(03		1926	1 2 2 1	1826	1826	183	14	
Miture         65346         60396         60371         64886         62234         63383         64866         64267         533           Miture         23425         23401         23403         23435         23434         23633         23435         23803         7570         5233           Match         23426         23401         23435         23434         43670         24447         2763         23434         23635         23434         23635         23434         23633         23434         23633         23434         23633         23434         23633         23434         23633         23434         23633         23434         23633         23434         23633         23434         23633         23434         23633         23434         23714         23803         23737         2383         21933         21933         21933         21933         21933         21933         21933         21933         21933         21933         21933         21933         21933         21933         21933         21143         21363         21433         21433         21443         21303         21433         21433         21433         21443         21303         21433         21303         21313	Mitter $(5)36$ $(2)36$ <t< th=""><th></th><th>1221</th><th>0601</th><th>4221</th><th>4771</th><th>4771</th><th>0001</th><th>0001</th><th>4771</th><th>0.01</th><th>000</th><th>2</th><th>2</th></t<>		1221	0601	4221	4771	4771	0001	0001	4771	0.01	000	2	2	
Description         43955         41471         47206         42609         4190         42609         3454         38008         37570         3524           Description         Control of thild         Control of thild         Control of thild         27371         27090         22434         23808         37570         3524         23808         37570         3524         23808         37570         3524         23808         27771         27090         22434         23808         27771         27090         25492         2109         24465         24497         4465         46145         48090         45703         5493         2449         28454         2800         2771         12071         12071         21090         1570         1475         170         1701         12061         1717         12061         1717         12061         1717         12061         1717         12061         1717         12061         1717         12061         1717         12061         1717         12061         1717         12061         1717         12061         1717         12061         17175         1717         12061         17175         11201         17175         11201         114451         114751         117051<	Martine $47395$ $41471$ $47206$ $42609$ $41990$ $42609$ $42609$ $42644$ $39806$ $7770$ $52436$ Martine $20466$ $25901$ $22001$ $23426$ $27139$ $25371$ $27050$ $22454$ $23936$ $21935$ $21035$ Mart $20466$ $25500$ $7713$ $22960$ $27139$ $25436$ $27139$ $27436$ $27139$ $27436$ $27139$ Mart $20666$ $25500$ $7713$ $12922$ $17937$ $12920$ $17937$ $12920$ $17711$ $128711$ $13069$ $13771$ Pinal $10675$ $1000$ $1700$ $1770$ $1700$ $1770$ $14465$ $46145$ $48090$ $45703$ $5499$ Pinal $10675$ $11077$ $12920$ $1770$ $1770$ $1700$ $1770$ $1$	Duct ter	65946	96609	60377	64886	65239	63118	62234	63383	64886	64267	6338	m	
Area         23426         22807         23426         23339         25371         27050         22454         22868         21855         21932         21845         22193         21932         21845         22193         21932         21845         21932         21845         21932         21845         21932         21845         21932         21845         21932         21845 <th< th=""><th>Math for the first<math>23436</math><math>23607</math><math>23607</math><math>23436</math><math>23737</math><math>27050</math><math>22454</math><math>23808</math><math>21835</math><math>2103</math>Math for<math>20686</math><math>26520</math><math>27139</math><math>25473</math><math>20023</math><math>24440</math><math>27492</math><math>27846</math><math>28163</math>Math for<math>20686</math><math>26520</math><math>21733</math><math>23437</math><math>21023</math><math>21497</math><math>48003</math><math>451703</math><math>48093</math><math>451703</math><math>5493</math>Math for<math>15220</math><math>14533</math><math>12922</math><math>12737</math><math>12932</math><math>12737</math><math>1982</math><math>17711</math><math>12871</math><math>13069</math><math>17711</math>Prime<math>62720</math><math>64610</math><math>66200</math><math>67700</math><math>17500</math><math>1770</math><math>1777</math><math>19302</math><math>17711</math><math>12871</math><math>13069</math><math>17711</math>Prime<math>62720</math><math>1475</math><math>11275</math><math>11775</math><math>11275</math><math>10775</math><math>1600</math><math>11775</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math></th></th<> <th></th> <th>43935</th> <th>47471</th> <th>47206</th> <th>42609</th> <th>41990</th> <th>42609</th> <th>42609</th> <th>38454</th> <th>38808</th> <th>37570</th> <th>3624</th> <th>I</th>	Math for the first $23436$ $23607$ $23607$ $23436$ $23737$ $27050$ $22454$ $23808$ $21835$ $2103$ Math for $20686$ $26520$ $27139$ $25473$ $20023$ $24440$ $27492$ $27846$ $28163$ Math for $20686$ $26520$ $21733$ $23437$ $21023$ $21497$ $48003$ $451703$ $48093$ $451703$ $5493$ Math for $15220$ $14533$ $12922$ $12737$ $12932$ $12737$ $1982$ $17711$ $12871$ $13069$ $17711$ Prime $62720$ $64610$ $66200$ $67700$ $17500$ $1770$ $1777$ $19302$ $17711$ $12871$ $13069$ $17711$ Prime $62720$ $1475$ $11275$ $11775$ $11275$ $10775$ $1600$ $11775$ $11475$		43935	47471	47206	42609	41990	42609	42609	38454	38808	37570	3624	I	
Control         Control <t< th=""><th>MathContract<!--</th--><th>Therefore adding a fate</th><th>70720</th><th></th><th>10000</th><th>JULIC</th><th>DZZZC</th><th>96271</th><th>970E0</th><th>22454</th><th>DIRA</th><th>9182C</th><th>2103</th><th>. 0</th></th></t<>	MathContract </th <th>Therefore adding a fate</th> <th>70720</th> <th></th> <th>10000</th> <th>JULIC</th> <th>DZZZC</th> <th>96271</th> <th>970E0</th> <th>22454</th> <th>DIRA</th> <th>9182C</th> <th>2103</th> <th>. 0</th>	Therefore adding a fate	70720		10000	JULIC	DZZZC	96271	970E0	22454	DIRA	9182C	2103	. 0	
Characteristic         200606         26720         27134         27174         27124         20125         24400         21771         12871         13050         13771         24010	Other with outened $20060$ $20520$ $27134$ $25734$ $27124$ $27024$ $24040$ $27040$ $27040$ $20040$ <b>P.m.</b> - total $19220$ $1473$ $12922$ $12932$ $12932$ $12930$ $13711$ $128711$ $128711$ $13069$ $13711$ <b>P.m.</b> - total $67100$ $6770$ $64100$ $67590$ $64100$ $67590$ $64100$ $6770$ $41465$ $41090$ $47703$ $45703$ <b>P.m.</b> - total $6770$ $64000$ $6770$ $64100$ $6770$ $64100$ $6770$ $6770$ $1475$ $17711$ $128711$ $17801$ $1700$ <b>P.m.</b> - total $6770$ $64000$ $6770$ $64000$ $6770$ $64700$ $6770$ $6770$ $6770$ $6770$ $6770$ $6770$ $6770$ $6770$ $1700$ $1770$ $1771$ $128711$ $1287111$ $1700$ $11475$		02462	10077	10022		0(((3	11((2						5	
Constrain       39336       38454       38454       43670       44112       44465       46145       48090       45703       5449         Pick - total $15220$ $14533$ $12322$ $12322$ $12322$ $13771$ $12871$ $13069$ $13771$ $12071$ $13069$ $13771$ $12091$ $1576$ $1570$ $1570$ $1570$ $1570$ $1570$ $1570$ $1570$ $1570$ $1570$ $1570$ $1570$ $1570$ $1570$ $11475$ $11455$ $11475$ $11455$ $11475$ $11455$ $11475$ $11455$ $11475$ $11475$ $11475$ <td< th=""><th>Under Contract<math>39338</math><math>38454</math><math>38454</math><math>38456</math><math>44112</math><math>44400</math><math>46145</math><math>46145</math><math>48090</math><math>45703</math><math>5449</math>Puter contract<math>15220</math><math>14533</math><math>12932</math><math>12932</math><math>12520</math><math>1470</math><math>13771</math><math>12871</math><math>13069</math><math>13771</math>Print framion<math>62720</math><math>64610</math><math>66290</math><math>65170</math><math>6750</math><math>6470</math><math>6570</math><math>5660</math><math>67760</math><math>67710</math><math>5740</math>Print framion<math>10250</math><math>10475</math><math>1175</math><math>1175</math><math>1177</math><math>12871</math><math>12872</math><math>1500</math><math>1475</math><math>1520</math><math>1470</math>Print framion<math>80710</math><math>1677</math><math>1620</math><math>1770</math><math>1575</math><math>1520</math><math>1470</math><math>1520</math><math>1475</math><math>1520</math><math>1475</math>Print framion<math>80710</math><math>2812</math><math>1275</math><math>1175</math><math>1175</math><math>1175</math><math>1172</math><math>1172</math><math>1172</math>Print framion<math>80710</math><math>8445</math><math>8495</math><math>1477</math><math>1920</math><math>2891</math><math>2790</math><math>2891</math>Other fraut<math>12255</math><math>14002</math><math>2790</math><math>2893</math><math>2697</math><math>1402</math><math>1475</math><math>1750</math>Other fraut<math>12255</math><math>14022</math><math>13737</math><math>13737</math><math>13737</math><math>13965</math><math>14022</math><math>1376</math>Other fraut<math>1000</math><math>1700</math><math>1570</math><math>1770</math><math>1770</math><math>1777</math><math>13777</math><math>13965</math><math>1402</math><math>2790</math><math>2891</math>Other fraut<math>1000</math><math>1700</math><math>1770</math><math>1770</math><math>1770</math><math>1770</math><math>1770</math><math>1000</math><math>1000</math><math>1000</math>Dian<math>1000</math><math>17</math></th><th></th><th>20686</th><th>26520</th><th>51159</th><th>29459</th><th><b>1</b>6162</th><th>42/CZ</th><th>58025</th><th>24840</th><th>21472</th><th>2 0 0 0</th><th>1007</th><th>0</th></td<>	Under Contract $39338$ $38454$ $38454$ $38456$ $44112$ $44400$ $46145$ $46145$ $48090$ $45703$ $5449$ Puter contract $15220$ $14533$ $12932$ $12932$ $12520$ $1470$ $13771$ $12871$ $13069$ $13771$ Print framion $62720$ $64610$ $66290$ $65170$ $6750$ $6470$ $6570$ $5660$ $67760$ $67710$ $5740$ Print framion $10250$ $10475$ $1175$ $1175$ $1177$ $12871$ $12872$ $1500$ $1475$ $1520$ $1470$ Print framion $80710$ $1677$ $1620$ $1770$ $1575$ $1520$ $1470$ $1520$ $1475$ $1520$ $1475$ Print framion $80710$ $2812$ $1275$ $1175$ $1175$ $1175$ $1172$ $1172$ $1172$ Print framion $80710$ $8445$ $8495$ $1477$ $1920$ $2891$ $2790$ $2891$ Other fraut $12255$ $14002$ $2790$ $2893$ $2697$ $1402$ $1475$ $1750$ Other fraut $12255$ $14022$ $13737$ $13737$ $13737$ $13965$ $14022$ $1376$ Other fraut $1000$ $1700$ $1570$ $1770$ $1770$ $1777$ $13777$ $13965$ $1402$ $2790$ $2891$ Other fraut $1000$ $1700$ $1770$ $1770$ $1770$ $1770$ $1770$ $1000$ $1000$ $1000$ Dian $1000$ $17$		20686	26520	51159	29459	<b>1</b> 6162	42/CZ	58025	24840	21472	2 0 0 0	1007	0	
Piet - total         15220         1533         12932         12591         1382         12520         13711         12871         13069         13771           Pretion         67160         67760         67760         67760         67760         6770         1570         1770 <th< th=""><th><b>Pime - total</b><math>15220</math><math>14533</math><math>12932</math><math>12591</math><math>13832</math><math>12500</math><math>13711</math><math>12871</math><math>13069</math><math>13711</math><b>Prime total</b><math>62720</math><math>64610</math><math>66290</math><math>65110</math><math>67550</math><math>64050</math><math>65660</math><math>671760</math><math>67130</math><math>66710</math><math>67730</math><b>Prime total</b><math>1625</math><math>1000</math><math>1700</math><math>1700</math><math>1700</math><math>1700</math><math>1700</math><math>1775</math><math>1973</math><math>1500</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><b>Prime total</b><math>1225</math><math>1175</math><math>10775</math><math>10775</math><math>10775</math><math>11475</math><math>11500</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><b>Prime total</b><math>1225</math><math>1175</math><math>10775</math><math>10775</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><b>Prime total</b><math>11475</math><math>11275</math><math>10775</math><math>11275</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><b>Prime total</b><math>12255</math><math>11750</math><math>12255</math><math>11425</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><b>Prime total</b><math>11077</math><math>12255</math><math>11750</math><math>21924</math><math>2190</math><math>21422</math><math>12275</math><b>Prime total</b><math>12255</math><math>14202</math><math>12765</math><math>91162</math><math>12765</math><math>1495</math><math>12275</math><b>Prime total</b><math>12261</math><math>12275</math><math>12275</math><math>11475</math><math>12275</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><b>Prime total</b><math>12164</math><math>12275</math><math>12275</math><math>11475</math><math>12275</math><math>12275</math><math>12275</math><math>12275</math><math>12275</math><math>12275</math><math>12275</math><math>12275</math><math>12275</math><math>12275</math><math>12275</math><math>12275</math><math>12275</math><math>12275</math><math>12275</math><th< th=""><th>ATEL BUT STTO STATES - JUNE</th><th>39338</th><th>38454</th><th>38454</th><th>43670</th><th>44112</th><th>44907</th><th>44465</th><th>46145</th><th>48090</th><th>45/05</th><th>6940</th><th>٥</th></th<></th></th<>	<b>Pime - total</b> $15220$ $14533$ $12932$ $12591$ $13832$ $12500$ $13711$ $12871$ $13069$ $13711$ <b>Prime total</b> $62720$ $64610$ $66290$ $65110$ $67550$ $64050$ $65660$ $671760$ $67130$ $66710$ $67730$ <b>Prime total</b> $1625$ $1000$ $1700$ $1700$ $1700$ $1700$ $1700$ $1775$ $1973$ $1500$ $11475$ $11475$ <b>Prime total</b> $1225$ $1175$ $10775$ $10775$ $10775$ $11475$ $11500$ $11475$ $11475$ <b>Prime total</b> $1225$ $1175$ $10775$ $10775$ $11475$ $11475$ $11475$ $11475$ <b>Prime total</b> $11475$ $11275$ $10775$ $11275$ $11475$ $11475$ $11475$ $11475$ <b>Prime total</b> $12255$ $11750$ $12255$ $11425$ $11475$ $11475$ $11475$ $11475$ <b>Prime total</b> $11077$ $12255$ $11750$ $21924$ $2190$ $21422$ $12275$ <b>Prime total</b> $12255$ $14202$ $12765$ $91162$ $12765$ $1495$ $12275$ <b>Prime total</b> $12261$ $12275$ $12275$ $11475$ $12275$ $11475$ $11475$ $11475$ <b>Prime total</b> $12164$ $12275$ $12275$ $11475$ $12275$ $12275$ $12275$ $12275$ $12275$ $12275$ $12275$ $12275$ $12275$ $12275$ $12275$ $12275$ $12275$ $12275$ $12275$ <th< th=""><th>ATEL BUT STTO STATES - JUNE</th><th>39338</th><th>38454</th><th>38454</th><th>43670</th><th>44112</th><th>44907</th><th>44465</th><th>46145</th><th>48090</th><th>45/05</th><th>6940</th><th>٥</th></th<>	ATEL BUT STTO STATES - JUNE	39338	38454	38454	43670	44112	44907	44465	46145	48090	45/05	6940	٥	
Pertication         62720         64610         66290         65170         67560         67760         67760         6770         65660         67760         6770         6570         6570         6770         6570         6570         6570         6570         6570         6570         6570         6770         7750         7775         7775         7775         7790         7790         7790         7790         7790         7790         7790         7790         7790         7790         7790           7770 </th <th>Potition<math>0.7150</math><math>6.7750</math><math>6.4050</math><math>6.5710</math><math>6.7550</math><math>6.4050</math><math>6.7760</math><math>6.7750</math><math>6.770</math><math>6.770</math><math>6.770</math><math>6.770</math><math>6.770</math><math>6.770</math><math>6.770</math><math>6.770</math><math>6.770</math><math>6.770</math><math>6.770</math><math>6.770</math><math>6.770</math><math>6.770</math><math>6.770</math><math>6.770</math><math>6.770</math><math>1.720</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>11475</math><math>112426</math><math>112426</math><math>1</math></th> <th>Pież - total</th> <th>15220</th> <th>14533</th> <th>12932</th> <th>12597</th> <th>1 3832</th> <th>12520</th> <th>1 3908</th> <th>13771</th> <th>12871</th> <th>1 3069</th> <th>1377</th> <th></th>	Potition $0.7150$ $6.7750$ $6.4050$ $6.5710$ $6.7550$ $6.4050$ $6.7760$ $6.7750$ $6.770$ $6.770$ $6.770$ $6.770$ $6.770$ $6.770$ $6.770$ $6.770$ $6.770$ $6.770$ $6.770$ $6.770$ $6.770$ $6.770$ $6.770$ $6.770$ $6.770$ $1.720$ $11475$ $112426$ $112426$ $1$	Pież - total	15220	14533	12932	12597	1 3832	12520	1 3908	13771	12871	1 3069	1377		
Contract         Control         Contro         Control         Control <t< th=""><th>Transform<math>0.2120</math><math>0.0270</math><math>0.0170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.112</math><math>0.120</math><math>0.170</math><math>0.112</math><math>0.120</math><math>0.120</math><math>0.120</math><math>0.120</math><math>0.120</math><math>0.120</math><math>0.120</math><math>0.120</math><math>0.120</math><math>0.120</math>&lt;</th><th></th><th>00507</th><th>0.000</th><th>1,1000</th><th>(1470</th><th>(7550)</th><th>01007</th><th>7525</th><th>07667</th><th>02 F 2 J</th><th>01233</th><th>9229</th><th>c</th></t<>	Transform $0.2120$ $0.0270$ $0.0170$ $0.112$ $0.120$ $0.170$ $0.112$ $0.120$ $0.120$ $0.120$ $0.120$ $0.120$ $0.120$ $0.120$ $0.120$ $0.120$ $0.120$ <		00507	0.000	1,1000	(1470	(7550)	01007	7525	07667	02 F 2 J	01233	9229	c	
Timed vegetables $1000$ $1700$ $1700$ $1700$ $1700$ $1700$ $1770$ $1$	Other France         Total Constraint         Total Constraint <th></th> <th>12/20</th> <th>01040</th> <th>06200</th> <th>0/100</th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th>100110</th> <th></th> <th>1550</th> <th></th> <th>) u</th>		12/20	01040	06200	0/100				100110		1550		) u	
Timed verticit $100/12$ $11/1$	Construction $100/12$ $11/12$		1020	10.21		2011	()(1	1000	11100	1410		11175		25	
Timed vegetables     1225     1175     1225     1375     1225     1470     1525     1822     170     170       Citrue fruit     2536     2790     281     2790     286     2897     2821     2790     285       Citrue fruit     12255     14022     13737     12883     2697     2821     2790     285       Citrue fruit     12255     14022     13737     12883     1475     13794     13777     13965     14022     12426     1335       Pilee     12420     12075     12765     9315     12075     12765     10350     11730     11040     11385     1065       Priod fruit     12420     12075     12765     9315     12075     12765     10350     11730     11040     11385     1065       Priod fruit     1260     1750     2100     1750     17705     10750     10750     10750     10650     10600     6000     6000     6000     6000     6000     6000     6000     6000     6000     6000     6000     1065     1065     1065     1065     1065     1065     1065     1065     1065     1065     1065     1065     1065     1065     1065     106	Timed vegetables12251175122512251225140015701475152516221150170Cline fruit25362790281427902887269728212790281Cline fruit25362790281717371395514022124261373Pilmed or both7ruit(freah)12755140221373712882137371395514022124261335Pilmed or both12201276593151276593151276513794137371995514022124261335Pilme1242012075127659315127659315127651077512765103501173011040113851065Pried fruit725075006750675062507750775017765103501173011040113851065Pried fruit12051131203511207512765127651075012765103501173011040117361065Pried fruit120611312035112075127651376513773129731395213053Pried fruit120611312035112056412166711275017790210017790210017790Pried fruit120611312035051205526412166711232604121686312193241194510120355Pried fruit333133313331 <th>Uther Items Vegetables</th> <th>6/901</th> <th>C1401</th> <th><b>C/211</b></th> <th>&lt;110L</th> <th>00801</th> <th>06601</th> <th>C2411</th> <th>00011</th> <th>1400</th> <th>1410</th> <th></th> <th>2 9</th>	Uther Items Vegetables	6/901	C1401	<b>C/211</b>	<110L	00801	06601	C2411	00011	1400	1410		2 9	
Citrue fruite       Currue fruite       2536       2790       2914       2790       2821       2542       2883       2697       2821       2790       281         Other fruit       (freah)       12255       14022       13737       13965       14022       12794       13757       13965       14022       12796       1395       14022       12426       1335         Place       Dettied fruit       12250       12075       13795       12765       9315       12765       1050       11730       11040       11385       1065         Pulse       7250       7250       6750       6750       6250       7000       6250       6000	Citrue fruit (treak) $2536$ $2790$ $2914$ $2790$ $2821$ $2542$ $2883$ $2697$ $2821$ $2790$ $2892$ Other fruit (treak) $12255$ $14022$ $13737$ $12892$ $13737$ $13965$ $14022$ $12795$ $4902$ $4902$ Place Detect fruit $12420$ $12765$ $4395$ $4617$ $4845$ $5016$ $4845$ $4845$ $4902$ $4902$ Place Detect fruit $12420$ $12765$ $12765$ $9315$ $12765$ $10350$ $11730$ $11040$ $11385$ $1065$ Place Detect $7250$ $7750$ $6750$ $6750$ $6250$ $7000$ $6250$ $6000$ $6000$ $6000$ Detect $7250$ $7750$ $1776$ $1776$ $10750$ $11730$ $11040$ $11385$ $1065$ Place Detect $7250$ $7250$ $7250$ $6750$ $6750$ $6250$ $6000$ $6000$ $6000$ $6000$ Detect $1205113$ $1205103$ $12765$ $12765$ $12765$ $12765$ $12765$ $12765$ $1057$ $21377$ $21377$ $1040$ $1750$ $1750$ Detect $1205113$ $1205305$ $1225264$ $1216671$ $1232604$ $1216863$ $12972$ $12976$ $1194510$ $120535$ Poten $1205113$ $1205305$ $1225264$ $1216671$ $1232604$ $1216863$ $123775$ $120324$ $1194510$ $120355$ Poten $3337$ $3337$ $3337$	Timed vegetables	1225	1175	1225	1325	1450	1550	1475	1525	1825	04/1		2	
Curve fruit     2536     2790     2974     2790     2821     2.420     2991     2821     2.190     2891       Other fruit     (freah)     12255     14022     13731     12882     13737     13737     1396     14022     12490     1395       Other fruit     betted     fruit     fruit     4845     5016     14022     12426     1395       Abite     betted     fruit     12650     13757     12950     13767     13965     14022     12426       Abite     12420     12075     12765     9315     12075     12765     10350     11730     11040     11385       Dried     fruit     7250     6750     6750     6250     6200     6000     6000       Coore     pendar     1205113     120535     1225264     1750     1750     211662     123757     2103224     1194510     1205352       Abit     2100     1750     2106     1750     2106     2106     2105     2105       Dried     711     7110     1750     2106     2106     2106     2106       Dried     1000     1750     2106     1750     2100     1750     2100     1750	Clitrue fruit $2536$ $2790$ $2914$ $2790$ $2927$ $2042$ $2027$ $2190$ $2021$ $2014$ $2190$ $2021$ $2014$ $2190$ $2021$ $2014$ $2120$ $2021$ $2190$ $2021$ $2190$ $2021$ $2190$ $2021$ $2190$ $2021$ $2190$ $2021$ $2190$ $2021$ $2191$ $2021$ $2191$ $2021$ $2191$ $2021$ $2191$ $2021$ $2191$ $2021$ $2191$ $2021$ $2191$ $2021$ $2191$ $2021$ $2190$ $2021$ $2191$ $2021$ $2191$ $2021$ $2191$ $2021$ $2191$ $2021$ $2191$ $2021$ $2191$ $2021$ $2191$ $2021$ $4902$ <											0010	100	ç	
Other fruit (fresh)       12255       12255       14022       13737       12882       13452       13737       13965       14022       12426       1335         Timed or buttled fruit       161       4503       4509       4617       4845       4845       4902	Other fruit (freah)       12255       12255       14022       13737       12965       14722       12426       1335         Timed or bottled fruit       1216       4903       4617       4845       4845       4845       4902	Citrus fruits	2536	2790	2914	2790	2821	2542	2883	2697	2821	2/90	282	N	
Timed or bettled fruit     4161     4503     4589     4617     4845     4845     4845     4845     495     4902     4902       Pulses     12420     12075     12765     9315     12075     12765     1059     11730     11740     11385     1065       Pried fruit     7250     7250     7750     6750     6250     7750     1776     7000     6250     6000     6000     600     70     70     71     71	Timed or beitled fruit       4161       4503       4589       4617       4845       5016       4845       4845       4945       4945       4945       4945       4945       4902       <	Other fruit (fresh)	12255	14022	13737	12992	13452	13794	13737	13965	14022	12426	1335	£	
Philes     12420     12075     12765     9315     12075     12765     10350     11730     11040     11385     1069       Dried fruit     7250     7250     7250     6750     6250     7750     6250     6250     600     6000     6000     600     6000     6000     6000     600     6000     6000     600     600     6000     6000     6000     600     6000     6000     6000     6000     6000     600     6000     6000     600     600     6000     6000     600     6000     6000     600     600     600     600     750     750     750     2100     1750     1750     1750     2100     1750     1750     1750     2100     1750     1750     1750     1750     1750     1750     1750     1750     1750     1750     1750     1750     1750     1750     1750     1750     1750     1750     <	Puture       Puture       1275       1275       9315       12765       10350       11730       11040       11385       1069         Dried fruit       7250       7250       7250       6750       6250       6250       6250       6000       6000       6000       6000       6000       6000       6000       6000       6000       600       6000       6	Timmed or bottled fruit	4161	4503	4389	4617	4845	4845	5016	4845	4845	4902	490	N	
Dried fruit     1750     1750     1750     1750     1750     6000 </th <th>Dried fruit       7250       7250       7250       6750       6250       7750       7000       6250       6250       6000<th>Polane</th><th>12420</th><th>12075</th><th>12765</th><th>9315</th><th>12075</th><th>12765</th><th>10350</th><th>11730</th><th>11040</th><th>11 385</th><th>1069</th><th>Ś</th></th>	Dried fruit       7250       7250       7250       6750       6250       7750       7000       6250       6250       6000 <th>Polane</th> <th>12420</th> <th>12075</th> <th>12765</th> <th>9315</th> <th>12075</th> <th>12765</th> <th>10350</th> <th>11730</th> <th>11040</th> <th>11 385</th> <th>1069</th> <th>Ś</th>	Polane	12420	12075	12765	9315	12075	12765	10350	11730	11040	11 385	1069	Ś	
Cocce powder     2100     1750     2105     120552       Tobal     1205113     1205305     1225264     1216671     1232604     1216663     1215275     1203924     1194510     120552       Auto     2000     2000     2000     2000     2000     2000     2000     2010     2010     2010	Coccor       ponder       2100       1750       20552         (pully communition (g)       3302       3297       3357       3337       3317       3334       33298       3273       323       3237       3237       3237       3237       3231       3234       3298       3273       325       325       3257       3257       3257       3237       3237       3234       3298       3273       325       325       3257       3257       3257       3257       3257       3257       3257       3257       3257       3257       3257       3257       3257       3257       3257       3257       3257       3257       <	Deviad fruit	7250	7960	6750	6950	7750	0002	6250	6250	6000	6000	600	Q	
Coccor ponder       2100       1750       2100       1750       2100       2100       2100       2100       1750       175         Total       1205115       1205305       1225264       1216671       1232604       1216865       1215275       1203924       1194510       120355         Total       1205115       1205305       1225264       1216671       1232604       1216865       1213275       1203924       1194510       120355         Total       120       1205115       1205305       1225264       1216671       1232604       1216865       1213275       1203924       1194510       120355         Total       120       1205115       1205305       1225264       1216671       1232604       1216865       1213275       1203924       1194510       120355	Coccor         pondar         2100         1750         2100         1750         2100         1750         2100         1750         2100         1750         2100         1750         2100         1750         1750         2100         1750         1750         2100         1750         1750         1750         2100         1750         1750         1750         2100         1750         1750         1750         21355         1205954         12055564         1215664         1216662         1215665         1216662         1215666         1216667         1205555         120555         120555         1205555         1205555         1205555         1205555         1205555         1205555         1205555         1205555         1205555         1205555         1205555         1205555         1205555         1205555         1205555         12055555         12055555         120555555         120555555 <th></th> <th>0(21</th> <th></th> <th></th> <th>2020</th> <th></th> <th>2000</th> <th>25.70</th> <th>25.72</th> <th></th> <th></th> <th>5</th> <th>2</th>		0(21			2020		2000	25.70	25.72			5	2	
<b>Total</b> <b>12053</b> 05 1225264 1216671 1232604 1210622 1216863 1213275 1203924 1194510 12035 <b>1201 201 201</b> 2212 225264 1210622 1216863 1213275 120322 2018 2013 2014 2014 2014 2014 2014 2014 2014 2014	<b>Total</b> <b>Total</b> (a) 12054 1216671 1232604 1216863 1213275 1203924 1194510 12035 (a) 333 3377 3334 3324 3298 3273 32 (a) 322 329 3273 322	Cocce porter	2100	1750	2100	1750	1750	2100	1750	2100	2100	1750	17	õ	
<b>Total</b> <b>120541</b> 1205604 1216671 1232604 1216671 1232604 1216663 1213275 1203924 1194510 120352 <b>1211 2225</b> 04 120352 1203520 120352 1194510 120352	<b>Total</b> Total Total Communition (g) 7203 7302 72030 72030 7203 7333 7337 7317 7317 7334 7324 729 727 72 72 72 72					,									
<b>1-11</b>	Daily communition (g)         5302         5297         5357         5377         5377         5354         5298         5273         329	Total	1205113	1203305	1225264	1216671	1232604	1210622	1216863	1213275	1203924	0164611	1202021	0	
	2-2 21-2 2-2 1-2 1-2 1-2 1-2 1-2 1-2 1-2	fail- commution (=)	0.02.2	1002	7257	2222	7722	2217		1925	3298	2725	1297	~	

- 91 -

Table 14 - Per capits protein communition of selected agricultural products and foodstuffs in the United Kingdom (1978-1966 and 1977) (g.)

	1958	1959	1960	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1977
Wheat flour Fierd and rosted berley Gorn flakes Puffed Fre flour	8 949 65 146 146 85 20 24	8 824 65 1 38 1 78 85 20 20	8 869 65 122 170 170 20	8 573 57 122 162 150 26 26	8 504 57 122 178 128 20 20	8 356 65 122 227 21 22 22 22 24	8 219 57 115 194 111 13 24	8 299 49 113 211 20 24	7 991 41 105 219 219 21 21 22	7 843 41 105 227 98 26 16	7 809 41 105 235 235 20 20 16	7 182 41 65 292 111 20 16
Starch <u>Sumer</u> Oltecos	105 -	105	- -	105		122 -	122 -	122 -	11 1	122 -	154	154 - -
<b>Prof. And Treal</b> Muttor and lead Port Poulor and bee Poulor offals	3 849 1 256 1 256 1 454 574 547	3 447 1 422 925 1 483 688 549	529 1421 960 7537 753 580	<b>3</b> 619 <b>1</b> 431 961 552 691 612	5 724 1 395 1 057 1 057 1 590 879 633	3 793 1 310 1 067 1 528 875 637	3 451 1 318 1 549 943 654	3 193 1 271 1 26 <b>3</b> 1 587 99 <b>3</b> 6 <b>45</b>	3 259 1 288 1 208 1 509 648	3 476 1 302 1 118 1 153 659	3 290 1 281 1 150 1 531 1 238 673	<b>2 520</b> 975 1 444 1 397 1 873 644
Liquid whole milk Presh cream Sterilised timmed cream Condensed milk (whole, unswestened) Condensed milk (whole, restoned) Mondensed milk powder Stimmed milk powder	4 806. 11 11 476 473 728 728	4 841 13 165 165 44 208 392	4 869 15 158 453 425 425	4 904 164 164 392 203 260 360	4 928 20 180 40 216 407 407	4 946 23 164 295 295 295 295	4 970 171 171 412 203 475	4 942 29 187 187 36 211 211	4 939 1174 174 211 211 211 211	4 939 1916 1916 1916 1916 1916 1916 1916 1	4 893 191 191 252 425 425	4 848 64 195 29 114 475
<u>ice crees, rochcart, milk drinks</u> (milk shakes etc.) <u>Chocolate orumb</u> Cheese Shell egge Mag producte	26 196 1485 102	32 187 1 055 1 573	191 1123 1584 102	42 193 1145 1595 102	47 184 1551 102	1 173 1562 1552	1 200 1 500 1 53	58 185 150 102	65 229 1 188 1 595 153	65 214 1 220 1 606 153	71 20 <b>4</b> 1 260 1 628 153	88 175 1 200 1 628 153
Dettar Margasting Margastured edible fats Lard Other edible oils and fats Pish - total	37 - - - 1 637		¥ 1 1391	37 - - 1 355	37 - - - 1 487	36 	35 - - 1 496	36 1 1 1 1 1 481	37 - - - 1 384	36 	36 	26 
<u>Potatoes</u> <u>Fresh tomatoes</u> Other fresh vegetables Tinned vegetables	1 523 94 619 71	1 569 104 608 68	1 610 99 654 71	1 583 99 625 77	1 641 91 626 84	1 556 87 612 90	1 595 93 663 86	1 646 86 667 88	1 630 87 664 106	1 620 90 666 102	1 646 88 664 99	1 656 96 996 99
Citrus fruits Other fruit (fresh) Timed and bottled fruit Dried fruit Geoce powder	- 37 799 73 48	123 40 177 13	- 39 68 68 48	- 113 599 <b>63</b>	- 118 43 777 78 40	- 121 43 621 70 <b>4</b> 8	- 121 666 63	- 123 155 63 48	- 123 43 60 48	- 109 133 60 40	- 118 688 60	118 6 <b>8</b> 3 60 60
Total Daily communition (g)	31 742 87.0	31 659 86.7	31 996 87.7	31 710 86.9	32 343 88.6	32 055 87.8	31 944 87.5	31 833 87.2	31 586 86.5	31 677 86.8	31 731 86.9	<b>3</b> 1 041 <b>•5.0</b>

•

Table 15 - Per capits communition of selected agricultural products and foodstuffs in the United Kingdom (1958-1968 and 1977) (g.)

	1958	1959	1,200	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1977
Wheat flags	864	851	956	827	821	806	793	801	177	757	754	693
Pagel and reacted barley	24	24	24	21	21	24	21	18	15	15	15	15
Robel on the	4.	27	4 7	4	4 / 7 /	4 Ú	42	42	95 9	65	50	24
	40	60 0	01	09	00 1 z	64 10	24	0 0	01	40	10	100
	` <b>(</b>	<b>`</b> `	- ^	<b>.</b>	20	2 ~	<u>-</u>	iv	<u>s</u> ~	- 14		
Dre fler	1.92	e i	9	<u>م</u> . ب	9	16	. 6	16	9	9	9	9
	44	59	36	59	42	4Դ	45	45	42	45	57	57
	Ì	Ì	,	`,	1	2	) 1	1	1	1		
Glucome	i	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	1	ı	ı	ı
Peri sui mai	6 680	5 963	6 126	6 282	6 46 <b>4</b>	6 583	5 990	5 543	5 657	6 034	5 711	4 374
	2 940	3 328	325	3 350	3 264	3 066	3 086	2 976 . 200	3 014	3 047	2 998 - 201	2 283
	5 211	5 214 5 280	3 333 5 576	3 340 5 621	5 673 5 768	3 706 5 543	5 891 5 620	4 386 5 757	4 198 5 472	5 884	5 995 5 55 <b>4</b>	5 069 ה
	210	252	216	326	322	321	346	364	389	422	454	686
	332	333	352	571	364	787	397	392	394	400	409	391
Literic shole wilk	4 806	4 641	4 869	4 904	4 926	4 946	4 970	4 942	4 939	4 939	4 893	4 848
<u>Erroth torne</u> Start 1 ind 21 med crean	108 84	128	261	1/10	200	160	270 168	172	512 156	244 156	204 168	640 188
Condensed wilk (whele, warme tened)	96 I	179	171	178	191	177	185	203	189	207	207	212
Condenned milk (whole, suscenaed)	54	45	52	48	49	48	50	25	68	55	51	35
Contempod milk (mitumod, moetanad)	,	ł	ł	ł	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ł	1	ı
Whole silt permit	205	216	208	211	224	203	211	219	219	208	162	119
Stimped wilk poster	6	-	12	2 9	1	12	t 5 (	10	12	<b>1</b> 0	12	<b>6</b>
<u>ice cream, rechaurt, milk drimin</u> s (milk shakes etc.)	5 5	32	2. 2. 2.	42	47	54	62	58 101	65 220	65		88 175
	1 395 1 395	18/	191 1 383	061 F	1 454	181 745	1 178	1 117	222 1 463	214 1 503	1 552	1 478
											1 520	1 520
Jac stockets	<b>1</b> 1000 1000	120	- 470 60	90 90	- 400 80	120	120	80	120	120	120	120
	7 An	900	6 BRD	7 240	7 380	7 140	000	7 170	1 340	7 270	7 170	5 100
	4 970	5 370	540	4 820	4 750	4 820	4 820	4 350	4 390	4 250	4 100	5 400
Hemilistrand edible fate	2 650	2 580	2 580	2 650	2 640	2 870	3 060	2 540	2 510	2 470	2 380	2 000
uters Other others and fate	2 340 4 450	3 000 4 350	3 070 4 350	2 880 4 940	2 850 4 990	2 910 5 080	5 170 5 030	2 810 5 220	5 440	5 150 5 170	5 260 6 210	3 300 6 700
Pish - total	686 1	646	754	735	807	731	812	80 <b>4</b>	751	763	804	980
Potatone	06	32	95	93	16	92	94	16	96	95	76	76
Treeh temtes	20	22	20	20	19	18	19	18	18	19	18	50
Uting: Iftend westerline	126	126	135	129	130	127	137	138 18	137	138 21	137	137
	<u>.</u>	4	0	0		-	0	0	77	J	2 J	3
Citrue fruits	- 42		-	ר ר ר	-	- 18	- 18	- 49	-	- 44	-	-
Uther ITHIT (LITHER) Timmed and bettled fruit	€ €	16	<del>1</del> 5	÷+		17	18	17	17	17	17	17
Pulaes	91	74	76	27	74	78	63	11	67	69	<u>65</u>	65
Dried fruit	38	36	35	33	40	36	33	33	31	31	31	51
Goos poster	150	125	150	125	125	150	125	150	150	125	125	125
Total	51 593	51 797	52 315	53 111	53 844	53 822	54 037	53 013	53 498	53 135	53 916	52 230
<b>T t t t t t t t t t t</b>	141.4	141.4	143.3	145.5	147.5	147.5	146.0	145.2	146.6	145.6	147.7	143.1
(2) mindensoo Arter	r		· · / F ·			·			•	<u>`</u>	:	

- 93 -

should be added that although forecast have been worked out for individual sub-headings in II, 3, the estimates for these cannot be considered representative of all the other products of the group in question. Therefore, we have to assume instead that the consumption of the products under these three headings will remain constant between 1968 and 1977.

In interpreting the estimates of the calorie and fat content of food one should bear in mind that, although in the first half of the reference period the daily calorie and fat consumption per head of population moved steadily upwards (1958/60 to 1962/64: + 0.7 % (calories) and +3.9 % (fat), subsequently the average daily calorie (fat) intake per head of population fell significantly (between 1962/64 and 1966/68 by 1.6 % (calories) and by 0.7 % (fat)). This tendency towards a lower-calorie and lower-fat for health reasons is likely to spread in future. To that extent, the estimates resulting from the forecasts of demand show that a fall in the daily per capita consumption of calories and fat of 3.0 % and 2.4 % respectively between 1966/68 and 1977 is nothing more than a slightly intensified continuation of the trend which has been noticeable since the middle of the sixties. They can be considered wholly realistic forecasts, particularly if one bears in mind that the assumption of a constant level of consumption as regards those groups of products not covered by the demand forecasts results in a slight systematic underestimation of the daily calorie and fat consumption per head of population (see above for details). The average daily per capita consumption of protein reached its highest point in the years 1961/63; up to 1966/68 it fell again by 1.3 %. The reason for this was a considerable decrease in the consumption of protein, above all in the form of cereal products, accompanied by a practically stationary consumption of animal protein. On the basis of the demand forecasts there will be a further 2 % decrease in the daily per capita consumption of protein between 1966/68 and 1977. As was already established for the reference period, it is to be assumed that with a growing income level there will be a long-term tendency as regards total protein consumption towards the substitution of high-grade animal protein for vegetable protein. Precisely this result emerges from Table 14 as regards the

- 94 -

forecast period also. The proportion of animal protein in the total consumption of protein would increase accordingly from 62.2% (1966/68) to 63.5% in 1977.

In conclusion, the mutritional test can be said by and large to have produced fairly plausible results; a revision of the demand projections in line with results of the nutritional test does not, therefore, seem necessary.

# III. Analysis of the supply of agricultural products

## 1. General introduction

If here we take the considerable trouble to construct econometric models in order to explain the supply of agricultural products in the United Kingdom, we do so for three reasons:

- to gather information about how UK farmers have responded in the past to price changes;
- to analyse the degreee of competition existing between the most important sectors of agriculture in the United Kingdom;
- to differentiate between the influences of economic factors (prices, costs, subsidies not dependent on sales, etc.) and the effects of non-economic factors (weather, soil characteristics etc).

The results obtained from the models constructed below are naturally dependent in many respects on the conditions obtaining during the reference period, primarily the validity of the deficiency payments system. Use of these models for forecasting purposes must, therefore, in every case be preceded by a critical appraisal criticism of each individual equation of behaviour, having regard to whether and to what extent the relevant equation could be applicable even after adoption by the United Kingdom of the Community's agricultural policy and also to what extent it must be modified to meet the new conditions. In our opinion, this is most likely to permit as rational a forecast of supply as possible to be made (i.e. an economico-causal and feasible forecast). The alternative would be trend extrapolations and related procedures along with speculative considerations, and, given the hypothesis of a change in the agricultural system, this would, in our view, greatly increase the danger of more or less inconsistent estimates.

# 2. <u>Construction of the models and general formulation of the equations</u> of behaviour featuring in the models

# a. Cereals

In the case of crops the farmers react to price changes and to other economic factors almost exclusively by varying the area under cultivation. In contrast to this the long-term trend in yields per unit area is determined primarily by technical progress, which, with a more or less considerable time-lag, permeates agriculture in an extremely autonomous fashion. In the short term, i.e. from one year to the next, yields per unit area are determined by weather conditions. In forecasting yields per unit area we can accordingly limit ourselves to trend extrapolations or simple assumptions whereby normal weather conditions are presumed to obtain.

By far the bulk of land in the United Kingdom given over to the cultivation of cereals is devoted to wheat and barley. Whereas, for climatic reasons and because of soil fertility, the opportunities for growing wheat in the United Kingdom are rather limited, barley growing is economically viable in almost all regions of the British Isles (if one discounts some areas in Wales and in the West and North of Scotland). Following the abolition of food rationing, when the British Government was concentrating on improving domestic supplies of feed grains, it was necessary firstly to promote the growing of barley. In order to obtain a rapid extension of barley growing the guaranteed price for barley was at first set higher than that for wheat. Furthermore, farmers could claim deficiency payments for feed barley grown and used on their own farms, something which was not possible in the case of wheat. The farmers reacted to this by doubling the area under barley in the relatively short period from 1957 to 1965; the cultivation of wheat followed a declining trend until 1964. To the extent that the "barley boom" consolidated, the wheat price again was raised to the level of the barley price. The domestic production of barley rose so much in the meantime that in the years 1965-67 considerable surpluses appeared. Consequently, the Government again set the wheat price considerably higher than the barley price and this promptly put an end to the barley boom and led to an increase in the area under wheat.

We have here dwelt on the past trend only because it gives a clear indication that the price ratio (wheat : barley) exerts great influence on the size of the areas under wheat and barley. As for production costs, it can be assumed that wheat differs only marginally from barley; this is related inter alia to the use of almost identical techniques of sowing, harvesting and storage and of similar amounts of fertilizers as well as almost the same labour input for both types of grain. To that extent a simple comparison of actual producer prices (market price obtained plus guaranteed payments) to show the "relative competitiveness" of wheat as against barley should (from the farmer's point of view) suffice. In the United Kingdom wheat is sown almost exclusively as winter wheat, whereas in the case of spring barley predominates. When spring barley is sown, the farmer has as a rule marketed all or at least the greater part of the grain from the previous year's harvest and he knows the prices he received for it from the dealer. He should by this time also have a reasonably accurate idea of the size of the deficiency payments he can expect. Accordinly it could be supposed that the decision on the size of the area sown with spring barley, irrespective of the weather conditions obtaining at the time of sowing, is, to a considerable extent, dependent on the market prices obtained and the expected deficiency payments for wheat and barley from the previous havest. The prices expected for the coming harvest can, in our opinion, be best represented by the average producer price subsequently calculated by the Home-Grown Cereals Authority or, as the case may be, by the Ministry of Agriculture on the basis of the data given in the farmers' claims according to the Cereals Deficiency Payments Scheme and by the guarantee payments actually made; this price is shown in the statistical appendix of the Annual Review<sup>1</sup>.

In the case of winter wheat not only the prices for harvest (t-1) but also those for harvest (t-2) should play an important part when deciding on the size of the area to be cultivated because when winter wheat is sown the previous

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Secretary of State for the Home Department, Secretary of State for Scotland, Secretary of State for Wales and the Minister of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food, Annual Review and Determination of Guarantees, London, H.M.S.O., various issues.

harvest of wheat and barley has been completed only a month (wheat) or a month and a half (barley) previously, and because the volume of this harvest (t-1) sold by then often make up only a small part of the total grain from that harvest intended for marketing.

Price expectations for the coming harvest could in the case of barley be influenced also by the announcement of the guaranteed prices for the next crop year in the Annual Review immediately before the sowing of spring barley. This would imply that the area to be devoted to the cultivation of spring barley in period (t), could, to some extent, also be dependent on the guaranteed prices for wheat and barley in the same period. Against this, if the individual farmer knows what the guaranteed prices will be, this means merely that any suppositions he may wish to make regarding his own producer price for the coming harvest will still be subject to a considerably wide margin of error. The reason for this is that the level of the guarantee payment does not reflect the difference between the guaranteed price and the market price obtained by the individual farmer, but merely the difference between the average market price received by all farmers for all sales and the guaranteed price (i.e. in spite of different market prices all farmers receive, for example, the same deficiency payment per unit of weight for barley of the same quality with the same delivery date). Thus the individual farmer can reckon on a total producer price that is considerably higher (lower) than the guaranteed price should the market price received by him be above (below) the average market price. Apart from that, the simultaneous introduction of the guaranteed price in period (t) and of the average total producer price in period (t-1) into the equation for the determination of the area to be devoted to the cultivation of barley would, for statistical reasons, cause serious problems as regards the preparation of estimates because both prices are, as a rule, closely correlated with each other. Moreover, in determining the area to be given over to wheat such a procedure would not be justified, since when winter wheat is sown the guaranteed prices for the coming harvest are not yet known. When analysing cultivated areas we shall, therefore, limit curselves from the start to the average total producer prices in periods t-1, t-2, t-3 etc.

By the introduction of a time variable in the equation for determining the area under wheat and also in that for barley account is to be taken of the fact that, with regard to soil characteristics and climate, the opportunities of increasing wheat growing are much more limited than those for barley. Moreover, the time variables should also pick up the effects on the long-term trend in barley and wheat cultivation of the continuing preferential position of barley over wheat as regards the deficiency payments (the fact that deficiency payments may be claimed in respect of barley used on the farm of origin can be regarded, as far as the time element is concerned, as a permanent stimulus to extend the barley acreage at the expense of wheat).

Consideration of the influence of weather on the areas under wheat and barley is based on a British study which set itself the target of forecasting the supply of agricultural products in 1975 on the assumption, however, which facilitated its task, that the United Kingdom did not adopt the EEC agricultural policy. The authors of this study assume that given continual wet weather the acrual area sown with winter wheat may be less than the sowing area planned in the light of price expectations and of considerations relating to crop rotation. In such a case many farmers would the following spring devote the area reluctantly not sown with winter wheat to spring barley<sup>2</sup>. This would involve introducing a dummy variable giving the degree of moisture in the soil when winter wheat is sown into both the equation for determining the area to be devoted to wheat and that for determining the area to be devoted to barley. In the above report it was possible when constructing these weather variables to refer back directly to regional reports on sowing conditions. As such information is not at our disposal, we shall make do with the quotient (amount of precipitation: average hours of sunshine per day), which, in principle, corresponds to the so-called coefficient of evaporation of Lang and

A.M.M. McFarguhar, S. Mitter, G.B. Aneuryn Evans, A Computable Model for Projecting U.K. Food and Agriculture, in: Europe's Future Food and Agriculture, ASEPELT, North-Holland Publishing Company, Amsterdam, London, 1971, p. 392 et seq.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Idem, p. 431 et seq.

De Martonne - with the sole difference that Lang and De Martonne use the degree of temperature instead of the hours of sunshine<sup>1</sup>.

According to the above considerations, we obtain (assuming a doublelogarithmic type of equation in which the respective elasticities are given directly by the partial regression coefficients) the two following equations for determining the areas under wheat and barley:

(65) 
$$\log A^{W} = a_{0} + a_{1} \log \left[ \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=1}^{2} (\frac{P(w)}{P(b)} \cdot 10)_{-j} \right] + a_{2}Q_{1} (\frac{R}{S}) + a_{3}t + u_{1}$$

where:

A<sup>W</sup> : area under wheat in June ('000 ha)
P(w) or P(b) : average total producer price (market price plus guaranteed payments for wheat or barley respectively (±/100 kg)
Q<sub>1</sub>(<sup>R</sup>/<sub>S</sub>) : quotient <u>f</u> amount of precipitation (mm)/sunshine (hours per

day) \_7 in England and Wales in October of the preceding year.

(66) 
$$\log A^{b} = b_{0} + b_{1} \log \left(\frac{P(w)}{P(b)} \cdot 10\right)_{-1} + b_{2} Q_{1} \left(\frac{R}{S}\right) + b_{3} + u_{2}$$

where:

A<sup>b</sup> : area under barley in June ('000 ha).

The area under oats contracted considerably until 1966; since then it has stabilized at about 380 000 ha. The areas released in this way were devoted almost exclusively to the cultivation of barley. This development cannot be explained by the price ratio (oats : barley). The decline in oat cultivation is due above all to a considerable reduction in the stock of horses, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> <u>A.M.M. McFarguhar</u>, <u>S. Mitter</u>, <u>G.B. Aneuryn Evans</u>, op. cit., p. 422 et seq.

substantially longer ripening period compared with barley and the fact that, owing to the high percentage of spelt in the grain, oats are not quite so suitable as barley or wheat as a raw material for the compound feedingstuffs industry. The fact that the area under oats has remained almost constant in recent years could have been caused by the circumstance that the cultivation of oats has been largely restricted to those regions of the United Kingdom in which poor soil quality and very high precipitation make the cultivation of other types of cereals seem uneconomic (in particular, some hill and mountainous regions of Wales, the West and North of Scotland and Northern Ireland should here be mentioned). As it is to be expected that the area under wheat and barley will be extended under EEC conditions, one may assume that the area under oats will still decrease marginally in the future too.

### b. Sugar beet

In order to carry out their obligations under the Commonwealth Sugar Agreement, the UK Government set acreage quotas for sugar beet, whereby a fixed area for cultivation is allocated to each farmer. The British Sugar Corporation, which is responsible for marketing the domestic beet crop. is obliged to take all the beet harvested from this area from the farmer at the guaranteed price. The contract area offered by the British Sugar Corporation has, as a rule, used up by the farmers. The contract area has, particularly in recent years, been exceeded but always to a small degree. This is because the British Sugar Corporation can at any time refuse to buy beet not harvested in the contract area. Under these circumstances it would make no sense to try to measure the effect of the guaranteed price for sugar beet on the area under sugar beet. Moreover, this appears unnecessary because during the negotiations on the entry of the United Kingdom into the EEC a sugar beet production equivalent to 900 000 t of white sugar was accorded to UK farmers (sugar production quota). The problem is thus reduced to a forecast of the beet crop per hectare and the amount of sugar extracted. If these are known, then, given the production of sugar, the area under cultivation can be fixed.

- 10 2 -

### c. Potatoes

The most important aim of the regulation of the British potato market is to reconcile, as far as possible, supply of maincrop ware potatoes with demand. For this purpose, restrictions which are not as stringent as in the case of sugar beet were also applied to the area under potatoes. Each year, at the beginning of the planting season, the British Potato Marketing Board fixes the so-called "target acreage" by means of which it is believed that, given normal yield per unit area, the quantity of potatoes harvested from this area (less the demand for early, seed and feed potatoes) will roughly correspond to the domestic consumption of maincrop ware potatoes. As the domestic consumption of maincrop ware potatoes, to increase rapidly, the "target acreage" had to be reduced considerably.

Each farmer engaging in the commercial cultivation of potatoes is allocated by the Potato Marketing Board what is known as a "basic acreage" which depends essentially on the area under potatoes cultivated by this farmer in the long term. Once this basic acreage has been allocated, it may remain unchanged for years. In order to ensure adaptation to the "target acreage" at national level the Potato Marketing Board merely adjusts from year to year the maximum percentage of the "basic acreage" which may be put under potatoes by the farmer in question. The farmer is, however, not in every case bound by the resulting individual acreage quota. He may even exceed it and thereby pay an agreed fine the amount of which increases in proportion to the amount by which he exceeds his acreage quota.

Yields per unit area, which fluctuate widely from one year to the next due to the influence of the weather, caused considerable variations in producer prices owing to a fairly price-inealstic demand for ware potatoes at the wholesale and retail stages prices. All further efforts by the Potatoe Marketing Board - mainly support buying - to stabilize the market affected the situation only slightly. Potato producers reacted to these price changes in such a fashion that in many years the "target acreage" was considerably exceeded but in others largely underutilized. If account is taken of the long-term downward trend in the "target acreage" by means of a time variable, and of the weather conditions during the planting season by means of a special dummy variable, then in the light of the potato price a short-term elasticity of the actual area under potatoes at least ought to be able to be estimated:

(67) 
$$\log A^{mp} = c_0 + c_1 \log (P(mp))_{-1} + c_2 Q_2 (\frac{Q}{S}) + c_3 MAT + c_4 t + u_3$$

where:

A<sup>mp</sup> : area under maincrop potatoes in June ('000 ha)

- P(mp) : average producer price of Potato Marketing Board for maincrop ware potatoes (1/100 kg)
- $Q_2(\frac{R}{S})$ : quotient  $\int$  precipitation (mm): sunshine (hours per day)  $\int$  in the United Kingdom in April (weighting: England and Wales 0.75, Scotland 0.15, Northern Ireland 0.10)

MAT : average daily air temperature at sea level in the United Kingdom in April (weighting: see above).

### d. Cattle

An econometric model which at the same time will enable milk and beef production to be determined will be constructed below. Some basic factors for this model come from the British study<sup>1</sup> mentioned above, which set itself a similar task. For a number of reasons, of which only the three most important are to be given here, it does not seem appropriate for us to adopt the British authors' model:

1. No distinction between beef and dairy cows is made. The net inflow into the total cow population, which results from the utilization of the supply of female calves fit for rearing, is regarded as a function of the milk price only; this may be true as far as dairy farmers are concerned, but,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See <u>A.M.M. McFarquhar</u>, <u>S. Mitter</u>, <u>G.B. Aneuryn Evans</u>, op. cit., p. 440 et seq.

as regards the corresponding decisions made by the owner of beef cows the milk price is of no importance. This is to be seen in the light of the fact that the expansion of the total cow population in the years after 1962 was accounted for almost exclusively by beef cows.

- 2. The prices of beef and milk are the only exogenous variables in the British model. The interrelationship, for example, between cattle and sheep raisong or pig production are not taken into consideration.
- 3. The main aim of the British model is to ascertain the short-term, i.e. cyclical, changes in beef and milk production and their causes. Therefore, the annual inflow into and the outflow from the breeding herd, for example, or the rearing of male and female calves for a given level of the breeding herd, are explained. Our main concern, however, is to draw up a long-term forecast of beef and milk production and to to this we may limit ourselves to a direct explanation of dairy and beef cow mumbers and of calf slaughterings since these are by far the most important factors determining beef and milk supply in the long term, whereas with the other factors (size of the calf crop for a given cow population, turnover rate of the cow population). We may confine ourselves to simple assumptions. Therefore, in interpreting the individual steps in the construction of our model it should always be borne in mind that our aim is not a complex short-term model for the cattle economy but merely a long-term model of beef and milk production.

Determination of the stock of dairy and beef cows is the starting point for our model. Dairy cow numbers could first be considerably influenced by the price ratio (beef : milk). Here one must differentiate between two matters:

1. In the short term, i.e. from one year to the next, the price ratio (beef : milk) should be of decisive importance for the utilization of the available supply of female calves. If beef prices develop favourably (unfavourably) compared with the milk price, then more (fewer) female calves will be diverted to fattening and thus undermine (assist) the inflow into the stock of dairy cows.

- 105 -

2. In the long term a favourable and long-lasting increase in the price of beef compared with that of milk may cause many farmers to cease dairy farming altogether and to revert to keeping beef cattle. In addition, the available labour forece at the farm will presumably often influence such a decision (lavour input per dairy cow is on average considerably higher than that per beef cow).

Particularly in Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland, but also in many parts of England there ought often, in view of the two production factors "pasture land" and "labour force", be very close competition between dairying and sheep-raising (principally breeding ewes). Account could be taken of this by the introduction of the price ratio (milk : lamb) in the equation for dairy cows. The price ratio (milk : wool) ought, however, to be of only little minor importance in this connection, because after the Second World War the significance of the returns from wool sales compared with the returns from sales of store lambs and cull ewes was much reduced for the sheep breeder. Dairying might also in part be in competition with pig production (predominantly litter production). In Eastern England some competition is conceivable with cereal growing (wheat and barley as "cash crops"). A simple comparison of producer prices could produce no meaningful results in all cases in which in the long term there are significant differences in productivity gains between two products. This should be true principally in the case of milk, beef and lamb on the one hand and cereals on the other. One must assume that in the long term (1950-71) average productivity in cereal growing rose considerably faster than in pasture farming in general. Given sufficiently long periods of observation, the productivity differences may ideally be seen as the difference between two exponential time trends, so that, within the framework of a doublelogarithmic function they can be represented simply by a linear time variable. In this way we arrive at the following equation for the dairy cow population:

(66) 
$$\log DC = d_0 + d_1 \log \left(\frac{P(bf)}{P(m)} \cdot 10\right)_{-j} + d_2 \log \left(\frac{P(s)}{P(m)} \cdot 10\right)_{-j} + d_3 \log \left(\frac{P(p)}{P(m)} \cdot 10\right)_{-j} + d_4 \log \left(\frac{P(m)}{P(w)} \cdot 10\right)_{-j} + d_5 t + u_4$$

where:

- P(bf) and P(s): average total producer price (market price obtained plus guarantee payments) for fat cattle and for fat hoggets and lambs respectively (L/100 kg live weight) ?(m) : average pool price of all milk sales for liquid consumption and for manufacture effected through the Milk Marketing Boards (L/kg, natural fat content, free to dairy)
- P(p) : average total producer price (market price obtained including guarantee payments) for pigs (bacon and pork pigs, but excluding sows and boars) (1/100 kg live weight)

DC : number of dairy cows in June ('000).

Unlike in the case of vegetable products, we can make only some conjectures on the lag j in equation (68). Thus, for example, the decision whether a female calf born in the spring 1968 should be used as a replacement in the dairy cow stock or sold for fattening (or put to fattening by its first owner) ought to depend essentially on the milk and beef prices recorded in the 1967/68 farm year (april-march) just running out, and also on the prices recorded in the 1966/67 farm year. If it is decided to use as a replacement in the stock of dairy cows, the heifer will presumably be serviced by a bull in the late summer or in the autumn of 1969 and appear for the first time in June 1970 as a dairy cow in stock statistics. If the farmer himself rears the female calves destined for fattening to the store heifer stage or if he fattens the animal until it reaches a marketable condition, then it is theoretically possible, in the event of a favourable development in milk prices compared with beef prices, to use heifers actually intended for fattening as replacements in the dairy cow herd. Fairly rapid adaptation to changes in the price ratio (milk : beef) would thus be possible (in this case, j could have the value (-1) or (-2)). As the majority of farms keeping dairy cows sell their surplus female calves immediately after birth this possibility is open to only a minority of milk producers. This limitation does not, however, apply should the reverse situation obtain: when beef prices are more attractive than milk prices, heifers originally intended as dairy cow replacements may at any time be sold as store heifers or put to fattening by their owners.

A large part of the calves made available for fattening by dairy farms, however, does not originate from pure dairy breeds, as has been implicitly assumed in the preceding discussion, but from crossing a dairy cow with a beef bull. Female calves resulting from such a cross are suitable as dairy cow replacements only on certain conditions. In this case the period between the decision on the number of future replacements for the dairy cow stock and the actual inflow is lengthened by the period of pregnancy (about nine months) of dairy cows (the decision on future dairy cow replacements must be made before the dairy cows are serviced not after the birth of the calves), so that j must be reckoned to have a value of at least (-4).

In so far as the price ratio (milk : beef) influences not only the exploitation of the supply of female calves but also the decision as to whether dairying should be given up in favour of beef cows, quite high values for j ought similarly to be expected, since the planning and implementation of a decision having such wide implications will certainly take up a considerable amount of time.

Accordingly, the value of lag j in equation (68) would lie between (-2) and (-4).

Presumably the most important factor determining beef cow numers is the price ratio (beef : lamb). Hill farms in Wales and Scotland, in particular, frequently have only two production possibilities: breeding ewes for the production of stor lambs and wool, or rearing resistant breeds of beef cattle in order to obtain store cattle for selling. The fact that beef and lamb prices play a central role

in the decisions of these farms requires no special explanation. The price ratio (beef : milk) is of relevance for beef cow numbers only in so far as it has probably served many farmers as an important criterion for deciding whether they should give up dairying altogether and revert to keeping beef cattle (the opposite may happen only in exceptional cases). The price ratio (beef : milk) is, however, irrelevant as regards exploitation of the supply of female calves on a beef cattle holding. The UK Government has attempted from time to time to influence beef cow numbers by increasing the "hill cow subsidy". In addition, a strong incentive to raise the number of beef cattle was introduced in 1966 in the shape of the "beef cow subsidy" as a result of which not only hill farmers but practically all beef-cattle farmers became entitled to production subsidies. To take this into account a special dummy variable was constructed in which the "hill cow subsidy" and the "beef cow subsidy" are expressed as a single sum per cow. In doing so it was assumed that the two subsidies would affect beef-cattle raising not permanently but merely according to the "echo principle": as long as the total amount of both subsidies granted in respect of each cow remains constant a nil value is given the dummy variable. If that amount rises in a given farm year by say 40 %, the dummy variable is given a value of +0.4 for that year, +0.2 for the following year, and +0.1 for the year after that; thereafter the value of the dummy variable is nil until the subsidies are again increased. This mechanism has inter alia the advantage that, if these subsidies are abolished, which under the EEC regulations is highly likely, the dummy variable can be given a negative value (-1.0 according to the above example).

The equation for the determination of beef cow numbers would thus be the following:

(69) 
$$\log BC = \mathbf{e}_0 + \mathbf{e}_1 \log \left(\frac{P(bf)}{P(m)} \cdot 10\right)_{-k} + \mathbf{e}_2 \log \left(\frac{P(bf)}{P(s)} \cdot 10\right)_{-k} + \mathbf{e}_3 D_{-k}^{bc} + u_5$$

where: D<sup>bC</sup> : Dummy variable for the "hill and beef cow subsidies" (cf. text for details) BC : beef cow numbers in June ('000).

In principle, the same considerations as those already set out for j in equation (68) apply to lag k in equation (69). As a rule, in the beef-cow sector the final decision on the use of female calves suitable for rearing ought to be taken immediately after birth. This would give k a value of (-3). In exceptional cases the decision can be taken at a later stage, up to the time of them being sold as store heifers (k: -2). It must, however, be borne in mind that experience has shown that often a fairly long period of time elapses before higher total producer prices for fat cattle or fat sheep and lambs are observed on the markets for store animals (suppliers of store animals participate only indirectly in the guarantee payments granted for the end product)<sup>1</sup>. This could result in k having a vlue of (-4) or even (-5).

The total number of cows is given as the total number of dairy and beef cows:

(70) TC = DC + BC

#### where:

TC : total cow numbers in June ('000).

The total number of calves available in a given cow population is determined by the calving rate. Table 17 gives details of the method used for estimating the calving rate during the period under review. Calving rate depends on numerous factors (e.g. the age and breed structure of the cow stock, the quality of feed and maintenance, veterinary attention) among which economic factors, however, hardly appear at all. As regards the calving rate, each farmer seems rather to strive for a "conditioned maximum" adapted to the particular situation on his farm. Under these circumstances, a simple assumption on the level of the calving rate is adequate for the forecast. As Table 17 shows, the calving rate varied in the United Kingdom during the reference pe

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Cf. inter alia <u>J. Cherrington</u>, Farmers confident about EEC entry, in the "Financial Times", London, of 8th November 1971.

Table 16 - Cattle mumbers ('000 000)<sup>2</sup> an d slaughterings of cattle and calves ('000) in the United Kingdom (1959-71)

	1958	1959	1960	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
ome nuik	10 961 2599 1599 1599 1547 1727 1118 1118	11 7455 2 5559 1 7456 1 7455 1 1 7455 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	11 779 2 671 2 671 2 671 1 779 685 1 055 1 138 1 138 1 138	11 944 756 697 1 092 1 092 1 141 1 141 1 30	11 869 2 8950 152 8950 1530 1130 1137 1137 1137 1137 1137 1137 11	11 728 7 867 2 787 2 787 1 145 1 147 1 147 1 146 1 146 98 98	11 675 2 889 1 125 1 125 1 149 1 149 1 149 1 149 1 149 1 149	11 948 2 755 2 755 2 755 1 621 1 621 1 885 1 79 93 93	12 211 2 7768 2 779 2 7768 1 768 1 768 1 768 1 768 1 483 1 4	12 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	12 156 2 920 411 1 291 1 291 2 292 2 320 2 32 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3	12 377 3 940 3 940 2 945 2 940 4 19 666 1 371 1 776 1 571 1 776 1 56	12 580 3 939 4 835 1 471 1 111 1 111 1 111 1 111 1 111 1 111	555 551 888 875 875 875 855 855 855 855 855 855
2 years and over 1 year and under 2 under 1 year	1 <b>351</b> 2 289 2 556	1 317 2 461 2 735	1 314 2 675 2 836	1 329 2 744	1 196 2 621 2 869	1 0 <del>95</del> 2 598 2 923	1 048 2 526 3 038	978 2 524 3 383	957 2 692 3 447	1 003 2 714 3 361	923 2581 3 351	879 2 623 3 474	3 565 3 565	871 2 749 3 672
оf 16-та 16-та 16-та	2 195 756 712	2 006 636 629	2 314 696 860	2 712 624 921	2 627 768 869	2 764 780 703	2 677 684 491	2 599 588 387	2 706 648 508	2 937 648 614	2 808 720 477	2 628 1756 1420	2 895 752 756	2 888 813 257

June of the year in question.

Source: Central Statistical Office, Annual Abstract of Statistics, London, various issues. Cantral Statistical Office, Monthly Digest of Statistics, London, various issues. Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food, Department of Agriculture and Fisheries for Scotland, Ministry of Agriculture, Morthern Ireland, Agricultural Statistics, London, various issues. Commonwealth Secretariat, Nest and Dairy Produce Bulleting, London, various issues. Onn calculations and estimates.

- 511

Table 17 - Analysis of the structure of the cattle stock in the United Kingdom (1958-71) ('000)

	1958	1959	1960	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971	
Estimate of the calving rate: 1. Simughterings of sters and heifers, cons and bulls -															
9 of periods (141) and (142)	2 826 712	3 173 629	r, 366 860	3 470 921	3 <del>1</del> 53 869	3 274 703	3 271 491	3 470 387	3 557 508	3 456 614	3 536	3 694 420	356	257	
<pre>ø of perieds (t+1) and (t+2)</pre>	601	320	45	- 108	- 117	110	288	198	- 28	17	212	229			
<pre>ø of periods (t+1) and (t+2)</pre>	126 642 4 655	81 474 4 682	124 508 4 845	155 691 4 991	146 567 5 080	2 <b>3</b> 8 63 <b>9</b> 5 014	315 706 4 932	248 511 4 970	226 567 5 022	220 649 5 174	182 620 5 211	178 554 5 311	525 5410	620 5 449	
<pre>【[1.+2.+3.+45.] : (6.) ' 100</pre>	73.7	729.6 3 729	80.2 3 887	75.1 747 E	74.5 3 784	73.5 3 686	74.2 3 659	76.3 3 792	73.6 3 696	70.7 3 658	72.7 3 787	74.7 3 967			
<ul> <li>Comparison of the calf crop with the stock of calves:</li> <li>Batimated calf crop minus slaughterings and exports of calves (a mumber of calves retained for rearing)</li> <li>Number of catle under 1 year (in June)</li> <li>Difference (910.)</li> </ul>	2 579 2 556	3 068 2 775 333	3 005 2 836 169	2 772 2772 27	2 884 15 15	2 951 2 923 28	5 15 889 89	5 748 1845 1855 1955	3 164 3 1447 - 283	2 987 3 361 - 374	- 351 - 351 84	3 228 3 474 246	3 563	3 672	• 1
<ol> <li>Inflow into and outflow from the total cow population:</li> <li>Total change in cow mumbers (net inflow or net outflow)</li></ol>	- 70	27 818	163 822	146 827	ରୁ <u>ଜ</u> ି	- 66	- 82 798	38 760	52 749	152 815	37 827	100 822	8,8	£ 6	12 .
4. Outflow from cow stock due to cow slaughterings <sup>8</sup> 5. Difference (1314.) (exports of slaughter cows)	745	625 166	- 26	613 68	758 - 45	770 38	675 205	579 143	6 <u>3</u> 9 58	639 24	117 197	747	- 19	- 13	
.6. Export of slaughter comm: 1969-71, actual values; 1958-1968, average exports estimated on bais of 15.	54	54	54	54	54	54	54	54	54	54	54	59	63	28	
17. Export of slaughter cows: 1969-71, sotual values; 1958-1968, exports estimated on basis of 14. and 16. 08. Total outflow from cow stock (14.417.)	51 796 17.1	36 661 14.1	16 701 14.5	31 644 12.9	31 789 15.5	806 16.1	96 771 15.6	116 695 14.0	76 715 14.2	81 720 13.9	24 735 14.1	59 806 15.2	63 846 15.6	28 832 15.3	
. Inflow into and outflow from the population of bulls for a 20. Changes in stock of bulls for service	<b>rvice</b> - 4 11 7	0	111	- 11 1 10	י עס <i>ע</i>	י הקי	۲ ۱	00 II	000	192	N ک م ا	000	100	wod	
Consistency test for calf utilisation 3. Demestic slaughterings of fat ostile, minus imports of live cattle <sup>0</sup> , plus exports of store and fat cattle ( $\equiv$ number of indigenous fat cattle of all kinds actually sold for the home market and one cattle									<u></u>					nen vältan och ällat och 1988 sälla	
	1 614	1 565	1 827	2 146	2 116	2 221	2 130	2 240	2 212	2 426	2 282	2 169	2 509	2 347	

Table 17 ( critinued)

	1958	1959	1960	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
24. Calves retained at home for rearing (9.), less gross inflow into cow stock (13.) and into buil stock of buils for service (22.) (= mumber of indigenous fat cattle of all kinde <sup>d</sup> available for the demestic market and for export)	1 907	2 239	2 173	1 958	2 077	2 204	2 323	2 577	2 406	2 165	2 432	2 397		
25. Supply of fat cattle from internal sources actually marketed as a % of the domestic supply of fat cattle originally available (23.:24.) . 100	84.6	6.69	84.1	109.6	101.9	100.8	91.7	86.9	91.9	112.1	93.8	90.5		
<sup>R</sup> Slaughterings of nows and bulls less 10 % of the stock of bulls and pulls for slaughter me. princes. <sup>R</sup> Fat steers and heifers, i	for servi and young	ice, <sup>b</sup> 10 g bulls 1	0 % of <b>B</b> for fatt	tock of l	oulls fo:	r servio	e. <sup>c</sup> Almo	ost exclu	sively	store su	d fat ca	ttle; im]	oorte of	COWB

Starget Cantrel Statistical Tffice, Annual Abstract of Statistics, London, various issues; Central Statistical Office, Monthiv Diserver of Statistics. London, various issues; Connessmers of H.M. Austaus and Ercise, Annual Statement of the Trade of the United Kingdom with Commonwealth Countrier and Foreign Countries, London, Vol. II and Vol. II, various recurs; Soard of Trade, "Overseas Trade Accounts of the United Kingdom. London various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Meet and Dairy Produce Bulleting, London, various issues; Own calculations and estimates. J



between 70 and 80 % with a clear downward tendency predominant in the long term (average for the years 1958/63: 76.1 %; average for the years 1964/69: 73.7 %; fall = - 3.2 %). The reason for this is, undoubtedly, the continuing increase in the proportion of beef cows in the total cow stock, since one can assume that the beef cows in the hill and mountain areas in the northern and western parts of Britain, which are at a disadvantage climatically and as regards soil conditions, have a considerably lower calving rate than dairy cows. We expect that the proportion of beef cows in the total cow population will continue to increase considerably and that this will probably have a negative effect on the calving rate in the forecasting period as well (assumption for forecasting purposes: 71.5 %; -3.0 % compared with the average figure for the years 1964-69). Accordingly, the total calf crop (TCC) is given as follows:

(71) TCC = 0.715 TC.

In order to find the number of calves retained for rearing on the basis of the total available supply of calves, domestic calf slaughterings and the export of calves must be calculated ( $\equiv$  total outflow from the calf population)<sup>1</sup>. Disregarding the proportion of calves suitable for rearing in the total number of those born viable, slaughterings of calves<sup>2</sup> ought to be influenced mainly by the trend in beef prices and by the "calf subsidy", which was introduced by the UK Government in an attempt to reduce in the early post-war period the still very extensive slaughterings of calves fit for rearing, which could not, therefore, be devoted to beef production. As with the "beef and hill subsidy", the effects of the calf subsidy will be expressed by means of a dummy variable constructed according to the "echo principle":

(72) log SLCV =  $f_0 + f_1 \log P(bf) + f_2 D^{c} + u_6$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Imports of calves are of minor importance and can therefore be disregarded. <sup>2</sup> Principally slaughterings of new-born ("bobby") calves but also of fat calves.

where: SLCV : domestic calf slaughterings ('000) D<sup>C</sup> : dummy variable for the calf subsidy (cf. text for details).

The sizeable exports of calves were subject to wide fluctuations which after 1960 show a clear negative correlation with the cyclical changes in beef production in the Six (the largest market for British calf exports). This would imply that from 1958 to 1971 calf exports were primarily determined by factors which were, to a large extent, independent of events on the UK market. Accordingly, calf exports should be treated as an exogenous variable in the analysis and, therefore, nolens volens in the forecast as well:

(73) EXCV = exogenous

where: EXCV : export of live calves ('000).

The total number of calves (TCCR) retained for replacement purposed or and fattening (or for export as store or fat cattle) can now be defined as:

(74) TCCR = TCC - (SLCV + EXCV).

The number of calves required as replacements in the total cow population (CWR) is equal to the total coutflow from the cow stock (this is composed of either domestic slaughterings or live exports for slaughter plus (minus) the increase (decrease) in the total cow population<sup>1</sup>):

(75) CWR = SLCW + EXCW + (TC - TC<sub>-1</sub>)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Due to their small numbers imports of cows, like imports of calves, can be disregarded.

where: SLCW : domestic cow slaughterings ('000) EXCW : export of live cows for slaughter ('000).

The proportion of cows slaughtered or exported (total outflow) in the total cow stock is defined as the turnover rate of the cow population. Table 17 gives details of the turnover rate of the British cow population during the reference period. Considerable cyclical fluctuations appear which result from the inclination of farmers in periods of intensive expansion in cow numbers to use cows longer on average than in periods of stagnation or even of stock reduction. In theory, it is possible to explain the fluctuations in the turnover cate around its long-term average value by the means of economic factors. but this would hardly be a step forward because the model is intended for the . preparation of long-term forecasts (cf. p. 105 on this subject). We shall, therefore, merely assume, as with the calving rate. an average turnover rate of 15 % for purposes of forecasting. The proportion of the total outflow of cows from stock which is exported live is. exactly as with calf exports. primarily dependent on factors which have littel to do with the situation on British cattle markets. (The remarks concerning exports similarly hold good for British exports of slaughter cows). We now have:

(76) EXCW = exogenous

(77) SLCW = 0.15 TC - EXCW.

Using (76) and (77) equation (75) can now be simplified to:

(78)  $CWR = 0.15 TC + (TC - TC_{-1})$ = 1.15 TC - TC\_1.

The size of the stock of bulls for service (cf. Table 16) was mainly influenced in the period under review by progress in the production field. The extraordinarily rapid expansion in the use of artificial insemination resulted in a continous fall in the number of bulls for service which were necessary in relation to the size of the cow stock. The stock of bulls for service was equal to 2.3 % of the cow stock in the years 1958-60 and to only 1.7 % in the years 1969-71. As artificial insemination has meanwhile been widely adopted, it can be assumed that this proportion will not alter appreciably in future. Merely for reasons of caution (so as not to run the risk of underestimating the number of bull calves needed as replacements in the stock of bulls for service) we shall, for forecasting purposes, fix the ratio of the stock bulls for service to that of cows at 1.75 %. Inflow into the bull population can, moreover, be determined by the same method as that used for the inflow into the stock of cows (assumption of the turnover rate of the stock of bulls for service: 10 %)<sup>1</sup>:

(79) BS = 0.0175 TC

(80) SLBS = 0.10 BS

(81) BSR = SLBS + (BS -  $BS_{-1}$ )

### where:

BS : stock of bulls for service in June ('000)
SLBS : domestic slaughterings of bulls for service ('000)
BSR : inflow into the population of bulls for service.

Equation (81) can be reconstructed as:

(82) BSR = 0.10 BS + (BS - BS\_1) = 1.10 BS - BS\_1 = 1.10 (0.0175) TC - 0.0175 TC\_1 = 0.01925 TC - 0.0175 TC\_1.

Both the calculation of CWR and that of BSR require not only the estimate of the cow population in the target year of the forecast.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Foreign trade in bulls for service is negligible and can be disregarded.
In addition, the cow stock in the preceding period  $(TC_{-1})$  must be estimated. Strictly speaking, this should be done with the help of equations (68) - (70), but this would require making a hypothesis on the prices and price ratios during the year prior to the end of the period of price adjustment, a somewhat complex procedure. A more pragmatic approach would simply be to spread equally over all the years of the forecasting period the total increase in the stock of cows as previously estimated from the starting year to the target year of the forecast. The final year of the reference period (= starting year of the forecast) is 1971 with 1980 being assumed to be the target year of the forecast. If the cow stock in 1971 is given as TC(71) and that in 1980 as TC(80), the cow stock in 1979 (TC(79)) would be calculated as follows:

(83) 
$$TC(79) = TC(80) - 0.111 / TC(80) - TC(71) / .$$

Knowing the inflow into the breeding herd (cows and bulls), the total calf potential (CF) theoretically available for domestic fattening and for the expert of fat and/or store cattle can be defined by:

(84) 
$$CF = TCCR - CWR - BSR$$
  
=  $\int TCC - (SLCV + EXCV) / 7 - CWR - BSR$   
=  $\int 0.715 TC - (SLCV + EXCV) / 7 - (1.15 TC - TC_1) - (0.01925 TC - 0.017t TC_1)$   
= 1.0175 TC\_1 - 0.45425 TC - (SLCV + EXCV).

As the consistency test for the utilization of the calf supply in Table 17 shows, actual domestic slaughterings of fat cattle (plus exports of live fat and store cattle) do not quite correspond even in the long term to the supply of calves originally available for that purpose. This is due <u>inter alia</u> to stock diseases, animals culled after inspection at slaughterhouses and, probably most important, the changes in the stock of fat cattle not explicitly recorded and statistical errors. In order to preserve continuity with the past trends when forecasting, a statistical corrective factor must be introduced into the model:

(85) (SLFC + EXSF) = 0.95 CF

(86) EXSF = exogenous

(87) SLFC = 0.95 CF - EXSF

### where:

SLFC : domestic slaughterings of home-bred fat cattle ('000) EXSF : exports of home-bred fat and store cattle.

The number of home-bred cows, sterrs/heifers and calves available for domestic slaughter or for export is now obtainable so that the total gross domestic production of beef and veal ('000 metric tons) can be estimated after assumptions on the respective average slaughter weights (in metric tons) have been made for the forecasting period:

(88) 
$$BEZB = (0.230) (SLCW) + (0.270) (SLBS) + (0.023) (SLCV) + (0.250) (SLFC) + (0.230) (EXCW) + (0.030) (EXCV) + (0.200) (EXSF)$$

#### where:

BEZB : gross domestic production of beef and veal ('000 t).

Milk production is obtained by multiplying the number of dairy cows forecast by equation (68) by the average milk yield per cow (the latter may be simply estimated by a graphic trend extrapolation), plus an additional amount allowing for milk occasionally sold beef-cattle farmers (about 5%of the milk production from dairy cows, according to official estimates):

(89) MP = 1.05 (DC · AMY)

where:

- MP : total milk production ('000 t)
- AMY : average milk yield per dairy cow (t).

#### e. Sheep

The aim of the following model is to compile a consistent long-term forecast of the gross domestic production of mutton and lamb; i.e. no shortterm model of the sheep economy should be set up to explain the cyclical fluctuations in sheep-raising. The basis of this model too is an evaluation of the stock of breeding ewes. Factors possibly influencing the ewe population were thoroughly discussed in the section dealing with the stock of dairy and beef cows: namely, the price ratios (lamb : milk, and beef : lamb), which over all the important output items of pasture farming. Furthermore, we must consider the "hill sheep subsidy" too, the effects of which on the stock of ewes could also be taken into account by constructing a dummy variable according to the echo principle:

(90)  $\log EW = g_0 + g_1 \log \left(\frac{P(bf)}{P(s)} \cdot 10\right)_{-\ell} + g_2 \log \left(\frac{P(s)}{P(m)} \cdot 10\right)_{-\ell} + g_3 D_{-\ell}^{hs} + u_7$ 

#### where:

EW : stock of ewes in June ('000) D<sup>hs</sup> : dummy variable for the "hill sheep subsidy" (cf. text).

We expect estimates in the range (-3) to (-4) for lag 1 in equation (90). Normally, lambs are born in the spring in the United Kingdom. It is then that the decision is, therefore, taken as to how the available supply of female lambs fit for rearing is to be divided into replacement (ewe) and fattening stock. The prices obtained in the farming year just ending (April - March), but also frequently the prices of the previous farm year are important for this decision. This is particularly true for hill farmers producing store lambs because, as a rule, higher (lower) prices for fat almbs appear with a considerable time-lag in the form of price movements on the store lamb market. Female lambs born in the spring are usually tupped in the autumn of the following year (as ewe hoggets). This means that they do not appear in stock statistics as ewes until Une of the next year but one. The tupping of one-year old lambs is carried out only in exceptional cases because it generally results in a great reduction of the "lambing rate"<sup>1</sup>.

A reliable estimate for the lamb crop is obtained most easily by comparing the number of sheep under one year of age in June with the number of ewes in June (cf. Table 19; method B). This gives a national average of about 110 - 117 % for the lambing rate in the reference period. This figure comprises figures of about 150 % for lowland sheep farming with good conditions of soil and dlimate, and often also of less than 100 % for hill farms much disadvantaged by weather and by soil quality. For forecasting purposes we have assumed an average figure of 115 %. The number of lambs born alive and reared (TLC) is given by the following equation:

(91) TLC = 1.15 EW.

If the not very extensive external trade in ewes is disregarded, the inflow into the ewe population corresponds to domestic slaughterings of ewes plus (minus) the increase (decrease) in the ewe stock. The turnover rate of the ewe stock in the United Kingdom is surprisingly small. As Table 19 shows, only about 7-13 % of the stock of ewes was slaughtered in each year of the reference period; this corresponds to an average ewe age of 10-15 years! We wahll assume in the forecast an average turnover rate in the ewe population of 10 %:

(93)  $EWR = SLEW + (EW - EW_{-1})$ = 1.10  $EW - EW_{-1}$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Cf. <u>J. Cherrington</u>, Hill-farms gain from "extreme" prices; in the "Financial Times", London, of 15 October 1971.

Table 18 - Sheep mumbers (in '000 000)<sup>8</sup> and sheep and lambs slaughtered (in '000) in the United Kiggion (1958-71)

	1958	1959	1960	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
Total stork of sheep	26 IO5	27 612	27 871	28 967	29 498	29 344	29 657	29 911	29 957	28 885	28 004	26 604	26 080	25 998 29
Bres	10 322	10 735	11 232	11 505	11 829	11 832	11 918	11 946	12 019	11 760	11 415	10 946	10 544	10 436
Rams for service	317	320	322	332	345	345	334	336	₩.	332	327	313	302	₫oc S
Other sheep - one year and over	3 635	4 020	3 800	3 645	3 689	3 663	3 530	3 738	7 <i>5</i> 7 <i>5</i>	3 583	3 475	3 323	3 29ż	3 200
Other sheep - under one year	11 831	12 537	12 517	13 485	13 637	13 504	13 875	13 891	13 857	13 211	12 787	12 022	11 943	12 059
Animels slaughtered:														
5	Ì			ą								-	0.000	5.
	8, F	916	960 1	۲ ۲	st 7	1 215 75	د)ی I	1 9 1 2 1 2 1	1 96 12	1 407 704 1	۲ ج	ي ا	0/2 T	ر <u>با</u> ۱
Wethers, hoggets and lambs	8 640	11 666	10 311	12 192	11 595	10 887	11 353	10 952	11 924	11 731	10 961	470 9	1 <sup>4</sup> 0	10 270
		_	-		-			-		-	-	-		
<sup>8</sup> Total mumber of eves and fames for service slaughte	red, less	10 % of th	he ram poj	wlation o	of rams fo	r servioe	. <sup>b</sup> 10 \$	of the si	ock of re	ms for se	rvioe.			
Source: Central Statistical Office, Ammual Abstract of Commonwealth Secretarist, Meat and Dairy Produc	Statistics Se Bulletin	, London, g, London,	various i , various	asues; Ce issues; C	untrel Sta Num calcul	tistical ations ar	Office, 1 d estimat	conthly Dises.	gest of S	tatistics	i, London,	various	issues;	

- 122 -

Table 19 - <u>Analysis of the structure of the stock of sheep in the United Kingdom (1958-71)</u> (in '000)

	1958	1959	1960	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
of the lambing rate: there, hoggets and lambs slaughtered - da (t) and (t+1)	10 153	10 989	11 252	11 894	11 241	11 120	11 153	11 438	11 828	11 346	10 018	9 607	10 205	
A eves slaughtered - (+1)	948	1 128	1 020	1 128	1 248	1 308	1 224	1 632	1 440	1 428	1 356	1 308	1 233	
in total stock of sheep - riod (t) and (t+1) srmai frade an 11ve sheep - period (t)	1 408	£88 F	678 666	814	<u>8</u> 16	8	18 58	150	- 513	- 977	141 1-	8	ι β	Ş
f ewss - period (t) ad lamb crop (1.+2.+3.+4.) 	10 322 12 411	10 735 13 003	11 232	11 505 13 842	11 829 12 705	11 832 12 682	11 918 12 695	11 946 13 418	- 12 019 12 722	11 951	11 415 10 759	10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 1	21 21 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 2	10 476
A: (6::5.) . 100	120.2 11 871	121.1 12 537	114.7 12 517	120.3 13 485	107.4 13 637	107.2 13 504	106.5 13 875	112.3 13 891	105.8 13 857	100.8 13 211	90.7 12 787	93.7 12 022	107.4 11 943	12 059
Bi(8:5.) . 100	114.6	116.8	4.111	2.711	115.3	114.1	116.4	116.3	115.3	112.3	112.0	109.8	5.211	115.6
to and cutflow from the stock of eves: in stock of eves (as inflow or cutflow) fur the sum normilation (= Ammenia	1482	413	794	273	324	Ŵ	8	58	5	- 259	- 345 -	- 469	- <del>4</del> 02	- 108
stings of eves ", )	736	916	1 096	496	1 094	1 213	1 275	1 190	1 598	1 407	1 395	1 325	1 278	1 193
ed gross inflow into the eves population(10.+11.)	1 218	1 329	1 593	1 260	1 418	1 216	1 361	1 218	1 671	1 148	1 050	926	876	1 085
r rate in the stock of eves $(\%)$ : $(11.15.)$ . 200	7.13	8.53	9.76	8.58	9.25	10.25	10.70	96.6	13.30	11.96	12.22	12.10	12.12	11.43
<u>ato and outflow from the stock of rema</u> : in stock of remax (net inflow or outflow)	ស	ŕ	Q	10	टा	П	- 11	Q	œ	- 12	ب	- 14	1	ຸດ
aughtered <sup>C</sup> (= outflow from the stock of reams) ed gross inflow into the ream population (14.+15.)	87. 12. 13.	R	25 23	<u>8</u> 3	¥\$	ጽጽ	หล	ጽጽ	25	5	83	31 71	8 21	ጽጽ
or test for lamb crop utilisation of lambs under one year (June) less estimated mflow into the stock of eves, and rams (12.+16.) ar of fat wethers, hoggets and lambs, home-bred, le for the domestic market and for export)	10 559	11 173	10 890	12 182	£11 21	12 252	12 492	12 677	144	12 042	11 709	11 149	11 048	10 <b>94</b> 2
wers, hoggets and lambs slaughtered domestically, of by the net external trade in live absop (= of fat wethers, hoggestsand lambs, homs-bred, i for the domestic market and for export)	8 542	11 669	10 245	12 198	11 622	11 061	11 787	11 150	11 891	11 785	11 087	1112 6	10 337	10 363

- 123 -

۲

Table 19 (continued)

	1958	1959	1960	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971
19. Number of indigenous fat wethers, hoggets and lambs marketed, expressed as a % of the domestic supply originally available (18.:17.) . 100	6.08	10444	94.1	100.1	95.5	90.3	91.2	88.2	6.79	6.79	94.7	84.1	93.6	94.7
<sup>a</sup> External trade in live ewes ean be disregarded. <sup>b</sup> Total mumber o	f ewes	and reas	slaugh te	ered, let	88 IO %	of the s	tock of	rams. <sup>C</sup> /	lesumptic	n: 10 %	of the	stock of	rams.	

<u>Source</u>: Gentral Statistical Office, Annual Abstract of Statistics, London, various issues; Central Statistical Office, Monthly Digest of Statistics, London, various issues; Board of Trade, Overseas Trade Accounts of the United Kingdom, London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Meat and Dairy Produce Bulleting, London, various issues; Own calculations and estimates.

#### - 124a -



(93) SLEW = 0.10  $\pm W$ 

### where:

EWR : inflow into the ewe stock ('000) SLEW : domestic slaughterings of ewes ('000)

For the inflow into the stock of rams for service the following applies similarly:

(94)  $RE = SLR + (R - R_{-1})$ 

 $= 1.10 R - R_{-1}$ 

(95) SLR = 0.10 R

where:

R : stock of rams in June ('000)
SLR : domestic slaughterings of rams for service ('000)
RR : inflow into the stock of fams for service ('000)

The ratio (rams for service : ewes) fell in the reference period from 2.97 % (1958/60) to 2.88 % in 1969/71. The main reason for this was the increase in stocks of rams for service. For forecasting purposes we have assumed a ratio (rams for service : ewes) of 2.9 %.

(96) R = 0.029 EW.

The total number of lambs remaining for domestic fattening at home and for export as store or fat lambs or hoggets/wethers (MLF) is obtained from the following:

(97) MLF = TLC - (EWR + RR)  
= 1.15 
$$\mu$$
W - (1.10  $\mu$ W -  $\mu$ W<sub>-1</sub> + 1.10 R - R<sub>-1</sub>)  
= 1.15  $\mu$ W - (1.10  $\mu$ W -  $\mu$ W<sub>-1</sub> + 0.0319  $\mu$ W - 0.029  $\mu$ W<sub>-1</sub>)  
= 0.0181  $\mu$ W + 1.029  $\mu$ W<sub>-1</sub>.

The consistency test for lamb utilization (cf. Table 19) showes that in the long term the average actual domestic slaughterings of home-bred wethers, hoggets and lambs and the live exports of store and fat lambs, and wethers/ hoggets did not quite reach the quantity MLF, which as with the utilization of calves, may well be connected with losses due to disease, animals going astray in the hills, the unrecorded changes in the stock of fat animals, but also with inadequate statistical recording of slaughterings and foreign trade. It is, therefore, necessary to introduce into the model a statistical corrective factor for lamb utilization too:

(98) (SLML + EXML) = 0.95 MLF

(99)  $\pm XML = exogenous$ 

(100) SLML = 0.95 MLF - EXML

#### where:

SLML : domestic slaughterings of indigenous fat lambs and wethers/hoggets ('000)

EXML : export of indigenous store and fat lambs, and wethers/hoggets ('000)

Once the average slaughter weight (in metric tons) has been calculated for the forecast period, the gross domestic production of mutton and lamb (BEZS; '000 t) can be calculated as follows:

(101) BEZS = (0.025) (SLEW) + (0.025) (SLR) + (0.019) (SLML) + (0.020) ( $\pm$ XML)

### f. Pigs

The main objective of the pig model is to forecast the total number of slaughter pigs available for the production of pork and bacon. The equation determining the stock of sows is of central importance to this model. As regards the inputs labour, capital and feed crops for use on the farm of origin, pig-breeding in Table 20 Stock, slaughterings, and slaughter and rearing rates of pigs in the United Kingdom (1958-71) (1000)

•

	1958	1959	1960	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1 <i>9</i> 70	1 <i>9</i> 71
<ol> <li>Stook:         <ol> <li>Pigs - total</li> <li>Pigs aged 5 months and over</li> <li>Pigs between 2 and not more than 5 months</li> <li>Pigs under 2 months</li> </ol> </li> </ol>	6 485 802 47 1 160 2 791 1 686	5 984 705 41 1 109 2 657 1 471	5 724 725 40 1 108 2 449 1 491	6 043 774 43 1 042 2 591 1 594	6 722 857 46 1 124 2 902 1 793	6 859 876 47 1 132 3 050 1 754	7 379 905 47 1 221 3 271 1 937	7 979 945 3 594 2 140	7 533 822 43 1 179 5 392 1 897	7 107 824 41 1 146 3 218 1 878	7 387 887 44 3 309 1 998	7 783 915 44 3 526 3 526	8 088 953 1 249 3 672 2 169	8 742 984 46 46 46 4 65 2 378
II. <u>Slemphtering</u> : 7. Domestic slaughterings of pigs, total	11 012 4 328	10 830 4 312	10 298 3 874	10 727 4 470	12 082 4 963	12 202 5 019	12 805 5 0 <del>3</del> 8	14 330 5 444	13 485 5 489	12 336 5 289	12 <i>9</i> 76 5 718	14 027 6 202	14 393 6 619	15 993 7 955
<ul> <li>Slaughterings of bacon pigs used only in part for b. Slaughterings of bacon pigs used only in part for bacon</li> </ul>	• •	•••	5 079 768	3 307 1 163	3 533 1 430	3 371 1 648	3 276 1 762	3 549 1 895	2 90 <del>3</del> 2 586	2 542 2 747	2 684 3 034	2 896 3 306	3 077 3 542	3 525 4 430
<ul> <li>9. Standartage of outer lat page (Lot port, semander, and the like)</li> <li>10. Slaughterings of some and boars</li> <li>b. Slaughterings of boars</li> </ul>	6 312 372 363 9	6 151 367 359 88	6 093 331 323 8	5 959 2989 99	6 786 333 324 324	6 828 355 9 9	7 410 357 348 9	8 519 367 357 10	7 601 395 386 9	6 730 317 805 8	6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	7 4739 386 777 9	7 449 325 316 9	7 676 362 353 9
III. <u>Slandthtar and rearing ra</u> tes: 11. Som al <del>anghtarings</del> in 5 of som stock (10.s : 2.) . 100	45.3	50.9	9.44	57.3	37.8	39.5	38.5	37.8	0" Lt	37.5	<u></u> з4.8	41.2	33.2	35.9
12. Average total slaughterings per sow (7. : 2.)	13.73	15.36	14.20	13.86	14.10	13.93	14.18	15.16	16.41	14.97	14.63	15.33	15.10	16.25
<sup>a</sup> Slaughtarings of some and boars, less 20 % of stock of boa	rs for se	rvice. <sup>b</sup>	20 \$ of ∎	tock of t	oars for	service.								

Source: Central Statistical Office, Annual Abstract of Statistica, London, various issues; Central Statistical Office, Monthly Digest of Statistics, London, various issues; Commonselth Secretarist, Nest and Dairy Produce Bulleting, London, various issues; Own calculations and estimates.

- 127 -

the United Kingdom could compete particularly with dairying and, at regional level, could perhaps do so with beef-cattle raising and arable farming (particularly wheat and barley as "cash crops"). The production of eggs and poultry in Great Britain has meanwhile been industrialized to such an extent that it appears that these two branches of production can have a tangible effect on pigkeeping only as regards fattening on a large scale, but hardly ever as regards breeding. If one takes account of the long-term differences which certainly exist between the productivity gains of the above products once more by means of a linear time trend, the equation for determining the sow stock can be constructed as follows:

$$(10?) \log SW = h_0 + h_1 \log \left(\frac{P(p)}{P(m)} \cdot 10\right)_{-m} + h_2 \log \left(\frac{P(bf)}{P(p)} \cdot 10\right)_{-m} + h_3 \log \left(\frac{P(p)}{P(e)} \cdot 10\right)_{-m} + h_4 \log \left(\frac{P(p)}{P(w)vel P(b)} \cdot 10\right)_{-m} + h_5 t + u_8$$

where:

SW : stock of sows in June ('000)

P(e): average producer price of the Egg Marketing Board for top-quality hens' eggs (1/100 kg; including the guarantee payments by the Government to the Egg Marketing Board).

We expect an estimate of between (-1) and (-2) only for lag m in equation (102), since, in the case of sows the age at which they are first serviced is always considerably lower, and the period of pregnancy and the time until weaning considerably shorter than in the case of cattle.

In order to estimate directly the number of slaughter pigs in a given stock of sows we need information on the average number of slaughter pigs available per sow per year. (This figure is not to be confused with the average number of piglets reared per sow per year, which must always be marginally greater than the number of slaughter pigs produced per sow per year in the normal event of a pig stock expanding on a long-term basis). Theoretically, an estimate of the number of slaughter pigs produced per sow per year may be obtained by dividing the number of pork and bacon pigs slaughtered plus (minus) the exports (imports) of live pigs during one year by the stock of sows in June of the same year. As export of live pigs is of only marginal importance in the United Kingdom, it can be disregarded. As estimated in the above manner, the average numver of slaughter prigs produced per cow increased in the reference period from 14.3 (1958/61) to 15.3 in 1968/71 (see Table 20). We shall asume a value of 16 for forecasting purposes. We now obtain the following for the total available supply of slaughter pigs (TSSP):

(103) TSSP = 16.0 · SW.

The demand forcasts already made for pork and bacon alon can assist us somewhat in estimating the utilization of the total available supply of slaughter pigs. In general, the domestic demand for fresh pigmeat for direct consumption in private households and for the processing industry (mainly sausage manufacturers) is almost entirely covered by domestic production. In 1969/71 the degree of self-sufficiency in pigmeat as a whole was 88.4 % while some 99 % of fresh pigmeat was accounted for by domestic production. The much lower degree of self-sufficiency in pigmeat as a whole is due to the large volume of imports of all kinds of preserved pigmeat (1969/71: equivalent to 80 000 metric tons fresh meat equivalent). Under these circumstances, it seems justifiable to make an assumption as to the future degree of self-sufficiency for total pork on the basis of economic considerations whereby the TSSP quantities and the forecast of the domestic consumption of pork (expressed in terms of slaughter weight) should serve as guidelines (the average slaughterweight of both bacon and pork pigs can be assumed to be 0.065 metric tons). The use of the domestic supply of slaughter pigs for the production of pork could then be calculated as follows:

(104) TSPP =  $d(\frac{CP}{0.065})$ 

0 < & < 1

TSPP : slaughter pigs used for the production of pork ('000)
CP : forecast of domestic consumption of pork (1 000 t slaughter weight)
\* : assumed degree of self-sufficiency in pork.

Theoretically speaking, it would naturally be desirable if  $\ll$  could be explained directly by means of the model. Even if that were possible for past developments, hardly anything would be gained as regards the forecast. In determining  $\prec$  the strong protective measures <u>inter alia</u> which the UK Government applied until February 1973 to assist the bacon industry would naturally play an important role. They took the form mainly of quotas introduced in respect of bacon imports under the "Bacon Market Sharing Understanding" and of extensive subsidies received by the bacon industry from the Government. Both measures had to be suspended after the accession of the United Kingdom to the EEC, since they do not comply with EEC regulations. Any equations laboriously constructed in order to determine  $\nleftrightarrow$  in the reference period would, therefore, hardly provide any meaningful estimates of  $\checkmark$  under EEC conditions. Thus we have no choice but to fix <u>a priori</u> values for  $\nsim$  and to present the slaughter pigs used for bacon production as the residue from the total utilization of slaughter pigs:

(105) TSBP = TSSP - (TSPP + EXLP)

(106) EXLP = •xogenous

where:

where: TSBP : slaughter pigs used for bacon production ('000) EXLP : exports of live pigs ('000).

For the gross domestic production of pork and abacon as a whole and for the net domestic production of pork and bacon respectively we now obtain the following:

(107) BEZP = (0.065) · TSSP

(103) NEP =  $\checkmark$  (CP) - (0.065) EXLP

(109) NoB = BoZP - NoP

### where:

- BEZP : gross domestic production of pork and bacon as a whole expressed in terms of the slaughter weight ('000 t)
- NEP : Net domestic production of pork expressed in terms of the slaughter weight ('000 t)
- NEB : not domestic production of bacon expressed in terms of the slaughter weight ('000 t).

### g. Poultry

The attempt to construct an equation determining the number of laying hens failed for two reasons:

- 1. Only annual figures are available for evaluating the stock of laying hens. The very short production period in the egg-laying sector would require, however, the use of quarterly figures at least and monthly figures, if possible.
- 2. Of the egg prices which are important for the egg-laying sector we possess only those which the Egg Marketing Board, which was only recently abolished, paid on average (after taking into account the guarantee payments received from the Government) to its members. The number of eggs sold through the Egg Marketing Board as a proportion of the total number of eggs marketed tended, however, to fall sharply during the reference period because the large, capital-intensive egg producers in particular preferred to deliver directly to large users at prices freely negotiated. We have no information on these "free" egg prices. We would, however, need to have details of these prices since it is the large enterprise which reacts strongly to price changes and thus probably exerts a decisive influence on the laying hen cycle.

A further difficulty is that productivity has risen sharply in both egg and poultry production sectors. Consequently, prices for the ultimate buyer are in themselves of little significance. We do not, however, possess suitable indicators of the trend in average productivity in egg and poultry production. Under these circumstances, the only remaining possibility is to forecast egg and poultrymeat production on the basis of the demand forecasts for the products in guestion.

# 3. <u>Statistical examination of the equations of behaviour incorporated in</u> the models for determining supply

#### a. Cereals

The statistical examination of the equations for determining the areas under wheat and barley by means of the method of ordinary least squares produced the following results:

Period for which estimate made: 1955-70

(110) 
$$\log A^{W} = + 2.4829 + 0.43364 \log \left[ \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=1}^{2} \left( \frac{P(w)}{P(b)} \cdot 10 \right)_{-j} \right] - 0.00063 Q_{1} \left( \frac{R}{S} \right)$$
  
(1.4)  
 $+ 0.0474 t$ 

(2.5)  

$$R^2 = 0.471$$
 D.W. = 2.87  $\frac{\&}{\log A^W} = 1.2\%$ 

Period for which estimate made: 1955-70

(111) 
$$\log A^{b} = + 3.6463 - 0.68450 \log \left(\frac{P(w)}{P(b)} \cdot 10\right)_{-1} + 0.03112 t$$
  
(2.3)  
 $R^{2} = 0.948$  D.W. = 0.62  $\frac{\overrightarrow{s}}{\log A^{b}} = 1.2\%$ 

The signs of the regression coefficients in equation (110) correspond to theoretical expectations: If, for instance, the price ratio (wheat : barley) changes by 1 % in favour of wheat, this would <u>ceteris paribus</u> result in an

extension of the area under wheat by about 0.4 %. A rise in the weather variable  $Q_{1}(\frac{R}{C})$  indicates increased soil moisture when winter wheat is sown. Above-average soil moisture can seriously impair the sowing of wheat with the result that only a negative sign can be meaningful for the regression coefficient of the weather variable in equation (110). As the t-test values (in brackets under the regression coefficients) show, the short-term (annual) changes in the area under wheat can be explained almost equally by the influence of price and weather. The differences between these short-term and long-term reactions of wheat producers are expressed in the regression coefficient of the time variable. The time variable should first take account of the fact that in the United Kingdom, owing to climatic and soil conditions. the cultivation of wheat is subject to much greater limitations than the cultivation of barley. From this point of view, the regression coefficient of the time variable in the equation for determining the wheat acreage ought either to be negative, or - if the sign is positive - be substantially lower than the corresponding coefficient in the equation for determining the area under barley. As equations (110) and (111) show, the latter holds: The regression coefficients of the time variables have indeed a positive sign in both equations, but at the same time the coefficient in the equation for the area under barley comes to almost seven times greater than the coefficient in the equation for the area under wheat.

At 0.7 the absolute value of the short-term elasticity of the area under barley compared with the price ratio (wheat : barley) is much higher than the corresponding elasticity of the area under wheat (0.4). It mus not to be deduced from this that the parameter estimates in equations (110) and (111) are inconsistent. Rather, the relationship between these two elasticity coefficients ought first to bring to light the fact that even in the short term farmers in the United Kingdom have much more scope for changing the area sown with barley than for varying the area under wheat. The influence of the weather dummy in the equation for barley was insignificant. This could be due to the fact that a weather-induced limitation of the area sown with winter wheat will be of only minor importance compared with the area under spring barley. (It is to be remembered here that in recent years the area under barley has amounted to two and a half times that under wheat).

The coefficient of determination which is twice as great in equation (111) as in equation (110), is to be attributed predominantly to the level correlation which is very marked in equation (111) but virtually nonexistent in equation (110). Relying exclusively on the explanation of the short-term influence of price and weather, equation (110) comes out much better than equation (111), which is also evident from the D.W. statistic in particular. While, for instance, the expansion of the barley acreage in the years after 1966 almost totally ceased, only a small fall in the growth rate of the area under barley appears in the values estimated by equation (111). Under these circumstances, one should be rather cautious in the use of equation (111) for forecasting purposes.

## b. Potatoes

We obtained the following parameter estimates for the equation for determining the area under maincrop ware potatoes:

(112) 
$$\log A^{mp} = + 2.4820 + 0.07996 \log (P(mp))_{-1} - 0.00123 Q_2 (\frac{R}{S}) - 0.00723 6$$
  
(1.3) (1.6) (6.6)  
 $R^2 = 0.830$  D.W. = 2.25  $\frac{\delta}{\log A^{mp}} = 0.8\%$ 

The dominant element in equation (112) is the negative time trend which corresponds to the markedly downward trend in the "target acreage" (cf. III, 2 c). At + 0.08 the elasticity of the short-term changes in the area actually cultivated in relation to the price of ware potatoes, which in the main reflects the extent of the fluctuations above or below the "target acreage" in relation to the preceding variations in the price of ware potatoes, is very small. This appears, however, quite understandable if one considers that, in the event of a farmer exceeding the acreage quota allocated to him, the agreed fines payable to the Potato Marketing Board increase in line with the size of the excess area. Of the two weather variables "soil moisture" and "temperature" only the first appeared as an important factor influencing the planting of maincrop potatoes. Excessively wet soil can seriously impair the swelling of potatoes, as is shown in the negative sign of the regression coefficient of the variable  $Q_2(\frac{R}{S})$ . The temperature probably plays an important part only in the cultivation of early potatoes.

### c. Cattle

In the statistical examination of the equation determining the dairy cow herd we had to confine ourselves to the period 1961-71 because until 1960 factors other than those covered by equation (68) also clearly influenced to a considerable degree dairy cow numbers (in this connection, the eradiction of tuberculosis in the dairy herd in the late fifties, for instance, is a factor to be borne in mind). For reasons of multicollinearity it was not possible to differentiate the various influences of the price ratios introduced into equation (68). Instead of a simultaneous estimate in one equation several alternatives were tested, three of which gave a rather good explanation of the dairy cow herd:

(113) 
$$\log DC = +4.4396 - 0.24421 \log \left[\frac{1}{22} \sum_{j=3}^{4} \left(\frac{P(bf)}{P(m)} \cdot 10\right)_{-j}\right]$$
  
(3.2)  
 $-0.25236 \log \left[\frac{1}{22} \sum_{j=3}^{4} \left(\frac{P(s)}{P(m)} \cdot 10\right)_{-j}\right]$   
(4.1)  
 $R^{2} = 0.738$  D.W. = 2.07  $\frac{\Delta}{\log DC} = 0.1 \%$ 

$$(114) \log DC = + 4.3329 - 0.22582 \log \left[\frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=3}^{4} \left(\frac{P(bf)}{P(m)} \cdot 10\right)_{-j}\right] - 0.21038 \log \left[\frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=3}^{4} \left(\frac{P(p)}{P(m)} \cdot 10\right)_{-j}\right] - 0.21038 \log \left[\frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=3}^{4} \left(\frac{P(p)}{P(m)} \cdot 10\right)_{-j}\right] - 0.21038 \log \left[\frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=3}^{4} \left(\frac{P(p)}{P(m)} \cdot 10\right)_{-j}\right] - 0.21038 \log \left[\frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=3}^{4} \left(\frac{P(bf)}{P(m)} \cdot 10\right)_{-j}\right] - 0.21038 \log \left[\frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=3}^{4} \left(\frac{P(bf)}{P(m)} \cdot 10\right)_{-j}\right] - 0.25471 \log \left[\frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=3}^{4} \left(\frac{P(m)}{P(m)} \cdot 10\right)_{-j}\right] - 0.13723 \log \left[\frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=3}^{4} \left(\frac{P(m)}{P(m)} - 10\right)_{-j}\right]$$

The conclusion to be drawn from equations (113) - (115) is, in our opinion, that not only the price ratio (beef : milk) but also the price ratios (lamb : milk), (pigmeat : milk) and (milk : wheat) are important for the stock decisions of milk producers. We obtain three different, albeit close (-0.23 to -0.25) estimates for the elasticity of dairy cow numbers compared with the price ratio (beef : milk). The estimated values for the elasticities of the dairy cow population in relation to the price ratios (lamb : milk) and (pigmeat : milk) are also of a surprisingly similar magnitude (-0.25 and -0.21). Milk producers seem to react much more weakly only to changes in the price ratio (milk : wheat) (elasticity: +0.14).

The price expectations of milk producers, which at present influence the size of the dairy cow stock, are best shown by taking the average of prices lagged by three and four periods. In this way we obtain an estimated value for lag j in equation (68) which falls entirely within the <u>a priori</u> expected range (-2) to (-4). A time variable which was intended to take account of the productivity trends in the production of wheat and of slaughter pigs, on the one hand, and in pasture farming, on the other, was also added to the price ratios in equation (68) in order to assess the stock of dairy cows. In the estimate, however, the time variable in both (114) and (115) had to be eliminated owing to its mediocre explanatory power. The reason for this could be that given the relatively short estimation period long-term productivity differences show up only weakly. Judged on the basis of statistical tests only equations (113) - (115) seem to be of almost equal value. It would also hardly be sensible to recommend on economic grounds only one of the equations for use in the forecasts. It would be better if one were to work with all three equations for the forecast. A point estimate detached from the individual equations and based on a combination of all the coefficients of elasticity derived from equations (113) - (115) would also be conceivable.

Estimation of the equation determining the beef cow population is largely free of problems:

Period for which estimate made: 1955-71

The price ratios (beef : milk) and (beef : lamb) and also the dummy variable for the "beef and hill cow subsidy" give a good explanation of the cyclical movements in the stock of beef cows also. Equation (116) shows clearly that the price ratio (beef : lamb) is far and away the most important factor influencing beef cow numbers - a result entirely in line with our theoretical expectations. The elasticity of the stock of beef cows in relation to the price ratio (beef : lamb) is astonishingly high at +1.4. The price ratio (beef : milk), however, exerts a much smaller influence on beef cow numbers (elasticity coefficient: +0.26). The positive influence of the "beef and hill cow subsidy" on the stock of beef cows is well established by equation (116). In short, it can be said that the continuous change in the price ratio (beef : lamb) which until recently worked in favour of beef, and the subsidies to beef and hill cows have provided the decisive stimuli for the extraordinarily rapid growth of the UK beef cow population. We obtain an estimate of (-4) or (-5) for lag k in equation (69). This implies a very slow adaptation of the stock of beef cows to changes in the guaranteed or, where appropriate, total producer prices for beef and lamb, which is to be taken to indicate (as already supposed) only that market price movements for store cattle often move in line with those for fat cattle only after a considerable delay.

The number of new born claves slaughtered can be satisfactorily explained by the beef price and the calf subsidy:

Period for which estimate made: 1953-71

(117) log SLCV = + 5.6892 - 2.3357 log (P(bf)) - 0.07375 D<sup>c</sup>  
(8.0) (0.5)  
$$R^2 = 0.805$$
 D.W. = 1.03  $\frac{\delta}{\log SLCV} = 3.2\%$ 

According to equation (117), a 1% rise in the price of beef would <u>ceteris</u> <u>paribus</u> bring about a 2.3% reduction in the number of calves slaughtered. Against this, the calf subsidy, which is considered to be very important for calf utilization in the United Kingdom, seems to be of only secondary importance. Compared with the subsidy for beef and hill cows the calf subsidy's contribution to the increase in beef production would thus seem to have been rather insignificant.

### d. Sheep

The equation for determining the stock of ewes produced the following estimate:

Period for which estimate made: 1955-71

(118) 
$$\log EW = +2.711 + 0.87782 \log \left[\frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=4}^{5} (\frac{P(s)}{P(m)} \cdot 10)_{-j}\right]$$
  
 $- 0.15784 \log \left[\frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=4}^{5} (\frac{P(bf)}{P(s)} \cdot 10)_{-j}\right]$   
 $R^{2} = 0.937$  D.W. = 1.42  $\frac{\delta}{\log EW} = 0.2 \%$ 

The major factor influencing ewe numbers, as equation (118) makes abundantly clear, is the price ratio (lamb : milk), an not, as might have first been supposed from the results obtained in equation (116). the price ratio (beef : lamb). To interpret this result correctly it must be borne in mind that in 1970, for instance, there were 10 544 000 ewes compared with 3 939 000 dairy cows but only 1 471 000 beef cows. In general, the rearing of ewes competes with dairying for the production factors "pasture land" and "labour force". Even when account is taken of the fact that owing to regional peculiarities the competition between boof cattle raising and the rearing of ewes is in general closer than that between delirying and the rearing of ewes, it may be concluded from the respective shares of dairy and beef cows in the total cow population that the influence of dairying on the stock of ewes is greater than that of beef-cattle raising. That is not contradicted by the fact that sheep raising as a whole exerts a dominant influence on only a part (25 %) of the total stock of cows, i.e. on the beef cow population. Thus it is also quite consistent if the price ratio (lamb : milk) plays an important. but not the most important role as regards dairy cow numbers (see equations (113) to (115)).

It was not possible to detect a significant influence on the part of the dummy variable "hill sheep subsidy" for which however, problems of multicollinearity were in part responsible with the result that a certain impact of the "hill sheep subsidy" on the stock of ewes cannot be ruled out <u>de</u> <u>facto</u>. Lag 1 in equation (90) would, according to our estimates be -4 or -5 i.e. it would assume exactly the same value for the breeding of ewes as for the raising of beef cows and this fits in with the theoretical expectations. (The reasons for the slow adaptation to price changes are probably the same as those already established for beef cows).

### e. Pigs

The stock of sows in the period 1961-71 can be well explained by the two price ratios (beef : pigmeat) and (pigmeat : milk) and by a linear time trend. Between 1955 and 1960, however, the correlation between these variables was only weak. The incorporation of other price ratios yielded no worthwhile improvement in the results for this period with the result that we had to confine ourselves entirely to the years 1961-71 without, however, being able to give any plausible reason for this limitation:

(119) log SW = + 2.0006 - 0.81754 log 
$$\left[\frac{1}{2}\sum_{j=2}^{3} (\frac{P(bf)}{P(p)} \cdot 10)_{-j}\right]$$
  
+ 0.98602 log  $\left[\frac{1}{2}\sum_{j=2}^{3} (\frac{P(p)}{P(m)} - 10)_{-j}\right]$  + 0.01830 t  
(4.2) D.W. = 3.01  $\frac{\delta}{\log SW} = 0.4 \%$ .

Even the cyclical movements in the stock of sows are reflected almost accurately by equation (119); this is true for both the flex points and, more particularly the amplitude of fluctuation in the cycle. The stock of sows reacts, according to our estimates, rather more strongly (coefficient of elasticity: +1.0) to changes in the price ratio (pigmeat : milk) than to changes in the price ratio (beef : pigmeat) (coefficient of elasticity: -0.8). It must also be noted that in the period 1961-71 the contribution of the price ratio (pigmeat : milk) to the explanation of the stock of sows is considerably greater than that of the price ratio (beef : pigmeat) (this can be seen indirectly from the t-test values). The regression coefficient of the time variable has a positive sign, well above zero. This would mean that in the long term the greater productivity gains in pig production than in cattle production had a positive influence on growth of the stock of sows. Such a result is indeed quite plausible in itself, but it must now be asked why in equation (114), in which the stock of dairy cows is explained <u>inter alia</u> by the price ratio (pigmeat : milk), the time variable plays no part despite the fact that the length of the estimation period is the same in both cases i.e. (114) and (119).

- IV. Forecast of the supply of agricultural products
  - 1. <u>Remarks on the hypotheses relating to producer prices and feed grain</u> prices in the 1977/78 farm year

In Table 21 we have endeavoured to apply the hypotheses on producer prices for 1977/78 as formulated for the enlarged Community in Table 4 to the UK prices and qualities effective until 1972, since only in this way does the use in our econometric models for forecasting purposes of the price hypotheses formulated an enlarged EEC appear meaningful. As our starting point we have had recourse to the guaranteed prices for 1972/3 and to the average producer prices (including guarantee payments) in the preceding years. The following major modifications have been made compared with Table 4:

- Whole milk: The UK pool price is related to the natural fat content, which was assumed to be 3.9 % in 1977/78. However, the EEC guide price for milk applies to milk with a fat content of 3.7 %. This was taken into account by introducing an approximate corrective factor (UK pool price 1977/78 = 1.0541 EEC guide price 1977/78).
- Beef: The UK guaranteed price for beef is valid only for fat cattle of certain minimum qualities, while the EEC guide price for beef also applies to lower qualities of beef such as cow beef. To balance these differences in quality at least to a certain extent, the EEC guide price for cattle was multiplied by the factor 1.05, which is, of course, a purely arbitrary value.
- Mutton and lamb: The UK guaranteed price for mutton and lamb likewise applies only to fat animals (hoggets/lambs) of certain minimum qualities. In Table 4 the 1977/78 mutton and lamb price was taken to be equal to 91 % of the 1977/78 guide price for cattle. In order to comply with UK quality standards the mutton and lamb price for 1977/78 was, therefore, estimated in Table 21 at 91 % of the adjusted beef price (see above).

Table 21 - Hypotheses on the producer prices of important agricultural products in the United Kingdom in the 1977/78 farm year (s/1000 kg)

Product	Average producer price (market price plus gua- rantee payments) \$ 1968/69-1970/71	duaranteed price for 1972/73 farm year	Assumed average producer price in 1977/78 farm year	1977/78 producer price as % of 1972/73 guaran- teed price	Average annual rate of change 1972/73 to 1977/78	1971/78 producer price as % of average producer price 1968/69 - 1970/71	Average annual rate of change $\emptyset$ 1968/69-1970/7 to $1977/78$
Common wheat	28.7	33 <b>.9</b>	<b>4</b> 8.53	142.5	+ 7.3	168.3	+ 6.7
Barley	26.2	30.7	44.6	145.3	+ 7.8	170.2	+ 6.9
Oate .	27.4	29.7	41.7	140.4	+ 7.0	152.2	+ 5.4
Sugar beet	6.7 <sup>8</sup>	7.9	7.9	100.0	0 +I	9.711	+ 2.1
Potatoes (main crop)	17.1 <sup>b</sup>	16.3	18.8	115.3	+ 2.9	109.9	+ 1.2
Rape (as oil seed)	•	49.9 <sup>°</sup>	92.9	186.2	+13.2	•	
Whole milk	36.5 <sup>d</sup>	41.7 <sup>d,e</sup>	59.3	142.2	+ 7.3	162.5	+ 6.3
Beef - live weight	214.8	259.8	413.7	159.2	+ 9.7	192.6	+ 8.5
Mutton and lamb - live weight	195.8	252.7	376.5	149.0	+ 8.3	192.3	+ 8.5
Pigmest - slaughter weight	278.5	309.8	378.0	122.0	+ 4.1	135.7	+ 3.9
Eggs (hen) (pence per dozen)	l 14.5 l	16.0	15.7	98.1	- 0.4	108.3	+ 1.0
<sup>8</sup> Guaranteed prices. <sup>b</sup> Average market price for corn. d Prol mice from sales ho the Milk Market	maincrop ware potate ting Boards of lignic	oes. <sup>C</sup> Average price 1 milk and milk for	a paid by the Wesses menufacturing free	t Agricultural Produ at dairy with natu	cers Ltd. to produc ral fat content. <sup>8</sup>	cers for winter rape 1971/72 farm vear.	from the 1972
A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	weather an an sonr gart	and were with train a					

Source: Cf. Tables 4, 5, 6.

Table 22 - Hypotheses on feed grain prices in UK agriculture in the 1977/78 farm year (a/1000 kg)

			A strength of the second s			
. Cereal	¢ 1968/69- 1970/71	Remarks	1977/78	Remarks	1977/78 price as % of the price in the base period	Average annual growth rate Ø 1968/69-1970/71 to 1977/78
Barley	(23.7) 22.5	Average maritet price obtained by producers for maliting and feed barley under the Cereals Deficiency Payments Scheme (CDPS) - Price marindown for feed barley: 5 %	44.6	Basic intervention price	198.2	6*8 +
Osta	(21.5) 21.1	Average maritet price obtained by producers for eats for milling and for feed purposes under the CDPS; Price markdown for feed oats: 2	41.7	Market price	197.6	<b>6.9</b> +
Na i se	25. 2 <sup>8, b</sup>	Average import price (cif) for US-maise (almost exclusively feed qualities)	46.9 44.6	Threshold price (assumption: 97 % of target price) Intervention price	186.1 177.0	+ 8.1 + 7.4
When t	(24.3) 23.8 22.6 <sup>a</sup> , <sup>b</sup>	Average market price obtained by producers for wheat for milling under the CDFS; price markdown for feed wheat: 2 % Average import price (cif) for dematured wheat	44.6 46.9	Basic intervention price for barley <sup>c</sup> Threshold price (assumption: 97 % of target price for barley)	187.4 207.5	+ 8.2 + 9.6
• ø 1968/70. <sup>b</sup> feed wheat.	Imports into the	e United Kingdom of maise and wheat as grain are du	ty-free. <sup>c</sup> In vi	ew of the denaturing premium the price	e of barley was regarde	ed as relevant for

Source: Commonwealth Secretariat, Grain Bulleting, London; various issues; Department of Trade and Industry, Overseas Trade Statistics of the United Kingdom, London, H.M.S.O., various issues; Directorate-General for Agriculture, Directorate for Agricultural Economics and Structure, EEC Information, Agricultural markets - Prices (vegetable products), Brussels, No. 2 of 14.3.1972, p. 9 et seq.; Nom calculations and estimates.

•

- 144 -

.

As can be easily seen from Table 21, producers of cereals and rape (as oil seed) but above all also producers of beef, milk, mutton and lamb would obtain appreciably higher average prices for their products if the United Kingdom were to adopt the EEC agricultural system. At the same time it must be remembered, however, that the continued application of production grants for cattle and sheep (e.g. beef cow subsidy, hill sheep subsidy) in their present form can hardly be reconciled with current EEC rules, and that it is still uncertain at the moment to what extent any other form of compensation is possible. Unlike the prices of the above products, those of root crops (sugar beet and potatoes) and those obtained by the intensive branches of the animal products industry (pigs, eggs and poultry) are expected to experience only relatively small increases or to remain mainly unchanged.

The price hypotheses for pigmeat and eggs in particular but also to some extent those for beef and milk are in themselves of little significance. Still more information is required on the possible future development of feed-grain prices as input prices, i.e. as a cost factor. Information is obtained by means of Table 22, in which the market or import prices for feed-grain (excluding guarantee payments for home-grown cereals, since the compound feedingstuffs industry in the United Kingdom only has to pay the market price) in recent years are compared with the 1977/78 feed-grain prices resulting from the producer price hypotheses for cereals in the enlarged EEC. From this it can be seen that between 1968/70 and 1977 input prices for feed grain are expected to rise on average by around 80 - D0 %. This would result for UK producers in an unfavourable development in the price ratio (pigmeat : feed grain) or (eggs : feed grain), as the case may be.

# 2. Forecast of the areas under cultivation and of livestock numbers in 1977

The areas under cultivation and the livestock numbers in 1977 were forecast first solely by means of the econometric model equations constructed in Part III. The result of this forecast are shown in Table 23; they will be critically examined below and, where necessary, revised.

Cultivated areas ('000 ha) or type of ani- mal ('000 000)	ø 1969/71	Forecast for 1977 calcu- lated by means of the model equations	No. of equation used; other remarks	Change Ø 1969/71 to 1977 (%)	Average annual rate of change ø 1969/71 to 1977 (%)	Forecast for 1977 revised according to economic con- siderations (see tert)	Change Ø 1969/71 to 1977 (%)	Average annual rate of change Ø 1969/71 to 1977 (%)
Wheat	980	1 055	110 <sup>b</sup>	+ 7.7	+ 1.1	1 400	+ 42.9	+ 5.2
Barley	2 315	4 507	111	+ 94.7	+ 10.0	2 400	+ 3.7	+ 0.5
Potatoes (maincrop)	228	209	112 <sup>b</sup>	- 8.3	- 1.2	160	- 29.8	- 4.9
Dairy cows		3.422	113	- 12.8	- 1.9			
	3.926	3.770	114	- 4.0	- 0.6	4.300	+ 9.5	+ 1.3
		3.585	115	- 8.7	- 1.3			
	,	3.356	Combined estimate <sup>C</sup>	- 14.5	- 2.2			
Beef cows	1.464	1.483	116 <sup>d</sup>	+ 1.3	+ 0.2	2.400	+ 63.9	+ 7.3
Ewe s	10.642	13.470	118	+ 26.6	+ 3.4	-	-	-
Sowns	0.951	0.800	119	- 15.9	- 2.4		-	-

### Table 23 - <u>Results of the estimate of the areas under cultivation and of livestock numbers in the United Kingdom</u> in 1977<sup>a</sup> by means of the model equations and revised projections

<sup>a</sup>It must here be borne in mind that owing to the lags in the respective equations, especially those for determining the number of cover and eves, the results shown do not strictly speaking apply to the 1977/78 farm year but really to later years (e.g., for 1979/80 in the case of a two-year lag). This at least would be the case if British farmers begin to make adjustments at just this point of time to the prices valid for the 1977/78 farm year, i.e. the year envisaged as the final year in the adjustment period. It must be said against that, however, that British farmers may anticipate the 1977/78 prices within a certain range of uncertainty and that possibly, therefore, they will take these prices into account before 1977/78 in their production planning. <sup>b</sup>It was assumed with the weather dummy that the 1977/78 climatic conditions would correspond to the average conditions recorded in the reference period. <sup>C</sup>Brimate by combination of all coefficients of elasticity derived from equations (113) - (115). <sup>d</sup>With this equation the dummy for the "beef and hill cow subsidy" obtains the value -0.3, with a certain reduction but not complete suspension (-1.0) of this subsidy being assumed (see text for details).

Source: Own calculations and estimates.

### a. Cereals

Assuming "normal" sowing conditions for winter wheat in the autumn of 1976 (1977 in actual fact), equation (110) shows that the area under wheat in 1977 would be about the same size as in 1969/71. The main reason for this is that, according to our hypotheses on producer prices, the price ratio (wheat : barley) would change only marginally by 1977. compared with 1969/71. Of necessity the "level effect", i.e. the assumed increase of about 70 % in wheat and barley prices between 1968/70 and 1977, is disregarded meanwhile in this forecast. In our opinion, however, this effect should stimulate the cultivation of wheat and barley. This ought also to be true when it is taken into account that the abolition of the fertilizer subsidies, which is necessary under EEC regulations. implies ceteris paribus a substantial increase in the input prices for a number of the most important trade fertilizers. According to a study  $^{\perp}$ published by the Agricultural Economic Development Committee of the National Economic Development Office the net margins per acre in grain growing could almost double in spite of the suspension of the fertilizer subsidies following the upward adjustment of UK grain prices to the EEC level. This compels us to up considerably the estimate for the area under wheat obtained from equation (110) (1977: 1 400 000 ha; increase over 1969/71: 43 %).

If forecast by means of equation (111), the area under barley is seen to double almost by 1977 (see Table 23). This is due almost exclusively to the effects of the time trend, and that amounts in practice to an extrapolation of the trend in the barley acreage in 1955-70. This in turn means that the barley boom which took place between the end of the fifties and the middle of the sixties is carried forward to the forecasting period with only minor downward adjustments. Such a result, however, seems hardly meaningful, although in themselves the economic incentives to expand further barley cultivation under EEC conditions ought to be much greater than in the past.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mentioned in The Financial Times, London, of 23.6.1972.



Diagram 10 - Areas under wheat and barley and the price ratio between 1977a 1955-72. both cereals in the United Kingdom ( It must be noted, above all, that, in view of the soil fertility, weather conditions, considerations of crop rotation and crops competing with barley, a further large increase in the barley acreage in many regions would be possible only by taking into account a considerable decline in the "net margins per acre". Besides, in the traditional arable regions - and this ought after all to be of greatest significance, wheat would probably be preferred as a "cash crop" to barley (cf. also the forecast for wheat). Under these circumstances, it seems appropriate to reduce considerably the estimate resulting from equation (111) for the barley area in 1977 (2 400 000 ha; increase over 1969/71: 4 %).

In the case of oats, we reckon on an only slightly changed acreage compared with the latest position (1972: 314 000 ha) (assumption for 1977: 300 000 ha); the reasons for this were given in detail on page 101 et seq. In the case of rye and meslin there should likewise be only marginal deviations from the area cultivated hitherto, since the market for these two cereals in the United Kingdom is, by tradition, very limited.

# b. Sugar beet

In forecasting the area under sugar beet we assume that in 1977 a white sugar production quota of 900 000 tons will be allocated to the United Kingdom (see page 102 for details)<sup>1</sup>. The beet crop per hectare amounted in 1967-71 to 36.2 tons. Only a small increase (up to 37.5 tons) is considered probable by 1977, since the input of fertilizers, insecticides and herbicides per hectare of beet area has already reached a very high

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For the time being we are not taking into consideration the matter of whether the United Kingdom Government will succeed in obtaining a substantial share of Australia's sugar quota (340 000 t) which is to be abolished entirely, whent the Commonwealth Sugar Agreement expires in February 1975 for its domestic beet industry. The British Sugar Corporation has already shown a lively interest in a subsequent partial transfer of this quota to the United Kingdom (see The Financial Times, London, 17 November 1972).

level. This, along with the rather high degree of mechanization of beet cultivation (above all. the use of monogerm varieties of seed) resulted in only a small increase in the beet crop after 1960. The average yield of sugar per beet (in % of the beet weight) rose, however, somewhat more extensively, whereby, in addition to improved methods of extraction, further increases in the sugar content of beet owing to genetic improvements could well have played a part (in recent years the use of monogerm varieties of seed has, in many cases, been accompanied by some loss in sugar content; efforts are being made to overcoming the negative correlation between the use of monogerm seed and sugar content) (assumption for 1977 sugar yield: 14.5 % of beet weight; 1967/71: 13.6 % of beet weight). Given the two assumptions on beet crop and sugar yield a white sugar yield per hectare of 5.44 tons in 1977 (1967/71: 4.91 tons; increase: 10.8 %) and thus an area of about 165 000 ha under beet for sugar production in 1977 are obtained. If an area of about 1 000 ha for seed production is taken into account, the entire area under sugar beet in 1977 would be equal to 166 000 ha (1969/71: 187 000 ha; contraction: 11.8 %)<sup>1</sup>.

# c. Potatoes

Assuming "normal" planting conditions in April 1977 (in actual fact 1978), equation (112) shows a slight reduction in the maincrop ware potato acreage from 228 000 ha (1969/71) to 209 000 ha in 1977 whereby the small positive effect of a slight rise in the average producer price for ware potatoes by 1977 was more than compensated for by the negative time trend (adjustment of the target acreage to the still slowly growing home demand for ware potatoes, in view of the rapidly rising yields per unit area). It can be deduced from Table 21 that in future potato cultivation will lose much of its attraction, compared, in particular, with grain and rape cultivation, but also with pasture farming. This is especially true if one assumes that even in 1977 there will still be no EEC regulations governing the market in po-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The "British Sugar Corporation" estimated that the area of sugar beet corresponding to a white sugar quota of 900 000 metric tons would rise by 3.6 % to about 172 000 ha. The difference may be attributed mainly to the fact that their estimate was based more on current production possibilities and present sugar yield (Financial Times, London 17 November 1972).

tatoes. Under these circumstances the forecast that the maincrop ware potato acreage would fall by only 8 % by 1977 could hardly be upheld (assumption for 1977: 160 000 ha; contraction compared with 1969/71: 30 %).

The competitive position of UK producers of early potatoes vis-à-vis producers in the other EEC countries ought to be influenced less by prices than by delivery dates. As regards delivery dates UK producers are at a great disadvantage, especially when compared with producers in France and Italy. The seasonally adjusted protective duties in force hitherto for imports of early potatoes from both the above countries have to be completely abolished by the end of the transitional period. For these reasons we consider a large reduction in the area under early potatoes also to be highly probably (assumption for 1977: 20 000 ha; 1969/71: 30 000 ha).

# d. Rape

In the past the commercial cultivation of rape for oil seed has played a quite insignificant role in UK agriculture (area under rape : 5 000 ha and less). The reason for this was that UK producers received no guarantee payments or other aids and were thus obliged to compete directly with supplies at world market prices. The majority of producers in the south of England have in recent years formed the Wessex Agricultural Producers Ltd., a non-profit-making farmers' organization the basis aim of which is to strengthen as much as possible the market position of the domestic producer by common marketing policies. This organization expects an "explosive" increase in rape cultivation in the future<sup>1</sup>. In this connection, the following points should be considered:

- After complete adjustment to the EEC price the producer price for oil-seed rape should increase by about 80-90 % compared with its present level.
- Until now farming in the United Kingdom has lacked a suitable "break crop" for grain growing. Efforts made towards the end of the sixties to create a suitable substitute by subsidising the cultivation of field beans should

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See The Financial Times, London, 21 January 1972.

now be seen to have failed. In future, however, oil-seed rape could prove to be a very attractive "break crop" because, under EEC conditions, its production would be very remunerative, since <u>inter alia</u> the cultivation and harvesting of rape can be highly mechanized.(This is particularly true for the large arable farms in eastern and southeastern areas of England, which combine a large capital input with a low input of labour per hectare). The extraordinarily favourable prospects for the commercial growing of oil-seed rape under EEC conditions led in the 1972/73 farm year - as a sort of anticipation of future price trands - to a 31 % increase in the area under rape compared with the previous year. Contracts covering some 12 000 ha for winter and spring rape for the 1973/74 farm year were reported by the Wessex Agricultural Producers Ltd. alone, and that is more than three times the area cultivated by this society in previous years<sup>1</sup>.

In line with these tendencies, which already apparent, we assume that in 1977 the area under rape for oil seed will total 50 000 ha.

### e. Cattle

Equations (113) - (115) for predicting dairy cow numbers show a decrease of between 4 and 13 % for 1977. If the coefficients of elasticity derived from equations (113) - (115) are combined to carry out a "point estimate", this results in even a decline of 15 % in the dairy cow stock compared with 1969/71 (see Table 23). In view of the expected rise of 60 % in the milk producer price between 1968/70 and 1977 the forecast of a significant reduction in dairy cow numbers seems surprising at first. It must, however, be borne in mind that the above estimates are based on price ratios:

- The price ratio (beef : milk) would, according to our hypotheses, clearly develop to the detriment of milk in the forecasting period.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Ste The Financial Times, London, 8 August 1972 and 24 November 1972.
- The price ratio (lamb : milk), which from the end of the fifties to the and of the sixties developed in favour of milk, would increase considerably by 1977, thereby favouring rearing to the detriment of dairying.
- The milk price rose more steeply than the wheat price in the reference period; according to our price hypotheses the opposite trend would set in during the forecasting period, and this should likewise <u>ceteris paribus</u> have a negative influence on dairying.
- Only the price ratio (pigmeat : milk) could in future develop much more strongly in favour of milk than in the past.

If the forecast is based only on the effects of the price ratios included in equations (113) - (115) is is easy to understand that the negative effect on dairy cow numbers resulting from the price ratios (beef : milk), (lamb : milk) and (milk : wheat) outweighs by far the positive effect of the price ratio (pigmeat : milk) so that on balance the stock of dairy cows will contract.

Some important factors which, after adoption by the United Kingdom of the Common Agricultural Policy (CAP), will be of importance could not be taken into account when preparing the above forecasts:

- The price ratio (milk : feed grain ["input price"; cf. Table 22]), which by and large remained unchanged in the reference period, would by 1977 develop very much to the detriment of milk producers. This could be offset to a certain extent by replacing feed grains with other protein-bearing feeding stuffs which, under EED regulations, can be imported free of levies (oil cake, cassava, tapioca, citrus fruit pulp <u>inter alia</u>). In this connection, mention must be made of the Netherlands, where the feedingstuffs industry drastically reduced, under EEC conditions, the share of feed grain in fodder concentrates within a few years. It must also be pointed out that in dairying the use of oil cake is anyhow more important than feed grain. As the consumption of oil cake per cow in the United Kingdom is already at a very high level<sup>1</sup>, it is to be assumed that UK milk producers will be inclined to avoid the high feed grain prices by producing more "summer milk" (larger proportion of grass in total feed requirements) and less "winter milk" (less grass, more feed grain). This possible alternative falls down at the point where the milk supply in the winter months could suffer<sup>2</sup> (not only from the point of view of supply policy but also for economic reasons, since the prices of liquid milk are very high). That would mean that the production of manufacturing milk would much more heavily concentrated on the grazing months April to September and this would create a number of problems as regards the utilization of capacity in the dairy industry.

- The price for cull cows would rise very much. In the past slaughter guarantee payments could not be received in respect of the EEC guide price, however, also applies to cow beef.
- The assumed sharp rise in the price of beef would also mean considerably higher prices for surplus calves which are an important by-product on dairy farms.
- During the reference period dairying contracted slightly in the eastern areas of the United Kingdom and was practised more in western areas particularly Wales. Owing to the substantially improved position under EEC conditions of wheat, barley and rape cultivation, which is concentrated in eastern areas, this trend is expected to become more marked in future. Sheep and beef-cattle raising in particular compete with dairying in western areas. However, the price ratio (lamb/beef : milk) would, according to our hypotheses, clearly favour sheep and beef-cattle raising until 1977, and this might impede a future expansion in dairy farming even in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Cf. R. Schmidt, Analyse und Prognose der Importe von Milcherzeugnissen ausgewählter Länder mit Hilfe ökonometrischer Modelle (Analysis and forecast of imports of milk products of selected countries with the help of econometric models), Kieler Studien Nr. 117, Tübingen 1971, p. 252.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> It should be remembered here that liquid milk production in the United Kingdom accounts for more than half of the total annual supply of milk.

western areas too. It should, however, be remembered that it is precisely in western and south-western areas that there are a large number of small holdings for whose profitability dairying is of crucial importance (higher value of production per unit area)<sup>1</sup>.

The contraction in the stock of dairy cows forecast by means of the model equations appears too pessimistic in view of the expected substantial price increases for slaughter cows and surplus calves - on the assumption that there will be a considerable reduction in the input of feed grain in dairying, as a result of more intensive use of pasture land and/or the use of more protein-bearing feedingstuffs (other than oil cakes) which are allowed to enter free of levies. The "regional effect" mentioned above (stronger competition particularly sheep-raising in western areas) and limitations resulting from a scarce labour force on farms could, however, impede any spectacular long-term expansion in the dairy herd. This is why we assume an increase of about 10 % in the stock of dairy cows for 1977 as against 1969/71 (4 300 000).

The major factor determining beef cow numbers is the price ratio (beef : lamb), which in the reference period strongly developed in favour of beef. For the forecasting period, however, we have assumed a constant price ratio so that, other things being equal, this ought to result in a constant beefcow stock. The trend in the price ratio (beef : milk) would, according to our hypotheses, continue to favour beef until 1977. Under EEC conditions, the continued stimulation of the growth of the beef cow population in the reference period afforded by the "beef and hill cow subsidy" ought presumably to be terminated in its present form. On the basis of recent trends, however. it may be supposed that another premium for beef cattle will be introduced in its place in the enlarged Community, and this will at least compensate somewhat for the "beef and hill cow subsidy". The positive effect of the steep rise in the beef price in the United Kingdom compared with the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Cf. J. Cherrington, "Farmers now less despondent - the South West" in The Financial Times, London, 7 November 1972.

milk price is, when forecasting the stock of beef cows by means of equation (116), almost balanced by the negative effect of an assumed partial reduction in beef cattle premiums. In view of the constant price ratio (beef : lamb) this has resulted in the forecast of an essentially unchanged stock of beef cows until 1977.

The forcast drawn up with equation (116) could not take into account the fact that the selling prices of cull cows, which account for a considerable proportion of the total earnings of beef-cattle farmers, will probably rise at a greater rate than that suggested in Table 21 in respect of the price of beef, since, under the UK agricultural system, slaughter cows were not covered by the deficiency payments arrangements. The price ratio (beef : feed grain /input price/), which in the reference period developed very much in favour of beef, would in future, according to our hypotheses, develop to the slight detriment of beef cattle producers. That could be countered, to a yet greater extent than in the case of dairying by reverting more to fattening on pasture. More intensive use of grass land ought to replace, to a considerable degree, the production of "barley baby beef" and other systems of intensive grain-based indoor feeding of young cattle. The profitability of such systems has, given the need to buy in store cattle, proved to be rather low in recent years; under EEC conditions, these systems, apart from some minor exceptions, are not expected to produce any satisfactory results.

In short, it may be said that the future growth of the beef cow population will neither be promoted, as in the past, nor hindered by the greater relative competitiveness of beef-cow rearing over sheep-raising (assuming a constant price ratio (beef : lamb) until 1977). The assumed development of the price ratio (beef : milk) would further favour the rearing of beef cattle in the forecasting period. Under EEC conditions, the premiums for beef cows would indeed be reduced but not entirely abolished. But a countervailing factor would be the extraordinarily steep rise in the prices for slaughter cows. With reference to this in particular and in view of the very favourable long-term sales prospects for beef in the enlarged Community too we should like to revise considerably upwards the projected size of the stock Diagram 11 - Beef cow mumbers in the United Kingdom and the most important determining factors involved (1955-71, 1977a)



<sup>a</sup> Revised forecast value (cf. text). <sup>b</sup> Multiplied by 10.

of beef cows obtained from equation (116): namely, 2 400 000 for 1977, a 64 % increase compared with 1969/71. These estimates of the future growth of the UK beef and dairy cow population, which perhaps seems somewhat optimistic, must first be viewed in the light of recent developments. In 1972 UK farmers expanded considerably their stock of cows principally as a result of the sharply rising prices on the markets in milk products between the beginning of 1971 and the beginning of 1972 and the boom in prices on the beef market, although at the same time the market prices for feed grain also increased sharply in reaction to the acute supply shortage on the world market. The cattle census in September 1972 in England and Wales showed that there had been an increase of 4.3 % in the stock of dairy cows and of 18.2 % in the stock of beef cows (!) compared with September 1971. What is striking here is that from 1971 to 1972 the production of grass silage of all kinds rose by almost 25 % this was possibly an attempt to reduce the input of feedgrain, which had risen considerably in price, by a more intensive use of grassland. In our opinion, these recent developments are a very good test of what is to be expected as regards UK cattle raising under EEC conditions, and the result of this test is on the whole in accordance with the considerations we have set out above. Compared with 1972, increases of only 5.8 % and of 30.9 % are forecast in the stock of dairy cows and that of beef cows respectively in 1977.

#### f. Sheep

If equation (118) is used for projecting the ewe stock, a steep rise of 27 % between 1969/71 and 1977 is obtained. The major factor determining ewe numbers is, according to equation (118), the price ratio (lamb : milk). While the trend in this price ratio tended to favour sheep farmers in the sixties, the price ratio itself (lamb : milk) would, according to our hypotheses, increase by at least 17 % by 1977 (in comparison with 1969/71), and this should provide a significant stimulus to sheepfarming. The price ratio (beef : lamb), which during the reference period had not favoured sheep farmers, would remain constant until 1977 so that beef-cow raising would be expected to have little contractive effect on the ewe stock.





Account must also be taken of the fact that, unlike all other branches of animal production, sheep-keeping would be only marginally affected by the rise in feed grain prices (the use of concentrates for fattening lambs and hoggets in the United Kingdom is not very common; stable feeding of Lambs with grain, as is to be found, for instance, in France, is almost unknown in the United Kingdom)<sup>1</sup>. On the assumption that future EEC arrangements governing the market in mutton and lamb similar to those for beef will be introduced and will also apply to meat from cull ewes and rams, the prices for rams and ewes for slaughter will rise very sharply (price guarantees are not granted in respect of these types of animals under the UL system). The hill sheep subsidy, which must be regarded as not complying with EEC regulations, would indeed have to be abolished in its present form. It is, however, thought probable that some compensation under the structural aid . arrangements for hill farmers is possible. Protection of the wool market (price guarantees for wool) would presumably be discontinued. but the British Wool Marketing Board would probably continue to function as the central marketing body for home-produced wool (on a voluntary basis). The suspension of wool price guarantees would cause problems for hill farmers especially; however, it is precisely the hill and mountain farmers who will receive considerably higher prices for slaughter ewes. Since the disadvantage resulting from the assumed abolition of the wool price<sup>2</sup> guarantee ought to be at least balanced by the higher prices for cull ewes and rams, we do not consider a revision of the forecast obtained from equation (118) necessary.

#### g. Pigs

By means of equation (119) a reduction of 16 % (800 000) in the stock of sows was forecast from 1969/71 to 1977. The reason for this is that, according to our hypotheses, the price ratios (beef : pigmeat) and (pigmeat : milk) will in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Cf. The Financial Times, London, 13 August 1972.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In view of the developments in demand and supply on the international wool markets since 1971/72 it is even conceivable that UK producer prices will be higher in future than during the reference period (approximately until 1970) in spite of the possible abolition of wool price guarantees.

future develop substantially more strongly to the disadvantage of the producers of slaughter prigs than in the past. The price ratio (pigmeat : feed grain) is of crucial significance for the profitability of pig fattening. This price ratio was not shown to have a significant influence on the pig cycle in the reference period; this is probably due to the fact that under the price guarantee arrangements automatic compensation for feed costs (by means of "feed formula") was granted to UK producers. Such far-reaching protection for pig fatteners against fluctuations in feed grain prices is not included in the EEC system. And so in future in the United Kingdom too farmers will be expected to base their decisions concerning the sow stock more on the price ratio (pigmeat : feed grain) than has hitherto been the practice. Under EC conditions this price ratio will deteriorate considerably for UK producers of slaughter pigs. From 1958/60 to 1968/70, for instance, the price ratio (pigmeat : feed maize) fell in the United Kingdom by only 10 %, but from 1968/70 to 1977 a reduction of 27 % is to be expected. It must also be added that protection of the bacon industry in the United Kingdom by the 1964 Bacon Market Sharing Understanding and by the subsidies granted by the Government must be discontinued. Under these circumstances, the forecast obtained from equation (119) looks rather too optimistic. We shall, however, retain this forecast (800 000 for 1977) in view of the large increase in the demand for pork estimated in Part (II), which, at least as far as fresh carcase meat is concerned, should be mainly covered by domestic production.

### h. Poultry

The construction of an econometric model for the number of laying hens and for the production of market poultry proved impossible; thus only a projection based on logical considerations can be undertaken here. In doing so it is to be first noted that the efficiency of UK egg and poultry production (particularly in view of farm size, the technical infrastructure and the standard of organization is, in general, considerably higher than that of producers in the other countries of the Community (the Netherlands may be the exception). The price ratios (eggs : feed grain) and (poultrymeat : feed grain) would fall by about 40 % from 1968/70 to 1977, but this would represent nothing more than a slightly more marked continuance of the trend observed in the reference period. In our opinion, it is important as regards future possible trends that UK poultry farming now competes with other EEC countries on the basis of approximately the same prices for feed grain, with the advantage of efficiency mentioned above being able to make itself fully felt as a competitive advantage. These considerations have led us to assume that the production of eggs and poultrymeat in the United Kingdom will increase somewhat more rapidly until 1977 than the demand for those products. Assuming that the egg yield per laying hen continues to rise in the forecast period, the number of laying hens would, under these conditions, remain practically unchanged (61 400 000 in 1977 compared with 61 600 000 in 1969/71). Poultrymeat production had to be forecast directly (1967/69: 509 000 tons; 1977: 849 000 tons; increase: 67 %).

#### 3. Test of the areas under cultivation

An estimate of the total agricultural area constitutes the basis of the test of the areas under cultivation. It can be assumed here that the decline in the total agricultural land, a trend already apparent in the reference period, will remain unchanged in the future, irrespective of any profitability considerations for agriculture resulting from the accession of the United Kingdom to the EEC. This development is mainly due to the increasing demand for land for house and road construction, for industrial purposes and for leisure facilities, a demand generally met at the expense of the agricultural area. A graphical trend extrapolation gave, for 1977, a total agricultural area of about 18 500 000 ha  $(1970/72: 18 804 000 ha; reduction: 1.6 \%, cf. Table 24)^1$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The data on the total agricultural area for the years up to 1969 are no longer fully comparable with the data for the years since 1970, on account of the new definition of rough grazings in 1970 as a result of which some 400 000 ha were no longer counted as rough grazing land.

Table 24 - "Test of the areas under cultivation": United Kingdom (in '000 ha)

	1958	1959	1960	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971	1972	1977
Arable land: total	7084	7184	7304	7262	7323	7366	7435	7495	7481	7419	7381	7262	7199	7228	7222	7950
Cereals: total wheat	3030 894	2942 781	3106 851	3057 739	3200 913	3259 780	3424 893	3656 1026	3788 906	3822 933	3810 978	3695 833	3712 1010	3811 1097	3798 1127	4160 1400
barley	1115	1238	1365	1549	1614	1907	2036	2183	2481	2439	2401	2413	2243	2288	2288	2400
oats	897 2	822	661	701	615	524	455	410	367	410	382	382	376	363	314	300
rye maslin	115	° 6	83 °	°	-12	• 🗣	32 a	- °	4 K	4 %	4 4 0	<b>4</b> 6 9	46	57	63	55
Sugar beet	178	176	176	173	172	171	179	184	180	185	188	185	187	191	189	166
Potatoes	332	330	335	284	298	311	315	300	271	287	280	248	271	257	236	180
Fodder crops: total	525	488	491	456	435	388	361	341	314	314	333	323	293	276	262	130
Hops	8	8	89	8	8	8	80	80	8	8	7	7	7	7	7	7
Mustard	1	13	11	11	10	10	9	Ø	7	80	6	6	9	9	6	9
Fruit: total	120	118	116	112	110	108	101	66	96	92	89	84	83	80	78	50
Vegetables: total	172	162	168	147	155	160	153	150	149	166	178	191	206	184	180	120
Flowers: total	12	12	<b>£</b>	13	13	14	14	14	14	14	14	15	15	15	15	16
Other	20	16	23	11	80	8	7	2	7	14	15	15	14	13	13	65 <sup>8</sup>
bare fallow	103	148	78	123	72	91	81	68	106	93	81	168	98	74	80	50
Temporary grassland: total (incl. lucerne)	2570	2771	2779	2867	2842	2838	2786	2660	2541	2416	2377	2322	2307	2314	2358	3000
Permanent grassland: total	5457	5307	5184	5133	5081	5031	4980	4912	4937	4989	4935	4997	4944	4926	4910	4350
Rough grazings <sup>b</sup> : total	7420	7413	7405	7358	7334	7307	7255	7215	7170	7138	7097	7109	6692	6678	6614	6200
Total area	19961	19904	- 26861	19753 1	19738	19704	. 02961	19622 1	9588 1	9546 1	9413 1	9368	18835	18830	18746	18500
<sup>a</sup> Including 50 000 ha for rough grazings.	oil se	sed raj	. р	Trom 1	970 on	wards	appro	ximate	ly 400	000	la are	no l	onger 1	recorde	ជ ឧន	

Source: Central Statistical Office, Nonthly Digest of Statistics, London, H.M.S.O., various issues; own calculations and estimates.

,

Table 25 - Trend in stocking rates of pasture land and in use of compound feeding stuffs in UK cattle and sheep farming (1958 - 1972 and forecast for 1977)

Year	A	Ð	υ	Q	ß	Ŀ,	ť	Н	I
58	10.961	26.105	9.865	2.611	12.476	8.027	1.554	2.557	205.0
59	11.305	27,612	10.175	2.761	12.936	8.078	1.601	3.043	235.2
50	11.779	27.871	10,601	2.787	13.388	7.963	1 - 681	3,168	236.6
51	11.944	28,967	10.750	2.897	13.647	8,000	1.706	3.099	230.1
52	11.869	29.498	10,682	2.950	13.632	7.923	1.721	3.267	239.7
63	11.728	29.344	10,555	2.934	13.489	7.869	1.714	3.158	234.1
54	11,635	29,657	10.472	2,966	13.438	7.766	1.730	3.133	233.1
55	11.948	29.911	10.753	2.991	13.744	7.572	1.815	3.378	245.8
56	12,211	29,957	10,990	2,996	13.986	7.478	1.870	3.348	239.4
57	12,343	28,885	11.109	2,889	13.998	7.364	1.901	3.538	252.8
8	12.156	28,004	10.940	2,800	13.740	7.312	1.879	3.616	263.2
6	12.377	26.604	11,139	2,660	13.799	7.319	1,885	3.961	287.0
0	12.580	26,080	11.322	2.608	13.930	7.251	1.921	4.090	293.6
<del>-</del>	12.804	25,981	11.554	2,598	14.152	7.240	1 055	3.837	271.1
2	13.483	26.877	12.135	2,688	14,823	7,268	2.039	4.106	277.0
7	15.581 <sup>a</sup>	33.675 <sup>b</sup>	14.023	3.368	17.391	7.350	2.366	•	
le stock	( 000 000 )	B. Sheep s	tock (1000	000). C.	Cattle stoc	k (1000 000	) livestoc	k units (L	su))°.
p stock ( manent gru	1000 000 LS assland; 10	U <sup>d</sup> ). E. Sto 00 000 LSU	ck of catt ha). G. LS	le and she U per ha c	sep ('000 00 of pasture l	0 LSU). F. and. H. Pro	Total pas oduction o	ture land f compound	temporary feeding
for catil	e, calves a	nd sheep ('	000 000 to	ns). I. Pı	roduction of	compound f	feeding st	uffs pe <b>r</b> Li	SU (kg).
) · total	cow popula	tion 1977.	" ( <u>0.40</u> ) ·	stock of	ewes 1977.	<sup>c</sup> One head	of cattle	≈0.9 LSU.	
leep 🇞 0.	l LSU.								
		uo∭ oo ;JJ∪	±blDia∞a	;+o+o 4o +	ntion Lond	C M H WC	In in err	) מסווסמ	ີ ແມ່ດາ

1 •••• ----**1**10 à 5 Central Statistical UIIICe, MORTALY Digest lations and estimates. Source

,







A slight increase in the arable land as such (excluding temporary grassland) from 4 890 000 ha in 1970/72 to 4 950 000 ha in 1977 was estimated (+ 1.2 %). The main reason for this is that the sharp increase forecast in the areas under wheat and rape - with the area under barley remaining fairly constant - is being accompnied by a drastic reduction in the areas under toot crops. If arable land as such is deducted from the total agricultural area, a total figure of 13 550 000 ha of temporary and permanent grassland and of rough grazings is obtained for 1977. Only a slight increase in permanent grassland at the expense of rough grazings is conceivable given natural conditions obtaining in the United Kingdom. Rough grazings are to be found mostly on hill slopes where only a thin layer of earth covers the subsoil rock. They are often very boggy owing to the infiltration water from the hills especially, and the feed value of the grass varieties thriving in these places is correspondingly small. In principle, it is either impossible to convert the majority of rough grazings into more profitable permanent grassland, or possible only with great difficulty and with a relatively heavy outlay of capital and labour. It can, however, be assumed that there is a certain reservoir of rough grazings which it would be economically worthwhile to make improvements in view of the sharp price increases expected under EEC conditions for the most important outputs of pasture farming. In the case of rough grazings too a projection may, therefore, be made by a simple graphical trend extrapolation in which, however, the downward trend in the area of rough grazings continues somewhat more intensely during the forecast period (conversion of rough grazings into permanent grassland in certain regions assumed to be carried out to a greater extent in the period 1970/72-77 than in the period 1958/60-1970/72). Under theses conditions we obtain a forecast of 6 200 000 ha of rough grazings, which represents a fall of 7.2 % compared with 1970/72.

Thus, temporary and permanent grassland could still cover 7 350 000 ha in 1977 (1970/7: 7 253 000 ha; increase: 1.3 %). According to our forecasts, the stock of cattle and sheep would, converted into livestock units (LSU), increase by 21.6 % from 1970/72 to 1977 (see Table 25 for details). At first glance, such a result fits badly into the forecast of an area of temporary and permanent grassland growing only marginally in the future. This is true particularly because in

the projection of the total cow population we had assumed that, in order to avoid the high feed grain prices, feed grain will be replaced by grass to a great extent both in the milk and beef production sectors. Our forecast of cattle and sheep numbers may be retained, therefore, only if the stocking rates can be considerably increased in the future. In the reference period the stocking rate was raised by 22.3 % from 1 612 LSU/ha in 1958/60 to 1 972 LSU/ha in 1970/72. This could well have been made possible both by a greater use of concentrates (approximately represented by the domestic production of compound feedingstuffs for cattle and sheep), from 225.6 kg/LSU (1958/60 to 280.6 kg/LSU in 1970/72, i.e. an increase of 24.4 % and also by a more intense use of grassland (cf. Table 25). A stocking rate of 2.366 LSU/ha is calculated for 1977, which corresponds to a rise of 16 % compared with 1972. Even such a stocking rate could be easily maintained by more widespread concentrate feeding alone. A further increase in the utilization of concentrates (which are mainly grain-based) for cattle feeding (sheep can be disregarded here since they are rarely given concentrated rations in the United Kingdom) would conflict with our forecasting hypothesis of a production of milk and beef relying on the intensified use of grassland. The higher stocking rate would, therefore, in future have to be attained only by a more intensive use of grassland - principally by improved conservation methods for grass (more silage, less hay), by increased utilization of fertilizers by the use of higher-quality seed and, last but not least, by a substantial increase in the share of high-yield temporary grassland (the so-called "leys") in the total pasture land (excluding rough grazings) at the expense of permanent grassland. (As Table 24 shows, we have for this reason assumed a 27 % increase in temporary grassland between 1972 and 1977 and, accordingly, an 11 % reduction in permanent grassland.) Since this is, in principle, possible (see the remarks on the developments in UK cattle farming in 1972! - p. 156) it is thought unnecessary to revise the forecast of the stocks of dairy cows, beef cows and ewes.

4. Forecast of the yields per unit area and per livestock unit Both the yields per unit area and the yields per livestock unit were forecast with the aid of graphical trend extrapolations and of special technical considerations. The results of these estimates are shown in Table 26 (for sugar beet cf. IV, 2, b).

In interpreting the assumed growth of cereal yields it must be borne in mind that poor weather resulted in an extremely unfavourable harvest in 1968 and a bad one in 1969 and this had a negative effect on overall average for 1968-71. Compared with 1971-72, two years with extremely good harvest, the yield of wheat estimated, for 1977, for example, represents only a quite modest increase of 4.2 % (barley: 5.1 %; oats: 4.2 %). Looked at in this way. the yields of cereals estimated by us for 1977 could be judged as being somewhat too low. Nevertheless, we have retained this assumption for the following reason: In the past, the rise in grain yields was achieved mainly by increased inputs of fertilizers, insecticides, herbicides and fungicides. Insecticides and herbicides in particular include to a greater or lesser extent poisonous compounds which, for the most part, break down in the soil only after a very long time. The harmful effects are now acknowledged, and, as a first step, attempts are being made to keep future increases in pollution within certain limits at least. (Mention must here be made inter alia of the ban on the use of DDT in some countries of north-western Europe.) This would also mean, however, that further inconsiderate use of insecticides and herbicides per unit area by farmers would no longer be tolerated - this is particularly true for the United Kingdom, where the Government and public opinion do take the problem of environmental pollution extremely seriously. In the case of fertilizers a certain cutback could be achieved by economic means alone (abolition of the large fertilizer subsidies). Furthermore, the problem of environmental pollution arises here too, even if the situation has, for a long time now, been not so serious as with pesticides (e.g. fertilizer saturation in lakes and rivers due to the excessive inflow of fertilizer residues from the surrounding meadows and fields).

- 164 -

Table 26 - Projections of the yields per unit area in crop production, and the average milk yield per com and the average yield of eggs per laying hen in the United Kingdom for 1977

	ø 1958–61	ø 1968–71	1977	Increase from Ø 1958- 1 61 to Ø 1968-0 71 (in %)	<pre>vverage annual cate of change 1958-61 to 1968-71(in%)</pre>	Increase from Ø 1968-71 to 1977 (in %)	Average annual rate of change $\phi$ 1968-71 to 1977 (in $\beta$ )
Crop yields (100 kg/ha)							
Wheat	34.6	40.5	45.0	+ 17.1	+ 1.6	+ 11.1	+ 1.3
Barley	31.5	35.3	41.0	+ 12.1	+ 1.1	+ 16.1	+ 1.9
Oats	26.0	34.1	40.0	+ 31.2	+ 2.°	+ 17.3	+ 2.0
Potatoes - Maincrop - Earlies	216 151	259 <sup>8</sup> 169 <b>a</b>	310 190	+ 19.9 + 11.9	+ 1.6 + 1.1	+ 19.7 + 12.4	+ 2.3 + 1.5
Wilk yield per cow $(\mathrm{kg})$	2962	3338	3600	+ 12.0	+ 1.1	+ 7.8	+ 0.9
Eggs per hen	237	266 <sup>a</sup>	290	+ 12.2	+ 1.2	• 9.0	+ 1.1
a Average of years 1000	5						

Source: Cf. the corresponding supply situation statements; own calculations and estimates

Similar considerations are also valid for the projection of the yield of potatoes, although there it is, however, to be borne in mind that there is still ample scope for achieving higher yields by improving harvesting techniques and subsequent storage methods.

It is to be noted that in the forecast of milk jields it has been assumed that there will be a considerable weakening of the growth trend during the reference period. This is to be explained by the fact that the estimated cow population in 1977 is based on the hypothesis "more grass, less concentrates", which could permit a slowing down in the future growth rate of milk yields.

# 5. Forecast of the domestic production of agricultural product and comparison of the results of the projections of production and consumption a. General preliminary remarks

In sections 2 and 4 above the forecasts for animal stocks, the areas under cultivation and yields per unit area and per livestock unit were drawn up. The crop production for 1977 is obtained by multiplying the relevant area under cultivation by the yield per unit area. Milk production in 1977 is also obtained by multiplying the number of cows forecast for 1977 by the average milk yield in 1977, and egg production in 1977 by multiplying the number of laying hens by the average egg yield. Projections of meat production are rather more difficult because, though they are based upon the forecasts of the stock of cows, ewes and sows the attached comprehensive econometric models must first be applied in order to be able to calculate the gross domestic production. But before this can be done it is necessary to make assumptions as regards the exogenous variables entering into these models in so far as this has not yet been done in connection with the construction of the models.

We will first represent the results of the forecasts by an "extension" of the supply situation statements until 1977. This, in our opinion, has the

- 166 -

advantage that the past trend can be compared in one table at any time with the projected values for 1977 (without loss of information as a result of using averages omitting some balance sheet items which are not explicitely stated in the projections but which are still important none the less). Since the supply situation statements are often fairly complex and, therefore, difficult to "read", in this text "rapid information" is provided by summarizing the most important forecasts for 1977, compared with the average for the last few years of the reference period, in small tables.

### b. Cereals

According to our estimates, UK cereal production would by 1977 have risen sharply to 17 550 000 tons (1969-71: 13 936 000 tons; increase: 26 %). Of this total for 1977 common wheat would account for 35.9 % (6 300 000 tons), and barley for 56.1 % (9 840 000 tons) (for details cf. Tables 1\* - 8\*).

b<sub>1</sub> Remarks on some important balance items in so far as they concern human consumption and industrial use

In the case of <u>wheat</u>, it is expected that in 1977, as a result of the expected greater supply of wheat from domestic sources, the UK milling industry will no longer meet only one third less (as in the last years of the reference period), but 50 % ot its requirements of milling wheat by purchases of homegrown grain. Owing to the composition of white bread favoured by British consumers we consider a marked increase in the share of home-grown wheat in the national grist improbable. We further assume that exports of UK quality biscuits to other countries of the Community (among them Germany in particular) will expand sharply in the future. Likewise, as a result of more extensive domestic supplies and in view of the changed price ratios brought about by the ETC levy system (often in the past UK products were probably far too expensive in relation to imports), the demand for wheat for malting and brewing should

- 167 -

in the United Kingdom  $\emptyset$  1966/67 - 1968/69 and forecasts for 1977/78 ('000 t grain weight)

	Ø 1966/67 - 1968/69	1977 <b>/7</b> 8	Percentage change Ø 1966/67-1968/69 to 1977/78	Average annual percentage change Ø 1966/67-1968/69 to 1977/78
Human consumption Supplies from domestic sources for the domes- tic market	1760	2561	+ 45.5	+ 3.8
Supplies from foreign sources for the do- mestic market	3729	2786	- 25.3	- 2.9
Total supplies for the domestic market	5489	5347	- 2.6	- 0.3
Foreign trade balance for products contai- ning grain	- 114	- 65	-	-
Net domestic con- sumption Proportion of home grown cereals in net	5603	5412	- 3.4	- 0.3
domestic consumption (%)	30.6	46.2	-	<b>-</b> .
Industrial use				
Supplies from domestic sources for the domes- tic market	1294	1738	+ 34.3	+ 3.0
Supplies from foreign sources for the do- mestic market	1113	1325	+ 19.0	+ 1.8
Total supplies for the domestic market	2407	3063	+ 27.3	+ 2.4
Proportion of home- grown cereals in total industrial consumption (%)	53.8	56.7	_	-

Source: See annexed Tables 1\* and 3\*.

in 1977 be met to a greater extent by domestic production and not, as hitherto, almost exclusively by imports. The consumption of barley for malting and brewing will also presumably rise only slowly in the future because the per capita consumption of beer is by and large constant and because the export prospects for beer are not exactly favourable. Only exports of malt could increase appreciably under EEC conditions (an export surplus of 130 000 tons (grain equivalent) was estimated for 1977). As compared with the past, a large increase in the use of home-grown barley for distilling is estimated given the expectation of a continued rapid growth in the demand for some UK alcoholic drinks (whisky) on international markets and the assumption that in future domestic distilleries will, for price and supply reasons, replace to a large extent imported maize by home-grown barley. It is, therefore, reckoned that the use of imported maize by UK distilleries and maltsters will, for some years to come, diminish appreciably. In contrast, it is expected that maize might have to be used for the production of starch and glucose in almost all cases in the forecast period with the result that the considerable increase in imports of maize for this purpose that was observed in the reference period will remain unaffected.

b, Estimate of the domestic supply of feed grain and its utilization

If the demand for seed, the wastage by producers and processors and the demand for cereals for food and industry presumably met from domestic sources are deducted from total domestic production, an estimate is obtained for the total available supply of home-grown feed grain (for domestic use and for export). By reference to Tables 4\* and 8\* and according to the method just described a value of about 12 250 000 tons is obtained for 1977. The total feed grain consumption in UK agriculture (including imported feed grain) averaged 12 850 000 tons in the 1966/67 - 1968/69 farm years. As was frequently mentioned, the higher feed grain prices in the Community ought to prompt UK farmers to replace, where possible, feed grain by other feedingstuffs which could be imported free of levies under EEC arrangements. In cattle production, however, they ought to greater recourse to grass, in particular, as a substitute, Consequently in spite of growing stocks there whould be no significant

rise in the use of feed grain in cattle production. The projected fall in the pig stock should have a contractive effect on the consumption of feed grain, although, according to our forecasts, the available supply of potatoes for feed purposes will fall drastically. This is to be seen in connection with the fact that potatoes were only of rather minor importance as regards total feed requirements for pigs in the United Kingdom in the reference period. Furthermore, one should bear in mind that in pig production, as a result of the relevant price ratios, an extensive substitution of feedingstuffs which can be imported free of levies (e.g. tapioca flour) for feed grain is to be expected. It is only in egg and poultrymeat production that one may reckon on a continuing and clearly expanding feed grain demand in future (few substitution possibilities; forecast indicates a particularly rapidly growing production of poultrymeat). Accordingly. it is likely that up to 1977 the total feed grain requirements of UK agriculture will increase only slightly above its level of the years 1966/67 to 1968/69 (estimate: + 10 %). This in turn would mean that from a purely theoretical point of view 85-90 % of total feed grain requirements in 1977 would come from domestic sources. If one considers that for numerous reasons a greater amount of maize will probably be used in pit and poultry production under EEC conditions than in the past, an export surplus of home-grown feed grain might appear on the UK market. According to our overall estimates, this would occur if imports of maize rose in 1977 to more than / 1.10 . (12.85) - $12.25_7 = 1.890000 \text{ tons}^1$ .

#### c. Sugar

If the white sugar production of 900 000 tons allocated to the United Kingdom is subtracted from the consumption of white sugar forecast for 1977 (after allowing for statistical errors), we obtain a net import demand of 2 100 000 tons, which is virtually the same as that recorded in 1966/67 - 1968/69: 2 119 000 t (see also Table 9\*).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Although it provides no figures, a report presented by the Agricultural Economic Development Committee speaks of a "surplus of supplies" of homegrown feed grain (quoted in The Financial Times, London, 23 June 1972).

Table 20 - The supply of sugar and potatoes in the United Kingdom  $\phi$  1966/67 - 1968/69 and forecasts for 1977/78

	ø 1966/67 - 1968/69	1977/78	Percentage change Ø 1966/67-1968/69 to 1977/78	Average annual percentage change Ø 1966/68-1968/69 to 1977/76
Sugar ('000 t white sugar equi	valent)			
Production	ටරි <b>2</b>	900	+ 2.0	+ 0.2
Total net imports (including products containing sugar)	2119	2100	- 0.9	- 0.0
Total disposable quantity	3001	3000	- 0.0	- 0.0
Statistical errors	+ 32	+ 34	-	-
Domestic consumption	2937	<b>29</b> 66	+ 1.0	- 0.1
Degree of self-sufficiency	30.0	30.3	-	_
<u>Potatoes</u> ('000 t fresh $\binom{\%}{\text{weight}}$				
Total production - Maincrop - Early potatoes	6884 6273 611	5340 4960 380	- 22.4 - 20.9 - 37.8	- 2.5 - 2.3 - 4.6
by farmers	1744	6 <b>0</b> 8	- 65.1	- 10.0
- Feed	1053	160	- 84.8	- 17.2
Total sales by farmers	5140	4732	- 7.9	- 0.8
Total exports	75	70	-	-
- Seed potatoes	57	70	-	-
- Naincrop ware potatoes	18	0	_	-
Total imports	307	995	-	-
- Seed potatoes	10	20	-	-
- Maincrop ware potatoes	9	569	-	-
- Earlies	<b>2</b> 88	406	-	-
Total net imports	232	925	_	-
Total disposable quantity	7140	6265	- 12.3	- 1.3
Total domestic consumption as food	5292	5587	+ 5.6	+ 0.5
- Maincrop	4394	48 <b>01</b>	+ 9.3	+ 0.9
- Earlies	8 <b>9</b> 6	786	- 12.5	- 1.3

Source: See annexed Tables 9\* and 10\*.

#### d. Potatoes

According to our forecasts, the domestic production of maincrop ware potatoes would fall from 1967/69 to 1977 by 20.3 %, to 4 960 000 tons, and that of early potatoes by 29.9 %, to 380 000 tons (cf. Table 10\*). The quantity of ware potatoes (maincrop) remaining after deduction of the domestick demand for seed potatoes and of wastage would not be sufficient to met total domestic requirements of ware potatoes. Under these circumstances, it is to be expected that maincrop potatoes will be used for feed purposes to only a small extent in fu- . ture and that ware potatoes will cease to be exported. Only exports of seed potatoes, of which the United Kingdom is one of the most important suppliers of the world market, might perhaps be maintained in the forecast period. On these assumptions, the gross import demand for maincrop ware potatoes would be around 570 000 tons in 1977. This scems a realistic figure whent it is considered that under EEC conditions quotas for imports of ware potatoes (maincrop) from Member States would have to be discontinued. The poor quality of the ware potatoes supplied by British producers have often been the butt of much criticism from the representatives of consumer interests in the United Kingdom. It should not, therefore, be very difficult for Dutch suppliers, in particular, who offer topquality potatoes, to win a larger share of the UK market in maincrop ware potatoes in future.

#### e. Rape-seed and sunflower oil

Assuming a net yield (minus seed requirements) of 2 700 kg/ha (no information on past trends is available to us with the result that this assumption has had to be based on the yields per unit area in other EEC countries; peak yields in the United Kingdom are thought at present to stand at 23 cwt/acre, i.e. about 2 900 kg/ha<sup>1</sup>) and an oil extraction rate of 42 %, UK rape-seed oil production in 1977 would total 57 000 tons (seed production: 135 000 tons).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Financial Times, London, <sup>6</sup> August 1972.

As regards utilization, we assume that the projected domestic production of rape-seed oil will go primarily to meeting the growing demand for vegetable oil in the margarine industry, which, according to our estimates, will increase by about 25 000 tons from 1969/71 to 1977. This assumption can be justified only if one presupposes that in 1977 the type of rape cultivated in the United Kingdom will be almost exclusively that from which oil with only marginal acidity ( $\leq 1$  %) is obtained and which, therefore, in terms of taste, can be used unhesitatingly in the manufactue of margarine. The tendency towards growing rape with very low acidity is already evident in some of the main producer countries (for example France, but principally in Canada). Altogether about 50 000 tons of rape-seed oil could be processed in the margarine industry in 1977 (1969/71: 9 000 tons - predominantly imported rape-seed oil). And so in 1977 some 16 % of the estimated oil and fat requirements of the margarine industry (total: 308 000 tons) would be met by rape-seed oil, and this would presumably be at the expense of imports of sunflower oil (assumption for 1977: 10 000 tons; 1969-71: 21 000 tons). The remaining 7 000 tons of rape-seed oil could be immediately used in the manufacture of edible fats (1969-71: 6 000 tons) or exported in the form of seed. In this connection it should be noted that the Wessex Agricultural Producers Ltd. have, in anticipation of future developments, already been able to negotiate the first "trial deliveries" of British rape seed to some continental European countries<sup>1</sup>. Imports of rape seed and rape-seed oil, which still amounted to the equivalent of 34 000 tons of oil in 1969-71, should fall appreciably owing to expanded domestic production (assumption for 1977: 10 000 tons oil equivalent). According to hypothesis 1 (7 000 tons of domestic rape-seed oil for the manufacture of edible fats, and 50 000 tons for the margarine industry) the total consumption in 1977 of rape-seed oil would amount to 67 000 tons (hypothesis 2: with 7 000 tons of domestic rape-seed oil for export and 50 000 tons for the margarine industry, total consumption would be 60 000 tons).

## f. Beef

In order to forecast the gross domestic production of beef and veal with the aid of the econometric model constructed for the cattle stock, a further hypothesis

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Financial Times, London, 21 January 1972.

on the export of calves and projection of calf slaughterings in 1977 is needed. Calf slaughterings in 1977 were estimated by means of equation (117), in which the dummy variable "calf subsidy" was given a value of -0.5 (this implies a considerable reduction in this subsidy under EEC conditions). On this assumption equation (117) produces the result that calf slaughterings (owing to the assumed very sharp rise in producer prices for beef) would drop to just 100 000 by 1977 - that means that in the main only calves not fit or only conditionally fit for rearing would be slaughtered (calf slaughterings 1969-71: 314 00C). As regards calf exports, it is to be noted that the demand for UK calves in other EEC countries (mainly Belgium and Holland) is more likely to increase in future. Nevertheless, in view of the very favourable price and marketing prospects for store and fat cattle, UK farmers will be striving more than ever to rear as many calves as possible themselves. If these two factors are weighed against each other, it may still be considered optimistic if we assume that UK calf exports will again reach the peak levels (50 000 calves) recorded during the reference period (1964/65).

With a total cow stock (dairy and beef) of 5 700 0000 (since, on average, the stock of cows reacts to price changes with a four-year lag, this level will, strictly speaking, not be reached until 1981), with a calf outflow of 150 000 due to slaughter and export, and assuming exports of 300 000 store and fat cattle, we obtain for 1977 a gross domestic production of beef and veal of 1 058 000 tons (1969/71: 852 000 tons; increase:  $24 \%)^1$ . Since, as a result of the expected steep rise in real retail prices for beef, a decrease in consumption from 1 336 000 tons (1969/71) to 1 031 000 tons in 1977 (23 \%) was forecast, the domestic production in 1977 would not only suffice to meet domestic demand but would also result in a small export surplus of 27 000 tons. This does not mean, however, that the United Kingdom will import hardly any live cattle and/or beef in 1977. Much more likely is that the import of "Irish

<sup>1</sup> Cf. Table 11\*.

Table 29 - The supply of beef, sheepmeat and pigmeat in the United Kingdom  $\frac{0.969}{71}$  and forecasts for 1977 ('000 tons slaughter weight)

	ø 1969/71	1977	Percentage change Ø 1969/71 to 1977	Average annual percentage change Ø 1969/71 to 1977
BEEF AND VEAL				
Gross domestic production	851.8	1058.4	+ 24.3	+ 3.2
Total net imports (live cattle and meat)	479.0	- 27.4	-	· _
Domestic consumption	1332.6	1031.0	- 22.6	- 3.6
Degree of self-suffi- ciency (%) MUTTON AND LAMB	63.9	102.7	-	-
Gross domestic production	225.0	284 <b>.0</b>	+ 26.2	+ 3.4
Total net imports (live sheep and meat)	343.5	191.0	-	-
Domestic consumption	566.2	475.0	- 16.1	- 2.5
Degree of self-suffi- ciency (%) PTGMTAT	39•7	59• <sup>8</sup>	-	-
Total gross dom. prod. - Pork - Bacon	962.1 637.2 324.9	8 <b>32.</b> 0 609.0 223.0	- 13.5 - 4.4 - 31.4	- 2.1 - 0.6 - 5.2
Total net imports - Pork <sup>a</sup> - Bacon <sup>b</sup>	604.0 87.1 516.9	822.0 261.0 561.0	  -	- - -
Total domestic con- sumption	1562.0	1654.0	+ 5.9	+ 0.8
– Pork – Bacon	7 <b>20.3</b> 841.7	784.0 870.0	+ 8.3 + 3.4	+ 1.2 + 0.5
Degree of self-suffi- ciency (%)	61.6	50.3	-	-
a Including tinned pork.	<sup>b</sup> Includin	ng tinned bac	on and ham.	

Source: See annexed Tables 11\*, 12\* and 13\*.

stores", in particular, will not cease entirely (assumption for 1977: 35 000 tons meat equivalent; this corresponds to about 180 000 store cattle). Furthermore, chilled meat will presumably be imported from Ireland ("table-beef" qualities) as well as meat for the processing industry from New Zealand, Australia and the Argentine will presumably still be imported in large quantities (assumption for 1977: nearly 105 000 tons, probably in the form of beef for the most part (1977: 100 000 tons). Thus the United Kingdom would in future be one of the leading suppliers of cattle and beef to international markets - a development which, in somewhat narrower limits has already been observed since the middel of the sixties (British exports of cattle, in meat equivalent, and beef totalled 75 000 tons in 1964/65 and almost 95 000 tons in 1972).

#### g. Mutton and lamb

With a ewe stock of 13 470 000 (since the ewe stock reacts to price changes with a four-year lag, this figure would, strictly speaking, not be reached until 1981) and assumping a slaughter weight of 25 kg for ewes and rams (fat hoggets and lambs: 19 kg; sheep exported live: 20 kg on average), the model for the sheep stupply produces a gross domstic production of 284 000 tons for 1977 (1969/71: 225 000 tons; increase: 26 %). For mutton and lamb we forecast a price-induced fall in consumption from 1969/71 to 1977 of 16 % (1977 level: 475 000 tons). This convergent trend in production and consumption results in a sharp reduction in the calculated net import requirements of mutton and lamb from 344 000 tons in 1969/71 to only 191 000 tons in 1977, i.e. a fall of 45 %. The gross import demand ought, however, to be considerably higher, for it must be reckoned that UK producers of fat lambs will devote themselves much more intensively than hitherto to supplying the French market, which is capable of absorbing a great deal of English lamb and which, in terms of prices obtainable, is an attractive market. Considerable quantities could, however, also be exported to Belgium, Germany and Italy. (These remarks are, of course, valid only if UK producers enjoy free access to the markets just mentioned following the establishment of a common organization of the market in sheepmeat). In detail, exports of 50 000 tons of mutton and lamb and 300 000 head of live sheep (equivalent to 6 000 tons of meat) are assumed for 1977, compared with a gross import demand of 247 000 tons of mutton and lamb <u>in toto</u>. Since, with the exception of Ireland, there are no important exporters of mutton and lamb in the enlarged European Community, at least 200 000 tons of mutton and lamb would still have to be imported from non-member countries in 1977 (New Zealand and Australia) (see also Table 12\*).

#### h. Pork and bacon

With a sow population of 800 000 and an average "yield" of 16 slaughter pigs per sow per year, a total of 12 800 000 slaughter pigs would be available in 1977. A domestic pork consumption of 870 000 tons slaughter weight was forecast for 1977. If it is assumed that in 1977 70 3 domestic consumption will be met from domestic sources (1969/71: 88.4 %), the gross domestic production of pork in 1977 should total 609 000 tons slaughter weight. Assuming an average slaughter weight of 65 kg for pork and bacon pigs, this would require a total of 9 369 000 slaughter pigs. Furthermore, if it is assumed that in 1977 too foreign trade in live pigs will be relatively insignificant (assumption: export = import = 10 000 animals, or 700 tons meat equivalent). and that, therefore, gross domestic production can be equated with net production, 3 431 000 slaughter pigs still remain for bacon production, equal to a bacon output of some 223 000 tons (1969/71: 325 000 tons; decrease: 31.4  $(5)^{\pm}$ . Given a slight fall in bacon consumption by 1977, this would result in a reduction in the market share of the UK bacon industry from 38.6~%(1969/71) to 28.4 % in 1977, from which Danish exporters, above all, could benefit.

## i. Edible offals

The "projection" of the domestic production of offals is based on the forecast net production of beef, veal, mutton, lamb and pigmeat. It was assumed that, on everage, edible offals account for 9 % of the slaughter weight of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See Table 13\*.

cattle, 20 % of that of calves, 14 % of that of sheep and 4 % of that of pige (here edible offals are not included in the slaughter weight, which only serves as a reference quantity). This results in a possible domestic production of edible offals of about 164 000 tons in 1977 (1969/71: 153 000 tons; increase: 7.2 %; see Table 14\*). As the demand for edible offals will, according to our estimates, probably rise at a somewhat slower rate (+4.8 % from 1969/71 to 1977), net imports could remain almost unchanged (1969/71: 98 000 tons; 1977: 99 000 tons).

#### j. Milk and milk products

Given the forecast rate of growth in the stock of dairy cows and given the average milk yield the total milk production in 1977 will amount to 16 254 000 tons (1969/71: 13 883 000 tons; increase 17.1 %). Producer consumption of liquid milk and fresh cream should continue to fall appreciably until 1977, since on the one hand, it is to be expected that the number of farms keeping dairy cows will also decrease rapidly and since. on the other, the level of (per capita) consumption in farm households is extremely high, so that it seems hardly possible that the negative effect of the fall in the number of individuals can be offset to any extent by an increase in the level of per capita consumption. In addition, for reasons of labour saving alone, the production of farmhouse butter will continue to fall sharply. The only exception could be the production of farm cheese, which until now has been by the Milk Marketing Boards and which is a fairly attractive line for some specialized milk producers. It will be difficult to maintain the legally based monopoly position of the Milk Marketing Boards as purchaser of liquid and manufacturing milk under EEC conditions; on a voluntary basis, the Milk Marketing Boards could, in future, presumably still grant certain "marketing aids", organize quality control, and much else, from which producers of farm cheese would also benefit. Feeding with whole milk could still expand slightly until 1977 because under the EEC common agricultural policy the feeding of whole milk to stock must be encouraged in a more permanent manner than hitherto. Given the above assumptions we obtain for 1977 a total consumption of whole milk in farm households of 1 612 000 tons, which, compared with 1969/71 (1 597 000 tons), represents an increase of 0.9 % (cf. Table 15\*). Consequently, there will be available in 1977 14 642 000 tons of whole milk (at present, 12 286 000 tons; + 19.2 %) for farm sales to dairies and other milk-processing establishments.

Table	30	_	The	produc	ction	and	util	izati	on o	f	whole	milk	in	the	United	Kingdom
			Ø 19	069/71	and f	fored	casts	for	1977	(	'000 ·	t)				

	ø 1969/71	1977	Percentage change Ø 1969/71 to 1977	Average annual percentage change Ø 1969/71 to 1977
Total production	13883	16254	+ 17.1	+ 2.3
Quantity used on produ- cers' farms	1597	1612	+ 0.9	+ 0.1
Total farm sales	12286	14642	+ 19.2	+ 2.6
Farm sales as a percen- tage of total production	88.5	90.1	_	-
Utilization by dairies and by other milk pro- cessors for:				
- Total fresh consumption	8518	9362	+ 9.9	+ 1.4
- Preserved milk products <sup>b</sup>	752	838	+ 11.4	+ 1.6
- Butter	1478	2193	+ 48.4	+ 5.8
- Cheese	1333	2030	+ 52.3	+ 6.2
- Chocolate crumb	205	219	+ 6.8	+ 0.9
Proportion of milk used in factories in total sales (%)	30.7	36.1	-	_
<sup>a</sup> Liquid milk, fresh cream cream. <sup>b</sup> Whole milk powder	n, yoghourt, r, condensed	, milk d 1 whole	rinks (milk shakes milk of all kinds	etc.) and ice and tinned cream.

Source: See annexed Table 15\*.

The demand for fresh milk has to be met primarily from these sales. Imports of fresh products are normally of only marginal importance for both technical (e.g. the problem of adequate chilling facilities) and economic reasons (e.g. the very high transport costs for liquid milk due to the high water content). The consumption of fresh milk in 1977 was forecast at 9 362 000 tons, of which 7 931 000 tons will be accounted for by liquid milk, 1 288 000 tons by fresh cream, and 143 000 tons by yoghourt, milk drinks (milk shakes etc.) and ice cream. After deducting the consumption of fresh milk from total milk sales we obtain for 1977 a manufacturing milk supply of 5 260 000 tons (1969/71: 3 768 000 tons; + 40.1 %).

It would be outside the scope of this study if we attempted to set out here even in incomplete form all the considerations which, as regards the "distribution" of the available supply of manufacturing milk, relate to the individual products. For this reason, we shall confine ourselves to a brief summary of the most important hypotheses and considerations concerning the various products:

- <u>Condensed milk</u>: The total per capita consumption of condensed milk in 1977 was estimated at 3.00 kg product weight; this included unsweetened condensed whole milk, sweetened condensed whole milk and sweetened condensed skimmed milk. The "dynamics" of the demand for condensed milk is determined almost exclusively by unsweetened condensed whole milk. The demand for sweetened condensed milk (whole and skimmed) is predominantly linked to traditional consumption habits (tea-drinking) so that a graphical trend extrapolation until 1977 seems plausible. The latter gave a per capita consumption of 0.35 kg for sweetened condensed whole milk and of 0.30 kg for sweetened condensed skimmed milk, thus leaving 2.35 kg (total consumption: 135 000 tons product weight; sweetened condensed whole milk: 20 000 tons) for unsweetened condensed whole milk. The demand for the latter on international markets is still expanding slowly in spite of competition from "recombined milk". Furthermore, the UK condensed milk industry would perhaps find marketing outlets opening up for it on the markets of a number

of other EEC countries (Germany, Italy). It must, however, be expected that the Netherlands and France in particular will as from 1973 intensify their efforts to obtain a larger share of the UK condensed milk market. (Duthc exporters have, in recent years, been able to achieve considerable marketing success with unsweetened condensed whole milk in the United Kingdom.) We shall, therefore, assume for 1977 a moderate rise in exports (to 40 000 tons) and a large increase in imports (to 25 000 tons) (see Table 17\* for details). The trend in the demand for sweetened condensed whole milk on international markets is strongly downwards; in the other EEC countries the market for this type of condensed milk is very limited. Thus exports of sweetened condensed whole milk might increase hardly at all (5 000 tons in 1977). Imports too will be practically non-existent in 1977 owing to the overall declining market in the United Kingdom. From the assumptions on foreign trade and the estimates of domestic consumption we obtain a necessary production of 150 000 tons of unsweetened and 25 000 tons of sweetened condensed whole milk in 1977 (milk equivalent: 467 000 tons in all).

- <u>Whole milk powder</u>: The forecast for the consumption of whole milk powder in 1977 can be obtained directly from Table 12 (25 000 tons). The downward trend in domestic demand and the fact that Austrian suppliers, who until now have been by far the strongest competitors of the UK milk powder industry on the domestic market, will be practically excluded from the UK market by the levy arrangements, could cause a sharp contraction in imports of whole milk powder (assumption: 10 000 tons; for details see Table 17\*)<sup>1</sup>. The exports of the United Kingdom milk powder industry are mainly intended for developing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> At the end of January 1973 the Austrian Government, in connection with their request that the UK Government accord preferential treatment to Austrian exports of whole milk powder exports to the United Kingdom, even threatened to impose a "retaliatory duty" on UK exports of whisky to Austria. It is very doubtful whether Austria's request will meet with much sympathy from the other EEC member countries. We, therefore, saw no reason to revise our as-sumption on UK whole milk powder imports in 1977 (see also The Financial Times, London, 22 January 1973).

countries. The fact that they may receive EEC export refunds would enable UK exporters to pursue a decidedly more aggressive price policy on these markets. This, along with the increase in demand on the part of the developing countries on the world market, could result in a considerable rise in exports (to 15 000 tons in 1977). From the estimates on consumption and foreigns trade we obtain a necessary home production of 30 000 tons of whole milk powder (milk equivalent: 252 000 tons).

- <u>Tinned crean</u>: Estimate of consumption (from Table 12): 27 000 tons. Both Denmark and, above all, Ireland ought, under EEC conditions, to strive to obtain a larger share of the UK tinned cream market, so that we can reckon on a renewed rise in imports, which have been on the decline since 1965 (assumption for 1977: 10 000 tons; for details see Table 10\*). On that basis, 17 000 tons (milk equivalent: 119 000 tons) will remain for domestic producers.
- <u>Chocolate crumb</u>: Estimate of consumption: 107 000 tons. As regards imports of chocolate crumb (exclusively from Ireland), we must content ourselves with a vague assumption, since at present it cannot be foreseen to what extent UK parent companies will, under EEC conditions, transfer production to their Irish subsidiaries (1977: 30 000 tons - this corresponds to the 1969/71 average: 31 600 tons; cf. Table 18\*). Exports were intended solely for the US market; since imposition of import quotas by the US, the sales prospects for UK exporters have been rather unfavourable (assumption: 5 000 tons in 1977). Necessary home production: 82 000 tons (219 000 tons milk equivalent).

- Butter and cheese: A total of 4 223 000 tons of manufacturing milk (1969/71: 2 011 000 tons; + 50.2 %) will still be available for the production of butter and cheese after deduction of the whole milk requirements in the above sectors. As regards the "allocation" of quantity of manufacturing milk to butter and cheese production we assume that, normally, higher profits per unit of weight of raw milk used are to be obtained from processing whole milk into cheese than from converting it into butter. Thus

Table	31	-	The	suppl	Ly of	butter	and	cheese	in	the	United	Kingdom
			Ø 19	969/71	L and	foreca	sts 1	or 197	7			

('000 t)

ø 1969/71	1977	Percentage change Ø 1969/71 to 1977	Average annual percentage change Ø 1969/71 to 1977
26.1	90.2	+ 45.2	+ 5.5
405.1	<b>264.</b> 8	· _ ·	<b>–</b> 4
470.0	355.0	- 24.5	- 3.9
13.2	25.4	-	-
135.7	200.0	+ 47.4	+ 5.7
156.6	75.0	<b>—</b>	-
297.6	275.0	- 7.6	- 1.1
45.6	72.7	-	-
	<pre>\$ 1969/71 26.1 405.1 470.0 13.2 135.7 156.6 297.6 45.6</pre>	<ul> <li>\$\$ 1969/71</li> <li>26.1</li> <li>90.2</li> <li>26.1</li> <li>264.8</li> <li>355.0</li> <li>13.2</li> <li>25.4</li> <li>135.7</li> <li>200.0</li> <li>156.6</li> <li>75.0</li> <li>297.6</li> <li>275.0</li> <li>45.6</li> <li>72.7</li> </ul>	

Source: See annexed Table 16\*.

butter manufacture would be a predominantly residually determined quantity (this can also be shown to be true in many continental European countries). Therefore, the projection of the domestic production of cheese is of decisive significance. The competitive position of UK cheese manufacturers on the domestic market should, under EEC conditions, improve rather than deteriorate. New Zealand, Australia and Canada will, owing to the levy arrangements, find it difficult to hold a significant share of the UK market after the expiration of the transitional period<sup>1</sup>. The Netherlands, France and Ireland in particular will certainly try to increase considerably their share of the UK market, whereby not so much competition with respect to prices as competition in terms of quality and marketing will predominate. As regards quality, the lead of domestic cheese manufacturers is already so great that foreign suppliers will find it difficult to catch up by 1977. Manufacturing milk prices in 1977 should not differ too much between the United Kingdom, on the one hand, and Ireland, France and the Netherlands, on the other should, with the result that this competitive factor (cost price of raw milk) will lose much of its significance. UK cheese manufactures have already set their sights on making appropriate use of the chances offered them under EEC conditions. The English Country Cheese Council announced, in September 1972, an advertizing campaign costing 1 500 000 for "English choese" on television, in supermarkets and in other retail trade establishments, which is intended to improve the starting position of domestic cheese manufacturers in the market struggle expected after 1973<sup>2</sup>. Furthermore, the UK cheese industry should in future find substantially improved marketing opportunities in other EEC countries (Belgium, France, Germany and Italy above all). These considerations lead us to assume that cheese production will rise between 1969/71 and 1977 by 47 %, to 200 000 tons (for details see Table 16\*). Just

<sup>1</sup> The amount of cheddar cheese which New Zealand was allowed to import to United Kingdom on preferential terms (exemption from the normal levy on ports from third countries, whereby New Zealand exporters have to keep prices above a minimum level) was fixed at 69 677 tons in 1973; it will to 15 484 tons in 1977.

See The Financial Times, London, 12 September 1972.
under 14 000 tons are already accounted for by the production of farmhouse cheese, still leaving a quantity of about 186 000 tons (milk equivalent: 2 030 000 tons) for cheese production in dairies or cheese factories. The residual quantity of manufacturing milk available for butter production can now be ascertained (see above): 4 223 000 - 2 030 000 = 2 193 000 tons in 1977; that would correspond to a butter production of about 90 000 tons fresh weight (1969/71: 62 000 tons; + 45 %).

The projected slight decrease in cheese consumption, together with the large rise in domestic production, result in a sharp decline of 52 % in the expected net import demand for cheese in 1977 to only 75 COO tons. As a result of the pronounced convergent trend in production and consumption up to 1977 net imports of butter too would fall considerably (1969/71: 405 000 tons; 1977: 265 000 tons; fall: 35 %), although the expected, price-induced decline in butter consumption is of the greatest significance here. Expressed in terms of the whole milk equivalent, the net import demand of the United Kingdom for butter and cheese in 1977 would amount to about 7 300 000 tons.

# k. Eggs and poultrymeat

As already explained in detail, the estimate of the domestic production of eggs and poultrymeat is based primarily on the demand forecast for these two products. We have assumed that, in view of the clear lead in terms of efficiency of the UK egg and poultry industry over that in most other EEC countries, domestic production in 1977 will not only cover domestic consumption but also result in an admittedly modest surplus for export (cf. Tables 21\* and 22\*).

### 1. Apples, pears and tomatoes

The competitive position of UK producers of apples and pears is expected to deteriorate steadily between 1973 and 1977 (the period of the gradual removal of UK protective tariffs and quotas for fruit and vegetables imported from other EEC countries) vis-à-vis producers in France and Italy in particular. The main reason for this is that the average producer prices for apples and

- 185 -

Table	32	 The	sur	ply	of	app	ples,	pe	ars	and	fre	esh '	tomatoes	; in	the	1	
		Uni	ted	King	don	iØ	1966	767	7 -	1968/	769	and	forecas	sts	for	1977,	/78

(	'000	t)
---	------	----

	<b>ø</b> 1966/67 – 1968/69	1 <b>977/7</b> 8	Percentage change Ø 1966/67-1968/69 to 1977/78	Average annual percentage change Ø 1966/67-1968/69 to 1977/78
APPLES				
Total commercial production	355	290	- 18.3	- 2.0
Total net imports <sup>a</sup>	303	533	-	-
Domestic consumption <sup>a</sup>	658	823	+ 25.1	+ 2.3
Degree of self-sufficiency	54.0	35.2	-	-
PEARS				
Total production	49	44	- 10.2	- 1.1
Total net imports <sup>b</sup>	121	137	-	-
Domestic consumption <sup>b</sup>	170	181	+ 6.5	+ 0.6
Degree of self-sufficiency (%)	<b>2</b> 8.8	<sup>:</sup> <b>24.</b> 3	-	-
FRESH TOMATOES				
Production (calculated)	176	130	- 26.1	- 3.0
Net imports	163	249	-	-
Doméstic consumption	339	379	+ 11.8	+ 1.1
Degree of self-sufficiency (%)	51.9	34.3	-	-
a Including preserved apples a	nd cider ap	ple <b>s</b>		
<sup>o</sup> Including preserved pears				
Calendar years $\phi$ 1967/69 and	1977			

Source: See annexed Tables 23\*, 24\* and 26\*.

pears (dessert and cooking) in the Six are considerably lower than the comparable prices in the United Kingdom, and so UK producers must reckon with a corresponding fall until 1977 in the prices they obtain. (This refers solely to the long-term price level, the short-term and sometimes very sharp price changes due to varying harvest yields having been disregarded.) In addition, it must be remembered that French and Italian producers enjoy a strong competitive advantage over UK producers given merely the essentially more favourable climate in these countries. Apart from some growers in southern England, most UK apple and pear producers are, in terms of both technical competence and organization, inferior to producers in France. Italy, the Netherlands and Belgium. Marketing on a cooperative basis is only in its infancy in the United Kingdom so that in this field too there is a need to catch up with the above EEC countries. Under these circumstances, it must be expected that many UK apple and pear producers will have to cease business after 1973. For 1977, therefore, we have assumed a reduction in the apple-growing area of 39 % to 30 000 ha and a reduction in the pear-growing area of 25 % to 7 100 ha (for details see Tables 23\* and 24\*). Since a significant increase in yields per unit area is hardly to be expected, the assumed reduction in the cultivated area would be fully reflected in total production. An increase in the consumption of apples as a result of a fall in prices was forecast, and, in view of the appreciably lower production, this would result in a sharp rise in the net import demand of 75 % between 1966/68 and 1977 (to 533 000 tons). In the case of pears, however, an increase in net import demand of only 13 % is estimated for the same period since, according to the demand forecast, pear consumption will not expand further by 1977.

As regards commercial tomato-growing under glass, it is unlikely, for reasons similar to these set out in respect of producers of apples and pears, that UK producers will maintain their share of the market after 1973. It was assumed that total production would fall by 26 % to 130 000 tons between 1967/69 and 1977 (cf. Table 26\*). In contrast, it is forecast that the total consumption of tomatoes will grow rapidly so that, in the case of tomatoes too, a considerable increase in the net import demand can be expected (+ 35 % to about 870 000 tons between 1967/69 to 1977).

# V. Forecasts of the sale value of some important output items in the national agricultural accounts

In principle, it should be pointed out that "well-founded forecasts" of UK agricultural receipts in the EEC in 1977 could be drawn up only for those preducts for which datailed supply forecasts had already been worked out in Part IV of the study (and for which, by way of necessity, hypotheses on the producer prices in 1977 had also been formulated). As Table 33 shows, during the years 1967-69 receipts from the sales of these products amounted, on average, to more than 80 % of the total receipts of UK farmers; to that extent, Table 33 does give at least an idea of the expected changes which ought primarily to determine total receipts in 1977.

It is quite simple to estimate the receipts from the sales of the relevant products in 1977 if for the reference period adequate information is available on the price and quantity components on which the receipts for the individual items are based. Then it is necessary merely to subtract the quantity in question for 1977 from the supply forecasts and to sultiply it by the hypothetical average producer price for 1977 (likewise adjusted to the price defined for the reference period). Unfortunately, we possess no information on the quantity and price components which were used to draw up the agricultural accounts of the United Kingdom. In order to make any estimate at all of the receipts in 1977 we were compelled to construct a model of our own showing output quantities and prices for the reference period. The average 1967/69 receipts worked out on this basis are compared in Table 33 with the figures provided by the United Kingdom Contral Statistical Office. On the whole, they tally to a very large extent; there was only one important discregancy, and that was to be found under the heading "Cattle and beef". This discrepancy could, however, be explained methodically and was taken into consideration explicitly in the estimate for 1977.

With regard to the quantities of output used, it should be pointed out that in the case of wheat, barley, sats and potatees it is the total sales of

-	189	-
---	-----	---

Table	33 -	The receipts of UK agriculture from the sale of important products
		<u>\$ 1967/69 and forecasts for 1977<sup>a</sup></u> (L m)

		<b>ø</b> 1967/69	1077	Percentage	Percentage change \$ 1967/69 to 1977						
		Ø 1967/69	1977	Quantity	Price	Income					
Wheat	- own calculation - official statistics	84.3 <sup>•</sup> (83.3) <sup>•</sup>	272.8 -	+ 72.8	+ 87.2	+ 223.6					
Earley	- own calculation - official statistics	134.7 <sup>e</sup> (134.1) <sup>e</sup>	238.4	- 3.6	+ 83.5	+ 77.0					
Oats	- own calculation - official statistics	8.5 <sup>●</sup> (8.0) <sup>●</sup>	9.4	- 27.9	+ 53.3	+ 10.6					
Sugar beet	- own calculation - official statistics	44.9 <sup>f</sup> (42.0) <sup>f</sup>	49.0 -	- 7.2	+ 17.4	+ 9.1					
Potatces	- own calculation - official statistics	86.2 <sup>f</sup> (92.3) <sup>f</sup>	89.0 -	- 5 <b>.9</b> -	+ 9.7	+ 3.2					
Cattle and beef	- own calculation - official statistics	<b>291.</b> 2 (319.1)	771.5	+ 28.3	+106.5	+ 164.9					
Difference (our calculation - alrost entirely receipts from cattan which, after being impo Kingmon, are fattened)	(27.9)	(26.8)	(- 53.5)	(+106.5)	(- 3.9)						
Sheep, mution and lemb	- com calculation - official statistics	89.6 (87.0)	215.9	+ 17.6	+105.0	+ 141.0					
Pigs for slaughter	- con calculation - official statistics	231.0 (219.1)	314.5	- 3.4	+ 40.9	+ 36.1					
Nilk and milk products Sales through the Nilk Marketing Boards Farm household consumption Farmhouse cheeses Nilk and milk products; total	- eva calculation - eva calculation - eva calculation - can calculation - official statistics	421.3 22.1 2.7 446.1 (449.5)	868.3 24.0 10.3 902.6	+ 23.8 - 34.7 + 35.3 - -	+ 66.4 + 66.4 +180.6 - -	+ 106.1 + 8.1 + 281.5 + 102.3					
Errs	- own calculation - official statistics	$(192.4)^{d}$	220.8 -	+ 12.5	+ 10.9	+ 24.7					
Poultrymeat	- own calculation - official statistics	109.1 (110.5)	281.9 -	+ 66.8	+ 54.9	+ 158.4					
Total receipts of UK agriculture	- official statistics	. (2151.0)	-	-	-	-					
Receipts from the products covered	- own calculation - official statistics	1730.5 (1737.3)	3392.6	-	-	+ 96.0 _					
Percentage of total receipts accounted for by the products covered (basis: official statistics)		80 <b>.</b> 8	-	_	-	· _					

<sup>a</sup> Estimated on the basis of the projections of production and utilisation and also on the basis of assumptions on producer prices for 1977/78. <sup>b</sup> Consumption of liquid milk on farms (indluding direct males from the farm), production of farmhouse butter, fresh cream. <sup>c</sup> Hen and duck eggs. The very commiderable difference between our own calculation and the official statistics is principally because in our own calculation all the hen eggs could be assessed only on the basis of the average producer price of the British Egg Marketing Board, although some of the eggs sold freely (i.e. not through the Egg Marketing Board) are presumably sold at considerably higher prices. <sup>6</sup> Average for the 1966/67 - 1968/69 farm years. <sup>f</sup> Average for the 1967/68 - 1969/70 farm years.

Source: Central Statistical Office, Annual Abstract of Statistics, No 107, London, H.N.S.O., p. 204; Own calculations and estimates.

.

also Table 33). According to our forecasts, therefore, the receipts of UK farmers from the sale of their most important products would, under EEC conditions, increase much more sharply than in the reference period (1959/60 to 1968/69: +36.2 %).

Particularly in the case of cereals and products of pasture farming (cattle, sheep, milk) a sharp increase in receipts can be expected (between 1967/69 and 1977: + 129 % in the case of cereals and + 124 % in the case of products of pasture farming). About 75 % of this increase will result from the upward adjustment of UK producer prices to the NEC level and only about 25 % from increased cutput (the latter will be due mainly to the higher producer prices).

### A N N E X

.

.

– a –

ĺ

# List of the symbols used in the analysis of supply in the United Kingdom

CEREALS MODEL

YR	: Area under wheat in June ('000 ha)
P(w) or P(b)	: Average national total producer price (market price plus
	guarantee payments) for wheat or barley, where appropriate
	(1/100 kg)
<b>२,</b> ( <sup><u>R</u></sup> )	: Quotient found on dividing the amount of precipitation (mm)
1.0	by sunshine (hours per day) in England and Wales in October
	of the preceding year
<b>₽</b> <sub>p</sub>	: Area under barley in June ('000 ha)
POTATO MODEL	
A <sup>mp</sup>	: Area under maincrop potatoes in June ('000 ha)
P(mp)	: Average producer price of the Potato Marketing Board for maincrop ware potatees
$Q_2(\frac{R}{S})$	: Quotient found on dividing the amount of precipitation (mm)
	by sunshine (hours per day) in April in the United Kingdom
	(weightings: England and Wales 0.75, Scotland 0.15, Northern
	Ireland 0.10)
мат	: Mean daily air temperature at sea level in April in the United
	Kingdom (weightings: see above)
CATTLE NODEL	
P(bf) or P(s)	: Average national total producer price (market price plus
	guarantee payments) for fat cattle or for fat sheep and fat
	lambs, where appropriate $(L/100 \text{ kg live weight})$
P(m)	: Average pool price of all sales of liquid and manufacturing
	milk through the Milk Marketing Boards ( $L/100$ kg at natural
	fat content, free from dairy)
P(p)	: Average national total producer price (market price including
	guarantee payments) for fattened pigs of all sorts (bacon and
	pork pigs, but excluding sows and boars) ( $L/100$ kg live weight)
DC	: Number of dairy cows in June ('000)
Dpc	: Dummy variable for hill and beef cow subsidies (cf. text for
	details)

BC	: Stock of beef cows in June ('000)
TC	: Total stock of cows in June ('000)
TCC	: Total available supply of calves ('000)
SLCV	: Domestic slaughterings of new-born calves ('000)
D <sub>c</sub>	: Dummy variable for the calf subsidy (cf. text for details)
EXCV	: Export of live calves ('000)
TCCR	: Total number of celves retained as replacements for the stock
	of cows and bulls for service and total number of these
	retained for fattening or for export as store or fat cattle
SLCW	: Domestic cow slaughterings ('000)
EXCW	: Export of live cows for slaughter ('000)
CHR	: Total number of calves required as replacements for the
	stock of cows
BS	: Stock of bulls for service in June ('000)
SLBS	: Domestic slaughterings of bulls for service ('000)
<b>BS</b> R	: Inflow into the stock of bulls for service ('000)
SLFC	: Domestic slaughterings of home-bred fat cattle ('000)
EXSF	: Exports of home-bred fat and store cattle
BEZB	: Gross domestic production of beef and veal ('000 t)
)(P	: Total milk production ('000 t)
AMY	: Average milk yield per dairy $cow(t)$

•

distances on the second second	
	- SILILIPAL A

SHEEP NODEL	
III	: Stock of ewes in June ('000)
Dhs	: Dummy variable for the hill sheep subsidy (cf. text)
TLC	: Humber of lambs reared ('000)
ENR	: Inflow into the ewe stock ('000)
SLEN	: Domestic slaughterings of eves ('000)
R	: Stock of reas for service in June ('000)
SLR	: Demostic slaughterings of rams for servide ('000)
RR	: Inflow into the stock of rams for service ('000)
MLF	: Total number of lambs remaining for domestic fattening and
	for export as store of fat lambs ('000)
SLML	: Slaughterings of fat lambs from the domestic stock ('000)

: Exports of store and fat lambs from domestic stock ('000) EXHL : Gross domestic production of mutton and lamb ('000 t) BEZS PIG MODEL SW : Stock of sows in June ('000) P(e): Average producer price of the Egg Marketing Board for topquality hen eggs (L/100 kg; including the guarantee payments of the Government to the Egg Marketing Board) : Total available supply of slaughter pigs TSSP : Slaughter pigs made available at home for pork production ('000) TSPP : (Forecast) domestic consumption of pork ('000 t slaughter weight) CP : Assumed degree of self-sufficiency in pork 106 : Slaughter pigs used at home for bacon production ('000) TSBP

- EXLP : Exports of live pigs ('000)
- BEZP : Gross domestic production of pork and bacon in slaughter weight ('000 t)
- NEP : Net domestic production of pork in slaughter weight ('000 t)
- NEB : Net domestic production of bacon in skaughter weight (4000 t)

- c -

#### Table 1\* - Supply of cereals for human consumption in the United Kingdom 1958/59 - 1970/71 and forecasts for 1977/78

( \* 000 \* )

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			1											
	1958/59	1959/60	9160/61	1961/62	1962/63	1963/64	1964/65	1965/66	1966/67	1967/68	1968/69	1969/70	1970/71	1977/78
Total supply of cereals for human consumption from domestic sources for the domestic market Wheat for milling Barley (for reasting, milling, as pearl and	1 123 961	1 497 1 311	1 468 1 300	1 454 1 262	1 720 1 539	1 646 1 484	1 960 1 787	1 698 1 541	1 788 . 1 647	1 861 1 710	1 632 1 483	* 1 821 1 671	1 424	2 561 2 443
flaked barley etc.) Oats for milling Rye for milling; for production of germ Total supply of cereals for human consumption	50 101 11	50 128 8	50 110 8	50 112 10	50 120 11	50 98 14	50 107 16	37 107 13	37 100 4	37 109 5	37 108 4	37 108 5		40 70 8
Barley (for reasting, milling, for flaked	4 421 4 176	3 968 3 752	4 163 3 921	3 954 3 702	3 779 3 528	3 846 3 569	3 496 3 244	3 <b>994</b> 3 680	3 70 <b>3</b> 3 443	3 <b>568</b> 3 309	3 916 3 634	3 476	3 587	2 786 2 443
barley ) Oats for milling Maize for the manufacture of corn flakes Rice for direct consumption and for use in	10 72 91	10 15 116	9 29 111	8 26 108	9 23 115	12 30 153	10 18 131	8 24 143	7 20 149	6 8 152	7 7 16 <b>2</b>	10 5 170	183	4 5 208
other foodstuffs, puffed rice etc Rye for milling; for production of germ <sup>4</sup> Total supply of cereals for human consumption	66 6	68 7	86 7	105 5	100 4	77 5	90 3	93 6	77 7	85 8	98 8	15		115 11
from domestic and foreign sources for the do- mestic market	5 544	5 465	5 631	5 408	5 499	5 492	5 456	5 652	5 491	5 429	5 548			5 347
Proportion of home-grown cereals in total suppl Total imports of products containing cereals	<b>x(%)</b> 20.3	27 . 4	26.1	26.9	31-3	30.0	35.9	30.0	32.6	34.3	29.4			47.9
for human consumption in grain equivalent Wheat flour Products containing wheat flour or wheat meal	<b>583</b> 569	<b>529</b> 515	<b>54</b> 7 533	<b>580</b> 564	481 464	<b>466</b> 450	373 356	<b>308</b> 268	234 212	1 <b>39</b> 117	125 103	118	117	125 100
(bread, biscuits etc.)	14	.14	× 14	16	17	16	17	20	22	22	22			25
Total exports of products containing coreals for human consumption in grain equivalent Wheat flour Products containing wheat flour or wheat meal	<b>32</b> 13	26 6	28 7	29 8	33 11	34 10	<b>33</b> 6	35 · 6	42 1 1	46 11	49 10	18		60 10
(bread, biscuits etc.) Total net domestic consumption of home-grown an	19 <b>d</b>	20	21	21	22	24	27	29	31	35	39			50
foreign cereals for human consumption	6 095	5 968	6 150	5 959	5 947	5 924	5 796	5 9 <b>2</b> 5	5 683	5 522	5 624			5 412
Met admestic consumption of home-grown cereals Proportion of home-grown cereals for human con-	1 091	1 471	1 440	1 425	1 687	1 612	1 927	1 663	1 746	1 815	1 583			2 501
sumption in net domestic consumption (%)	17.9	24.6	23.4	23.9	28.4	27.2	33.2	28.1	30.7	32.9	28.1			46.2

a Farm years beginning 1 July. <sup>b</sup> Own estimate (assumption: ≈75 % of total disposals of home-grown rye for human consumption and for distilling is accounted for by human consumption). Own estimate (assumption: ≈ 10 % of total disposals of imported barley for food and for brewing and malting is accounted for by food). Own estimate (assumption: ≈ 75 % of the total disposals of foreign rye for human consumption and for distilling is accounted for by human consumption). disposals of foreign rye for human consumption and for distilling is accounted for by human consumption). <sup>9</sup> Own estimate: total supply of home-grown and foreign cereals for the domestic

Source: Central Statistical Office, Annual Abstract of Statistics, London, various issues; Central Statistical Office, Monthly Digest of Statistics, London, various issues; Commissioners of H.M. Customs and Excise, Annual Statement of the Trade of the United Kingdom with Commonwealth Countries and Foreign Countries, London, Vol. II and Vol. III, various issues; Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food, Output and Utilisation of Farm Produce in the United Kingdom, London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Grain Eulletin, London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Grain Bulletin, London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Rice Bulletin, London, various issues; Own calculations and estimates.

### Table 2\* - Supply of cereals for animal feed in the United Kingdom 1958/59 - 1970/71<sup>a</sup> and forecests for 1977/78 ('000 t)

	1958/59	1959/60	1960/61	1961/62	1962/63	1963/64	1964/65	1965/66	1'966/67	1967/68	1968/69	1969/70	1970/71	1977/78
Total supply of cereals for animal feed from do- mentic sources for the demestic market Total home-grown wheat for animal feed used on farm Total home-grown barley for animal feed used on farm sales to feed industry Total home-grown cats for animal feed used on farm sales to feed industry Total home-grown mass for animal feed sales to feed industry	5 613 1 540 1 72 1 368 1 912 1 071 841 1 876 1 586 290 279	5 790 1 295 26 1 269 2 393 1 253 1 140 1 838 1 539 299 263	6 320 1 493 31 1 462 2 818 1 452 1 366 1 782 1 475 307 222	6 140 1 146 108 3 255 1 503 1 752 1 563 1 280 283	7 798 2 015 23 1 992 4 142 1 874 2 268 1 486 1 259 227	7 709 1 257 81 1 176 5 101 2 281 2 820 1 231 1 027 204	8 633 1 783 39 1 744 5 624 2 618 3 006 1 121 925 196	9 089 2 331 112 2 219 5 645 2 601 3 044 1 019 858 161	8 350 1 585 1 39 1 446 5 759 2 642 3 117 908 760 148	9 609 1 849 121 1 728 6 571 2 784 3 787 1 066 886 180	9 423 1 814 107 1 707 6 457 2 690 3 767 995 814 181			300 4 000 887 150
Total home-grown rye for animal feed	6	1	. 5	4	104	1	102	91 3	93 5	118	152 5			190
Total supply of cereals for animal feed from foreign sources for the domestic market Imported maise for animal feed Imported barley for animal feed Imported wheat for animal feed Imported cats for animal feed Imported sorghum Imported rice for animal feed Total disposals of home-grown and foreign	4 585 2 426 1 026 395 98 640 -	4 107 2 541 759 220 22 565 -	3 890 2 447 854 208 18 363 -	4 522 3 136 523 289 16 558 -	4 064 3 183 213 241 26 401 -	3 578 2 485 291 539 0 263 -	3 517 2 343 196 578 8 392 -	3 635 2 429 128 553 6 519 -	3 495 2 353 104 522 7 504 5	3 451 2 755 69 491 5 125 6	3 413 2 311 209 722 9 156 6	1 867 837 1 138 6 77	1 567	
coronis for animal feed on the domestic market	10 198	9 897	10 210	10 662	11 862	11 287	12 150	12 724	11 845	13 060	12 836			
in total demestic consumption (%)	55.0	58.5	61.9	. 57.6	65.7	68.3	71.1	71.4	70.5	73.6	73.4			
A Rem wasan basisming 1 Tola D variation	-													.

Farm years beginning 1 July. DIncluding maize flour for animal feed purposes (grain equivalent). C In part, changes in stocks disregarded.

Secontral Statistical Office, Annual Abstract of Statistics, London, various issues; Central Statistical Office, Monthly Digest of Statistics, London, various issues; Commissioners of H.N. Customs and Excise, Annual Statement of the Trade of the United Kingdom with Commonwealth Countries and Foreign Countries, London, Vol. II and Vol. III, various issues; Ministry of Agriculture, Pisheries and Food, Output and Utilisation of Farm Produce in the United Kingdom, London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Grain Bulleting, London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Grain Bulleting, London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Grain Bulleting, London, various issues; Own cabeulations and estimates.

### Table 3\* - Supply of cereals for industrial use in the United Kingdom 1958/69 - 1970/71<sup>&</sup> and forecasts for 1977/78 ('000 t)

	1958 <b>/5</b> 9	1959/60	1960/61	1961/62	1962/63	1963/64	1964/65	1965/66	1966/67	<b>196</b> 7/68	1968/69	1969/70	1970/71	1977/78
Total supply of home-grown cereals for industrial use for the domestic market         Total grain for malting         barley for malting         Total grain for distilling         market for distilling         other wheat for industrial use         Total grain for distilling	882 761 758 3 116 113 3 5	1 007 867 862 5 135 132 3 5	1 016 895 889 6 116 113 3 5	1 080 933 931 2 142 139 3 5	1 111 955 949 6 151 148 3 5	1 066 907 904 3 154 149 5 5	1 300 1 119 1 116 3 176 171 5 5	1 237 1 044 1 041 3 188 184 4 5	1 359 1 098 1 095 3 256 255 1 5	1 276 997 994 274 273 1 5	1 247 965 962 3 277 276 1 5	1 5		1 738 1 230 1 200 503 500 3 500
foreign sources for the domestic market	607	717	821	614	£73	1 001	1 025	1 112	1 112	1 049	1 179	.		1 325
Total foreign grain for distilling and malting <sup>C</sup> Maise for starch and glucose production	356 251	387 330	431 390	451 363	484 389	549 452	579 446	608 504	599 513	550 499	595 584	552	607	575 750
Imported wheat for distilling and malting	55	50	52	52	55 <sup>-</sup>	54	5 <b>8</b>	61	65	66	67	68		45
Imported barley for distilling and malting $^{e}$ .	85	85	75	76	76	107	87	72	58	53	61	90		21
Imported rye for distilling and malting f Maize for distilling and malting Dies for distilling howing and starch	2 200	2 237	2 284	1 307	1 335	- 1 373	1 . 419	2 451	2 452	3 414	3 458	5 548	578	4 500
production	14	13	15	15	15	14	14	22	22	14	6			- 5
Total supply 66 home-grown and foreign cereals for industrial use for domestic market Promotion of home-grown cereals in total industria	1 469	1 724	1 637	1 894	1 964	2 067	2 325	2 349	2 471	2 325	2 426			3 063
disposals (\$)	59.2	58.4	55.3	57.0	56.0	51.6	55.9	52.7	55.0	54.9	51.4	1		56.7

\* Farm years beginning 1 July. Own estimate (assumption:  $\approx 25$  % of total disposals of home-grown cereals for food and distilling). <sup>C</sup> Including small quantities of imported wheat for other industrial purposes. Own estimate (assumption:  $\approx 90$  % of total disposals of foreign barley for food, distilling and malting). <sup>C</sup> Own estimate (assumption:  $\approx 25$  % of total disposals of foreign barley for food, distilling and malting). <sup>C</sup> Including small quantities of imported wheat for other mye for food and distilling. <sup>L</sup> Including small quantities of rice for starch production.

Source: Central Statistical Office, Annual Abstract of Statistics, London, various issues; Central Statistical Office, Monthly Digest of Statistics, London, various issues; Commissioners of H.M. Customs and Excise, Annual Statement of the Trade of the United Kingdom with Commonwealth Countries and Foreign Countries, London, Vol. II and Vol. III, various issues; Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food, Output and Utilisation of Farm Produce in the United Kingdom, London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Grain Crops, London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Grain Bulletin, London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Rice Bulletin, London, various issues; Own calculations and estimates.

**S**2

\*

	1958/59	1959/60	1960/61	1961/62	1962/63	1963/64	1964/65	1965/66	1966/67	1967/68	1968/69	1969/70	1970/71	19/1/72	1977/78
Area under cultivation ('000 ha) Tield (100 kg/ha) Total production	894 30.9 2754	781 36.3 2830	85. 75.851 8.05 040	739 35.4 2614	913 43.6 3974	780 39.0 34.05	893 42.4 3793	1026 40.7 4171	38.4 73 - 506	933 41.8 3902	978 35.5 3469	833 4.04 136.4	1010 41.9 4236	1 096 14.0 4 824	1 100 45.0 6 300
Farmers Own Communition Feed Seed Mastage Total farm sales for the milling industry for all time	757 150 150 150 100 100 100 100	224 165 260 260 260 260 260 260 260 260 260 260	222 12 22 25 25 25 28 18 20 28 12 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 2	319 108 178 178 178 128 128 128 128 128 128 128 128 128 12	ស្លំសូស្កីខ <sub>្ល</sub> ទ័រ សំសូស្កីខ្លួន	% 8 5 8 5 5 8 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	28 29 29 29 29 29 29 29 29 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20	821 821 821 82 82 82 82 82 82 82 82 82 82 82 82 82	22.43 \$ 85.69 26.43 \$ 89.69 26.69	86 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19	314 107 163 3155 144 3155	199 42	R		555 273 5648 5648 79 79
for industrial use for feed for export wastage by processors and distributive trads in the form of grain	v.∿86.d.0.4 di	, 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	14 14 14 14 14 10 14 14 10 10 14 10 14 10 14 10 14 10 14 10 14 10 14 10 14 14 10 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14	อ ผพชัดชี¥เ	138 138 174 141	1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	5 vv3v21a	ស្ព សលមិសសិភិទ័	<u>v</u> nðn220	572 827 825 825 825				,	3 150 20 20
in the form of flour	EI 61 51	79 Q Q	21 21	50 51 80	1 8¥	20 10 10	54	ဒိုလ လိုန်	71 K	11 K	រទ ស	<u>8</u>			10
in the form of grain	0614 062	3953 515	4172 533	4119 564	3785 464	450 450 450	3828 356	4685 1377 288	4197 3963 212	7950 7950 117	4593 4468 103	4681 118	5268 117		100
and flour 's	14 5269 8023J	14 4452 1022	14 4672 1022 1166 7568	16 4665 1166 1200 7245	17 4092 1200 1195 8071	16 4580 1195 1228 7593	17 4160 1228 1122 8059	20 4640 1122 1236 8697	22 4146 1236 1164 7693	22 4032 1164 1215 7883	22 4531 1215 1156 8059	1156 1088	1088 1083		- 25
Milling percentrage for home-grown wheat Milling industry:	36.3	46.3	45.5	47.1	0.04	50.7	45.8	37.4	47.0	45.7	41.0				38.8
<pre>total milled fome-grown wheat foreign wheat artraction rate (%) Flour production ('000t product weight) Demestic flour consumptionk( kg product) Fer capita consumption Fer capitaty;</pre>	5137 961 176 11.6 11.6 10.6 78.5 78.5	5063 3752 3752 4036 4036	5221 1300 3921 71.8 37148 4091 77,8	4984 3702 7202 3993 75,2	5067 1579 7528 7665 39991 74,6	262 262 265 265 265 265 265 265 265 265	5031 1787 3244 72.7 3659 3909 72,1	5221 1541 71.9 3756 3967 72,8	5090 3447 72.7 3700 3700 3700 70.1	5019 7710 7702 7702 88,8	5117 3634 3796 3796 3796 3796	5147 1671 7476 72.7 3743 3743	5011 1424 774.4 3728		4 886 2 443 2 443 7 750 3 567 5 614 63,0
to all disposals	1763 395	148 <b>9</b> 220	1670 208	1 <i>32</i> 7 289	2233 241	1715 5 <b>39</b>	2 <b>3</b> 22 578	2772 55 <b>3</b>	1968 522	2219 194	2429 722	1138			
and alcoholad	55	ጽ	25	R	22	15	82	61	65	8	67	68			45
<pre>&gt;&gt; wisumption for food purposes (farmhouge &gt;&gt;&gt; wisumate (1.25% of total grop). &gt;&gt;&gt; by Wt/t-1 = ½ (Kt+ Kt - 1). Wheat the &gt;&gt;&gt; mouth of flour and products of &gt;&gt;&gt; winistry of Agriculture, Fisheries and</pre>	<ul> <li>bread) ne</li> <li>Excluding</li> <li>Excluding</li> <li>end wheat</li> <li>entaining</li> <li>Food, Stat</li> </ul>	gligible an seed grain flour in wi flour (± ch tistics Div	a hardly au e Includ: leat equive langes in p	y wheat is ing rearpoint alent. To stocks; sta Output and	n now maille brts. Mai btal produc tistics fo Utilisati	id on farms nly noodle stion + net ir these ar	<ul> <li><sup>b</sup> Includ</li> <li>s, bread,</li> <li>imports <u>+</u></li> <li>e somewhat</li> </ul>	ting domest pastry, cs changes i i incomplet n the linit	tic seed ma kes, biscu n stocks. e). Ferr	trketed (pu j Excludir years bee	urchases fi werted fro g changes finning 1	rom and sal om calendar in stocks. fuly.	es to the Kears (K) Domesti	seed trade to farm producti	. u
Grein Crops. London, varims issues: Co	(+ [ a church mo	Sacretaria							monShirv na	, LORGOR,	VELTIOUS 15	Bues; Comm	onweal th So	oretariat	

Table 4\* - Supply of wheat in the United Kingdom 1958/69 -  $1971/72^{1}$  and forecasts for 1977/78(10001)

when ourse, various issues; commonwear scretarist, Grain Bullsting, London, various issues; Central Statistical Office, Annual Abstract of Statistics. London, various issues; Central Statistical Office, Monthly Digest of Statistics, London, various issues; Commissioners of H.M. Customs and Excise, Annual Statement of the Trade of the United Kingdom with Commonwealth Countrics and Foreirm Countries, London, Vol. II and Vol. III, various issues; Own calculations and Excise, Annual Statement of the Trade of the United Kingdom

	1958/59	1959/60	1960/61	1 961 / 62	1962/63	1963/64	1964/65	1965/66	1966/67	1967/68	1968/69	1969/70	1970/71	1971/12	1977/78
Area under cultivation ('000 ha) Tield (loo kg/ha) Total production Farmers' own consumption	1 115 28.9 221 1 071 205	1 238 33.0 4 080 1 514 1 253	1 365 31.6 4 309 1 750 1 452	1 549 32.6 5 054 1 819 1 503	1 614 36.4 5 865 2 245 1 874	1 907 35.1 6 705 2 683 2 281	2 036 36.9 7 522 3 050 2 616	2 183 37.5 8 191 3 069 2 601	2 481 35.2 8 723 3 128 2 642	2 439 37.6 9 214 3 271	2 401 34.4 3 270 3 171 2 690	2 413 35.9 8 663	2 215 53.6 7 529	2 290 37.4 8 576	2 400 41.0 9 840 4 494 4 000
Wastage Total farm sales <sup>d</sup> Ior mai fing	1 915 758	2 566 862	2 559 869	3 234 931	3 620 949	67 67 904	4 472 1 116	5 086 1 041	5 594 1 095	5 941 92	5 097 962	616 87	75		- 5 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
for the manufacture of flaked and romsted barley for the manufacture of pearl barley for distilling for feed	25 25 113 137	25 25 1 32 361	25 113 124	25 25 139 340	25 25 148 268 185	25 149 2920 79	25 25 3 006 108	25 12 184 3 044 751	25 25 3 117 3 1052	25 12 273 3 787 819	25 12 276 3767 355		1	*****	40 500 3 566
westage (by processors and distributive trade) Total exports <sup>elf</sup>	16 186 137	21 414 361	17 180 124	22 399 341	20 243 185	137	21 171 111	29 735 679	38 1 173 1 110	31 884 796	20 178 76	÷			40
in the form of maits Total imports in the form of grain in the form of maits	1 142 1 142 1 141	629 828 1	967 267 267	542 539 239	301 297 4	432 426 6	292 278 14	2195 219 245 245	212 212 212	123 109 14	102 393 372 21	957	1 052		150
Total met imports (-) or exports (+)	- 956	- 415 269	- 787 269 356	- 143 356 307	- 58 307 483	- 295 483 427	- <b>121</b> 427 509	+ 516 509 523	+ 961 523 494	+ 761 494 55 <b>9</b>	- 215 559 490	490 549	549 508		
<u>Total svailable supplies</u> (= total domestic disposals)	4 177 <sup>1</sup>	4 495 <sup>1</sup>	5 029	5 246	5 747	7 056	7 561	7 661	167 7	8 388	8 554				
<u>rotal disponals for food, distilling and malting</u> manufacture of pearl, roasted and flaked barley, from home-grown barley	1 016 50	1 139 50 50	1 139 50	1 20 <b>4</b> 50	1 234 50	1 222 50	1 434 50	1 342 37	1 452 37	1 363 37	1 343 37	1 528	1 740		Û
manufacture of mails and alconol from home-grown barley foreign barley for food, malting and the manufacture	871	994	1 002	1 070	1 097	1 053	1 287	1 225	1 350	1 267	1 238				1 700
of alcohol <sup>K</sup> Peed indistry	с́е	95	87	84	87	119	76	60	65	59	68	100			25
constant barley	1 867	1 899	2 220 854	2 275 523	2 481 213	291	3 202 196	3 172 128	3 221 104	3 856 69	3 976 209	837			
<b>Fram</b> Years beginning 1 July. <sup>b</sup> Including seed market crop). <sup>H</sup> Excluding seed grain. <sup>e</sup> Excluding foreign trastatistics. <sup>f</sup> Including re-exports. <sup>g</sup> Converted from cut <sup>1</sup> Excluding changes in stocks. <sup>k</sup> It is impossible, for for ford.	ted (purcha de in pear balendar ye r statistic	ses from a 1, roasted ars (K) to al reasons	nd sales and flak farm yea: , to diff	to the set ad barley rs (W) by erentiate	sd trede) which is W <sub>t</sub> /t - 1 clearly b	and inclu ! of ohly ≅ ½ (K <sub>t</sub> + etween th	ding 50 % marginal <sub>h</sub> E <sub>t-l</sub> ). e amount	of seed i importance Total pro of importe	<pre>requiremen e and is, oduction ± id barley ' </pre>	ts for me therefore foreign used for	slin. <sup>0</sup> 01 not liste trade bala distilling	ficial es d separat ince <u>t</u> cha g and malt	timete (l ely in fo uges in s ing, and	% of tota reign trad tocks. that used	- •
Source: Ministry of Agriculture. Fisheries and Food. O	but put and	Utilisstio	n of Farm	Produce	in the Uni	ted Kingd	om. Londor	- Various	i seues:	Crimonian C	tarnas 4+1	aniat G		Iondon	]

various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Grain Bulleting, London, various issues; Contral Statistical Office, Annual Abstract of Statistics, Grain Bulleting, London, various issues; Contral Statistical Office, Monthly Digest of Statistics, London, various issues; Contral Statistical Office, Monthly Digest of Statistics, London, various issues; Contral Statistical Office, Monthly Digest of Statistics, London, various issues; Contral Statistical Office, Monthly Digest of Statistics, London, various issues; Contral Statistical Office, Monthly Digest of Statistics, London, various issues; Contral Statistical Office, Monthly Digest of Statistics, London, Various issues; Contral Statistical Office, Monthly Digest of Statistics, London, Various issues; Contral Statistical Office, Monthly Digest of Statistics, London, Various issues; Contral Statistical Office, Monthly Digest of Statistics, London, Various issues; Contral Contral Office, Monthly Digest of Statistics, London, Vol. II, various issues; Own calculations and estimates.

Table 5\* - Supply of barley in the United Kingdom 1958/69 - 1971/72<sup>a</sup> and forecasts for 1977/78

(10001)

.

Table 6\* - <u>Supply of cats in the United Kingdom 1958/69 - 1971/72<sup>8</sup> and forecasts for 1977/78</u>

11 10

(† 000.)

	66/8661	19/64	1960/61	1961/62	1962/63	1963/64	1964/65	1965/66	1966/67	1967/68	1968/69	1969/70	1970/71	1971/72	977/78
res under cultivation ('000 ha) ield (100 kg/ha)	897 24.2 2 172 1 770	822 27.0 2 222 1 719	799 26.2 2 091	701 26.4 1 851	615 28.9 1 775	524 27.9 1 461	455 29.6 1 346	410 30.0 1 232	367 30.5 1 120	410 33.8 1 386	382 32.0 1 224	382 34.2 1 308	376 32.4 1 217	363 37.7 1 368	300 40.0 1 200
1000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 0000 000	1 586 146	1 539	1 475	1 280	1 259 116 31	1027	- 226 x	82 82 82 82 82	200 200 200	988 988 988	878 975 975	92			5888
otal form maler <sup>d</sup> to milling industry for export	403 101 290 9	504 129 70	424 108 307 6	404 113 283 5	369 120 18	206 204 204	2021 2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2025	271 107 161	251 148 -	384 117 180 81	161 161 16 16 16 16 16	117	1		225 70 150
wastage (by processors and distributive trade) <u>troorts</u> <u>uports</u> <u>et imports</u> (-) or net exports (+) <sup>6</sup>	- 185 - 176	+ 45 6 45 7 0 6	ا 44 مى 42	ا س ت ک ک س	- 54 44 54	104 104 107	r + r o o		25 3	4 Q.D.D.G.	- 256.4 - 256.4	40v			2
Dening stocks (distributive trade and processors <u>floeing stocks</u> (distributive trade and processors <u>fotal available supply</u> (= totaf domestic means(s)	2 348 <sup>6</sup>	45 2 1778	45 46 132	1 895	1 600	1 489 1 489	40 35 1 373	1 263	- 35 - 35 - 148	1 316	27 27 1 233	- 27 35 1 306	35 31		
<u>iiling industry</u> : total milled home-grown omts	173	143 128	139 110	138	143	128 98	125	131	120	117	117	113	115		75
foreign cats	72 53.8	57.3	29 56.8	26 57 2	23 58.0	30 57.8	57.6	58.0	20	59.0	59.0	6.19	59.1		60.09
rounced outs	93	62	61	61	83	74	72	76	12	69	69	10	68		45
rolled omte <sup>b</sup>	92 1.77	ы7 1.66	80 1.52	80 1.50	81 1.52	1.47	76	74 1.36	1.27	69 1.25	69 1.25				45 0.78
total dispesals	388 98	321 22	325 18	299 16	253 26	20 <b>4</b> 0	204 8	165 6	155	185 5	190 9	•			
<sup>k</sup> Farm years beginning 1 July. <sup>b</sup> Including seed man total crop. Ercluding seed grain. <sup>E</sup> Ercluding srt	rketed (m ternal tra	urchases f. de in roli	rom and su led oats a	ales to ti and other,	le seed t products	rade) and containi	including ng osts wi	g 50 % of lich are n	meed requi	.rements f senaratel	or meslir v in fors	ug. <sup>C</sup> Offi viem trade	cial estim statistic	ate <sub>f</sub> (1.75	é of

production  $\pm$  foreign grade balance  $\pm$  changes in stocks. Excluding changes in stocks. Tata only available for calendar years (X); converted to farm years (W) by  $W_{+/+1} \stackrel{\approx}{=} \stackrel{(K_{+}K_{+-1})}{(K_{++-1})}$ .

I

Source: Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food, Output and Utilisation of Farm Produce in the United Kingdom, London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Grain Grops, London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Grain Bulleting, London, various issues; Central Statistical Office, Ammal Abstract of Statistics, London, various issues; Central Statistical Office, Monthly Digest of Statistics, London, various issues; Own calculations and estimates.

Table 7\* - <u>Supplies of maize in the United Kingdom 1958/69 - 1970/71<sup>8</sup> and forecasts for 1977/78</u>

(1000 f)

	1958/59	1959/60	1960/61	1961/62	1962/63	1963/64	1964/65	1965/66	1966/67	1967/68	1968/69	1969/70	1970/71	1977/78
Total importe Grain maise Maise flour and meal Maise flour and meal <u>Potal met importe</u> <u>Total met importe</u> <u>Closing stocks</u> (distributive trade and processo <u>Closing stocks</u> (distributive trade and processo <u>Total available supply</u> (= total domestic disposals)	5 123 2 966 157 2 157 2 2 2 121 ore) 5 121 3 121 d	3 292 3 213 79 79 3 266 3 288 <sup>d</sup>	5 121 5 093 2 28 5 117 5 117 5 117 5 117	4 012 11 11 189 297 3 900	3 911 3 892 1 19 3 907 2 297 2 200	<b>558</b> <b>558</b> <b>72</b> <b>72</b> <b>554</b> <b>554</b> <b>501</b> <b>501</b>	3 267 3 190 3 265 3 265 3 375 3 375	<b>3</b> 5 5 5 5 5 5 7 5 7 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	845 845 845 845 845 812 812 812 812 812 812 812 812 812 812	3 858 3 801 3 815 2 843 842 842 842	5 520 5 513 5 5 13 5 5 13 5 13 5 13 5 13 5 13	5 155 5 101 5 135 5 135 5 131 203 203 203 203 203 203 203 203 203 203	2 900 2 865 2 865 2 03 1 38 2 950	15
<u>Food industry</u> : Corn flakes Per capita consumption (kg)	91 1.76	116 2.22	2.11	108 2.04	115 2.15	153 2.84	131 2.42	143 2,62	149 2.72	152 2.76	162 2.92	170 3.06	183 3.28	208 3.63
Distilling, malting	200 251	237 330	284 390	363 30/	335 389	373 452	419 446	451 504	452 513	414 499	458 584	548 552	578 607	500 750
Total use Grain maize <sup>6</sup> Maize flour	2 426 <sup>f</sup> 2 331 <sup>95</sup> f	2 541 <sup>f</sup> 2 464 77	2 447 <sup>f</sup> 2 387 60 <sup>f</sup>	5 136 5 063 53	5 163 5 146 37	2 485 2 451 34	2 343 2 301 42	2 429 2 374 55	2 353 2 243 110	2 755 2 687 68	2 311 2 284 27	1 867 1 837 30	1 567 1 550 16	
														-

<sup>a</sup> Farm years beginning 1 July<sup>b</sup> 1958/59 - 1963/64 figures based on figures for calendar years but excluding maize flour and meal.<sup>C</sup> Net imports <u>+</u> changes in stocks.<sup>d</sup> Excluding changes in stocks in stocks.<sup>d</sup> Excluding changes in stocks.<sup>d</sup> Exclud Source:

Central Statistical Office, Annual Abstract of Statistics, London, various issues; Central Statistical Office, Monthly Digest of Statistics, London, various issues; Commissioners of H.M. Customs and Excise, Annual Statement of the Trade of the United Kingdom with Commonwealth Countries and Foreign Countries, London, Vol. III, various issues; Common-mealth Secretariat, Grain Grops, London, various issues; Commonwealth Countries and Foreign Countries, London, Vol. III, various issues; Common-mealth Secretariat, Grain Grops, London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretary, Orain Bulletin, London, various issues; Comment, Secretary of State for the Home Department, Secretary of State for scotland, Secretary of State for Wales and the Minister of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food, Annual Review and Determination of Guarantees, London, various issues; Own cal-sulations can destinates.

Table 8\* - Supply of "other cereals" in the United Kingdom 1958/59 - 1971/72<sup>®</sup> and forecasts for 1977/78

(1000 t)

	66/966	1)/60	1940/61	1 161/62	1 162/63	1 263/64	1.964/65	1965/66	1.9/9961	1961/68	1966/69	1969/70	1770/71	1971/72	1977/78
Imports of sorghum (= total domestic disposals for animal feed)	140	565	363	טלל	401	263	592	وارا	504	125	156	11			
Meelin Area under cultivation ('000 ha) Xigld (100, kg/ma)	115 24.5 242	95 28.0 256	85 27.1 27.1	60 29.0	50.6 30.6	40 30.0	32.2	30.7 30.7	31.3	36 33.1	45 34.0	63 34.8	32.5	54 38.1	55 35.0
Total farm use Feedb	202 212 269 3	256 276 277	215	166 166 2	1420	114	66 76 76 76 76 76	87 87 1	468 <del>6</del>	255	0 1 1 1 4 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	۶L2	162	907	193 186 185
Farm sales to feed industry	10	10	v	Э	7	9	9	5	5	-2	80				2
Ave under cultivation ('000 ha) Area under cultivation ('000 ha) Tield [100 kg/ha) Total production Total available supply (= total domestic	23.3 213 29 29	21.7 13 22 22	22.5 18 18 27	22.5 18 18 24	24.3 17 22 22	275 22 6 28	31.5 25 29 29	30.0 21 8 29	27.5 11 20 20	30.4 12 11 23	27.5 11 22 22	27.5 11 20 31	32.5 13	م	287728 287728
Food industry; distilling home-grown rys	22 14 8	20 11 3	20 11 9	6 <u>1</u> 6 2 9	247	25 61	25 4	25 17 8	د 400	1612	35.25	56 56 56			111
reed the urg i tur summer teed	÷.		5 C	4 -	- N	- 0	ωt-	юt-	<u>۲</u>	<u>-</u> ر	<del>-</del> 2	4-			<u>۳</u> -
Rice Imports (milled rice)	213	8°2.E	106 101	124 4 120	120 115	96.J.P	109 104	120 115	109 104	110 105	102	118			125 5 120
Total consumption as food (milled rice)	υΰ	68	βt	:05	100	1.1	90	93	11	85	98				115
Direct consumption as food (milled rice) Per capita consumption (kg)	1.27	1.30	72 1.64	83 1.98	83 1.87	63 1.43	78 1.66	78 1.71	59 1.40	65 1.54	80 1.77				96 1.70
rice etc	•	• -1-	14	- 15	21 21-	14	12 14	15 22 -	18 22 5	20 14 6	96 <del>1</del> 8 66 <del>1</del> 8				5 51
<sup>B</sup> Farm years beginning 1 July. <sup>b</sup> 1958/59-1963/6 available. About 3/4 of this item concerns th "or food and that used for industrial purposes." in foreign trade statistics. Imports less re-	04 own es le food i Ercolu	timates; 1 ndustry; n ding impor details o	964/65-19 o detaile ts of prov n changes	58/69 off 1 informs mots con in stock	icial esti tion is av taining ri s are not	imates. <sup>C</sup> T railable w ice (puffe available	Cotal prod Mich would d rice et	uction plu d make it c.), which	us importe possible t are of c	; no rye to differ nly minor	is export entiste c importan	ed and no learly be ce and are	data on s tween the e not list	n tooks are amount used ed separate	ly

Jouroe: Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food, Output and Utilisation of Farm Produce in the United Kingdom, London, various issues; Central Statistica, Annual Abstract of Statistics, London, various issues; Central Statistica, Monthly Digest of Statistics, London, various issues; Cemonwealth Secretariat, Grain Grops, London, various issues; Cemmonwealth Secretariat, Grain Bulleting, various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Brian Grops, London, various issues; Cemmonwealth Secretariat, Grain Grops, London, various

1

Table 9\* - Supply of sugar in the United Kingdom 1958/59 - 1971/72<sup>®</sup> and forecasts for 1977/78

('000 t white sugar)

1969/70 1970/71 1971,	/72 1977/78
185 187 19	91 166
184 186 19	90 165
	-
32.8 34.5 40.	.6 37.5
6 034 6 412 7 7	12 6 200
	-
14.3 14.1 14.1	.1 14.5
862 905 1.00	85 900
193 202	
, ,	
2 002 1 902	
	2,100
712 657 7	24
657 724	
	000 *
	(12+)
(2 982) (2 971)	926.2
(53.61)	51.7
or alcohol: as foreign tw	de and the
184     184       52.8     541       6034     6413       14.3     14.1       862     999       193     202       193     202       193     202       193     203       193     203       193     203       193     203       193     203       193     203       193     203       2002     1       712     657       (2.982)     (2.972)       (2.982)     (2.972)	

Farm was beginning 1 why. Beet delivered we wassed and window means, we weak to we want to we production a count, as tructs we are and we use the for sugar beet production as processing of sugar beet in sugar the for a line of for animal feed are practically negligible, there is no need to compile a special balance sugar beet for sugar beet production = processing of sugar bas been taken of the mean with the help of annual trade statistics; conversion from cale distribution and subsequently re-exported.<sup>9</sup> The measurement of foreign trade in products containing sugar has been made with the help of annual trade statistics; conversion from calendar years  $(k_{\downarrow}/t_{-1})$ ;  $W_{\downarrow}/t_{-1} \stackrel{<}{=} \frac{1}{2} (K_{\downarrow} + K_{\downarrow-1})$ . f Stocks of both imported and home-produced white and raws sugar in white sugar pairs; conversion from calendar years  $(K_{\downarrow}/t_{-1})$ ;  $W_{\downarrow}/t_{-1} \stackrel{<}{=} \frac{1}{2} (K_{\downarrow} + K_{\downarrow-1})$ . f Stocks of both imported and home-produced white and raws sugar in white sugar plue total net imports to a statistics; containing sugar.

Source: Central Statistical Office, Annual Abstract of Statistics, London, various issues; Central Statistical Office, Monthly Digest of Statistics, London, various issues; Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food, Output and Utilisation of Farm Produce in the United Kingdom, London, various issues; Commissioners of H.M. Customs and Excise, Annual Statement of the Trade of the United Kingdom with Commonwealth Countries and Foreign Countries, London, Vol. III, various issues; Own calculations and estimates.

and forecasts for 1977/78	
<b>6</b>	
5	
E	
ភា	
- 1	
3	
3	
5	
쥥	
4	
3	
1	
4	
5	
2	
Ŧ	
.7	
ą	
3	
2	
H	
7	
ם	
3	
021	
ŧ	
2	
2	

(1000 t)

1977/761	180 160 20	252 252 252 252 252 252 252 252 252 252	Şê Şê	981 108 4	5 587	97.4 63.7 13.7	65.3 510	ting ad huction
1971/72	254 226 30							tato Mark cluding a Potal pro
1970/71	271 239 32	7 482 5 127 20	<u>.</u>					ler the Po port. In trade.
1969/70	248 219 29	265 245 245 265 265 265 265 265 265 265 265 265 26	6 397	662		11.9		farms und on and exp re potato
1965/69	247 247 32	8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8	7 432	4 436 927	Ç95 Ç	96.8 80.1 16.7	702	n producer consumpti rms and we
1967/68	267 251 36	Co 01 044	100	4 348 906	5 254	95.3 78.9 16.4	66.0 780	sstroyed o r domegtic data. Pa
· 566/67	5 KG	80 204 70. 200 80. 200 8	6 86 <i>7</i>	4 · 396 662	ઝ <b>2</b> પ્ર	95.9 80.2 15.7	73.6 799	toes or d otatoes fo atistical
1965/66	200 251 43	C 9 9 C 9 C 9 C 9 C 9 C 9 C 9 C 9 C 9 C	753 753	4 311 964	ל75 ל	96.8 79.1 17.7	64.9 762	feed pot top were put table st
1964/65	315 267 48	20 01 044 01000 2000 121 1 0000 2000 121 1 0000 2000 221 2 0100 2000 2 0100 2 000 2 00	610 i	4 042 1 040	5 062	93.6 74.6 19.2	65.6 842	er used as . Maincr lack of su
1963/64	311 263 48	00 11 440 010 11 440 01070000000 01070000000 01000000000 01000000000 0100000000	6 812 2	₹ а60 961	4 921	91.5 73.6 17.9	66.8 878	atoes eith on as food se of the
1962/63	298 253 45	00 01 440 8451000000000000000000000000000000000000	i 254	4 14 1 01	5 160	96.5 77.5 19.0	64.7 873	g ware put consumpti ided becau
1961/62	264 237 47	0 0 1 440 0 1 6 666 0 1 6 666 0 1 6 66 0 1 6 7 0 1 7 0	6 /04	3-995 244	656 1	93.1 75.3 17.8	68.0 649	Including producer been inclu
1960/51	335 283 52	20 01 440 20124040620000 20224004060000 20202000000000 2020000000000	7 472 <sup>3</sup>	3 893 1 091	4 964	94. <i>i</i> 74.0 20.7	60.6 807	oducers. <sup>o</sup> Including t has not
1959/60	330 284 46	22 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 2	<sup>t</sup> 0 <sup>2</sup> 1 7	3 R52 906	4 818	72.3 73.6 18.5	62.1 939	food by pr wastage. ato contep
1958/59	332 268 44	000 - 440 	6 1 3 1 <sup>3</sup>	5-724 916	4 640	89.6 71.9 17.7	69.4 922	mption as hats" and swith pot chances in
	<pre>ptal area under cultivation ('000 ha) Maincrop potatess ('000 ha) Early potatess ('000 ha)</pre>	Maincrop potatoes (100 kg/ha) Early potatoes (100 kg/ha) Maincrop potatoes Early potatoes Feed potatoes (100 kg/ha) Feed potatoes (100 kg/ha) Feed potatoes (100 kg/ha) Maincrop ware potatoes Maincrop ware potatoes	tel arailable supply <sup>1</sup> total generic dispesals)	Boundig" Bounestic communition of mainorop ware potatoes	tal domestic consumption of ware potatoes	Total (kg)	The second second second second second second (%) and second second for seed potatoes	Farm years beginning 1 July. <sup>b</sup> Erluding consu ard's diversification programme as well as "d tetues for argort. Forsign trade in products to argorts + obsures in stocks. <sup>b</sup> Erchuding

Foreign seed potato utilization on domestic farms, in private gardens (from the domestic crop) and imports of seed laports. tion plus early potatoes: produc eximuted ware potatoes; for <u> ଲାମ - ଜୁଟ୍ - ଚ</u>

Table 11\* - Supply of beef in the United Kingdom 1958-71 and forecasts for 1977 •

-
-
-
-
-
-
•
-
-
-
E.4
-
-
-
~
-
-
_
-
-
-
-
-
-
_
-
-
<b>n</b>
-
<u>-</u>
-
~
_
~
<u> </u>
۲.
2
Ĕ
Ĕ
Ĕ
Ĕ
Ĕ
Ĕ
Ĕ
Ĕ

	1958	1959	1960	1961	1962	1963	1961	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1261	1977
Total grees domestic production <sup>d</sup>	708.8	638.5	719.0	789.5	822.9	848.7	798.0	792.5	782.4	851.8	817.8	804.7	892.5	858.2	1058.4
<u>Erperts of live cattle</u> : Breeding cattle ('000 head)	1.7	2.9	2.8	0.4	5.8	8.2	7.8	6.7	7.3	7.7	7.2	10.7	6.7	8.2	
Slaughter cattle and calves ('000 head)	95.0	7.17	42.3	65.7	65.8	72.4	145.1	176-5	103.5	142.3	71.2	105.3	100.2	55.7	450.0E
Heifers and young steers ('000 head)	53.9	26.3	15.3	118.7	50.7	9.68	153.1	141.4	61.3	129.5	88.2	88.0	125.4	59.6	
Total meat equivalent of live cattle exports'.	31.8	21.1	12.5	4.62	26.4	35.1	61.5	65.1	2:5	55.1	38.1	8. 9	16.5 .5	52.0	\$. 2
Total net domestic production	677.0	617.4	706.5	750.1	796.5	813.6	736.5	727.4	748.2	1.961	785.7	763.9	846.7	8.068	973.9
Breeding cattle ('000 head)	5.9	7.0	5.6	6.7	5.0	6.0	5.7	10.6	11.1	1.7	11.0	6.7	13.8	18.3	
Fat cattle ('000 head)	5 1 1	64.8	181.1	274.5	130.6	8.5	8 8 8	6.69	159.5	17.6	19.2	4.6	1.8	6,1	
Store cattle and calves ('000 head)	- 596.0	402.1	321.0	130.2	4.154	564.4	637.6	136.0	6.55	85).X	5.695	242.1	200-2	4.660	
Total meat equivalent of live cattle imports' .	135.1	101.2	114.1	154.7	121.6	130.4	140.5	103.7	119.2	124.6	120.0	106.7	101.3	119-8	35.0
<u>Total net imports of live cattle</u>									(		ļ		I	c t	
(in mest equivalent)	103.3	80.1 80	101.6	115.3	95 is	к Ц	0,62	38.6	8 8 9	69.5	87.9	62.9	54.8	8. 5.	-49.5
Total net production	812.1	718.6	820.6	8,406	918.1	0.446	877.0	831.1	867.4	921.3	905.7	870.6	v. 15	923.0	1008.9
Beef	6.562	4-407	801.1	884.1	898.2	928.2	865.8	822.4	856.0	907.5	6.468	861.3	5.956	8.546	1006.6
Veal	16.2	14.2	19.5	20.7	19.9	15.8	11.2	8.7	11.4	13.8	10.8	هر ۱	8.1	а б	2.3
Total exports of beef and veal	18.5	7.0	4 1.4	4.7	₽ €.4	2.9	10.7	11.8	6.9	6.8	o, M	7.6	6,6	13.7	100.0
Total imports of beef and veal <sup>5</sup>	616.6	559.8	513.9	457.2	492.1	503.7	195.0	410.7	416.6	427.2	407.8	463.5	403.7	385.6	122.1
Bone-in beef <sup>n</sup> ,	348.7	0.605	306.8	253.5	287.0	321.2	249.4	176.0	185.6	226.1	207.9	275-3	120.6	122.4	
Boneless beef"	₹. 99	В Г	53.1	0.65	45.8	5.5 <del>1</del>	101.2	118.7	104.5	47.2	53.3	9.69	1 1 1	4,02,1	
Preserved beef"	89.5	ы Я	2.0	4.67	76.2	6.99	¥6.6	49.1	55.4	4. ₽	5.69	:: 5	28.0	56.6	
Total net imports of beef and veal	598.1	552.8	4.605	452-5	487.8	500.8	€. <del>1</del> 8†	6.965	1-604	420.4	404.8	455.9	393.8	571.9	22.1
Opening stocks <sup>1</sup>	49.1	39.2	31.2	10.7	32.7	20.5	12.3	42.2	ы. К	36.7	1.4 4.0	24.7	29.2	24.4	
Closing stocks	39.2	31.2	10.7	32.7	8.5	12.3	42.2	32.2	36.7	13.4	24.7	29.5	24.45	19.3	
Total domestic consumption of beef and veal <sup>j</sup>	1420-1	1279.4	1320.5	1365.3	1418.1	1453.0	4.1551	1240.0	1272.6	1365.0	1299.2	1322.0	1345.9	1330.0	1031.0
Per capita consumption (kg)	27.49	24.62	25.21	25.85	26.60	27.09	24.65	22.81	23.28	24.83	23.50	23.81	24.16	23.80	18.00

Source: Central Statistical Office, Monthly Digest of Statistics, London, various issues; Commissionars of H.M. Oustoms and Excise, Ammal Statement of the Trade of the United Kingdom with Commonwealth Countries and Foreign Countries, London, Vol. II and Vol. III, various issues; Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food, Output and Utilisation of Farm Produce in the United Kingdom, London, various issues; London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Meat and Dairy Produce Bulletin, London, Commonwealth Commonwealth Secretariat, Meat, London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Meat and Dairy Produce Bulletin, London, London, Various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Meat and Dairy Produce Bulletin, London, London, Various Secretariat, Meat and Dairy Produce Bulletin, London, London, Various Secretariat, Meat, London, Various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Meat and Dairy Produce Bulletin, London, London, Various Secretariat, Meat, London, Various Secretariat, Meat and Dairy Produce Bulletin, London, London, London, Various Secretariat, Meat and Dairy Produce Bulletin, London, London, Various Secretariat, Meat, London, Various Secretariat, Meat and Dairy Produce Bulletin, London, London, Various Secretariat, Meat, London, Various Secretariat, Meat and Dairy Produce Bulletin, London, London, Various Secretariat, Meat, London, Various Secretariat, Meat and London, Various Secretariat, London, Various Secretariat, Reat and London, Various Secretariat, Meat, London, Various Secretariat, London, Various Secretariat, London, Various Secretariat, Reat, London, Various, Reat, London, Vario <sup>a</sup> Estimated dressed carcase weight - i.e. weight of the slaughtered and eviscorated animal including bones and slaughter fat, but exluding hide, hooves, head, offals and offal fat. <sup>b</sup> Own estimate: breeding cattle 100 % of the average slaughter weight for all domestic cattle (cowe, bulls, calves - as slaughter animals; 75 %; heifers and young steers and bulls; 80 %). <sup>c</sup> Own estimate: breeding cattle 100 % of the average slaughter weight for all domestic cattle (fat cattle 100 %; store cattle and calves 75 %). <sup>c</sup> Own estimates are production less the provision of the average slaughter weight for all domestic cattle (fat cattle 100 %; store cattle and calves 75 %). <sup>c</sup> Own estimates are production less be imports of live cattle in most equivalent (for gross domestic production) and net production less imports of live cattle for net domestic production). <sup>d</sup> All animals are less the average the average slaughter weight of 200 lb (% 91 kg); in fact, mainly new-born calves with an average slaughter weight best; for much the following (approximate); or four estimates the estimates are the average slaughter weight basis for which the following (approximate) own estimate; net production plus total net imports of ouly 23 kg are meant. Including re-exports. <sup>6</sup> On a slaughter weight basis for which the following (approximate) own estimate; net production plus total net imports of ouly 23 kg are meant. <sup>1</sup> Own estimates are fore on the post total net imports of the function which the following (approximate) own estimate; net production plus total net imports of heaft the function of the following (approximate) own estimate; net production plus total net imports of heaft weight basis for which the following (approximate) own estimate; net production plus total net imports of heaft and veal. <sup>4</sup> ONO calves, <sup>5</sup> 50 000 calves, <sup>6</sup> 5

various issues; Own calculations and estimates.

Table 12\* - Supply of mutton and lamb in the United Kingdom 1958-71 and forecasts for 1977

('000 t slaughter weight)<sup>8</sup>

	1958	1959	1960	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1961	1968	1969	1970	1971	1977
Total gross demestic production <sup>C</sup>	190.9	250.1	226.1	267.2	254.4	248.8	256.2	248.2	269.7	262.8	249.Ò	212.7	230.8	231.6	284.0
Live exports of sheep: Sheep and lambs of all types ('000 head)	95.0	244.0	247.0	<del>3</del> 54 .0	106.0	486.5	325.8	410.7	137.2	187.2	245.2	6.0 <del>6</del> E	267.9	222.9	300.0
Mest equivalent of total live exports of sheep <sup>b</sup> Total met domestic production	1.9 189.0	4.9 245.2	4.9 221.2	7.1 260.1	8.1 246.3	9.7 239.1	6.5 249.7	8.2 240.0	2.7 267.0	3.7 259.1	4.9 244.1	7.8 204.9	5.4 225.4	4.5 227.1	6.0 276.0
Imports of live sheep: Sheep and lambs of all types ('000 head)	193.0	240.8	313.2	347.7	5.675	312.5	292.4	213.1	169.8	133.0	118.6	88.3	71.0	129.9	150.0
Mest equivalent of total live imports of sheep	3.9	4.8	6.3	7.0	7.6	6.3	5.8	4.3	3.4	2.7	2.4	1.8	1.4	2.6	3.0
Detailed of eventual trans in the super an and a superior of the superior of t	-2.0 192.9	+0.1 250.0	-1.4 227.5	+0.1 267.1	+0.5 253.9	+3.4 245.4	+0.7 255.5	+3.9 244.3	-0.7 270.4	+1.0 261.8	+2.5 264.5 48.1	+6.0 206.7 44.7	<b>226</b> .8 <b>44.2</b>	+1.9 229.7 741.5	+3.0 281.0
Lamb (young fat lambs and hoggets) Total errorts of mutton and lamb <sup>d</sup> Total imports of mutton and lamb <sup>a</sup>	3.3	2.1 384.7	1.7	2.3 370.1	1.0 372.9	, 4.0 356.3	5.7 351.6	, 4.3 357.1	6.5 325.8	, 7.8 350.8	198.4 4.0 360.8	162.0 8.3 376.4	182.6 10.6 336.4	188.2 15.4 364.0	50.0 244.0
Mutton and lamb, fresh, chilled and frosen, bone-in	345.2	370.3	389.9	352.3	357.3	9.745	म. ममह	350.5	320.6	344.2	350.4	367.8	331.2	353.2	
Mutton and lamb in tins (product weight) Total net imports of mutton and lamb Opening stocks Cleming stocks	6.2 354.3 36.8 31.7	382.6 382.6 31.7	10.2 10.6 35.7 38.5	367.8 38.5 38.5	7.8 371.9 30.1 23.3	352.5 352.5 23.5 22.7	3.6 345.9 22.7 18.0	3.3 352.8 18.0 27.0	2.6 319.3 27.0 17.8	3.3 343.0 17.8 13.5	356.8 13.5 14.4	4.3 368.1 14.4 26.1	2.6 325.8 26.1 29.2	348.6 248.6 29.2 23.7	194.0
<u>Total domestic consumption of mutton and lamb<sup>f</sup> Fer capita consumption (kg)</u>	552-3 10-69	628.6 12.10	633.3 12.09	643.3 12.18	632.6 11.87	598.3	606.1 11.22	588.1 10.82	598.9 10.96	609.1 11.08	602.4 10.90	563.1 10.14	551.6 9. <b>90</b>	58 <b>3.</b> 8 10.45	475.0
<sup>a</sup> Estimated dressed carcase weight - i.e. weight of the band on an average slaughter weight $f$ (but demestic production) and less net imports of live fellowing conversion factors: mutton and lamb fresh, the factors conversion factors mutton and lamb fresh, the second statement of the secon	the slaugh for domest fe sheep i chilled,	itered and ic sheep n meat eq frozen, b	l eviscers and lambs uivalent on-in 1.0	tted anima 1 of about (for gros	vl includi 20 kg. s domesti and lamb	ng bones Own esti c product in tins	and slaug mate: dot ion). fln 2.00. f0	hter fat, al net pro cluding r Wn estime	but exclu oduction s-exports te: total	uding ski. less the 1 . 0 n thu net produ	n, hooves meat equive basis of	, head, o valent of f alaught us net im	ffals and live imp er weight ports <u>+</u> cl	offal fat brts of sb and using banges in	the stocks.

Central Statistical Office, Monthly Digest of Statistics, London, various issues; Commissionars of H.M. Customs and Ercise, Annual Statement of the Trade of the United Kingdom with Commonwealth Countries and Foreign Countries, London, Vol. II and Vol. III, various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Meat, London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Meat, and Deiry Produce Bulleting, London, various issues; Own calculations and estimates. Source:

rable 13\* - <u>Supply of pork and bacon in the United Kingdom 1958-71 and forecasts for 1977</u> (\*000 t slaughter weight)<sup>0</sup>

654.0 28.90 784.0 13.70 370.0 <sup>a</sup> 1 kg of becon in product weight  $\approx$  1.25 kg of becon fresh weight. <sup>b</sup> Based on an average slaughter weight of 65 kg.<sup>C</sup> Estimated dressed carcase weight i.e. including glaughter fat and bones, but excluding had, skin, offals and offal fat.<sup>d</sup> Pork only.<sup>e</sup> 1 kg timaed pork  $\approx$  1.20 kg pork slaughter weight.<sup>T</sup> Pork only, figures for bacon stocks not available.<sup>E</sup> Total net production plus net imports  $\pm$  changes in stocks.<sup>A</sup> Domestic production of bacon and ham plus imports of bacon and that in time.<sup>1</sup> Gross domestic production of pork less the meat equivalent of net exports of live pigs and plus net imports (less net exports) of pork and plus imports of pork in time (in slaughter weight)  $\pm$  changes in stocks of pork less the meat equivalent of net exports of live pigs and plus net imports (less net exports) of pork and plus imports of pork in time (in slaughter weight)  $\pm$  changes in stocks of pork. 832.0 5.0 827.0 266.0 822.0 832.0 609.0 10.0 0.7 831.3 831.3 561.0 1977 0.02 0.10 1636.4 29.29 874.0 15.64 762.4 1911 528.5 27.44 830.1 14.90 698.4 12.54 261 1521.0 27.39 821.1 14.79 699.9 12.60 <u>8</u> 498.9 27.11 829.8 829.8 15.01 669.1 <u>1</u>88 1452.0 26.41 26.41 14.64 14.64 647.0 11.77 1967 1503.4 27.51 808.3 14.79 695.1 12.72 996 1568.5 28.85 845.9 15.56 13.29 <u>8</u> 1457.2 26.98 820.4 15.19 636.8 11.79 <u>1</u>8 1405.8 26.21 803.4 602.4 11.23 1963 1424.4 26.72 831.3 15.59 15.59 593.1 788.0 506.7 281.3 --788.0 <u> 2</u>82 [538.0 25.34 803.8 15.22 15.22 10.12 705.1 0.1 18.0 18.0 18.0 50.9 46.0 50.9 2.2 2.2 2.2 705.1 148.2 256.9 705.1 1 1 1961 676.8 447.9 228.9 -676.8 [318.2 25.17 789.2 15.07 529.0 10.10 8 ı. 1261.5 24.28 755.6 14.54 505.9 9.74 141 - 714.6 440.6 274.0 1959 ı. 1238.5 23.98 736.1 14.25 502.4 9.73 711.7 711.7 720.8 726.6 726.6 726.6 726.6 726.6 726.6 726.6 726.6 726.6 726.6 726.6 726.6 726.6 726.6 726.6 726.6 726.6 726.6 726.7 711.7 437.4 274.3 958 Total mat domestic production Imports of live pige ('000 head) Mat equivalent<sup>D</sup> •••••• lotal net imports of pigmeat ...... fotal domestic consumption of pork and bacon<sup>g</sup> 

Central Statistical Office, Monthly Digest of Statistics, London, various issues; Commissioners of H.M. Oustoms and Excise, Annual Statement of the Trade of the United Kingdom with Commonwealth Countries and Foreign Countries, London, Vol. II and Vol. III, various issues; Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food, Output and Utilisation of Farm Produce in the United Kingdom, London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Meat, London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Meat and Pairy Produce Bulletin, London, various issues; Own calculations and estimates. Source:

Table 14\* - Supply of edible offals in the United Kinedom 1958-71 and forecasts for 1977

(1 0001)

	1958	1959	1960	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1 <i>1</i> 61	1977
Total domestic production of offals	130.3	129.8	135.0	149.3	151.8	153.4	149.7	147.2	152.7	153.7	153.7	144.8	155.4	159.5	163.7
Cattle <sup>b</sup>	71.6	63.4	72.1	79.6	80.8	83.5	TT.9	74.0	0-77	81.7	80.5	77.5	84.5	6.48	90.6
Calves <sup>o</sup>	3.2	2.8	3.9	4.1	4.0	3.2	2,2	1.7	2.3	2.8	2.2	1.9	1.6	1-4	0.5
Sheep <sup>d</sup>	27.0	35.0	31.9	37.4	35-5	7.12	35.8	34.2	9. <i>1</i> E	36.7	0° LE	28.9	31.8	32.2	39.3
Pigs	28.5	28.6	27.1	28.2	31.5	32.3	33.8	37.3	35.5	32.5	°.₹	36.5	37.5	41.0	33.3
Total exports	0.4	6.0	0.2	6.0	4.0	6.0	0.8	0.8	1.3	1.2	1.0	2.2	2.2	4.3	5.0
Total imports	72.9	5-17	83.3	81.9	86.1	7:42	101.6	108.1	104.4	104.9	4.111	5.901	97.0	96.8	104.3
Cattle and calves	6.44	45-5	43.7	44.1	45.0	52.0	54.7	55.9	53.8	51.0	53.9	52.6	1 <del>1</del> 6.0	5. <del>14</del>	
Sheep and lambs	17.5	17.9	22.8	22.8	24.5	25.9	26.9	28.2	30.7	33.0	33.4	33.0	¥. v	35.9	
Pigs	10.5	9.51	16.8	15.0	16.6	16.8	20.0	24.0	9.9I	20.9	24.1	23.7	16.0	16.1	
Total net imports	72.5	0.17	83.1	81.6	85.7	93.8	100.8	107.3	103.1	103.7	110.4	107.1	<b>9</b> .8	92.5	5.96
Opening stocks	8.4	9.1	12.3	13.4	13.3	6.6	13.1	11.4	15.2	17.8	16.4	14.7	12.3	17.6	
<u>Ölosing stocks</u>	9.1	12.3	13.4	5.51	6.6	13.1	11.4	15.2	17.8	16.4	14.7	12.3	17.6	17.2	
Total domestic consumption of offals	202.1	203.6	217.0	231.0	240.9	244.0	252.2	250.7	253.2	258.8	265.8	254.3	244.9	252.4	263.0
Per capita consumption (kg)	3.91	3.92	4.14	4.37	4.52	4.55	4.67	4.61	4.63	4.71	4.81	4.58	04.4	4 2	4.60
Liver, heart, kidneys and other edible	offals from	the slaugh	iter of dom	estic and	live impor	ted animal	∎. b Estim	ate: 9 \$ 0	f net prod	iction of	beef. <sup>C Ee</sup>	timate: 20	% of net	production	l of
Vest. BETIMETE: 14 % OF FOURT DET Proc. changes in stocks.	nction of mu	T DUR HOLLI		1.1.04.1.01 4 %	TELO1 IO	net produc	td 10 Holt	gmear. I	A BUIDATON	esports.	- Jumesta	c producti	eu anté uo	t laports	+1

Source: Commonwealth Secretariat, Nest and Deiry Produce Bulleting, London, various issues; Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food, Output and Utilisation of Farm Produce in the United Kingdom, London, various issues; Own calculations and estimates.

Table 15\* - Production and wtigisation of whole milk in the United Kingdom 1958-71 and forecasts for 1977

(1000 f)

٠

	1958	1959	1960	961 1	362	963	- 	- - -		- 196	896	6961	1970	1261	1977
iry cow herd (June) ('000 000) <sup>®</sup> <u>lk yield per cow</u> (kg) <u>lk production of dairy cowe</u> <u>lk production of beef cowe</u>	3.676 2954 10858 571	3.676 2866 10537 555	3.790 3028 11476 11476 1 604	5.899 2080 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010	3108 3108 646 646	2695 2695 0595 0595 0595 0595 0595 0595 0595 0	2005 2005 2005 2005 2005 2005 2005 2005	2509 2509 2519 2519 2519 2519 2519 2519 2519 251	768 7192 2028 633	3181 2406 2406 255 255 255 255 255 255 255 255 255 25	28274 28374 675 675	046. 21. 2005 2005 2005 2005 2005 2005 2005 200	3.939 3352 13805 695 695	9898 7005 7005 7005 700 700 700 700 700 700	4 - 20 5 - 50 5 - 50
rai mirk production filisation of cow's milk on farms: Total liquid milk <sup>0</sup>		458 458		1 2402 2114 2114			- <u></u>		- 	- 	182	2.12 875 875	× £		
Sales off farms Branhouse cheese Warmhouse cheese	1 R R R	) <b>K</b> Q2	1872 I	;R8E	1885 1885	ម្ភភត្	୍ଟ ଜ୍ଞ ନ୍ଦୁ	2 % % <u>%</u>	ខេត្	(% % <sup>2</sup> 7	<u>)</u> 8.53		115 28	85	រូនខ្ម
Whole mik fed to stock <sup>0,f</sup> Sales via the Milk Marketing Boards ales as a percentage of total milk production	777 9954 87.1	9605 86.6 86.6	821 10595 87.7	860 860 87.6 1	1403 8866 88.2 88.2	87.8 1068 1	835 87.4	1591 1291 87.8	818 118 5. 188 5.	862 862 88.6	892 877 87.9	908 12021 87.4	917 - 12251 88, 1	924 12585 89.9	1 057 14 642 90.1
tilization of whole milk in the dairies and by other milk processors Total fresh consumption	40f2	7448	7592	7769	7927	8058	8219	 8838	838 8	 8496	8509	8529	8537	8487	9 362
Liquid milk	£602 £71	7184 216	7285	7400 306	7507 249	7 <b>3</b> 78 398	7669 454	7678 519	7714 568	7759 634	7727 669	6692 082	7669 753	25 29 29 29	7 931
Others Butter	8	8 <del>1</del> 775	88	69	(F §	83	8.7	66	102	103 916	113	110	115	118	2 143 291 591
Cheese	5426		601	221		ş g	1098 14 14	1127	205	712	1166	1176	1278	1546	2 030
Condensed milk	1967	415 775	<u>F</u>	426 288	<u>8</u> 8	121 go	64 F	24		064	) <u>1</u> [		i i i	428 7.75	467
- sweetened in tims	87	201	107	381	<u>,</u> 2;	វូត	129	<u>(</u> 8)	<i>N</i>	<u>(</u>	/æ	(11	(12)	( <u>R</u>	68
- sweetened in bulk	ΥR	8 F	₽ <i>१</i> 2	£8	ŧ8	218	R 92	₹£	5.65	88	ភទ្ឋ	х Я	રુકુ	<b>E</b>	119
Chocolate crumb	204	183	192	198	181	189	204	197	248	227	226	217	189	206	219
<sup>b</sup> Cows and heifers in milk; oows in calf but not in milk; heifers in setimates by the Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food, which a betimates by the Strahouse Cheesemakers' Scheme. <sup>8</sup> Residual value; contains also the fortal milk production (1962-66 = $6.7$ %; 1967-71 = $6.6$ %; assumption	calf with re avail he station n for 19	h first ( able only stical en 77: 6.5 9	calf. <sup>b</sup> 0 r for far rrorg whi (). g Mai	fficial ( m years ( ch were ( nly yogh	estimates (June to made in ' ourt, mil	u: ≈ 5 % May). d the comptive during	of tota Figures ilation	l milk p of the of the w bakes et	roductio Wilk Mar bole mil c. and i	n. <sup>c</sup> Eat keting B k balanc ce cream	imated o cards, w e for fa	n the ba hich gre trus. 1 estimate	tsis of c respons 1958-61 =	fficial ible for 6.8 %	

Source: Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food, Output and Utilisation of Farm Produce in the United Kingdom, London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Dairy Produce, London,

Table 16\* - Supply of butter and cheese in the United Kingdom 1958-71 and forecasts for 1977 († 000.)

	1958	1959	1960	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971	1977
BUTTICE BUTTICE Demestic production in dairies Exports Fresh butter Presh butter Parter-oil and rendered butter Butter-oil and rendered butter Total net imports Opening stocks Closing stocks Closing stocks Demestic consumption (kg)	30.2 30.2 423.4 423.4 423.4 425.9 316.1 316.1 9.10	15.1 25.5 207.1 407.1 404.6 31.5 31.5 31.5 31.5 8.41	40.2 2.04 2.111 7.114 7.114 7.114 7.114 1.12 11.2 11.2 11.2 11.2 11.2 8.35 8.35	51.6 71.6 72.88 72.88 72.4 8.95 8.95	60.6 60.6 7.1 7.1 7.1 7.1 7.2 74.5 74.5 74.5 74.5 74.5 74.5 74.5 74.5	43.9 2.0 420.9 418.9 13.2 13.2 13.2 15.3 15.3	23.7 23.7 23.7 23.7 23.1 23.1 25.1 16.3 16.3 16.3 16.3 16.3 16.3 16.3 16	76.14 76.17 76.17 76.17 76.17 76.17 76.17 8.17 76.17 8.17 76.17 8.17 76.17 8.17 76.17 8.17 76.17 8.17 76 76 76 76 76 76 76 76 76 76 76 76 76	8, 0, 0, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1,	ૢૢૢૢૢૢૢૢૢૢૢૢૢૢૢૢૢૢૢૢૢૢૢૢૢૢૢૢૢૢૢૢૢૢૢૢૢ	8.21.28 2.29 2.29 2.19 2.19 2.19 2.19 2.19 2.19	8.12 8.12 8.12 8.12 8.12 8.13	860.00 800.00 800.000 800.000 800.000 800.000 800.000 800.000 800.0000 800.0000 800.0000 800.0000 800.00000000	65.8 2330.0 2730.0 267.6 287.6 287.6 18.5 18.5 7.96	90.2 9.0 9.0 9.0 9.0 7 9.0 6.2 9
<u>(11-15)</u>															
Total domestic production in dairies and cheese factories familouse cheese Exports	96.7 91.2 5.5 115.0 115.0	888 93.1 138.5 148.5 141	110.4 103.3 7.1 7.1 133.5 133.5	114-3 106-1 88-2 133-6 133-6	114.1 105.6 8.5 138.0 138.0	176.9 17.8 8.4 8.4 176.9 176.9 176.9	7.111 0.7.0 7.8 7.8 7.9 7.9 7.9 7.9 7.9 7.0 7.0 7.0 1.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7	114.9 105.7 9.2 2.7 151.9 149.2	1008.8 100.1 147.7 147.5	122.1 112.2 9.9 7.0 159.1 156.1	120.7 110.1 10.6 2.6 17.7 17.7	120.5 110.5 10.5	130.6 119.8 119.8 153.6 153.6	156.4 124.5 122.1 4.5 164.0 164.0 164.0	200.0 186.2 13.8 13.8 19.0 85.0
Closure stocks Domestic consumption Per capita consumption (kg)	15.8 233.8 4.53	21.3 219.5 4.22	29.0 29.0 29.0 29.0 29.0	34.8 242.0 4.58	35.6 251.5 4.72	27.3 251.7 4.69	28.2 259.2 4.80	249.8	42.1 259.7 4.75	268.1 4.88	71.8 278.6 5.04	586.1 5.15	297.4 5.74	5.54 5.54	275.0 4.80
Before 1965 not listed separately in foreign trade statist stores; until 1963: only at 14 - 18 <sup>0</sup> - from 1964 at all temp complete and which cannot be ascertained accurately.	cics since berstures	e import 6 Excl	s of but uding th	ter-oil e domest	and rend ic consu	ered but mption o	ter were f domest	insigni io farmi	ficent v touse but	ntil 196 ter the	4. <sup>b</sup> In statisti	public a ics for v	tnd gover thich arr	nment oo very in	14

\* Thedefinition of stocks used in official statistics was considerably widened in 1961 and 1965.

Secretaristical Office, Monthly Digest of Statistics, London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretarist, Dairy Produce, London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretarist, Meat and Dairy Produce Bulletin, London, various issues; Own calculations and estimates.

Table 17\* - Supply of preserved whole milk products in the United Kingdom 1958-71 and forecests for 1977

~
وب ا
Q
8
5
~

	1958	1959	1960	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1261	1977
WHOLE MILK POWDER															
Domestic production	29.0	6.12	26.3	27.1	25.3	25.2	26.4	25.9	27.8	23.3	24-5	23.6	21.3	27.6	30.0
Exports	0 1.0	1.6	0 0 <u></u>	9.1	2.1	2.2 2 2	ي م م	9.9	2.1	2.5	6, 6,	6.5 1.	8.9	9 19	15.0
Net imports	7.7	13.5	0.41	14.41	1.91	λ Ú κ	16.00	0, <u>7</u> , 0	17 0	0.4	18.0 8.7	2.01	19.2	17.8 8.4	10.0
Total domestic consumption	38.6	41.4	5.5	41.1	1.4		41.9	:::	; ; ; ; ;	10.24	33.4	- 0	4.16	33.7	2.0
imported whole milk powder	11.0	14.8	15.2 21.2	15.4	21.2	4. 8	51.3	24.8	5	- <del>1</del> . %	18.7	16.1	18.4	15.6	10.0
Proportion of imported bowder in to	2(.0	0.02	<u>.</u> จ		2.(2	18.0	9.9 8	6.9I	50.7	16.1	14.7	14.1	13.0	18.1	15.0
domestic consumption (%) per capita consumption (kg)	28.5 0.75	35.7 0.80	37.5 0.77	37.5 0.78	47.7	55.4 0.75	50.8 0.78	56.2 0.81	53-0 0.81	62.1 0.77	56.0	53.3	58.6 0.56	46.3 0.60	40.0
CONDENSED WHOLE MILK					•				L						F
unawse tened															
Domestic production	114.6	107-3	113.7	108.8	120.0	113.9	121.6	140.7	139.7	139.8	137.3	152.5	152.6	152.4	150.0
Laports	16.9	13.7	15.2	12.3	15.8	16.7	20.7	8. .'.	24.2	24.1	24.3	29.4	26.3	50.9	40.0
Net exports	ν 4.4	6.0	(-) 6.2	0.4	0.2	- 0	1.1	4 č	4.4	0.2	16.0	0.01 0.0	4.11	1 1 1 1 1	25.0
Domestic consumption	109.4	103.6	2.66	104.4	112.9	105.5	111.3	122.2	115-0	126.2	127.1	157.4	137.3	0.4 1	135.0
Fer capita consumption (kg)	2.12	1.99	 8. [	1.98	2.12	1.97	5,06	5.S	2.10	2.30	2.30	2.83	2.46	5. <sup>10</sup>	2.35
<u>sweetened</u>															
Domestic production	45.1	48.2	52.6	49.5	43.4	48.5	46.8	44.7	48.0	38.6	35.9	7:7	34.0	26.2	25.0
Exports	51.5	6.61 6.6	25.7	26.7	19.2	23.4	19.9	S Ú	11.8	7.8	6.7	6.9	а і 6 б	2.0	5.0
Vet exports	19.8	17.8	24.4		18.0	20.0	0 0 1 4	4°0	11.4	+ - F	0, r 0 v		2.0 0	1.0	0 °
Domestic consumption	27.5	28.2	27.0	25.2	26.3	25.9	26.8	58. <del>4</del> .	37.2	- <u>6</u>	28.0	23.2	24:5	6,8	20.0
Fer capits consumption (kg)	0.53	0.54	0.52	0.48	0.49	0.48	0.50	0.52	0.68	0.55	0.51	0.42	44.0	0.41	0.35
								_							

Source: Central Statistical Office, Monthly Digest of Statistics, London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Dairy Produce, London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Meat and Dairy Bulletin, London, various issues; Own calculations and estimates.

Table 18\* - Supply of oream and chocolate orumb in the United Kingdom 1958-71 and forecasts for 1977 (\*000 t)

92.0 0 92.0 1.600 17.0 10.0 27.0 0.470 82.0 5.0 30.0 25.0 107.0 1977 56.0 5.6 61.6 1.102 14.6 7.5 22.1 0.396 77.2 8.7 22.6 99.8 1911 53.8 4.9 58.7 1.054 14.7 8.6 23.3 0.418 70.8 9.1 29.4 91.4 1.64 1970 14.6 9.1 23.7 0.427 81.3 33.7 33.7 33.7 25.07 51.4 2.7 54.1 0.974 <u>8</u>61 14.7 8.6 23.3 0.421 47.8 2.3 50.1 84.6 35.7 35.7 120.3 2.18 1968 12.6 8.8 21.4 0.389 85.0 85.0 125.9 20.9 20.9 20.9 1967 12.4 8.9 21.3 0.790 40.6 2.0 42.6 0.779 92.9 41.0 133.9 2.45 1966 37.1 1.8 38.9 38.9 0.716 73.8 33.6 33.6 107.4 13.4 9.7 23.1 0.425 1965 78.4 1.9 74.3 0.635 11.1 11.6 22.7 0.420 76.4 -35.7 35.7 35.7 35.7 25.08 1961 1961 28.4 2.0 30.4 10.4 11.1 21.5 0.401 70.8 1.9 1.9 1.98 1.98 1963 8.6 9.6 18.2 0.341 24.9 1.7 26.6 0.499 67.8 --37.4 37.4 105.2 1962 9.7 8.1 17.8 0.337 21.9 1.4 23.3 0.441 74 .2 74 .2 74 .4 108.6 108.6 20.06 1961 10.9 4.8 15.7 0.300 18.4 1.3 19.7 0.376 71.9 - 7 35.0 35.0 25.04 <u>8</u> 15.4 1.3 16.7 0.321 10.7 2.4 13.1 0.252 68.5 -35.4 35.4 103.9 2.00 1959 12.4 1.4 13.8 0.267 10.1 1.0 11.1 0.215 76.4 32.0 32.0 32.0 2.10 1958 Per capits consumption [kg] .... Domestic production ..... Imports ......Domestic consumption ..... : Exports ...... Imports ..... Net imports ...... Domestic consumption ..... Per capita consumption (kg) .... Domestic production ..... Per capita consumption (kg) STERILIZED TINNED CREAN CHOCOLATE CRUCB FRESH CREAN

b Excluding consumption of fresh oream on farms producing milk. Including marginal amounts of fresh milk. Commonwealth Secretariat, Dairy Produce, London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Meat and Dairy Produce Bulletin, London, various issues; Own calculations and estimates. Source:

Table 19\* - Production and utilisation of akimmed milk in the United Kingdom 1958-71 and forecasts for 1977

¢

1960 1961 19	577 1136 1411 16 313 832 1068 12 200 239 285 33	64 65 58	235 657 736 8.	89 71 81 8	25 228 393 4489  489           	r and buttermilk powder in the Uni 21.0   58.7   65.7   7	75.6 8.3 13.8 75.0	70.0 34.5 21.2 81.5 75.0 6	27.7 19.7 222.2 56.6 61.8 52.8	0.11 0.11 0.11 0.11 0.11 0.11 0.11 0.11	23.3 19.2 19.4 2	.   .   .   .   g skimmed milk. <sup>b</sup> 1 kg fresh art for the ice oream industry. 1 years (June - May and April - Ma
1962 1963 1964 15	1630 1340 979 13 1254 909 491 13 324 369 421 4	52 62 67	838 571 342 1	82 71 75	53.32 53.32 53.32	<u>ie United Kingdom 1958-71 and forec</u>   74.8   51.0   30.5	21.9 12.2 4.0 30.1 37.4 65.4	8.2 25.2 61.4 08.0 87.5 61.4	57.8 22.1 23.7 60.2 65.4 71.3	2.1 22.1 CI.1 2.21 0.01 0.41	25.0 21.4 22.1	.   .   .   .   resh cream ≈ 13 kg skimmed milk . ry. <sup>6</sup> 0vm estimate based on the of - March respectively). <sup>7</sup> Organize
965 1966 196	320 1240 146 758 638 79 482 528 53	80 74 7	765   676   82	64 65 7	53 458 438 438 433 451 61 229 61 61 229 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22	<u>iasts for 1977</u> (1 000 <sup>+</sup> 68.3   60.4   7	9.0 21.2 1 19.2 30.7 3	40.2 9.5 8	56.5 64.5 64.5 64.5 7 64.5 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	r 9'01 5'c1	8.8 4.6 15.2 1	
7 1968 1969	0 1785 1926 5 1076 1177 9 621 668	6   88   8	5 1077 100 <sup>1</sup>	3 <u>56</u> 6	9 9 10 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25	:) 3.7   96.2   85	5.0 28.2 28.3 28.3 28.3 28.3 28.3 28.3 28.3	3.8 10-1 1.0 00 6 10-1	7.2 65.2 7 7.2 65.2 7	1 9 21 8 %	8.2 18.0 20	l .   sed tinned orean ∞ e Ministry of Agricu g Organizations. <sup>E</sup> O
1970 1971	1 2110 2178 1323 1362 1369 728	88	1048 1219	57 56	107 107 105 105 105 105 105 105 105 105 105 105	.6   93.6   108.8	.0 21.3 31.1 1.1 29.7 18.7	.1 8.4 -12.4 .4 105.0 100.3		21 1.2 1.2 13.8	.7 17.3 15.4	ا ا.4 ا ح.5 فره هذا الله المالي المراكم د الاستعام المراكم ما معالم المراكم المراكم
197	2 768 1 470 1 196	102	2 015	53	150 550 300 300	180.0	0.00 50 50	- 44 -	60.0 76.0		15.0	5.0 Skimmed dand the t consumptic

Table 21\* - <u>Supply of eggs in the United Kingdom 1958-71 and forecasts for 1977</u>.

(\*000 000 dogens)

	1958	1959	1960	1961	1962	1963	1961	1965	1966	1967	8961	1969	1970	1971	1971
					Ţ										
	ל נ		Ch 67	56 10	80	50.04	61.90	58.75	58.64	59.79	58.84	59.63	64.15°	61.05°	61.40
unaber of laying nens June ('000 000) .	5. 5.	1.1.1	10.40	740	2.5	535	238	251	3 S S	260	270	Я Х			230
Letal production of hen eggs	1036.6	6.0011	1099.1	1122.5	1156.3	1156.3	1230.1	1227.5	1281.7	1295.5	1324.2	1303.9			1462.0
O	1	:	۳ :	a	7	5	. 6.1	5.7	5.3	5.1	5.2	5.1	5.0		3.0
roduction of duck eggs for sating	28.0	4-11 	37.4	29.5 29.5 29.5	- 66	5.65	9.01	5 5	19.1	47.9	5	53.5			66.8
as a percentage of total production of hen eggs	5.2	8.0	10 <u>1</u>	4.6	4.0	4.5		ب. د. د <u>ا</u>	9.6 12.9	ب 13.0	<u>ה</u> ה <u>ק</u> א הי	13.0			14.8
	10.4	0.11	0.11	2.11	2.11	2	) 	Ì							0 001 1
Production of hen eggs for esting	998.2	1059.1	1050.7	1073.1	1105.4	1105.4	1177.2	1174.7	1222.7	1234.6	1260.6	1237.4			1406.0
	0.000	1 0201	0 0901	1080 0	0.0111	6,1111	1183.3	1180.4	1228.0	1239.7	1265.8	1242.5		•	1405.0
CAR Droauction Ior manage consumption, total	1009.0	0.0/0T	0.200T	1.7	4.1	4.9	4.00	17.3	1.44	33.2	41.8	28.5	26.5	17.4	
	ο v c	, r , r	10	- 0	1.1	3.4	4.6	0.4	2.1	2.2	¢.4	5.0	9.0	1.4	
Ree moducts in shall are amivalent		10	0	0.8	0	0,0	<b>3.8</b>	13.3	0,54	21.0	37.5	27.5	52.9	0.01	
the imports	60.2	0.01	65.2	80.6	57.0	52.22	r; q	19.4	5.14	84	6,2 6,1	;; ;	1.1	Ż.	
Shell eggs	14.9	12.8	35.1	£.6£	24.9	27.9	21 2 2	ສ ເ ເ ເ	8.61	2, 0 0, 0 0, 0	4, u 8, 8	1,7 1,7 1,4	1.9	1.0	
Egg products in shall agg equivalent	45.3	27.2	20.1	÷14	32.1	24.3	18.8	5.5	C.12	2.23	Ç, y	2.02	2-2-	;	
iet imports (-) or met exports (+) of eggs and egg	E7 6	- 77 0	0,46-	-78.9	-55.6	-45.8	-31.9	-29.1	+2.8	-15-6	-1.1	-11.6	-6.6	-22.3	+ 50.0
	2.1	2	2	<u>}</u>	,										1 355 0
lotal domestic consumption of hen and duck eggs	1067.5	1108.4	1126.0	1161.8	1168.5	1157.7	1215.2	1209.5	1225.2	C.CC21	275	271			284
lotal per capita consumption (eggs)	548	ຄູ ຄູ			64	252	248	548	)£	248	22	248			256
Shell egge (egge)	ភ្លុះ	Х. <del>Т</del>	ັງລ	52	; ដ	ភូន	ន	19	54	ж Я	5	ເລ		-	56
199 hronno (alla ta more allo darmane in the	-		-												

<sup>a</sup> All laying hens from point of lay to completion of first full moult and all hatching hens. Complete sets of statistics are available only for all laying hens functions of all ages. The above figures are based on the assumption that on a state complete sets full moult and for all laying hens (including day old chicks until time of first full moult and around 10 % of the total mumber of the total mumber of laying hens seconded for by the category day-old chicks until time of first full moult and around 10 % of the total mumber of the total mumber of based on the assumption that a avanage about 29 % of the total mumber of laying hens is accounted for by the category day-old chicks until time of first full moult and around 10 % of the total mumber of bases. On all farms ("agricultural holdings" > 1 acre strictultural ares/; intensive market production on farms for soons and hatching hens is accounted for the total mone around for the total row first full moult areas, intensive market production of farms for soons and hatching hense is accounted for the total row regime areas of a laying the part on the total ages. On all farms ("agricultural holdings" > 1 acre strictultural ares/; intensive market production of been included in commerse of poulty members; in order to guarantee an approximate comparability with pro-1970 figures for 1970 moments poultry keepers" have not been included in commerse of poulty mumbers; in order to guarantee an approximate area of 4 acres (some the figures for 1970 moments poultry keepers" have not been included in commerse of poulty hat the factor poultry keepers" have not been included in order to guarantee an approximate set only available for farmes ("domestic poultry keepers" have not to a set of a set

Central Statistical Office, Annual Abstract of Statistics, London, various issues; Central Statistica, Nonthly Digest of Statistics, London, various issues; Ministry of Agriculture, Day and Utilisation of Farm Produce in the United Kingdom, London, various issues; Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food, Dapartment of Agriculture, and Food, Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food, Dapartment of Agriculture and Fisheries for Scotland, Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Pood, Dapartment of Agriculture, and Fisheries and Food, Dapartment of Agriculture and Fisheries for Scotland, Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Pood, Dapartment of Agriculture, and Fisheries and Food, Dapartment of Agriculture, London, various issues; Montant, Meat and Dairy Produce Bulleting, London, various issues; Munistry of Agriculture, Neated, Agriculture, Jondon, various issues; Commonwealth Secretarist, Neat and Dairy Produce Bulleting, London, various issues; Munistry of Agriculture, Neatent of Produce Bulleting, London, Various Issues; Montant, Reme, various issues; Own calculations and estimates. Sources

Table 22\* - Supply of poultrymeat and poultry numbers in the United Kingdom 1959-71 and 1958/59 - 1968/69<sup>1</sup> and forecasts for 1977

1977		849.0	- 30.0	819.0 14.30				ever, have try of offal mumber t +
1971	1.39.12 1.37.02 1.97.02 1.9.78 1.9.78 1.9.78	15.8	10.4					mhich, how ding poul iver) and $\frac{1}{2}$ (June 1 s and art
1970	143.43 137.21 87.42 49.78 6.22	11.5	5.8					<pre>&lt; 1 acre w rds: exclu gizzard, 1 (t/t+1) &amp; kg for gee</pre>
1969	126.51 120.61 82.19 38.19 38.19 1.27 1.27 1.27 1.27 1.27	555.8 0.8 10.2	<i>٣</i> ٩ ٥ ٣	565.2 10.18				area of 1970 onwa: (heart, ( farm-year und 4.50 ]
1968	127.46 121.75 81.03 40.72 1.16 0.20 0.20	508.0 0.4 14.6	7.5 7.1 14.2	522.2 9.45	1968/69	323.7 5.5 5.5 12 2 5	5.5 5.5 5.5 5.4 5.7 5.6 5.5 7.5 7.5 7.5 7.5 7.5	s with an s); from 3 le offals umber in 3 ucks, aro
1967	125.62 37.75 37.78 11.20 11.20	463.3 0.3 20.6	11.0 9.6 20.3	483.6 8.80	1967/68	300.9 5.3 0.01	4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4	all farm ry keeper with edib orts. N kg for d
1966	811 87.58 87.57 87.51 87.51 87.51 87.52 87.55 87.55 87.55 87.55 87.55 87	426.7 0.3 17.1	7.9 9.2 16.8	443.5 8.11	1966/67	275.2 5.1 0.3	2.36 1.20 1.20 1.20 392.8 392.8 12.3	<pre>s) and on tic poult; laws but s net imp ound 2.00</pre>
1965	118.14 112.13 80.91 71.22 7.12 1.75 1.75 1.75 1.75 1.75	391.0 0,4 21.6	12.6 9.0 21.2	412.2 7.58	1965/66	255.2 4.7 0.3	2.26 3.64 12.5 412.5 70.1	l holding ts (domes ead and c ction plu fowls, ar
1964	118.38 112.92 85.74 85.74 27.18 1.33 0.24	371.9 0.2 17.4	, 8.1 17.2	<b>389.1</b> 7.20	1964/65	237.6 4.8 0.3 7.6	2.11 2.58 3.58 3.58 3.58 3.5 8.5 8.5	ricultura equirement without ha for all 1
1963	112.18 106.84 	249.5 0.4 1.0	8.8 8.8 8.8	358.3 6.68	1963/64	2251 4.3 6.6 6.6	2.05 2.172 2.172 2.22 2.22 2.22 2.22 2.22 2.	acre (ag eir own r en-ready ultry. d 1.43 kg
1962	109.03 104.03 45.1 35.7 35.7	346.5 1.6 12.9	4.9 8.0 11.3	357.8 6.71	1962/63	218.1 3.7 0.3 5.6	2.02 2.03 2.11.56 2.11.56 2.11.6 2.11.6 2.13 2.13 2.13 2.13 2.13 2.13 2.13 2.13	re than l ly for th - i.e. ov at aroun
1961	114.29 108.40 	348.8 1.5 11.8	4.7 7.1 10.3	359.1 6.80	1961/62	217.9 4.5 0.4 6.4	2.05 3.10 1.75 310.8 310.8 310.4	rea of mo exclusive e weight illed or estimated
1960	103.01 98.36 1.30 0.39 2.96	290.1 1.2 12.3	5.7 6.6 11.1	<b>301.2</b> 5.75	1960/61	10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 1	1.89 7.01 7.1.73 7.1.43 7.1.73 7.1377 7.1377 7.1377 7.1377 7.13777 7.137777777777	ultural a e almost ed carcas fresh, ch (b)) was
1959	106.61 102.26 0.40 0.40 2.72	261.0 1.1 12.9	8.7 4.2 11.8	272.8 5.25	1959/60	171.2 2.8 0.5 4.2	1.71 2.22 1.48 1.48 2.4.6 2.4.6 2.4.6 2.4.6	an agric or produc ted dress v 1.5 kg tion see
1958	99.72 95.89 1.27 0.43 2.14	211.3 1.0 15.8	11.1 4.7 14.8	226.1 4.38	1958/59	150 25 0.5 2.5	235.1 2.52 2.53 2.53 2.53 2.52 2.52 2.52 2.52	farms with farming) Estima itryneat % for defini
	Total mumber of poultry in June ('000 000) <sup>a</sup> Total fouls ('000 000) <sup>a</sup> Laying and hatching hens ('000 000) <sup>a</sup> Derliers etc. ('000 000) <sup>a</sup> Total gesse ('000 000) <sup>a</sup> Total turkeys ('000 000) <sup>a</sup>	Total met production of poultryment ('000 t) <sup>b</sup> Total exports ('000 t) <sup>c</sup>	Fresh, chilled, frozen poultry total ('000 t) Preserved poultrymeat ('000 t) Total met imports of poultrymeat ('000 t)	<u>Total domestic poultrymest consumption</u> ('000 t) <sup>6</sup> Per capita consumption (kg)		Isughteringe         ('000 000) <sup>h</sup> Total fowis         ('000 000)           Total ducks         ('000 000)           Total gese         ('000 000)           Total tucks         ('000 000)           Total tucks         ('000 000)	Number of slaughterings per unit of poultryTotal fowls (head)Total fowls (head)DucksDucks(head)Ducks(head)Turkeys(head)TurkeysTotal foultryTotal foulsUncks and geese('000 t)Turkeys('000 t)TurkeysTurkeys	* From 1958 to 1969; the mumber of poultry on all either a sizeable marketable production (intensive domestic poultry keepers, otherwise as for 1958-69 fats. Including re-erports. I kg preserved poul fune mumber tell. " The averses significat weight (

Source: Central Statistical Office, Annual Abstract of Statistics, London, various issues; Central Statistice, Monthly Digest of Statistics, London, various issues; Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food, Output and Utilization of Farm Produce in the United Kingdom, London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretarist, Meat and Dairy Produce Bulleting, London, various issues; Over calculations and estimates.

### Table 23\* - Supply of apples in the United Kingdom 1958/59 - 1970/71 and forecasts for 1977/78

	1958/59	1959/60	1960/61	1961/62	1962/63	1963/64	1964/65	1965/66	1 <b>9</b> 66/67	1967/68	1968/69	1969/70	1970/71	1977/78
Total area ('000 ha)	67.5	65.5	64.2	61.0	58.5	56.9	5 <b>4</b> B	52 1	49.5	49.2	10.4	42.4	47.4	20.0
Apples - dessert ('000 ha)	26.3	26.3	26.4	25.9	25.5	25.3	24.8	24.0	23.3	47.J	47.4	42.4	42-1	30.0
Apples - cooking ('000 ha)	25.5	24.4	23.8	22.1	20.9	20.0	19.1	18.2	17 0	16.8	16 4	13 7	27.7	12.0
Apples - cider ('000 ha)	15.7	14.8	14.0	13.0	12.1	11.6	10.9	9.9	9.2	9.1	9.2	5.2	5.7	5.0
Apples - dessert (t/ha)	10,2	9.1	10.9	7.7	10.1	10.7	12.5	10.8	9.1	8.2	8.6	12 0		11.0
Apples - cooking (t/ha)	13.3	11.6	13.2	5.1	10.8	11.2	15.1	12.1	7.8	6.7	9.1	11 1		11 0
Apples - cider (t/ha)	6.2	4.5	6.1	2.1	8.1	4.4	5.0	4.9	2.5	3.0	1.0			4.5
Total production	705	589	686	339	58 <b>2</b>	545	653	529	368	332	390		1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 -	208
Apples - dessert	269	239	288	199	258	271	310	259	213	192	204	281		165
Apples - cooking	338	283	313	113	226	223	288	221	132	113	149	152		110
Apples - cider	98	67	85	27	98	51	55	- 49	23	27	37			23
Non-marketed production of apples - dessert and cooking	75	37	74	- 4	16	21	44	18	11	6	· é ·	20		l é
Total commercial production <sup>D</sup>	630	552	612	335	566	524	609	511	357	326	381			290
Total exports <sup>c</sup>	2	3	4	5	5	4	3	5	4	2	2			0
Total imports	216	196	204	278	219	238	259	281	273	344	302			533
Total apples - dessert and cooking	204	190	199	252	208	230	245	267	241	288	257		1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 -	452
Apples - Cider	5	2	0	16	0	0	7	5	15	35	28	33	6	37
Apples - preserved"		4	. 5	10	11	8	. 7	9	17	21	17	17		44
TOTAL Net Imports	214	195	200	273	214	234	256	276	269	342	300			533
Total available supply (= total domestic consumption)	844	745	812	608	780	758	865	787	626	668	681			823
Total apples - dessert and cooking	734	672	/22	555	671	649	796	724	571	585	500			710
Fresh consumption of apples - dessert and cooking	676	583	634	525	603	634	726	661	518	544	546			694
Processing of apples (dessert and cooking) by industry <sup>h</sup>	ეგ	0.1	86	30	68	65	70	63	53	41	57	5.4		25
Apples - cideri	103	69	85	43	98	51	62	. 54	38	62		- 24		60
Imported preserved apples	$\hat{1}$	4	5	10	11	8	7	9	17	21	17	17		
Per capita consumption (kg)			-			, i	'		l ''		''	• 1		
Fresh apple consumption - dessert and cooking (kg)	13.05	11.18	12.06	9.89	11.28	11.78	13.40	12.13	9.45	9.87	9,85			12.10
Total preserved apples]	1.25	1.78	1.77	0.75	1.48	1.36	1.42	1.32	1.28	1.12	1.26			1.20
							· · · ·	· · ·						// ·····
Fare years beginning   August, b Dessert and cooking apple	s. C Mainl	v re-expo	rts of de	heart and	cooking a	mples. d	Tinned an	d bottled a		mmetened	. estimat	ad for fa		<u>ы</u> ( ) -

on the basis of figures for calendar years  $(K_t)$ :  $W_{t/t-1} \approx \frac{1}{2} (K_t + K_{t-1})$ . Commercial production plus total net imports. Total domestic production of dessert and cooking apples minus non-marketed production and total exports, plus imports of dessert and cooking apples. Including apples used in households for cooking. Industrial production of apple puree and similar products: these are estimates by the Commonwealth Secretariat (see Sources) for calendar years but are clearly related to the harvests in question with the result that they can be used without reconversion in the farm year balance. Total domestic cider apple production plus cider apple imports. Imported preserved apples, and dessert and cooking apples used by the domestic food preservation industry.

Source: Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food, Output and Utilisation of Farm Produce in the United Kingdom, London, various issues; Ninistry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food, Department of Agriculture and Fisheries for Scotland, Ministry of Agriculture, Northern Ireland, Agricultural Statistics, London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Fruit, London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Fruit Intelligence, London, various issues; Own calculations and estimates. Table 24\* - Supply of pears in the United Kingdom 1958/59 - 1970/71<sup>8</sup> and forecasts for 1977/78

(1000.)

	1956/59	1959/60	1960/61	1961/62	1962/63	1963/64	1964/65	1965/66	1966/67	1967/68	1968/69	1969/70	1970/71	1977/78
	0 17	0 17	8 17	7 80	777	7.73	7.69	7.44	7.12	7.08	7.10			5.30
Pears (descritonorine) ('000 ha)	7.12	7.16	7.16	6.84	6.72	6.64	6.60	6.35	6.15	6.15	6.17	5.67	5.63	4.50
Pears perry <sup>6</sup> ('000 ha)	1.05	1.01	1.01	1.05	1.05	1.09	1.09	1.09	0.97	0.93	0.93			0.80
<u>Tield</u> (t/ha) Pears (desert+cooking) (t/ha)	10.96	9.05	9.64	7.62	7.83	9.50	9.94	10.02	5.92	3.82	12.46			0.00
Pears parry (t/ha)	5.52	2.97	4.85	0.95	6.48	2.84	2.29	2.84	3.40	1.51	5.48			4.00
Total production	83.8	67.8	73.9	53.1	59.4	66.2	68.1	66.7	39.7	24.9	82.0			43.7
Pears (dessert+oooking)	78.0	64.8	69.0	52.1	52.6	63.1	65.6	63.6	36.4	23.5	76.9			40.5
Pears Derry	5.8	3.0	4.9	1.0	6.8	3.1	2.5	5.1 L	3.3	1.4	5.1			2.2
Total exports	2.4	1.4	1.7	2.6	2.7	2.5	1.5	1.2	6.0	0.7	0.9			0
Total imports	110.6	115.2	122.2	135.2	127.7	133.2	124.1	132.8	122.7	134.8	109.5			137.5
Pears (dessert+cooking) <sup>6</sup>	61.1	60.5	64.7	72.2	61.8	65.7	60.0	70.0	60.0	72.2	44.2			68.5 C.80
Pears - preserved	49.5	54.7	57.5	63.0	65.9	67.5	64.1	62.8	62.7	62.6	65.3			69.0
Total met imports	108.2	113,8	120.5	132.6	125.0	130.7	122.6	131.6	121.8	134.1	108.6			137.5
Total available supply <sup>6</sup>	192.0	181.6	194.4	1.85.7	184.4	196.9	190.7	198.3	161.5	159.0	190.6			181.2
(= total domestic utilization)														000
Total pears (dessert and cooking) <sup>n</sup>	136.8	124.1	132.1	121.9	111.8	126.5	124.2	132.5	95.5	95.1	120.3			0.601
Fresh pears (dessert+cooking)	132.8	121.6	129.3	119.2	109.2	124.5	122.7	130.6	93.9	94.4	119.4	с с		2.00
Pears for the food preservation industry	4.0	2.5	2.8	2.7	2,6	2.0	1.5	6.1	9.1		2. 2.	c.v		0,07
Foreign preserved pears	49-4	54.5	57.4	62.8	65.8	67.3	64.0	62.7	62.7	62.59	2.00			000
Per capita consumption	73 0	22 0	77 6	0 25	0 0	0, 31	2.26	2.40	1.71	1.71	2.15			1.90
rread peers (deserviced the) (Ad)	00.2			1.0	+ o		101	10	1.17	1.15	1.19			1.20
breached bests (gg)	50.1	60.1	- 14	(2.1	07.1							_		
ء	c													
a normalization of the sector	ation V Ac	an fimmer	line and	able for not	a manufactoria	nees mode	/ <u>2</u>	daaa 1 daaa	ina) ++++	1 moderate		Anton an a		

Domestic production of dessert and cocking pears minus re-exports and plus imports of dessert Farm years beginning I August. Ferry production. As no figures are available for non-marketed pear production (dessert + cooking), total production must be taken as commercial pro-duction; it can be assumed that non-marketed production is of only marginal importance for commercial producers. Almost exclusively re-exports of dessert and cocking pears. Possibly including small quantities of perry pears. Bottled and timed pears, successed, the figureg, which are only available for calendar years (K), have been reconverted to farm years including small quantities of perry pears. including small quantities of perry pears. I Bottled and tinned pears, sweetened; the figure  $(\texttt{W}_{t/t-1})$ :  $\texttt{W}_{t/t-1} \approx \frac{1}{2}$   $(\texttt{K}_{t} + \texttt{K}_{t-1})$ . Frotal domestic production of pears plus net imports, and cooking pears. <sup>1</sup> Imports minus re-exports. <sup>3</sup> Farm years beginning 1 August.

Source: Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food, Output and Utilisation of Farm Produce in the United Kingdom, London, various issues; Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food, Department of Agriculture and Fisheries for Scotland, Ministry of Agriculture, Morthern Ireland, Agricultural Statistics, London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Fruit, London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Fruit Intelligence, London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Fruit,

Ы
គ
5
Ť
5
Ë
2
ğ
ខ
de la
ង
g
¥
Kii
۲a
Ţ
5
5
륑
8
J
2
3u
I.
25*
le
1

(† 000,1)

	1958	1959	1 960	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1977
Botel tencete	1 I	ч 00	104	115.7	120.0	124.2	129.7	127.2	125.0	113.9	139.9	114.4	130.9	160.0
Tradat taves a sector a sector as a sector	0.4	0.00	16.3	18.9	15.6	21.3	24.2	25.0	24.7	23.7	34.1	22.4	36.7	57.0
Preserved Desches	در. ا	/5.6	92.6	96.8	104.4	102.9	ر.ر01	102.2	100.3	90.2	105.8	92.0	94.2	103.0
Total re-exports	0.2	0.4	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.6	0,0	4.0		5 0
Fresh peaches	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.2	4.0	0.0	<u>.</u>		
Preserved peaches	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.2	2.0	<u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>			
Total net imports	94.9	1.06	106.6	115.4	119.7	123.9	129.4	126.9	124.6	113.3	1 59.4	0.411		0,001
(= total available supply)														
Utilization										2	r Cr	- 00		67 D
Consumed fresh	2.5	10.1	12.3	13.3	11.8	16.4	21.0	21.5	8.12	2.12	(.3C	1.02		
By domestic food preservation industry	6.9	4.7	3.9	ر.ر -	3.6	<b>2.</b> 6	3.1	ۍ ۲۰	2.7	2.1	9.1	4.		
Consumption of imported preserved peaches	6.43	5.47	92.6	96.6	104.3	102.7	105.3	102.1	100.1	0.06	105.5	91.9		0.601
Total per capita consumption (kg)	1.84	1.73	2.08	2.19	2.25	2.31	2.40	2.33	2.28	2.06	2.52	2.05		2.80
Consumed fresh (kg)	0.05	0.19	0.24	0.26	0.23	0.34	0.39	0.39	0.40	0.38	0.58	0.37		8.1
Total preserved peaches (kg)	1.79	1.54	1.84	1.93	2.02	1.97	2.01	1.94	1.88	1.68	1.94	1.68		1.80
	-													
•		•												
a Including nectarines. <sup>0</sup> Sweetened, bottled (	or tinned.	<sup>c</sup> Imports	of fresh p	eaches min	us re-expoi	ts of fres	h peaches a	and utiliza	tion of fre	sh peaches	by domest	ic food pre	servation	industry.

d Imports of preserved peaches minus re-exports of preserved peaches.

Source: Commissioners of H.M. Customs and Excise, Annual Statement of the Trade of the United Kingdom with Commonwealth Countries and Foreign Countries, London, Vol. II and Vol. III, various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Fruit, London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Fruit Intelligence, London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Eruit London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Fruit Intelligence, London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Fruit Intelligence, London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Fruit Intelligence, London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Fruit, London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Fruit Intelligence, London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Fruit, London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Fruit, London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Fruit, London, Vol. II and Vol. III,

Table 26\* - Supply of tomatoes in the United Kingdom 1958-71 and forecasts for 1977

('000 t fresh weight)

	1958	1959	1960	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967 -	1968	1969	1970	1971	1977
Total area of tomatose under glass in England and Wales (ha) <sup>a</sup> with artificial bating (ha) without artificial bating (ha)	•••	918		630	805 460 345	775 436 339	796 46 <b>3</b> 333	777 436 341	847 459 388	853 452 401	867 452 415	888 472 416	883 494 389	899 389	
Area of tomstoes in the open in England and Wales (ha) .	243	162	121	121	81	81	40	•	•	•					
Arem of tometoes under glags in Sootland (ha) Statistically evaluated domestic production <sup>0</sup>	81 92.5 195.7	81 102.6 225.5	81 91.4 196.5	81 88.4 198.9	81 83.3 181.6	81 77.2 156.2	81 83.3 179.4	81 79.2 156.7	81 81.3 170.2	81 85.3 181.1	166.1	181.9			130.0
Total imports	482.2 141.7 250.0	484.8 147.0	512.9 159.7	505.2 160.4	530.5 154.7	570.4 165.3	544.8 168.5 265.3	584.3 166.3 202	648.5 157.3	627.6 158.4	701.8 170.1	612.6 160.9 318.6	682.6 164-9		871.0 249.0
tomato purp, tomato concentrates preserved tomatoss	75.8	61.9	85.0 7.8	79.1	87.5	7.7	97.1	80.6 11.0	5.01 5.01 6.01	96.8	13.2	113.9	114.0		622.0
dried tomatpes <sup>6</sup>	1.7	 0.0	2.0 0.1	1.5	2.6	6.0 0.2	<b>2.</b> 0.7 0.1	0.23 0.40	4-0 4-0	0.10	11.0	10.0 6.3 0.2	11.00	No sana a se se se s	0
temato concentrates and preserved tematoes <sup>d</sup> , <sup>e</sup>	1.5	1.5	1.8	1.2	2.4	1.2	2.1	2.4	1.2	0.0	0.9	6.0			
Total met laborts Total available supply	480.5	483.2 708.7	510.9 707.4	503.7 702.6	527.9	568.9 725.1	542.5 721.9	581.7 738.4	647.1 817.3	626.3 807.4	700.7 8666.8	606.3 788.2			871.0 1001.0
(= YOVEL GOMENTIO UNILISATION) fresh and chilled tomatoes	337.3	372.5	356.1	359.1	336.4	321.3	347.8	322.9	327.4	339.2	336.1	342.6	333.7		379.0
tomato putp, tomato doute the present of the second state to the second state to the second state second sta second state second state	332.3 6.6	329.2 7.0	343.6 7.7	334.1 9.4	363.9 9.4	396.2	364.2 9.9	404.6	479.1 10.8	457.9	517.6 13.1	436.5	9.8		608.0 14.0
Total per capita consumption (kg) fresh and chilled tomatces (kg)	13.09	13.64	13.51 6.80	13.31	13.32	<b>13.</b> 52 5.99	13.36 6.44	13.58	14.96	14.69	15.68 6.08	14.19	5.99		17.45 6.60
tomato putp, tomato concentrates, preserved and utten tomatos (kg)	6.43 0.13	6.34 0.13	6.56 0.15	6.33 0.18	6.83	7.39	6.74 0.18	7.44	8.77 0.20	8.33	9.36	7.86	0.18		10.60
July figures. Cultivation for commercial purposes only (1965/66 excluding tomatoes in the open. Communption of the statistically evaluated and the estimated production: Of the Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food. In the directions: I statistics: I kg dried tomatoes 210 kg fresh tomatoes; I statistics: I kg dried tomatoes; X (0 kg fresh tomatoes; )	on farms ' fresh and is probabi conformit; kg tomati with an a	with an a chilled ly due to y with EB o juice w gerage dr	rea under tomatoes the very 3 agricul ith an av	glass (f official extensiv tural sta arage dry content o	or tomato estimate e area ou tistics i matter o f 7 % phi	es and o ) minus iltivated :t was as sontent o sontent o	ther vege met impor for own gumed tha f 7 % % 0 ponds a f	tables) o ts of fre consumpti t 1 kg of resh toma	f at leas ah and ch on by pro tomato o ah tomato to equiva	t 1000 Bq illed tom ducers wh emcentrates es (calcu	uare feet atoes; th ich is no e or pulp lations t juice of	b Farm la large traflec %6 kg o massed on 0,07 x 10	years Ju discrepant ted in th f fresh t EEC agric 0.0 = 0.7	ne-May; f; oy betwee: e mtatimut commatoem. ulturmal ; from	
1958-1961 imports of dried tomatoes are only of minor imp	ortance.	" Almost	szolusive	ly re-exp	orts. † (	al culate	d domesti	c product	ion plus	total met	imports.	<sup>J</sup> Net 1	mports.	Net impo	te B

Central Statistical Office, Annual Abstract of Statistics, London, varieus issues; Central Statistical Office, Monthly Digest of Statistics, London, various issues; Commissioners of H.W. Customs and Excise, Annual Statement of the Trade of the United Kingdom with Communies and Foreign Countries, London, Vol. II and Vol. III, various issues; Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Pood, Output and Utilisation of Farm Produce in the United Kingdom, London, various issues; Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Foreign Countries and Foreign Countries and Foreign Counters, Fisheries and Foreign Counters and Foreign Counters and Foreign Counters and Foreign Countries, London, Vol. II and Vol. III, various issues; Department of Agriculture and Fisheries for Scotland, Ministry of Agriculture, Northern Ireland, Agricultural Statistics, London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretarist, Fruit, London, various issues; Commonwealth Secretarist, Fruit Intelligence, London, various and estimates. of tomato juice. Sources

Table 27\* - Supply of fate and oils fercluding butter) in the United Kingdom 1959-71 and forcests for some items for 1977

4

	1958	1959	1960	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1961	1968	1969	1970	1971	1977	
				(100° - 1	- 75 - 75 - 175 - 19	l J Liu W. Y	l quivalent	(								
iotal imports of oil seeds and vegetable oils: in the form of funit and acade founds oil	733	176	730	714	668	578	645	668	696	642	698	726				_
equivalent)	379 354	394 382	366 364	366 348	379 289	372 306	319 326	304 364	277 419	234 408	214 484	204 522				
Ground muts: shelled muts in product weight extraction rate (%)	210 45.7 96 28 124	<b>231</b> 45.5 105 154	129 46.5 46 106	161 46.6 75 36	211 45.5 96 136	45.4 45.4 44 132	147 45.6 54 121	46.1 89 41 41 70	45-3 103 137	100 46.0 105 151	45.7 116 127 180	47.1 85 85 118	124	06		
Palm muts, palm kermels: muts and kermels in product weight estraction rate (%)	278 46.6 130 185	237 48.1 114 0 197	47.7 47.7 115 178	228 48.2 110 163	212 47.6 101 113	211 47.4 100 114	46.9 46.9 91 116	207 47.3 98 117	47.6 79 150	48.0 98 47 35 39	50.0 52 26 25 29	50.0 44 30)	53			and a second s
total imports of palm oil and palm kernel oil .	315	311	293	273	214	214	207	216	245	181	158	191	215	283		
Cocounts: copra in product weight estraction rate (%) oil equivalent of copara imports imports of cocount oil total imports of cocount oil	62.8 359 33	63.1 41 27 68	64.5 49 25 74	64.6 64 40	63.9 78 32 78	62.8 49	64.3 56 41 83 83	63.2 57 43 79	64.3 56 36 36 72	66.7 42 38 38 66	62.5 30 78 78	63.0 46 29 43 72	68	66 6		
Sor beans: scya beans in product weight attraction rate $(\mathcal{A})$ oil equivalent of bean imports imports of scya oil total imports of scya oil	16.9 16.9 22 7 29	17.1 222 36 12 50	17.3 55 18 73	17.4 52 18 50 50	243 16.9 41 20 61	17.5 47 25 72	294 17.0 50 18 68	287 17.1 49 21 70	17.1 49 17	17.0 253 16 16 59	17.0 41 15 56	17.0 55 80	124	143		and the second se
Linseed: seed in product weight extraction rate (%) oil equivalent of seed imports imports of linseed oil total imports of linseed oil	35.0 <sup>123</sup> 43 66 109	35.0 55 66 121	35.0 56 102	35.0 <sup>153</sup> 54 102	35.0 46 57 103	35.0 47 86	35.0 40 43 83	35.0 44 42 86	35.0 35 35 71	35.0 96 34 39 73	35.0 61 39 39 60	55-0 37 37 57				
Cottonseed: seed in product weight extraction rate $(x)$ oil equivalent of seed imports imports of cottonseed oil	15.4 16 16 18	15.8 24 26 26	16.4 15.4 12 35	15.5 20 26	15.3 30	16.2 16.2 29 36	113 15.9 18 11 29	16.2 17 33 50	16.3 49 8 36 44	14.8 12 12 16	14.3 21 12 15	14.3 21 14.3 3 15	42	35		
		-		-	•	-	-		•	-	•			2		

-
(continued)	
27#	
Table	•

	1958	1959	1960	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971	1977
Hara:				(1000	t crude oi	l or orud	e oil equ	ivalent)							
seed in product waight	25.0 4 1	40.0 5 2 2 2 0	25.0 4 0 1	40.0 5 5 5	28.6 2 2	25.0 8 64	33.3 <sup>12</sup> 4 4	36.4 35.4 12 12	34.9 15 15 15	34.1 41 14 14	34.6 28 11 39	35.9 78 12 12 40		58	20.0 0.0 0.0 0
Sunflemer: oil imports and total	0	0	0	in.	0	4	ŝ	8	5	39	99	100	35	24	6
<u>Oiives</u> : oil imports and total	N	ñ	£	£	£	2	ŝ	£	ŕ	ŝ	ŝ	ñ			
Gastor geed: seed in product weight extraction rate (%)	50.0 15 15 22	50.0 <sup>13</sup> 13 . 20	50.0 22 27	50.0 <sup>12</sup> 6 17 23	50.0 21 11 24	50.0 32 16 25 25	50.0 19 20 30	50.0 <sup>10</sup> 24 29	50.0 16 24 24	50.0 31 16 15 29	50.0 19 21 31	50.0 <sup>12</sup> 50.0 24 30			
<u>Tung oil</u> : oil importe and total	1	10	10	7	5	2	5	5	S	5	ŝ	6			
Other: seed in product weight	30.0 <b>16</b> 30.0 5 10	30.0 <sup>26</sup> 3111	30.0 44	30.0 30.0 44	30.0 <b>24</b> 12	30.0 4	30.0 2 4 7	8 9 m.r.	30.0 <sup>17</sup> 55 94	30.0 1 64	30.0 35 30.0 2 5	30.0 18 5 5 11		•	
														, ,	
Total erports of oil seeds and very tables oils oil seeds in product weight extraction rate (\$)	50.0 46	49 22 1 48	32 50.0 3 30,	27 50.0 25	34 50.0 32 32	<b>5</b> 0 50.0 48	, 20 50.0 17	20 8 16 16	18 50.0 4 14	15 50.0 10 10	18 8 50.0 4	22 8 50.0 4			
Total met veretable oil exports	686	727	698	687	634	628	625	648	678	627	680	704			
Total imports of animal fats and oils . Lard	305	382	457 205	(1000	t ciude o 439 201	il equival 469	Lent or r 549	andered f: 500 212	at)   449   186	541	492	446	Č	Ĩ	
other animal fats for human consumption <sup>b</sup> whale and fish oil industrial tablow	149 23	124		111	114	171 171 50	165 165 79	1961	181 181	11 286 286	23 23 23 23 23	200	207	227	
other fats not intended for human consumption <sup>0</sup>	4	9	7	8	60	7	1	6	10	- =	. 80	í s			-

-

	1958	1959	1960	1961	1962	1963	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971	1971
				(1000	raw oil	ec ivalen	t or rend	ered fat)							
Total exports of animal fats and oils	1	1	1	1	1	2	7	0	0	1	2	1			
Total net imports of animal fats and oils	304	381	456	406	430	467	542	500	449	540	490	445			
<u>fotal met imports of animal and vegetable</u> fats and oils	990	1 108	1 154	1 093	1 072	1 095	1 167	1 146	1 127	1 167	1 170	1 149			
Demonstic production of animal fate.					(100	0 t raw f	at)								
Total slaughter fata <sup>d</sup>	58	56	59	65	66	68	66	66	67	67	68	65	71	71	
cattle	30	27	31	33	35	36	33	32	33	35	35	34	36	37	
calves from slaughterings of imported live	0	o	0	0	ა	0	0	э	٥	0	o	0	0	ð	
cattle	6	5	5	7	5	6	6	5	5	6	5	5	6	5	
from net production of pigmeat"	14	14	14	14	16	16	17	19	18	16	17	16	19	20	
from net production of muttom and $lamb^e$ .	ಟ	10	, y	· 11	10	10	10	10	11	10	- 11	6	9	9	
Reconverted to rendered fat (80 % of untreated fat weight)	46	45	4'i	52	53	54	53	53	54	54	54	52	57	57	
Total available domestic supply of animal and				(1000 t	raw oil	equivalen	t or rend	ered fat)							
vegetable fats and oils	1 036	1 153	1 201	1 145	1 125	1 149	1 220	1 201	1 1ê1	1 221	1 224	1 201			
Utilisation of oils and fats: Human consumption:							Ì								
total margarine production	2/2	214	504 20	275	273	280	261	270	264	257		277	276	295	<b>30</b> 8
soya cil		17	24	17	24	21	26	31	25	21	16	24	48	8 61	
rapsmed oil	-	- ''	-	-	- '	•	-	- '	- 4	2 6	-12	- 13	12	4	50
cocount oil	41	20	19	21	23	• 16	- 13	10	- δ	10 6	22 2	53 2	9	4	5
palm oil	74	85	00 00	62	6 33	3 24 a	2 30	25	42	1 21	1 20	25	1 29	2 54	
total vegetable oils	12 189	14 185	17 169	16 157	13 124	17 <sup>8</sup> 116	14 105	15	24 118	15 98	17 107	14 121	14	8	
other animal fats	1	15	र्ड् र	17	42	24 2		52	14	12	10	6	16	16	
whale and fish oils total animal oils	1. <b>1</b> 1.2	42 1 10	- 99 135	99 112	105 14+	108 164	99 170	114 170	. 127 146	142 159		144 156	7 126 147	125 151	
	L													i 1	

## Table 27\* (continued)

	1958	1959	1960	1961	1962	196 <b>3</b>	1964	1965	1966	1967	1968	1969	1970	1971	1977
Total moduction of namefactured adible				('00C t	crude oil	equivale	nt or ren	dered fat	)						
fats and oils	144	141 24	140 11	143 12	145 9	154 9	150 5	140 4	139 5	139 4	140 3	142 2	137 2	144 3	115
soys cil	8 3	9	14 4	8 4	12 2	12 2	15	11 2	6 2	-	- 3	- 5	7 1	8	
rapemeed oil sunflowerged oil	-	-	-	-		- 1	-	-	0 0 1	4 2 2	6 5	6 5	5 2	4  1	(7)
palm kernel oil	8 36	<b>3</b> 34	- 4 28	2	2	2 30	1 26	2 24	· 2 23	3	2 19	2	2 28	2 26	
other vegetable oils	7 68	5 80	5 67	4 68	3 63	4 60	5 54	5 49	8 47	3 44	- 5 44	3 48	1 49	2 47	
other animal fats	4	10	21 6	15 6	19	25 8	11	23 12 56	16 12 64	12 12 71	14 7 75	10 8 76	14 10 64	31 13 53	
total animal cils	- 48	· 61	73	75	51 52	94	46 96	90 91	92 170	95	96	94	88	97 170	
Direct consumption of lard Other edible fats and oils	230	156 226	161 225	152 261	152 266	150 272	1/1 272	153 284	170 297	284	343	1/3	1/2	1;2	385
Industrial utilization:								7.4		765	701	0//1			
TOTEL	209	330	568	31.2	1 239	207	540	354	511	1 268	301	2/1	1	1	11

<sup>a</sup> Grude oil; oil, purified or refined, but not processed further (e.g. solidified, polymerised). <sup>b</sup> Goose fat, other pig fat, edible tallow "premier jus" and the like. <sup>c</sup> Oleostearin, lanolin, neat's foot oil and oil from bones, etc. Only offal fats; the following rates were used - in conformity with EEC agricultural statistics - in the calculation of offal fat production for cattle: 4.5 % of the slaughter weight, 1.0 % for calves, 2.0 % for pigs and 4.0 % for sheep. External trade in live pigs and sheep in slaughter weight is very small and therefore does not need to be calculated separately in the estimation of offal fat production. <sup>c</sup> Domestic animal fat production (estimated) plus net imports of animal and vegetable fats and oils; trimmed fat and (possible) domestic production of fish oil, for which no figures are available, are not included in slaughter fats. In so far as they are available, they are of only merginal importance. Here is grown in Great Britain; reliable figures on the quantities of rape used for oil production are not however available. <sup>c</sup> Estimated as residual quantities: net imports of lard minus amount of lard used in the production of margarine and of manufactured edible fats, direct consumption of lard and of other oils and fats.

Source: Central Statistical Office, Annual Abstract of Statistics, London, various issues; Central Statistical Office, Monthly Digest of Statistics, London, various issues; Commissioners of H.M. Customs and Excise, Annual Statement of the Trade of the United Kingdom with Commonwealth Countries and Foreign Countries, London, Vol. II and Vol. III, various issues; Commonwealth Secretariat, Meat and Dairy Produce Bulletin, London, various issues; Own calculations and estimates.